Public Document Pack
High Peak Borough Council

THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA
Date:

Thursday, 1 April 2021

Time:

6.00 pm

Venue:

Virtual Meeting

You can view the
agenda online by using
a smart phone camera
and scanning the code
below:

24 March 2021
PART 1
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interest
i)
ii)

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests
Other Interests

3.

To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6)

4.

Performance Framework 2021/2024 (Pages 7 - 34)

5.

High Peak Local Plan Review (Pages 35 - 46)

6.

National Planning Policy Framework and National Design Code : Consultation
Proposals (Pages 47 - 288)

7.

Household Duty of Care (Pages 289 - 292)

8.

Parks Strategy (report to follow)

9.

Working with the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector
(Pages 293 - 316)

10.

Request for match funding from the Outdoor Sports and Recreation Capital Fund to
Support Cemetery Road Football and Community Project (Pages 317 - 328)

PART 2
11.

To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

12.

To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 329 - 330)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any

particular person (including the authority holding that information) )
13.

New Management Structure (Pages 331 - 360)
(Paragraph 1 - Information relating to any individual. )

14.

Transfer of Building Control to Derbyshire Consortium (Pages 361 - 372)
(Paragraph 3, 4 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including the authority holding that information)
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter
arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or
office holders under the authority. )

15.

Market Street Depot, Buxton - Disposal (Pages 373 - 400)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

16.

HRA Capital and External Rendering and Insulation Works - Contract Award Report
(Pages 401 - 422)
(Paragraph 3, 5 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of
any particular person (including the authority holding that information)
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could
be maintained in legal proceedings. )

17.

Pavilion Gardens - Phase 2 Works (Pages 423 - 436)
(Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any
particular person (including the authority holding that information) )

MARK TRILLO
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER
Membership of The Executive
Councillor A McKeown (Chair)
Councillor A Barrow
Councillor J Todd

Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair)
Councillor F Sloman

Agenda Item 3
High Peak Borough Council
THE EXECUTIVE
Meeting:

Thursday, 25 February 2021 at 6.00 pm - Virtual Meeting

Present:

Councillor A McKeown (Chair)
Councillors A Barrow, D Greenhalgh, F Sloman and J Todd
Councillors T. Ashton, J Collins, O. Cross, L Grooby, M. Hall, T. Kemp,
P. Roberts, K. Savage, E Siddall, E. Thrane and S. Young were also in
attendance.

20/110

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
(Agenda Item 2)
There were no declarations of interest made.

20/111

TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 3)
RESOLVED:
That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 11 February 2021
be approved as a correct record.

20/112

BUXTON FUTURE HIGH STREET FUND REVISED BID
(Agenda Item 4)
The purpose of the report was to update the Executive on the work
undertaken to revise the Council’s Future High Street Fund Business Case
in light of the government’s offer to provide only 69% of the original funding
which the Council requested. The report also sought approval for the
submission of the revised Busines Case before the deadline of Friday 26th
February. Given the importance of the project all councillors had been
invited to join the meeting and comment on the report.
Councillors raised a number of concerns in relation to the bid. These
included the ambitious nature of the project, challenges faced by the retail
sector (particularly following the Coronavirus Pandemic), the impact on the
Springs Car Park, the financial risks involved and the ability for councillors to
scrutinise the scheme. The potential to convert upper floors of properties on
Spring Gardens into residential use was also noted. However, it was
recognised that the Council was working within a number of constraints
such as a reduced bid offer and tight timeframe. It was hoped that there
would be creative thinking in the future development of the bid and
consideration be given to other successful community based schemes.
It was reported that there had been a number of additional
meetings/briefings for councillors to scrutinise the scheme and that there
would be some re-shaping of the vision as the project developed. Although
there a number of risks associated
Page with
3 the scheme (detailed in section 6.8

The Executive
Thursday, 25 February 2021

of the report) these would be managed through due diligence and by taking
professional advice. It was also clarified that the gigabyte broadband
element of the project would be retained within the revised scheme.
Options considered:
1. Do nothing option: i.e. do not submit revision of FHSF or accept any

grant offer.
Under this scenario there was unlikely to be additional capital expenditure
by the public sector on improvements within the town centre over the next
10-15 years, although it was assumed that the Council would continue to
maintain the streets, pathways and public spaces within the town centre as
per current arrangements but would make no other capital investment. A donothing approach would not retain the ‘status quo’ as there was likely to be
further withdrawal of retailers and therefore a do nothing option would
unfortunately deliver a significant decline in the town centre. Not
recommended.
2. Re-submission to secure £6.6m grant award.

Under this scenario, the Council would re-submit the revised technical
change bid and accept the grant offer if awarded. The level of match funding
to be provided by the Council remained the same as the amount agreed in
the original submission in May 2020. This would allow the Council to have a
significant budget to deliver strategic change to diversify lower Buxton over
the next 7 years and to help leverage significant private sector investment or
other funding to deliver diversification of the area. Recommended.
RESOLVED:

1. That the government’s response to the Council’s original Future High
Street Business Case submission, announced on 26th December 2020,
and the actions required to revise the bid as set out in the report be
noted.
2. That the works undertaken to inform the drafting of the revised Future
High Street Fund Business Case be noted.
3. That the submission of the revised Future High Street Fund Business
Case be approved and that authority be delegated to the Executive
Director of Place, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer to accept
any final award offer.
4. That a detailed programme of expenditure be required and prepared for
the Executive’s approval prior to any project spend and grant drawdown.

Page 4

The Executive
Thursday, 25 February 2021

20/113

TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM
THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972.
(Agenda Item 5)
RESOLVED:
That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as
defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

20/114

TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
(Agenda Item 6)
RESOLVED:
That the exempt minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 11
February 2021 be approved as a correct record.

20/115

FUTURE HIGH STREET FUND - FINANCIAL CONSEQUENCES
(Agenda Item 7)
The Executive approved a report that set out the funding proposal and
potential financial implications for the Council of the Future High Street Fund
(FHSF) revised bid. At this stage, the financial analysis was high-level.
More detailed work would need to be undertaken if confirmation of the
revised bid was confirmed by Government.
The meeting concluded at 6.55 pm

CHAIRMAN

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
1 April 2021

TITLE:

Performance Framework 2021/2024

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor A Barrow - Executive Councillor
for Corporate Services and Finance

CONTACT OFFICER:

Vanessa Higgins - Information Business
Partner

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

Appendices Attached:
Appendix 1: Performance Framework 2021/24
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to provide members with an opportunity to
scrutinise the draft Performance Framework and associated targets for 2021/24
.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Executive approves the Performance Framework 2021/24.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan articulates the aims, objectives and priority
actions, which the Council is working to achieve. Its delivery is measured
through the Performance Framework, which has at its centre the three pillars
of value for money - efficiency, economy and effectiveness.

3.2

This report seeks to provide a revised Performance Framework that will enable
the council to monitor, measure and report back on its progress against the
stated priorities set out in the council’s 4-year corporate plan.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The purpose of the report is to enable the monitoring of progress against the
Council’s corporate priorities. As such this report has linkages to each of the
Council’s Corporate Plan aims.

Page 7

5.

Options

5.1

Members are asked to consider the proposed targets and to suggest
amendments if they consider that they are necessary. A Performance
Framework Sub Committee took place on 15th March where it was resolved that
the Committee supported the broader Framework whilst also recommending a
review of the content and focus of the quarterly performance reports, based on
a smaller set of core measures as determined by this Committee.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
None

6.2

Workforce
None

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's
Diversity and Equality Policies

6.4

Financial Considerations
Effective Performance Management contributes to the Council’s
financial objectives

6.5

Legal
None

6.6

Climate Change
The action plan to achieve a carbon neutral future will be fully
integrated into the Performance Framework when agreed

6.7

Internal and External Consultation
The targets proposed have been agreed in conjunction with senior
managers through the Service Planning process

6.8

Risk Assessment
A robust Performance Framework is a critical tool in controlling and
mitigating risks.
ANDREW P STOKES
Chief Executive

Background Papers

Location

Contact details

Performance Framework 2021/24
Service Plans

Available on request

V Higgins, Ext 4057
Vanessa.higgins@highpeak.
gov.uk

Page 8

7.

Background and Introduction

7.1

The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) articulates the aims,
objectives and priority actions, which the Council is working to achieve over that
period. The Plan was approved in October 2019 and required a new
Performance Framework that could measure its delivery and also aid effective
scrutiny through more focused and balanced reporting; celebrating success and
promoting improvement.

7.2

The 2019-2023 Corporate Plan saw a significant increase in the number of
objectives compared to the 2015-2019 Plan (+38%) and consequently the
Performance Framework has also increased, but to a lesser extent (+15%), in
order to ensure the Council is monitoring and measuring the delivery of its stated
priorities.

7.3

The Performance Framework is built around the Council’s key objectives whilst
also ensuring that the three pillars of value for money (efficiency, economy and
effectiveness) remain central.

7.4

The Framework is made up monthly, quarterly and annual measures and the
Council reports by exception on all monthly and quarterly measures but has
moved away from a ‘dashboard’ approach to one which reflects the whole
Framework. The annual contextual measures are reported in the Annual Report,
which also provides an overview of the Council’s progress in delivering its
Corporate Plan and the results of value for money benchmarking.

8.

Performance Framework 2021/24

8.1

Targets covering a 3-year period are owned and managed by Heads of Service
across the authority, and are communicated to teams through service plans and
individual performance objectives via the staff appraisal (PEP) process.
Managers have been asked to review and refresh these targets for the period
2021/22 to 2023/24 based upon current performance levels and national
benchmarks, where available.

8.2

In some cases managers have proposed the removal, addition or amendment
of performance measures. Such instances have been highlighted within the
Appendix to this report and have been considered by senior management.

8.3

The new Framework is made up of the following measures:




8.4

51 monthly / quarterly measures: reported only by exception each Quarter
36 annual measures: reported only by exception in Q4
65 contextual measures: reported only in the Annual Report

As well as measuring the Council’s performance against these targets, the
council will also monitor and report back to this Committee on the priority actions
contained within the Corporate Plan. These are shown within Appendix 1 and
will be overseen internally by the Transformation Board.

Page 9

9.

Impact of COVID-19 on Performance

9.1

The Council analysed the likely impact of COVID-19 and subsequent lockdown
restrictions on its 2020/2021 Performance Framework last year, and refocused
a relatively small proportion of targets in response. The 2021/22 Performance
Framework remains similarly affected, and as such a number of service area
targets reflect this ongoing uncertainty and the national roadmap to recovery.

Page 10

Page 11
High Peak Performance Framework 2021-2024

Measure

Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
Reported

Objective: Effective relationship with strategic partners

2019-20
Result

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

To be measured through an Annual Report from Democratic and Community Services covering strategic partnerships, community support
arrangements and councillor initiative fund allocations.
Objective: Fit for purpose housing that meets the needs of tenants and residents

Page 12

Housing Benefits Processing: Time taken to
process a) new claims b) change of
circumstances

Monthly

a)18 b)8.99

a)6.61 b)6.26
Q3

a)18 days a) 18 days
b) 7 days b) 7 days

a) 18 days a) 18 days
b) 7 days b) 7 days

% of initial homelessness applications
opened at the prevention and relief duty
stages

Monthly

NEW

49%:51%
Q3

60%:40%

70%:30%

% of prevention duty discharges resulting in
a settled accommodation outcome

Monthly

NEW

73%
Q3

72%

74%

76%

76%

% of relief duty discharges resulting in a
settled accommodation outcome.

Monthly

NEW

50%
Q3

67%

72%

72%

72%

Total TA placements including number of
B&B placements made for families

Monthly

NEW

29 (no families)
Q3

Number of TA placements (including B&B
made for families ) placed over 6 weeks

Monthly

NEW

13 (no families)
Q3

60%:40%
(from 70%)

70%:30%

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19

Contextual
5

5
(from 0)

0

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19

0

Measure

Reported

Number of gas safety checks overdue
a) Number and b) % of Right to Buy
transactions completed within statutory
timescales
% of active housing register applicants in
priority need (classes A and B) who have
been registered in excess of 6 months

Page 13

Housing Benefits Processing: % of cases
determined correctly (as measured by the
LA error rate)
Average time from request to repair by
priority

Monthly
Quarterly
Annual

2019-20
Result
0
a)56
b)96.4%
13.19%

2020-21 YTD
Result
0
Q3

2020-21
Target
<1%

2021-22
Target
0

2022-23
Target
0

2023-24
Target
0

95%

95%

95%

95%

30%

30%
(from 15%

15%

15%

a)35 b)33/35
94%
Q3

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19
Annual

99.5%

Monthly

NEW

P1 - 0.67 Days
P2 - 3.01 Days
P3 - 6.44 Days
P4 - 8.51 Days
Q3

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

99.5%

P1 24 hr
P2 10

P1 24 hr
P2 10 days

P3 28

P3 28 days

P1 24 hr
P2 7 days
P3 21 days
P4 112days

P1 24 hr
P2 7 days
P3 21 days
P4 112 days

4.8

4.8

days
days

P4 182
dys

Average Number of jobs completed per
operative per day

Monthly

4.63

4.37
Q3

(from 7)

(from 21)

P4 182days
(from 112)

3.75

4.2
(from 4.8)

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19
% of Housing Stock recorded on the
Asbestos Register

Annual

NEW

Baseline

% of Decent Homes

Annual

NEW

Baseline

Baseline

(From
contextual)

Baseline

10% of all
archetypes

10% of all
archetypes

TBD

TBD

Measure

Reported

Page 14

Housing Benefits processing: % of
overpayments recovered

Annual

2019-20
Result
77.10 %

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
2022-23
Target
Target
Contextual

Disabled adaptations – average end to
end time in council stock

Annual

152 days

Contextual

Disabled adaptations – average end to
end time in non-council stock (and
numbers for each type of adaptation)

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Landlord Accreditation Scheme Numbers signed up to scheme

Annual

9

Contextual

The number of empty homes

Annual

1035

Contextual

Number of affordable homes delivered

Annual

23

Contextual

Capital Programme delivery targets:
Number of new kitchens and bathrooms
delivered
Revenue costs of private sector housing
function

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Number of category 1 hazard properties
(descriptor of types)

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Number of category 2 hazard properties
(descriptor of types)

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Number of complaints received in relation to
private sector rented accommodation
conditions

Annual

NEW

Contextual

2023-24
Target

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result
NEW

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

Quarterly

£170,825

£179,809 (47)
Q3

Costs of leisure centre provision per
household

Annual

£4.85

33%
success
rate. Min
£60k

Levels of inactivity among local
population groups

Annual

15,300 20%
(Nov 18-19)

2021-22
2022-23
Target
Target
Contextual

2023-24
Target

Enforcement action undertaken: Number of
Annual
improvement notices served (prohibition,
advisory etc.)
Objective: Provision of high-quality leisure facilities both in formal leisure centres and swimming pools and out in our communities
Level of external funding awarded to
support the physical activity and sport
strategy (include no of bids made & won)

Page 15

Annual

Number of fly tipping incidents collected by
the Council (exc sec 46 waste)
Number of pest control contracts

Monthly

302

Annual

14

33%
success
rate, Min
£60k

33% success
rate, Min
£60k

Contextual
Contextual

Number of volunteers within local sports
Annual
13,600
clubs (Sport England’s Active Lives
17.8% (Nov
Survey)
18-19)
Number of priority areas, where placeAnnual
NEW
3
based work to reduce inactivity, is being
undertaken.
Objective: Effective provision of high- quality public amenities, clean streets and environmental health
Number of community clean-up campaigns

33% success
rate, Min
£60k

82

Contextual
4

5

60

65 (from
70 (from
85)
90)
Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19
480
Q3

5

75

Contextual
14

10 (from
10 (from
18)
20)
Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19

10

Measure
Street and environmental cleanliness
inspection results (% achieving top grades
for cleanliness)
% of 'high risk' premises (A-C) inspected per
annum
% of routine permitted process premises
inspected

Reported
Annual

2019-20
Result
95.35%

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target
93%

2021-22
Target
93%

2022-23
Target
93%

2023-24
Target
93%

Quarterly

100%

75%

100%

85%

75% (from
100%)
75% (from
100%)

100%

Quarterly

60%
Q3
60%
Q3

100%

100%

75%

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19

Page 16

% food premises compliant with FSA criteria
(plus numbers as context)

Annual

98%

95%

98%

98%

98%

Private water supplies - % of sampling
programme completed

Annual

100%

75%

75% (from
100%)

100%

100%

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19
Cost measures: Street Cleansing

Annual

£520,000

Contextual

Cost measures: Env Health Service

Annual

£231,000

Contextual

Number of premises in each of the 6- star
rating gradings (from 0 to 5)

Annual

5 Star 582
4 Star 114
3 Star 39
2 Star 3
1 Star 9
0 Star 0

Contextual

Annual

61

Contextual: annual report to be produced that
will indicate the level of activity

Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by type
(including behaviour adversely affecting the
environment)
Number of fixed penalty notices issued
(include description)

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Anti-Social Behaviour enforcements by type
(including behaviour adversely affecting the
Annual
0
Contextual: annual report to be produced that
environment)
will indicate the level of activity
Number of prosecutions (include
description)
Objective: Work with our partners and the community to address health inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness

Page 17

% Carelink emergency calls responded to
within 45 minutes

Monthly

NEW

99.27%
Q3

95%

95%

95%

95%

Carelink: % referrals installed within 15 days

Quarterly

NEW

91.39%
Q3

95%

95%

95%

95%

% households in the borough who are fuel
poor

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Health indicators in Annual Report

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Number of Food bank referrals / fuel
vouchers

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Objective: Practical support of community safety arrangements
Delivery of the Community Safety
Partnership Plan (% actions delivered on
time)
CCTV Monitoring

Annual

NEW

100%

100%

100%

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Levels of Crime (by type)

Annual

NEW

Contextual

100%

Measure

Reported
Levels of ASB

Annual

2019-20
Result
NEW

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
2022-23
Target
Target
Contextual

The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2021/2022:

Page 18

 Complete the review of the CCTV system and implement the agreed recommendations 2021
 Develop and implement an ongoing leisure facilities improvement plan : 2021-22
 Implement the accelerated housing delivery programme : 2022
 Review the Councils community support arrangements : April 2021
 Review the Community Safety Strategy : April 2021
 Implement the Homelessness Strategy : 2021
 Review the delivery of services to older persons : Sept 2021
 Develop a Private Sector Housing Strategy : 2021
 Review the Sport and Physical Activity Strategy : 2021-22
 Implement the Covid 19 Community Recovery Plan : Ongoing
We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:
• Maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care
• Dealing with ASB

2023-24
Target

Measure

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward- thinking council

2020-21
2020-21
2021-22
YTD
Target
Target
Result
Objective: Ensure our future financial resilience can be financially sustainable whilst offering value for money

Page 19

Reported

2019-20
Result

Number of press releases and % taken up in
local media: Delete

Annual

42 issued
93% take up

Collection rates: Business rates

Monthly

98.39%

79.12%
Q3

96%

97% (from
98.2%)

98.2%

98.2%

Collection rates: Council Tax

Monthly

98.41%

83.54%
Q3

96.2%

97.2%(from
98.2%)

98.2%

98.2%

Collection rates: Rent

Monthly

98.66%

94.93%
Q3

98%

98% (from
98.5%)

98.5%

98.5%

Collection rates: Sundry Debt (value of SD
over 60 days old)

Quarterly

£162,980

£236,579
Q3

Match
2019/20

Match
2019/20

2%
reduction

2%
reduction

94%

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

To be deleted

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19
% of invoices paid in line with contract

Monthly

97%

94%
Q3

96%

96%

96%

96%

Use of Contracts register - annual contract
spend as % of gross expenditure budget

Quarterly

85.13%

92%
Q3

% of procurement activity on the
Procurement Forward Plan (Joint Alliance
Measure)

Quarterly

67.38%

68%
Q3

2%
improvement
to 19/20

2%
improvement
to 20/21

2%
improvement
to 21/22

2%
improvement
to 22/23

60%

68%

70%

70%

Measure

Page 20

Reported

2019-20
Result

% of internal audit recommendations
implemented within timescale (snapshot of
year to date)

Quarterly

98.08%

External Audit Opinion

Annual

Unqualified

% of corporate efficiency savings met

Annual

132%

50% of
target

a) Expenditure variance to budget
b) Income variance to budget
(GF)

Annual

-5%
3%

Net Budget
+/- 25%
variance

% income generated against net budget

Annual

78%

Contextual

Amended: External funding levered annually
in support of projects that meet corporate

Annual

£21,068,000

Contextual

a) Expenditure variance to budget
b) Income variance to budget
(HRA)

2020-21
YTD
Result
86.99%
Q3

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

92 %

93% (from
98.5%)

95% (from
99%)

96%

Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19
Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified Unqualified

75% of
100% of
target
target
(from
100%)
Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19

n/a

Net Budget Net Budget Net Budget
+/- 15%
+/- 5%
+/- 5%
variance
variance
variance
(from +/5%
-13%
Annual
Net Budget Net Budget Net Budget Net Budget
1%
+/- 10%
+/- 15%
+/- 10%
+/- 10%
variance
variance
variance
variance
(from +/10%
Variance amended to +/- 15% . Possible overspend against budget due to Covid related
pressures, possible reduction in income receipts.

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

Annual

NEW

plans aims
Unit cost per transaction within finance and
procurement

2020-21
YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Contextual

Objective: Ensure our services are readily available to all our residents in the appropriate channels and provided 'right first time'
Number of twitter followers

Quarterly

4387

4660
Q3

4500

Number of Facebook followers

Quarterly

2771

3640
Q3

2800

Number of twitter re-tweets

Annual

397

Page 21

No./% of:
a) assisted contacts (phones & face to face)
b) web

Monthly

a) 67171 41%
b) 38059 23%
c) 58411 36%

a) 51379
50%
b) 51494
50% Q3

Increase by
240

Increase by
240

Increase by
240

Increase by
480

Increase by
480

Contextual

Increase by
480
Contextual

Contextual

Contextual

a)61%
b)39%

a)61%
b)39%

a)59%
b)41%

a)58%
b)42%

15%

17%

TBD

TBD

Avoidable contact (number taken from
customer portal)

Annual

Not Available

Complaint handling: % dealt with within
target

Monthly

98%

99%
Q3

97%

97%

97%

97%

Complaint handling: % of repeat issues
(compares previous month only)

Monthly

1%

0%
Q3

5%

5%

5%

5%

FOI requests: % responded to within statutory
time frame and numbers received

Quarterly

81.86%

74.34%
Q3

95%

95%

95%

95%

Delete: Website Quality: Socitm Better
Connected assessment

Annual

3 stars

4 stars

To be deleted

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

2020-21
YTD
Result
Q1 2020
4.7

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

NEW: Sitemorse Index compliance rating

Annual

NEW

NEW

6

7

8

% of FOI requests diverted to the website
/ publication scheme

Annual

15.75%

Contextual

Cost of FOI requests (including dedicated
post, system costs and staff time)

Annual

£27,915

Contextual

Complaint handling: Number received

Annual

149

Contextual

Objective: Invest in our staff to ensure we have the internal expertise to deliver our plans by supporting our high performing and well
motivated work force.

Page 22

% of Appraisals completed across the
workforce (of those due- Joint Alliance
measure))
Number of a) workplace accidents and b)
RIDDOR reportable / Lost Time (7days)
accidents
Average days sickness absence per FTE across
the Alliance

Annual

N/A

100%

100%

100%

100%

Annual

a) 12 b) 4

a) <20
b)0

a) <20
b)0

a) <20
b)0

a) <13
b)0

Monthly

9.28 days

7 days

6 days
(from 7)

6 days
(from 7)

6 days

3.17
Q3

Reduce from 7 days to 6 days: home working due to Covid has seen a decrease in sickness, the
introduction of the agile working policy should maintain this trend.
Staff Climate Survey results

Annual

N/A

Contextual

% Staff turnover rate (Joint Alliance measure)

Annual

7.6%

Contextual

Number of apprentices by type (i.e. higher/
trade) (Joint Alliance Measure)
Number of apprentices completing the
apprenticeship (Joint Alliance Measure)

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

2020-21
YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

Number of apprentices retained by the
Annual
NEW
council (Joint Alliance Measure)
% of apprentice levy spent within year (Joint
Annual
NEW
Alliance Measure)
Objective: More effective use of Council assets to benefit our communities

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Contextual
Contextual

Page 23

% of rent lost due to vacant stock

Monthly

0.85%

0.78%
Q3

1.03%

1.03%
(from
0.86%)
30 days
(from 25)

0.86%

0.86%

Average time taken to re-let Council homes

Monthly

28.6

34.4
Q3

30 days

25 days

25 days

% properties with nil void loss

Annual

19.7%

% and number of council owned business
units occupied

Annual

IT- % network availability

Monthly

100%

IT- % system availability

Monthly

100%

Average time taken to re-let Council homes
excluding hard to let
Annual cost of energy across key operational
assets
Capital receipt from minor asset disposals

Annual

16.5 days

Annual

NEW

Contextual

Annual

NEW

Contextual

0%

0% (from
15%
15%
15%)
73% (19/26) 73% (19/26)
85%
73%
73%
(22/26)
(19/26)
(19/26)
from 89.6%
(26/29)
Amended targets for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19
100%
Q3
100%
Q3

99%

99%

99%

99%

99%

99%

99%

99%

Contextual

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

Annual

NEW

annually
Amount of energy used across key Corporate
Buildings (Buxton Town Hall)

2020-21
YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

Contextual

Objective: Use innovation, technology and partnerships with others to help improve the efficiency of services, improve customer
satisfaction and reduce our impact on the environment
Satisfaction with customer services (Joint
Annual
N/A
92%
TBD
TBD
Alliance Measure)
Number of Onevu (customer portal) accounts Quarterly
NEW
32,694
27,000
33,500
TBD
Q3
Customer Feedback: Level of compliments
Annual
119
Contextual

Page 24

Delete: Socitim user satisfaction measures
(Joint Alliance Measure)

Annual

NEW

2023-24
Target

Establish
Baseline

TBD
TBD

To be deleted

Objective: Effective procurement with a focus on local business
Delete:% of expressions of interest that
come from businesses within the local area
(over £5,000)
% of contracts awarded to local suppliers
following submission of expression of
interest (over £5,000)
Supplier (creditor) spend within the local
area as a % of total spend
Number of local business training/ supplier
engagement events facilitated

Quarterly

NEW

Not yet
Establish
To be deleted
available
Baseline
Q3
Quarterly
NEW
Not yet
Establish
Change to Contextual
available
Baseline
Q3
A target here could be viewed as a non-compliant incentive to award more contracts locally.
Quarterly
NEW
7.5%
Establish
Establish
TBD
TBD
Q3
Baseline
Baseline
Quarterly
NEW
184
Establish
Establish
TBD
TBD
Q3
Baseline
Baseline
Unable to establish a satisfactory baseline in 20/21: establish baseline in 21/22

The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2021/2022:

Page 25















Provide advice and support for residents affected by the rollout of Universal Credit : April 2022
Develop and implement a plan to identify new and innovative ways of generating income : 2021
Refresh and implement the Asset Management Plan : April 2022
Develop an Access to Services Strategy :2021
Implement the Council's Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme : 2022-23
Develop a new Organisational Development Strategy :2021
Develop a new procurement strategy : 2021-22
Develop a new ICT strategy : April 2021
Refresh the council's Communication Strategy :June 2021
Conduct a review of democratic processes and scrutiny arrangements : May 2021
Review the council's Diversity Policies : June 2021
Implement the agreed Housing Revenue Account Business Plan : 2021
Implement the Covid 19 : Reinstating Service Plan; Financial Recovery Plan; Positive Legacy Plan : Ongoing

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration
Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Objective: Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises

Page 26

Local Plan Delivery: a) Number of
Annual
a)305
Contextual
completions for homes b) sqft of
b)6181.9m2
employment space delivered
Number of enterprises operating in the
Annual
Contextual
area (considering business starts as well
3965
as deaths as recorded through ONS
stats)
Objective: Work to create flourishing town centres and thriving high streets that support the local economy
% of empty town centre shops

Annual

Glossop
3.3%;
Buxton
7.8%; New
Mills 10.2%;
Chapel
6.3%;
Whaley 8%;
Hadfield
2.8%.
Borough
average
7.4%

<national
average

<national
average

<national
average

<national
average

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Objective: Promote tourism to maximise local benefit
Visitor spend in area

Annual

£274.83m
(2018/19)

Contextual

TIC: online hits

Annual

197

Contextual

Total tourist bed spaces

Annual

8,011
(2018/19)

Contextual

Total tourist overnight stays

Annual

1.52m
(2018/19)

Contextual

Page 27

Objective: High quality development and building control with an ‘open for business’ approach
Planning processing times a) Majors b)
Minors c) Others

Monthly

a)95%
b)91%
c)93%

% of planning applications with preapplication enquiries
% of major developments allowed on
Appeal
% of minor and other developments
allowed on appeal
Agent satisfaction with Planning Service
(amended survey)

Annual

15%

Monthly

0%

Monthly

2.3%

Annual

57%

Annual

69%

% of planning enforcement cases resolved
in 13 weeks

a)100%
b)93%
c)97%
Q3

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

a)90%
b)85%
c)90%

5%

10%

10%

10%

0%
Q3
2.3%
Q3

10%

10%

10%

10%

10%

10%

10%

10%

80%

80%

80%

80%

80%

80%

80%

80%

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

% of priority 1 planning enforcement cases
visited within 1 working day

Annual

100%

Planning application processing costs

Annual

£8.00

Contextual

Costs awarded against the council from
lost planning appeals

Annual

£0

Contextual

Annual

263

Contextual

Numbers attending the planning surgeries

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

90%

90%

90%

90%

Objective: Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, businesses and visitors
Net income per car parking space

Annual

£635.21

Contextual

Page 28

Number of parking PCNs issued and %
Annual
2381,
Contextual
collected
81.85%
% of car park spaces accredited with
Annual
56.4%
Contextual
Park Mark
Number & % of disabled bays within car
Annual
109 6.6%
Contextual
parks
Objective: Working to support existing local businesses, both large and small across the High Peak as they respond to future challenges
Number of businesses supported by the
growth hub (fair proportion across
partnership)
Cost of business support activity

Annual

Contextual

Annual

NEW

Number of business reached through the
monthly Business Newsletter

Annual

NEW

1203 Q3

Establish
baseline

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

Business webpage- number of hits

Quarterly

NEW

3987 Q3

Establish
baseline

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

N/A

Contextual

Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

2020-21 YTD
Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Objective: Supporting the development of innovative green jobs and businesses across the High Peak

Page 29

Number of hits on our website: improving
your energy performance

Quarterly

NEW

207 Q3

Establish
baseline

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

Number of newsletters x subscriber
numbers featuring funding for green
growth

Quarterly

NEW

Establish
baseline

Establish
baseline

TBD

TBD

Amount of B1/B2 floor space delivered

Annual

NEW

3 issues this
quarter - 9
monthly
business
newsletters
year to date
(1203
subscribers)
Q3

Establish
Establish
TBD
TBD
baseline
baseline
Unable to establish a satisfactory baseline in 20/21: establish baseline in 21/22

The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2021/2022:








Review the implementation of the Local Plan : 2021
Support the development of Glossop Halls : Aug 2022
Implement the accelerated business growth and employment programme : Ongoing
Develop a Cultural Strategy : June 2021
Review the Council's Growth strategy : 2020-24
Establish a developer open space contributions plan : 2023
Implement the Covid 19 Economic Recovery Plan : Ongoing

We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Work with the private sector on regeneration schemes including The Crescent and Torr Vale Mill
Ensure the best use of public assets across the borough by working via the One Public Estate project
Pressing for more regular and faster rail links, public transport links and essential road infrastructure
Completion of the off- road route for the Trans Pennine Trail and access to the Monsal and Tissington trails
Bringing additional funding into the Borough
Enabling high- speed internet across the Borough
Work with regional partners to extend the Greater Manchester rail offer

Page 30

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency
Measure

Reported

2019-20
Result

2020-21
YTD Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Objective: Effective recycling and waste management
Recycling rates

Quarterly

50.5%

50.99%
Est Q3

50%

50.5% (from
51%)

51%

51%

Residual waste per household

Quarterly

406.66kg

338.5 kg
Est Q3

435kg

475kg (from
430kg)

470kg (from
425kg)

465kg

Page 31

Targets should all be treated as provisional until they are discussed and agreed with our
contractors/partners
Missed bins per 100,000 collections (exc.
Monthly
30.3
customer error, bad weather and blocked
access)
Cost per household of waste and
Annual
£51.99
recycling service
Objective: Effective Provision of quality parks and open spaces

28.1
Q3

37

36

35

34

Contextual

Green Flag awards maintained

Annual

1

1

1

1

1

Friends / Community Groups – no. of
volunteer hours

Annual

1019

600

600 (from
800)

700 (from
825)

825

Amended target for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19

Measure
Cost of parks and open spaces per
capita

Reported

2019-20
Result

Annual

£6.39

2020-21
YTD Result

2020-21
Target

2021-22
Target

2022-23
Target

2023-24
Target

Contextual

Objective: Meeting the challenge of climate change and working with residents and businesses across the High Peak to implement the
climate change action plan
Paper consumption across the alliance
(Joint Alliance Measure)

Monthly

1740

500
Q3

2000
reams

1700 reams
(from 2000)

1700 reams
(from 2000)

1700

Amended target for 2021-22 due to the ongoing effects of Covid 19

Page 32

NEW: Emissions per capita

Annual

NEW

Pollution measures - air quality: %
compliance against national reporting
requirements in relation to air quality

Annual

100%

Contextual
100%

100%

100%

100%

The following Priority Actions will be monitored and reported on during 2021/2022:





Develop a Parks Development Plan : 2021
Develop a climate change strategy : Oct 2021
Review the Environmental Enforcement Policy: 2021
Review the Council's waste and recycling arrangements : 2023-24

We will also monitor and report on the following Influencing Actions, which rely on effective partnership working:
• Develop more cycle routes whilst working with the County Council and residents to ensure harmony amongst road
users
• Encourage local organisations and businesses to reduce their carbon footprint

Deleted Performance Indicators 2021/22

Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak
Performance Indicator
None

Reason for proposed deletion

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward- thinking council
Performance Indicator
Delete: Number of press releases and %
taken up in local media

Delete: Website Quality: Socitm Better
Connected assessment
Delete: Socitim user satisfaction measures

Page 33

Delete : % of expressions of interest that
come from businesses within the local area
(over £5,000)

Reason for proposed deletion
This indicator is difficult to measure as it involves manually checking newspapers to count the
number of take ups and doesn’t reflect the shift towards social media.
We will look to incorporate an evaluative measure within the new communications strategy that
reports on the team’s breadth of work and the effectiveness of communication campaigns.
The Socitm assessment is made by one individual and can therefore be subjective and
inconsistent. We are proposing a new measure based on the Sitemorse index
The Socitim sessions were a one off piece of work that were used to assess where we are now.
The results will be taken forward in the IT strategy
Unable to extract the required data from the Pro Contract system as initially thought. Manual
analysis would be untenable: time consuming and onerous. If the appropriate technology
becomes available in future years, this measure can be reinstated

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration
Performance Indicator
None

Reason for proposed deletion

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency
Performance Indicator
None

Reason for proposed deletion

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
1 April 2021

TITLE:

High Peak Local Plan Review

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Anthony McKeown, Leader of the
Council

CONTACT OFFICER:

Mark James – Principal Planning Officer

WARDS INVOLVED:

All wards outside of the Peak District
National Park

Appendices Attached – Draft Terms of Reference for Local Plan Steering
Group
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To notify members of the importance of keeping the Local Plan up to date and
reviewed within 5 years of adoption to ensure development plan policies are
relevant and to reflect emerging government planning policy guidance and
regulations.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the requirement for the Council to review the Local Plan at least every
five years is noted.

2.2

That the proposed Terms of Reference for a Local Plan Steering Group to
consider development plan policy evidence and analysis is approved.

2.3

That following the Local Plan Steering Group’s consideration of development
plan policy evidence base and analysis, a further Executive Report is prepared
setting out conclusions and recommendations for updating the Local Plan and
the timetable for statutory preparation processes.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

National planning policy has evolved since the Local Plan was adopted and
continues to do so. Furthermore, wider changes at a local and national level
indicate that further exploration of the potential scope of changes to the Local
Plan is appropriate.

Page 35

3.2

A Local Plan Steering Group is proposed to be established to consider work
on the Local Plan which will focus on evidence gathering and analysis and
policy development over the next year. A further Executive Report will then be
produced establishing the statutory process and timeframe for renewing the
Local Plan so its fit for purpose in delivering sustainable development and
growth for High Peak for the next 15 year period.

3.3

In the meantime, planning applications will continue to be determined in
accordance with the development plan (including the Adopted Local Plan)
unless material consideration indicate otherwise. Due weight will be given to
policies in the plan according to their consistency with the latest National
Planning Policy Framework.

3.4

It is considered that the following policy themes would benefit from more
detailed consideration in the initial phase; climate change, design, town
centres, biodiversity, air quality. Development requirements and the supply of
available and suitable land will also need to be considered at the appropriate
time. The proposed Local Plan Steering Group will inform this process.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The Local Plan directly links to all four aims of the Corporate Plan.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

If the Council were not to undertake review of the Local Plan within 5 years of
its adoption, it would not be complying with its statutory duty and over time the
Local Plan would increasingly have less weight in the planning process. It also
has the potential to lead to the Council being highlighted by government as
failing to have an up to date Local Plan.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
No direct implications.

6.2

Workforce
Officers from the Development Services team will lead on the
review with input from colleagues in other services.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
An equalities assessment accompanies this report.

6.4

Financial Considerations

Page 36

Whilst the full scope of new evidence has yet to be determined,
initial estimates indicate that a budget of c.£100,000 would be
required in year one of an update (2021/22). Total costs may
approach £500,000 up to adoption due to associated consultancy
support and Planning Inspectorate fees but this is expected to
represent a worst case scenario. This would require additional
provision in the Development Services budget, which is not
currently included with the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plan.
Dependent on the 2020/21 outturn position, consideration will be
undertaken to establish an earmarked reserve for £100,000 to take
into account projected year 1 costs.
6.5

Legal
Under regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) local planning
authorities must review local plans at least once every 5 years from
their adoption date to ensure that policies remain relevant and
effectively address the needs of the local community.

6.6

Climate Change
A review of the Local Plan will enable greater consideration of the
response of planning policy to the climate change emergency as
declared by the Council.

6.7

Consultation
Public consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement (2019) and local
planning regulations. Following the evidence gathering and
analysis stage, a timetable for public consultation will be set out in
a revised Local Development Scheme.

6.8

Risk Assessment
The risks associated with the review are set out in this report.
Neil W. Rodgers
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Adopted High Peak Local Plan (2016)
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-HighPeak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2
016.pdf?m=1514473710280

Mark James, Principal Planning Officer
mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk

Page 37

National Planning Policy Framework
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/nationalplanning-policy-framework--2
National Planning Practice Guidance on Plan Making
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/plan-making
Ministerial Statement: Planning Update (19 January
2021) https://questionsstatements.parliament.uk/writtenstatements/detail/2021-01-19/hcws720
Government’s response to the Future Homes Standard
consultation
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/upl
oads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/953791/Gove
rnment_response_to_Future_Homes_Standard_consult
ation.pdf

7.

Detail
Statutory obligations and national policy

7.1

Under regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012 (as amended), local planning authorities must
review local plans at least once every 5 years from their adoption date to
ensure that policies remain relevant and effectively address the needs of the
local community.

7.2

Paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states:
“Policies in local plans and spatial development strategies should be reviewed
to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and
should then be updated as necessary. Reviews should be completed no later
than five years from the adoption date of a plan, and should take into account
changing circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant changes in national
policy.

7.3

The national planning practice guidance states that “most plans are likely to
require updating in whole or in part at least every 5 years”.

7.4

If the Council decides to update all or part of the plan, it must publish a new
Local Development Scheme (LDS) with the timetable for the preparation and
adoption of the new Local Plan. Alternatively, the Council decides not to
update the plan or some of the policies, it must publish its reasons for not
doing so.

7.5

No process is defined for objectors to challenge the Council’s conclusions on
the plan review. However, planning inspector’s via the appeals process may

Page 38

begin to deem policies out of date over time if the plan review concludes that
an update is not required.
7.6

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 gives the Secretary of State
powers to intervene when a local authority does not have an up to date Local
Plan. Section 27 (1) states that intervention can be made if the Secretary of
State thinks that “a local planning authority are failing or omitting to do
anything it is necessary for them to do in connection with the preparation,
revision or adoption of a development plan document.”. Section 27 (2) states
that the Secretary of State may “(a) prepare or revise (as the case may be) the
document, or (b) give directions to the authority in relation to the preparation or
revision of the document.”

7.7

If a new Local Plan is taken forward, the National Planning Policy Framework
requires that it will need to look ahead for a minimum of 15 years from the date
of adoption. It must also identify sufficient land for housing for at least 10 years
from the date of adoption and where possible for 11-15 years. As the current
Local Plan period ends in 2031, a Local Plan review would need to consider
housing land supply beyond the current plan period.
Background

7.8

The High Peak Local Plan was adopted on 14 April 2016 and covers the
period up to 2031. It seeks to deliver an annual average of 350 homes per
year which reflects economic growth aspirations. To support this growth, 45ha
of land for employment is also identified. The spatial strategy for the Local
Plan seeks to focus the majority of this growth in the main market towns of
Buxton, Glossop, New Mills, Chapel-en-le-Frith and Whaley Bridge with more
modest scale of development in the “Smaller Villages” such as Hayfield,
Chinley and Peak Dale.

7.9

Since the Local Plan was adopted, the Council has performed relatively well in
terms of housing delivery. A 5 year housing land supply has been maintained
since adoption (5.22 years as of April 2020) and the Council has passed the
Housing Delivery Test in both years that it has been in operation (159% in
2020 measurement). Developer contributions towards affordable housing (234
completions between 2016 and 2020) and infrastructure to support this growth
have been secured. Local Plan policies have also enabled the Council to
manage development in line with its own agreed strategy and to successfully
defend its position at planning appeals. Nevertheless, national planning policy
has evolved since the Local Plan was adopted and it continues to do so.

7.10

The Local Plan was prepared under the NPPF as published in 2012 which has
since been superseded. A new NPPF was issued in 2018 and subsequently
updated in 2019 including a new method for assessing Local Housing Need.
Further changes to national policy and guidance are due in 2021 with updates
to the NPPF and a new National Model Design Code currently subject to
consultation. It will be important for the Council to consider how these changes
should be reflected in local Plan policy and proposal moving forward into the
next 15 year plan period.

Page 39

7.11

The Planning White Paper published for consultation in 2020 proposes a new
planning system with fundamental reform of the nature, scope and process for
developing Local Plans. The White Paper proposes that new style Local Plan
will be in place by the end of the current Parliament in 2024. However, the
proposed transitional arrangements set out in the Planning White Paper state
that LPAs will have 42 months (rather than 30) to prepare a new style plan if
they have adopted a previous plan within the past 3 years or have submitted a
plan for examination. The 42 month period would commence from the point at
which the legislation is brought into force, or upon adoption of the most recent
plan, whichever is later.

7.12

The Government published the “Planning for the Future” paper in March 2020
which set out a requirement for all Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) to have
an up to date plan in place by December 2023. The December 2023 deadline
was reaffirmed in the Government’s response to the “Changes to the Current
Planning System” consultation which was published on 16th December 2020.
A Written Ministerial Statement also published on 16th December 2020
provided some indication of the timescales for the wider planning reforms as
set out in the White Paper, stating that the Government;
“will publish a response in the Spring which will setting out our decisions on
the proposed way forward, including to prepare for legislation, should we so
decide, in the Autumn.”

7.13

A further statement made by Christopher Pincher MP, Minister of State for
Housing on 19 January 2021 again highlighted “the clear deadline of
December 2023 for all authorities to have up-to-date Local Plans in place.”.
The statement also made it clear that local authorities should not delay plan
making due to the emerging proposals in the Planning White Paper:
“The Planning for the Future White Paper consultation closed in October. The
White Paper sets out proposals to deliver a significantly simpler, faster and
more predictable system. These proposals will need further development.
Authorities should not use this period as a reason to delay plan-making
activities. Authorities who have an up-to-date plan in place will be in the best
possible position to adapt to the new plan-making system.
I will consider contacting those authorities where delays to plan-making have
occurred to discuss the reasons why this has happened and actions to be
undertaken.”
Implications of the Planning White Paper

7.14

The recent White Paper proposed fundamental reform of Local Plans in terms
of their future content and the process for preparation. Whilst there is
significant uncertainty regarding the scope of Local Plans under the new
planning system, some aspects of plan making are likely to be required
irrespective of whether the plan is to follow the current or future system. As

Page 40

such, some aspects the evidence base to inform a refresh to the Local Plan
under the current system may be of relevance under any future new system.
7.15

The Planning White Paper states that new Local Plans prepared under the
new system must be prepared within 30 months. However, in areas that have
adopted a Local Plan within the last 3 years or have submitted one for
examination, this period is extended to 42 months. As such, if the Council
proceeds with an update to the Local Plan under the current system, it is more
likely to be granted more time to prepare a plan under the new system in
recognition of its recent progress.
Local Plan review

7.16

A Local Plan does not become out-of-date automatically after five years. The
adopted Local Plan will continue to form part of the statutory development plan
for High Peak. Planning applications must be determined in accordance with
the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. Due
weight will be given to policies in the plan according to their consistency with
the latest National Planning Policy Framework.

7.17

As highlighted in this report, the current Local Plan was prepared under the
2012 NPPF which has since been superseded. Furthermore, additional
revisions to national policy are currently subject to consultation. As such, the
requirements for Local Plans have evolved. Other factors have also changed
since the adoption of the Local Plan in 2016. Data as set out in the Council’s
Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) provides a record of the effectiveness of
policies measured against the indicators of the Local Plan. Wider changes at a
local and national level may also necessitate a refresh of policy:



Housing delivery and supply is on track to date but more challenging sites are
in the pipeline
Employment site allocations have stalled and the development of land for
employment has not kept pace with housing growth
A new method for identifying Local Housing Need is now in place. This is likely
to have implications for requirements for other development such as
employment and retail. It is important in determining the housing need
requirements for the next 15 year plan period that it takes account of the
Council’s future growth strategy
A new definition of affordable housing is now in place and the thresholds at
which it can be secured via developer contributions is now different in the
latest NPPF.
Infrastructure is generally on track to be delivered on time to support the
current Local Plan. However, infrastructure requirement will need to be
updated to reflect new development requirements and the latest data on
capacity if the plan is refreshed.
Other specific issues may require more detailed or updated policies to reflect
new national policy or corporate priorities, these include:
o Climate change – the Council has now declared a climate change
emergency. On 19 January 2021, the Government’s response to the










Page 41

o

o
o
o

Future Housing Standards consultation clarified that Local Plans can
set local energy efficiency standards for new homes. Stronger
standards are also expected to be implemented through updated
Building Regulations in 2022 and 2025 to deliver “zero carbon ready”
homes.
Air quality – Air Quality Management Areas have been designated in
Tintwistle and Glossop. New planning policies could provide a stronger
response to address air quality in these areas and elsewhere
Biodiversity – need to deliver net gain (Environment Bill and NPPF)
Town centres – more flexibility may be required to policy to respond to
evolving challenges facing town centres, not least in light of Covid-19
Design – national policy now places stronger emphasis on the need for
good design. LPAs will be expected to prepare local Design Codes to
clearly set out design expectations.

Next steps
7.18









7.19

It is proposed that the Council explores the factors that will shape the next
Local Plan in more detail. This will comprise of evidence gathering and
engagement with Councillors in the initial phase. A detailed timetable for a
new plan will be prepared in the form of a new Local Development Scheme to
be considered by the Executive at a later date in 2022 which will set out
milestones for public consultation and decision making. The following is
proposed for the next 12 months. This includes the establishment of a Local
Plan Steering Group to scrutinise the evidence base and process (see
Appendix for Terms of Reference).
Spring 2021 – Local Plan Steering Group established
Spring / Summer 2021 – Local Plan Steering Group meeting to consider scope
of new evidence required to shape the next Local Plan.
Summer / Autumn 2021 – Evidence gathering phase. Commissioning of new
studies and contract management. Review of existing available evidence
(Annual Monitoring Reports, Infrastructure Funding Statements etc).
Autumn / Winter 2021 – Findings of new evidence discussed at Local Plan
Steering Group meetings
Winter 2021 / 2022 – Implications of evidence reviewed by officers
Winter / Spring 2022 – Report to the Executive with conclusions from the
evidence update and recommended next steps.
The Government’s deadline of December 2023 to have Local Plans in place is
highly ambitious given the time taken to prepare plans in line with the statutory
process which includes an examination in public. The Planning Inspectorate is
likely to face high demand for Local Plan Inspectors in the run up to this
deadline which may further exacerbate the issue. There is therefore a risk that
the Secretary of State could intervene. However, this risk is considered
unlikely on the basis that High Peak Borough Council has a good track record
in plan making having adopted a Local Plan as recently as 2016.

Page 42

7.20

Furthermore, the Secretary of State is likely to focus on areas of high housing
growth where stalled Local Plans can have a more significant impact on the
Government’s target of delivering 300,000 homes per year.

7.21

Nevertheless, support is to be sought from the Planning Advisory Service
which has just launched their “get your plan over the line - 2023” support
package in recognition of the challenge facing many local authorities. Initial
discussions with the Planning Advisory Service indicate that the support could
focus on consideration of the timetable for the plan and scoping out which
elements of the existing evidence base is sufficient. If existing information can
be used, this would save both time and money.

Page 43

This page is intentionally left blank

High Peak Local Plan Review Steering Group
Draft Terms of Reference

Background
1.1

The Council is in the process of reviewing the Local Plan which was adopted
in April 2016. It is essential that this is done swiftly but with the appropriate
involvement of Councillors.

1.2

it is considered that a bespoke Steering Group will provide the best means of
achieving proper oversight and scrutiny by Councillors during the evidence
gathering, analysis and policy development stage of the production of an
updated Local Plan.

1.3

At times, a large amount of material may need to be reviewed, to a tight
timescale in order to achieve the “milestones” for the preparation of the
review. It is considered that the best way of dealing with this expeditiously is
for a Councillor’s Steering Group to be set up.
This group would be informed by the officers on technical matters in order to
get a steer on broad direction of matters with an initial focus on the scope of
updates to the evidence base and potential future policy. The work of the
Local Plan Review Steering Group will inform a report to the Executive at a
future date which will set out and seek approval to undertake, the statutory
consultation and examination process to follow in adopting an Updated Local
Plan.

Role of the Steering Group
2.1

The Steering Group would undertake the following functions during the
evidence gathering and analysis stage of renewing the Local Plan:







Discussing the scope of potential studies to be commissioned by the Council
as part of the evidence base;
Reviewing the conclusions and potential implications of the evidence base for
the Local Plan
Scrutinising policy content particularly where there have been changes to
national policy or guidance;
Consider if there are policy areas not covered by the current policies within
the Local Plan
Scrutinising progress and ensuring that the timetable is met or any changes
are discussed;
Involvement in advising and guiding on public consultation in accordance with
the Statement of Community Involvement.

Page 45

2.2

The views of the Steering Group and findings of the evidence gathered will be
reported back to the Executive after the initial phase. The Steering Group will
then oversee the next phase of the process as further evidence emerges and
plans for public engagement are developed.

2.3

The Group will meet when required. In the initial phase, a meeting in Spring /
Summer 2021 is expected to consider the scope of new evidence and again
during Autumn / Winter 2021 to review the findings.

Composition of the Steering Group
3.1

It is proposed that the Group be made up of around 12 Councillors, with a
politically balanced representation from all parties.

Officers suggest that Group Leaders or their nominees be invited, along with
the Chair of the Development Control Committee or nominee. There may be
some meetings where it would be appropriate to invite other Councillors to
attend, for example, when the agenda is of particular relevance.

Page 46

Agenda Item 6
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
1 April 2021

TITLE:

National Planning Policy Framework and
National Design Code : Consultation
Proposals

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Anthony McKeown - Council
Leader HPBC

CONTACT OFFICER:

Mark James - Principal Planning Officer

WARDS INVOLVED:

(All Wards);

Appendices Attached –
Appendix 1 – Draft National Planning Policy Framework
Appendix 2 – Draft National Model Design Code
Appendix 3 – Guidance Notes for National Model Design Code
Appendix 4 - Draft consultation response
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To notify Councillors of the current consultation on revisions to the National
Planning Policy Framework and the new National Model Design Code. A draft
response to the consultation is also provided for consideration.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That Councillors note the consultation proposals and their possible
implications.

2.2

That members consider the draft response to the consultation at Appendix 4
and agree to submit it subject to comments and amendments from
Councillors.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

A consultation on revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework as well
as a new National Model Design Code are open to public consultation until 27
March. The revised National Planning Policy Framework introduces a series of
changes largely focussed on design and the environment as well as other
factual updates and points of clarification. The changes are mostly welcome

Page 47

but concerns include the introduction of the term “beauty” into planning policy
which is considered too ambiguous.
3.2

The new National Model Design Code sets out visual and numerical design
parameters that should be used to inform developments as well as locally
prepared Design Codes and Design Guides. Such documents will be a new
requirement for local authorities to prepare in close conjunction with the
community. Whilst the increased emphasis on the need for good design is
positive, the new requirements will need to be supported by additional
resources and training for local authorities if they are to be effective.

3.3

It is proposed that the Council responds to the consultation on this basis.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

The proposals are considered to have implications for all four Aims of the
Corporate Plan.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

Option 1 (recommended) – the Council submits a response to the consultation
which reflects the draft response outlined in the Appendix to this report and
others comments deemed appropriate by Councillors. This option will enable
the Council’s voice to influence national policy.

5.2

Option 2 – the Council decides not to submit a response. This option would not
provide the Government with an opportunity to consider the views of the Council
before finalising the proposals.
Neil Rodgers
Executive Director (Place)

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

Consultation website:
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/nationalplanning-policy-framework-and-national-model-designcode-consultation-proposals

Mark James, Principal Planning Officer,
mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk

6.

Detail

6.1

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was first published in 2012.
It sets out Government policy in relation to planning to shape plan making and
development management. In relation to the latter, the NPPF is a material
consideration during the determination of planning applications. Updates to the
NPPF were published in 2018 and 2019 following public consultation.
Following the Government’s consultation on “Changes to the Current Planning
System” in 2020, a further public consultation is now open until 27 March on

Page 48

specific amendments to the NPPF as well as a new National Model Design
Code.

Revised NPPF
6.2

The updated NPPF does not seek to make fundamental changes across the
board. Many of the changes relate to factual updates or to provide clarification.
However, meaningful amendments are proposed particularly in relation to
design and the environment. They include;








6.3

Stronger emphasis on climate change and infrastructure in the “presumption in
favour of sustainable development” for plan making which sets the benchmark
for Local Plans.
Numerous references are made to the need for “beauty” in planning and the
creation of “beautiful” places in response to the recommendations of the
Building Better Building Beautiful Commission.
Stronger support for good design, including a clear statement that poor quality
schemes should be refused
Restrictions on the use of Article 4 Directions in relation to changes of use to
residential
Requirements for local planning authorities to prepare local design guides or
codes which reflect the National Design Guide and National Model Design
Code. They could be prepared alongside development plans or potentially as
Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs).
A requirement for the scale and extent of development within the settings of
National Parks to be sensitively located and designed so as to avoid adverse
impacts. This is in response to the Glover Review of protected landscapes.
An expectation that all new streets should be tree-lined unless there are clear
reasons why this is not appropriate.
A more detailed summary of the proposed changes and the draft response to
the consultation questions is provided in the Appendix to this report. In
general, the changes are positive. However, there is concern that the term
“beauty” is too ambiguous and may lead to uncertainty and delays in the
planning process. It should also be recognised that tree-lined streets may not
necessarily reflect the character of a local area.
National Model Design Code

6.4

The new draft National Model Design Code expands on the revised NPPF and
National Design Guide and is intended to provide a simple and concise
requirements that are visual and numerical as far as possible. Specifically, the
Model Design Code considers the following as a baseline for local authorities
who are expected to prepare their own Local Design Codes as well as when
determining planning applications. It establishes:



The layout of new development, including street pattern;
How landscaping should be approached including the importance of streets

Page 49





being tree-lined;
The factors to be considered when determining whether façades of buildings
are of sufficiently high quality;
The environmental performance of place and buildings ensuring they
contribute to net zero targets;
That developments should clearly take account of local vernacular and
heritage, architecture and materials

6.5

A separate Guidance Note sits alongside the Model Design Code to provide
further detail on code content based on the following themes; movement,
nature, built form, identity, public space, use, homes and buildings, resources
and the lifespan of developments. A further section to advise on community
engagement is also provided which seeks to tailor consultation to the scale of
development with a range of methods designed to encourage participation.

6.6

Local authorities will be required to work with closely communities when
developing Local Design Codes and Design Guides which reflect local
character and aspirations. Masterplans may also be required to help shape
large scale developments.

6.7

The Government believes that local communities will be more likey to engage
with Design Codes as they are more visual than the lengthy and detailed
policies which can dominate Local Plans. It is also considered that the clear
parameters defined in the codes will provide developers with more certainty
and speed up planning decision making.

6.8

The National Model Design Code sets out the key stages that local codes will
need to go through during their preparation, namely:
1. Analysis
1A - Scoping: Agreeing on the geographical area to be covered by the code
and the policy areas that it will address. A consultation strategy will
also be prepared.
1B – Baseline: Bringing together the analysis that will underpin the code and
inform its contents.
2. Vision
2A – Design Vision: Dividing the area covered by the code into a set of typical
‘area types’ and deciding on a vision for each of these area types.
The vision would be developed with the local community.
2B – Coding Plan: Preparing a plan that maps out each of the area types and
also identifes large development sites from allocations in the local
plan.
2C – Masterplanning: On larger sites working with land owners and
developers to agree a masterplan for each of the development sites
establishing the key parameters and area types.

Page 50

3. Code
3A – Area Type Guidance: Developing guidance for each area type by
adjusting a set of design parameters.
3B – Design Code Wide Guidance: Agree on a set of policies that will apply
equally across all area types.
6.9

The consultation on the National Model Design Code seeks opinion on the
content of the code, the applications and use of the guidance and the
approach to community engagement. A draft response to the consultation is
set out in the Appendix to this report which states the following:





The National Model Design Code provides a thorough and structured
framework for local authorities and communities to apply in establishing local
codes
It is questionable whether local communities will be more willing to engage
with the Design Code process than the current planning system. Indeed, it is
considered that it is likely to be difficult to obtain input into the design process
unless the principle of the development itself is supported.
The preparation of Local Design Codes will require significant resources to
ensure that there is a sufficient number planners and urban designers to
develop Local Design Codes and to engagement with communities effectively.
Planning Officers and Councillors will also require additional training to ensure
that the codes are applied effectively during the development management
process.

Page 51

This page is intentionally left blank

National Planning Policy Framework
Draft text for consultation

Page 53

© Crown copyright 2020
This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except
where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/opengovernment-licence/version/3
Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain
permission from the copyright holders concerned.
This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/publications
Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government,
Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 4DF
or complete the form at http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
ISBN 978-1-5286-1033-9
CCS0219561600

02/19

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum
Printed in the UK by the APS Group on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery
Office

Page 54

Contents
1.

Introduction

4

2.

Achieving sustainable development

5

3.

Plan-making

8

4.

Decision-making

13

5.

Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

17

6.

Building a strong, competitive economy

23

7.

Ensuring the vitality of town centres

25

8.

Promoting healthy and safe communities

27

9.

Promoting sustainable transport

30

10. Supporting high quality communications

33

11. Making effective use of land

35

12. Achieving well-designed places

38

13. Protecting Green Belt land

4140

14. Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

4544

15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

5049

16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

5554

17. Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals

5958

Annex 1: Implementation

6362

Annex 2: Glossary

6564

Annex 3: Flood risk vulnerability classification

Page 55

75

3

1. Introduction
1.

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out the Government’s planning
policies for England and how these should be applied1. It provides a framework
within which locally-prepared plans for housing and other development can be
produced.

2.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan2, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise3. The National Planning Policy Framework must be taken into account in
preparing the development plan, and is a material consideration in planning
decisions. Planning policies and decisions must also reflect relevant international
obligations and statutory requirements.

3.

The Framework should be read as a whole (including its footnotes and annexes).
General references to planning policies in the Framework should be applied in a
way that is appropriate to the type of plan being produced, taking into account
policy on plan-making in chapter 3.

4.

The Framework should be read in conjunction with the Government’s planning
policy for traveller sites, and its planning policy for waste. When preparing plans or
making decisions on applications for these types of development, regard should
also be had to the policies in this Framework, where relevant.

5.

The Framework does not contain specific policies for nationally significant
infrastructure projects. These are determined in accordance with the decisionmaking framework in the Planning Act 2008 (as amended) and relevant national
policy statements for major infrastructure, as well as any other matters that are
relevant (which may include the National Planning Policy Framework). National
policy statements form part of the overall framework of national planning policy, and
may be a material consideration in preparing plans and making decisions on
planning applications.

6.

Other statements of government policy may be material when preparing plans or
deciding applications, such as relevant Written Ministerial Statements and
endorsed recommendations of the National Infrastructure Commission.

This document replaces the previous version of the first National Planning Policy Framework published in
March 2012, and includes minor clarifications to the revised version published in July 2018 February 2019.
2
This includes local and neighbourhood plans that have been brought into force and any spatial
development strategies produced by combined authorities or elected Mayors (see Gglossary).
3
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and section 70(2) of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990.
1

Page 56

4

2. Achieving sustainable development
7.

The purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the achievement of
sustainable development. At a very high level, the objective of sustainable
development can be summarised as meeting the needs of the present without
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs4. At a
similarly high level, members of the United Nations – including the United Kingdom
– have agreed to pursue 17 Global Goals for Sustainable Development in the
period to 2030. These address social progress, economic well-being and
environmental protection5.

8.

Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has three
overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be pursued in
mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains
across each of the different objectives):
a) an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the
right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure;
b) a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet
the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed, ,
beautiful and safe places built environment, with accessible services and open
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health,
social and cultural well-being; and
c) an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhanceing our
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land,
helping to improvinge biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including
moving to a low carbon economy.

9.

These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and implementation
of plans and the application of the policies in this Framework; they are not criteria
against which every decision can or should be judged. Planning policies and
decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable
solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect
the character, needs and opportunities of each area.

10.

So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the
Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph
11).

4
5

Resolution 42/187 of the United Nations General Assembly.
Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development.

Page 57

5

The presumption in favour of sustainable development
11.

Plans and decisions should apply a presumption in favour of sustainable
development.
For plan-making this means that:
a) all plans should promote a sustainable pattern of development that
seeks to: meet the development needs of their area; align growth
and infrastructure; improve the environment; mitigate climate change
(including by making effective use of land in urban areas) and adapt
to its effects; plans should positively seek opportunities to meet the
development needs of their area, and be sufficiently flexible to adapt
to rapid change;
b) strategic policies should, as a minimum, provide for objectively
assessed needs for housing and other uses, as well as any needs
that cannot be met within neighbouring areas6, unless:
i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or
assets of particular importance provides a strong reason for
restricting the overall scale, type or distribution of development in
the plan area7; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.
For decision-taking this means:
c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date
development plan without delay; or
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the
policies which are most important for determining the application are
out-of-date8, granting permission unless:

As established through statements of common ground (see paragraph 27).
The policies referred to are those in this Framework (rather than those in development plans) relating to:
habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 17680) and/or designated as Sites of Special Scientific
Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a
National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats;
designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in footnote
6367); and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.
8
This includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations where the local planning
authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, as
set out in paragraph 73); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was
substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous three years. Transitional
arrangements for the Housing Delivery Test are set out in Annex 1.
6
7

Page 58

6

i.

the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or
assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for
refusing the development proposed7; or

ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and
demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the
policies in this Framework taken as a whole.
12.

The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision- making.
Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan
(including any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan),
permission should not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take
decisions that depart from an up-to-date development plan, but only if material
considerations in a particular case indicate that the plan should not be followed.

13.

The application of the presumption has implications for the way communities
engage in neighbourhood planning. Neighbourhood plans should support the
delivery of strategic policies contained in local plans or spatial development
strategies; and should shape and direct development that is outside of these
strategic policies.

14.

In situations where the presumption (at paragraph 11d) applies to applications
involving the provision of housing, the adverse impact of allowing development that
conflicts with the neighbourhood plan is likely to significantly and demonstrably
outweigh the benefits, provided all of the following apply9:
a) the neighbourhood plan became part of the development plan two years or less
before the date on which the decision is made;
b) the neighbourhood plan contains policies and allocations to meet its identified
housing requirement;
c) the local planning authority has at least a three year supply of deliverable
housing sites (against its five year housing supply requirement, including the
appropriate buffer as set out in paragraph 734); and
d) the local planning authority’s housing delivery was at least 45% of that
required10 over the previous three years.

9

Transitional arrangements are set out in Annex 1.
Assessed against the Housing Delivery Test, from November 2018 onwards.

10

Page 59

7

3. Plan-making
15.

The planning system should be genuinely plan-led. Succinct and up-to-date plans
should provide a positive vision for the future of each area; a framework for
addressing housing needs and other economic, social and environmental priorities;
and a platform for local people to shape their surroundings.

16.

Plans should:
a) be prepared with the objective of contributing to the achievement of sustainable
development11;
b) be prepared positively, in a way that is aspirational but deliverable;
c) be shaped by early, proportionate and effective engagement between planmakers and communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure
providers and operators and statutory consultees;
d) contain policies that are clearly written and unambiguous, so it is evident how a
decision maker should react to development proposals;
e) be accessible through the use of digital tools to assist public involvement and
policy presentation; and
f) serve a clear purpose, avoiding unnecessary duplication of policies that apply to
a particular area (including policies in this Framework, where relevant).

The plan-making framework
17.

The development plan must include strategic policies to address each local
planning authority’s priorities for the development and use of land in its area12.
These strategic policies can be produced in different ways, depending on the
issues and opportunities facing each area. They can be contained in:
a) joint or individual local plans, produced by authorities working together or
independently (and which may also contain non-strategic policies); and/or
b) a spatial development strategy produced by an elected Mayor or combined
authority, where plan-making powers have been conferred.

18.

Policies to address non-strategic matters should be included in local plans that
contain both strategic and non-strategic policies, and/or in local or neighbourhood
plans that contain just non-strategic policies.

19.

The development plan for an area comprises the combination of strategic and nonstrategic policies which are in force at a particular time.

This is a legal requirement of local planning authorities exercising their plan-making functions (section
39(2) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).
12
Section 19(1B-1E) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
11

Page 60

8

Strategic policies
20.

Strategic policies should set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale and
design quality of placesdevelopment, and make sufficient provision13 for:
a) housing (including affordable housing), employment, retail, leisure and other
commercial development;
b) infrastructure for transport, telecommunications, security, waste management,
water supply, wastewater, flood risk and coastal change management, and the
provision of minerals and energy (including heat);
c) community facilities (such as health, education and cultural infrastructure); and
d) conservation and enhancement of the natural, built and historic environment,
including landscapes and green infrastructure, and planning measures to
address climate change mitigation and adaptation.

21.

Plans should make explicit which policies are strategic policies14. These should be
limited to those necessary to address the strategic priorities of the area (and any
relevant cross-boundary issues), to provide a clear starting point for any nonstrategic policies that are needed. Strategic policies should not extend to detailed
matters that are more appropriately dealt with through neighbourhood plans or
other non-strategic policies.

22.

Strategic policies should look ahead over a minimum 15 year period from
adoption15, to anticipate and respond to long-term requirements and opportunities,
such as those arising from major improvements in infrastructure. Where largerscale development such as new settlements form part of the strategy for the area,
policies should be set within a vision that looks further ahead (at least 30 years), to
take into account the likely timescale for delivery.

23.

Broad locations for development should be indicated on a key diagram, and landuse designations and allocations identified on a policies map. Strategic policies
should provide a clear strategy for bringing sufficient land forward, and at a
sufficient rate, to address objectively assessed needs over the plan period, in line
with the presumption in favour of sustainable development. This should include
planning for and allocating sufficient sites to deliver the strategic priorities of the
area (except insofar as these needs can be demonstrated to be met more
appropriately through other mechanisms, such as brownfield registers or nonstrategic policies)16.

In line with the presumption in favour of sustainable development.
Where a single local plan is prepared the non-strategic policies should be clearly distinguished from the
strategic policies.
15
Except in relation to town centre development, as set out in chapter 7.
16
For spatial development strategies, allocations, land use designations and a policies map are needed only
where the power to make allocations has been conferred.
13
14

Page 61

9

Maintaining effective cooperation
24.

Local planning authorities and county councils (in two-tier areas) are under a duty
to cooperate with each other, and with other prescribed bodies, on strategic matters
that cross administrative boundaries.

25.

Strategic policy-making authorities should collaborate to identify the relevant
strategic matters which they need to address in their plans. They should also
engage with their local communities and relevant bodies including Local Enterprise
Partnerships, Local Nature Partnerships, the Marine Management Organisation,
county councils, infrastructure providers, elected Mayors and combined authorities
(in cases where Mayors or combined authorities do not have plan-making powers).

26.

Effective and on-going joint working between strategic policy-making authorities
and relevant bodies is integral to the production of a positively prepared and
justified strategy. In particular, joint working should help to determine where
additional infrastructure is necessary, and whether development needs that cannot
be met wholly within a particular plan area could be met elsewhere.

27.

In order to demonstrate effective and on-going joint working, strategic policymaking authorities should prepare and maintain one or more statements of
common ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being addressed and
progress in cooperating to address these. These should be produced using the
approach set out in national planning guidance, and be made publicly available
throughout the plan-making process to provide transparency.

Non-strategic policies
28.

Non-strategic policies should be used by local planning authorities and
communities to set out more detailed policies for specific areas, neighbourhoods or
types of development. This can include allocating sites, the provision of
infrastructure and community facilities at a local level, establishing design
principles, conserving and enhancing the natural and historic environment and
setting out other development management policies.

29.

Neighbourhood planning gives communities the power to develop a shared vision
for their area. Neighbourhood plans can shape, direct and help to deliver
sustainable development, by influencing local planning decisions as part of the
statutory development plan. Neighbourhood plans should not promote less
development than set out in the strategic policies for the area, or undermine those
strategic policies17.

30.

Once a neighbourhood plan has been brought into force, the policies it contains
take precedence over existing non-strategic policies in a local plan covering the

Neighbourhood plans must be in general conformity with the strategic policies contained in any
development plan that covers their area.
17

Page 62

10

neighbourhood area, where they are in conflict; unless they are superseded by
strategic or non-strategic policies that are adopted subsequently.

Preparing and reviewing plans
31.

The preparation and review of all policies should be underpinned by relevant and
up-to-date evidence. This should be adequate and proportionate, focused tightly on
supporting and justifying the policies concerned, and take into account relevant
market signals.

32.

Local plans and spatial development strategies should be informed throughout their
preparation by a sustainability appraisal that meets the relevant legal
requirements18. This should demonstrate how the plan has addressed relevant
economic, social and environmental objectives (including opportunities for net
gains). Significant adverse impacts on these objectives should be avoided and,
wherever possible, alternative options which reduce or eliminate such impacts
should be pursued. Where significant adverse impacts are unavoidable, suitable
mitigation measures should be proposed (or, where this is not possible,
compensatory measures should be considered).

33.

Policies in local plans and spatial development strategies should be reviewed to
assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and should then
be updated as necessary19. Reviews should be completed no later than five years
from the adoption date of a plan, and should take into account changing
circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant changes in national policy.
Relevant strategic policies will need updating at least once every five years if their
applicable local housing need figure has changed significantly; and they are likely
to require earlier review if local housing need is expected to change significantly in
the near future.

Development contributions
34.

Plans should set out the contributions expected from development. This should
include setting out the levels and types of affordable housing provision required,
along with other infrastructure (such as that needed for education, health, transport,
flood and water management, green and digital infrastructure). Such policies
should not undermine the deliverability of the plan.

Examining plans
35.

Local plans and spatial development strategies are examined to assess whether
they have been prepared in accordance with legal and procedural requirements,
and whether they are sound. Plans are ‘sound’ if they are:

The reference to relevant legal requirements refers to Strategic Environmental Assessment.
Neighbourhood plans may require Strategic Environmental Assessment, but only where there are potentially
significant environmental effects.
19
Reviews at least every five years are a legal requirement for all local plans (Regulation 10A of the Town
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012).
18

Page 63

11

a) Positively prepared – providing a strategy which, as a minimum, seeks to meet
the area’s objectively assessed needs20; and is informed by agreements with
other authorities, so that unmet need from neighbouring areas is
accommodated where it is practical to do so and is consistent with achieving
sustainable development;
b) Justified – an appropriate strategy, taking into account the reasonable
alternatives, and based on proportionate evidence;
c) Effective – deliverable over the plan period, and based on effective joint
working on cross-boundary strategic matters that have been dealt with rather
than deferred, as evidenced by the statement of common ground; and
d) Consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable
development in accordance with the policies in this Framework and other
statements of national planning policy, where relevant.
36.

These tests of soundness will be applied to non-strategic policies21 in a
proportionate way, taking into account the extent to which they are consistent with
relevant strategic policies for the area.

37.

Neighbourhood plans must meet certain ‘basic conditions’ and other legal
requirements22 before they can come into force. These are tested through an
independent examination before the neighbourhood plan may proceed to
referendum.

Where this relates to housing, such needs should be assessed using a clear and justified method, as set
out in paragraph 60 of this Framework.
21
Where these are contained in a local plan.
22
As set out in paragraph 8 of Schedule 4B to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
20

Page 64

12

4. Decision-making
38.

Local planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed development in
a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools
available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at every level
should seek to approve applications for sustainable development where possible.

Pre-application engagement and front-loading
39.

Early engagement has significant potential to improve the efficiency and
effectiveness of the planning application system for all parties. Good quality preapplication discussion enables better coordination between public and private
resources and improved outcomes for the community.

40.

Local planning authorities have a key role to play in encouraging other parties to
take maximum advantage of the pre-application stage. They cannot require that a
developer engages with them before submitting a planning application, but they
should encourage take-up of any pre-application services they offer. They should
also, where they think this would be beneficial, encourage any applicants who are
not already required to do so by law to engage with the local community and, where
relevant, with statutory and non-statutory consultees, before submitting their
applications.

41.

The more issues that can be resolved at pre-application stage, including the need
to deliver improvements in infrastructure and affordable housing, the greater the
benefits. For their role in the planning system to be effective and positive, statutory
planning consultees will need to take the same early, pro-active approach, and
provide advice in a timely manner throughout the development process. This
assists local planning authorities in issuing timely decisions, helping to ensure that
applicants do not experience unnecessary delays and costs.

42.

The participation of other consenting bodies in pre-application discussions should
enable early consideration of all the fundamental issues relating to whether a
particular development will be acceptable in principle, even where other consents
relating to how a development is built or operated are needed at a later stage.
Wherever possible, parallel processing of other consents should be encouraged to
help speed up the process and resolve any issues as early as possible.

43.

The right information is crucial to good decision-making, particularly where formal
assessments are required (such as Environmental Impact Assessment, Habitats
Regulations assessment and flood risk assessment). To avoid delay, applicants
should discuss what information is needed with the local planning authority and
expert bodies as early as possible.

44.

Local planning authorities should publish a list of their information requirements for
applications for planning permission. These requirements should be kept to the
minimum needed to make decisions, and should be reviewed at least every two

Page 65

13

years. Local planning authorities should only request supporting information that is
relevant, necessary and material to the application in question.
45.

Local planning authorities should consult the appropriate bodies when considering
applications for the siting of, or changes to, major hazard sites, installations or
pipelines, or for development around them.

46.

Applicants and local planning authorities should consider the potential for voluntary
planning performance agreements, where this might achieve a faster and more
effective application process. Planning performance agreements are likely to be
needed for applications that are particularly large or complex to determine.

Determining applications
47.

Planning law requires that applications for planning permission be determined in
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. Decisions on applications should be made as quickly as possible, and
within statutory timescales unless a longer period has been agreed by the applicant
in writing.

48.

Local planning authorities may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans
according to:
a) the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given);
b) the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant policies (the less
significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may be given);
and
c) the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to this
Framework (the closer the policies in the emerging plan to the policies in the
Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)23.

49.

However, in the context of the Framework – and in particular the presumption in
favour of sustainable development – arguments that an application is premature
are unlikely to justify a refusal of planning permission other than in the limited
circumstances where both:
a) the development proposed is so substantial, or its cumulative effect would be so
significant, that to grant permission would undermine the plan-making process
by predetermining decisions about the scale, location or phasing of new
development that are central to an emerging plan; and
b) the emerging plan is at an advanced stage but is not yet formally part of the
development plan for the area.

During the transitional period for emerging plans submitted for examination (set out in paragraph 2147),
consistency should be tested against the previous original Framework published in March 2012.
23

Page 66

14

50.

Refusal of planning permission on grounds of prematurity will seldom be justified
where a draft plan has yet to be submitted for examination; or – in the case of a
neighbourhood plan – before the end of the local planning authority publicity period
on the draft plan. Where planning permission is refused on grounds of prematurity,
the local planning authority will need to indicate clearly how granting permission for
the development concerned would prejudice the outcome of the plan-making
process.

Tailoring planning controls to local circumstances
51.

Local planning authorities are encouraged to use Local Development Orders to set
the planning framework for particular areas or categories of development where the
impacts would be acceptable, and in particular where this would promote
economic, social or environmental gains for the area.

52.

Communities can use Neighbourhood Development Orders and Community Right
to Build Orders to grant planning permission. These require the support of the local
community through a referendum. Local planning authorities should take a
proactive and positive approach to such proposals, working collaboratively with
community organisations to resolve any issues before draft orders are submitted for
examination.

53.

The use of Article 4 directions to remove national permitted development rights
should
•
•

•

•

where they relate to change of use to residential, be limited to situations
where this is essential to avoid wholly unacceptable adverse impacts
[or as an alternative to the above – where they relate to change of use to
residential, be limited to situations where this is necessary in order to protect
an interest of national significance]
where they do not relate to change of use to residential, be limited to
situations where this is necessary to protect local amenity or the well-being
of the area (this could include the use of Article 4 directions to require
planning permission for the demolition of local facilities)
in all cases apply to the smallest geographical area possible.

53.54. Similarly, planning conditions should not be used to restrict national permitted
development rights unless there is clear justification to do so.

Planning conditions and obligations
54.55. Local planning authorities should consider whether otherwise unacceptable
development could be made acceptable through the use of conditions or planning
obligations. Planning obligations should only be used where it is not possible to
address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition.
55.56. Planning conditions should be kept to a minimum and only imposed where they are
necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted,
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. Agreeing conditions early

Page 67

15

is beneficial to all parties involved in the process and can speed up decisionmaking. Conditions that are required to be discharged before development
commences should be avoided, unless there is a clear justification24.
56.57. Planning obligations must only be sought where they meet all of the following
tests25:
a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b) directly related to the development; and
c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.
57.58. Where up-to-date policies have set out the contributions expected from
development, planning applications that comply with them should be assumed to
be viable. It is up to the applicant to demonstrate whether particular circumstances
justify the need for a viability assessment at the application stage. The weight to be
given to a viability assessment is a matter for the decision maker, having regard to
all the circumstances in the case, including whether the plan and the viability
evidence underpinning it is up to date, and any change in site circumstances since
the plan was brought into force. All viability assessments, including any undertaken
at the plan-making stage, should reflect the recommended approach in national
planning guidance, including standardised inputs, and should be made publicly
available.

Enforcement
58.59. Effective enforcement is important to maintain public confidence in the planning
system. Enforcement action is discretionary, and local planning authorities should
act proportionately in responding to suspected breaches of planning control. They
should consider publishing a local enforcement plan to manage enforcement
proactively, in a way that is appropriate to their area. This should set out how they
will monitor the implementation of planning permissions, investigate alleged cases
of unauthorised development and take action where appropriate.

When in force, sections 100ZA(4-6) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 will require the
applicant’s written agreement to the terms of a pre-commencement condition, unless prescribed
circumstances apply.
25
Set out in Regulation 122(2) of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.
24

Page 68

16

5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
59.60. To support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of
homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and variety of land can come forward
where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific housing requirements are
addressed and that land with permission is developed without unnecessary delay.
60.61. To determine the minimum number of homes needed, strategic policies should be
informed by a local housing need assessment, conducted using the standard
method in national planning guidance – unless exceptional circumstances justify an
alternative approach which also reflects current and future demographic trends and
market signals. In addition to the local housing need figure, any needs that cannot
be met within neighbouring areas should also be taken into account in establishing
the amount of housing to be planned for.
61.62. Within this context, the size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups
in the community should be assessed and reflected in planning policies (including,
but not limited to, those who require affordable housing, families with children, older
people, students, people with disabilities, service families, travellers26, people who
rent their homes and people wishing to commission or build their own homes27).
62.63. Where a need for affordable housing is identified, planning policies should specify
the type of affordable housing required28, and expect it to be met on-site unless:
a) off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly
justified; and
b) the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and
balanced communities.
63.64. Provision of affordable housing should not be sought for residential developments
that are not major developments, other than in designated rural areas (where
policies may set out a lower threshold of 5 units or fewer). To support the re-use of
brownfield land, where vacant buildings are being reused or redeveloped, any
affordable housing contribution due should be reduced by a proportionate
amount29.
64.65. Where major development involving the provision of housing is proposed, planning
policies and decisions should expect at least 10% of the total number of homes to

Planning Policy for Traveller Sites sets out how travellers’ housing needs should be assessed for those
covered by the definition in Annex 1 of that document.
27
Under section 1 of the Self Build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015, local authorities are required to
keep a register of those seeking to acquire serviced plots in the area for their own self-build and custom
house building. They are also subject to duties under sections 2 and 2A of the Act to have regard to this and
to give enough suitable development permissions to meet the identified demand. Self and custom-build
properties could provide market or affordable housing.
28
Applying the definition in Annex 2 to this Framework.
29
Equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of the existing buildings. This does not apply to vacant
buildings which have been abandoned.
26

Page 69

17

be available for affordable home ownership30, unless this would exceed the level of
affordable housing required in the area, or significantly prejudice the ability to meet
the identified affordable housing needs of specific groups. Exemptions to this 10%
requirement should also be made where the site or proposed development:
a) provides solely for Build to Rent homes;
b) provides specialist accommodation for a group of people with specific needs
(such as purpose-built accommodation for the elderly or students);
c) is proposed to be developed by people who wish to build or commission their
own homes; or
d) is exclusively for affordable housing, an entry-level exception site or a rural
exception site.
65.66. Strategic policy-making authorities should establish a housing requirement figure
for their whole area, which shows the extent to which their identified housing need
(and any needs that cannot be met within neighbouring areas) can be met over the
plan period. Within this overall requirement, strategic policies should also set out a
housing requirement for designated neighbourhood areas which reflects the overall
strategy for the pattern and scale of development and any relevant allocations31.
Once the strategic policies have been adopted, these figures should not need retesting at the neighbourhood plan examination, unless there has been a significant
change in circumstances that affects the requirement.
66.67. Where it is not possible to provide a requirement figure for a neighbourhood area 32,
the local planning authority should provide an indicative figure, if requested to do so
by the neighbourhood planning body. This figure should take into account factors
such as the latest evidence of local housing need, the population of the
neighbourhood area and the most recently available planning strategy of the local
planning authority.

Identifying land for homes
67.68. Strategic policy-making authorities should have a clear understanding of the land
available in their area through the preparation of a strategic housing land
availability assessment. From this, planning policies should identify a sufficient
supply and mix of sites, taking into account their availability, suitability and likely
economic viability. Planning policies should identify a supply of:
a) specific, deliverable sites for years one to five of the plan period33; and

As part of the overall affordable housing contribution from the site.
Except where a Mayoral, combined authority or high-level joint plan is being prepared as a framework for
strategic policies at the individual local authority level; in which case it may be most appropriate for the local
authority plans to provide the requirement figure.
32
Because a neighbourhood area is designated at a late stage in the strategic policy-making process, or
after strategic policies have been adopted; or in instances where strategic policies for housing are out of
date.
33
With an appropriate buffer, as set out in paragraph 73. See Gglossary for definitions of deliverable and
developable.
30
31

Page 70

18

b) specific, developable sites or broad locations for growth, for years 6-10 and,
where possible, for years 11-15 of the plan.
68.69. Small and medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the
housing requirement of an area, and are often built-out relatively quickly. To
promote the development of a good mix of sites local planning authorities should:
a) identify, through the development plan and brownfield registers, land to
accommodate at least 10% of their housing requirement on sites no larger than
one hectare; unless it can be shown, through the preparation of relevant plan
policies, that there are strong reasons why this 10% target cannot be achieved;
b) use tools such as area-wide design assessments and Local Development
Orders to help bring small and medium sized sites forward;
c) support the development of windfall sites through their policies and decisions –
giving great weight to the benefits of using suitable sites within existing
settlements for homes; and
d) work with developers to encourage the sub-division of large sites where this
could help to speed up the delivery of homes.
69.70. Neighbourhood planning groups should also give particular consideration to the
opportunities for allocating small and medium-sized sites (of a size consistent with
paragraph 698a) suitable for housing in their area.
70.71. Where an allowance is to be made for windfall sites as part of anticipated supply,
there should be compelling evidence that they will provide a reliable source of
supply. Any allowance should be realistic having regard to the strategic housing
land availability assessment, historic windfall delivery rates and expected future
trends. Plans should consider the case for setting out policies to resist
inappropriate development of residential gardens, for example where development
would cause harm to the local area.
71.72. Local planning authorities should support the development of entry-level exception
sites, suitable for first time buyers (or those looking to rent their first home), unless
the need for such homes is already being met within the authority’s area. These
sites should be on land which is not already allocated for housing and should:
a) comprise of entry-level homes that offer one or more types of affordable
housing as defined in Annex 2 of this Framework; and
b) be adjacent to existing settlements, proportionate in size to them34, not
compromise the protection given to areas or assets of particular importance in
this Framework35, and comply with any local design policies and standards.

Entry-level exception sites should not be larger than one hectare in size or exceed 5% of the size of the
existing settlement.
35
i.e. the areas referred to in footnote 67. Entry-level exception sites should not be permitted in National
Parks (or within the Broads Authority), Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty or land designated as Green
Belt.
34

Page 71

19

72.73. The supply of large numbers of new homes can often be best achieved through
planning for larger scale development, such as new settlements or significant
extensions to existing villages and towns, provided they are well located and
designed, and supported by the necessary infrastructure and facilities (including a
genuine choice of transport modes). Working with the support of their communities,
and with other authorities if appropriate, strategic policy-making authorities should
identify suitable locations for such development where this can help to meet
identified needs in a sustainable way. In doing so, they should:
a) consider the opportunities presented by existing or planned investment in
infrastructure, the area’s economic potential and the scope for net
environmental gains;
b) ensure that their size and location will support a sustainable community, with
sufficient access to services and employment opportunities within the
development itself (without expecting an unrealistic level of self-containment), or
in larger towns to which there is good access;
c) set clear expectations for the quality of the places to be created development
and how this can be maintained (such as by following Garden City principles);
and ensure that appropriate tools such as masterplans and design codes are
used to secure a variety of well-designed and beautiful homes to meet the
needs of different groups in the community will be provided;
d) make a realistic assessment of likely rates of delivery, given the lead-in times
for large scale sites, and identify opportunities for supporting rapid
implementation (such as through joint ventures or locally-led development
corporations)36; and
e) consider whether it is appropriate to establish Green Belt around or adjoining
new developments of significant size.

Maintaining supply and delivery
73.74. Strategic policies should include a trajectory illustrating the expected rate of
housing delivery over the plan period, and all plans should consider whether it is
appropriate to set out the anticipated rate of development for specific sites. Local
planning authorities should identify and update annually a supply of specific
deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of five years’ worth of housing
against their housing requirement set out in adopted strategic policies37, or against
their local housing need where the strategic policies are more than five years old38.

The delivery of large scale developments may need to extend beyond an individual plan period, and the
associated infrastructure requirements may not be capable of being identified fully at the outset. Anticipated
rates of delivery and infrastructure requirements should, therefore, be kept under review and reflected as
policies are updated.
37
For the avoidance of doubt, a five year supply of deliverable sites for travellers – as defined in Annex 1 to
Planning Policy for Traveller Sites – should be assessed separately, in line with the policy in that document.
38
Unless these strategic policies have been reviewed and found not to require updating. Where local
housing need is used as the basis for assessing whether a five year supply of specific deliverable sites
exists, it should be calculated using the standard method set out in national planning guidance.
36

Page 72

20

The supply of specific deliverable sites should in addition include a buffer (moved
forward from later in the plan period) of:
a) 5% to ensure choice and competition in the market for land; or
b) 10% where the local planning authority wishes to demonstrate a five year
supply of deliverable sites through an annual position statement or recently
adopted plan39, to account for any fluctuations in the market during that year; or
c) 20% where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the
previous three years, to improve the prospect of achieving the planned supply40.
74.75. A five year supply of deliverable housing sites, with the appropriate buffer, can be
demonstrated where it has been established in a recently adopted plan, or in a
subsequent annual position statement which:
a) has been produced through engagement with developers and others who have
an impact on delivery, and been considered by the Secretary of State; and
b) incorporates the recommendation of the Secretary of State, where the position
on specific sites could not be agreed during the engagement process.
75.76. To maintain the supply of housing, local planning authorities should monitor
progress in building out sites which have permission. Where the Housing Delivery
Test indicates that delivery has fallen below 95% of the local planning authority’s
housing requirement over the previous three years, the authority should prepare an
action plan in line with national planning guidance, to assess the causes of underdelivery and identify actions to increase delivery in future years.
76.77. To help ensure that proposals for housing development are implemented in a timely
manner, local planning authorities should consider imposing a planning condition
providing that development must begin within a timescale shorter than the relevant
default period, where this would expedite the development without threatening its
deliverability or viability. For major development involving the provision of housing,
local planning authorities should also assess why any earlier grant of planning
permission for a similar development on the same site did not start.

Rural housing
77.78. In rural areas, planning policies and decisions should be responsive to local
circumstances and support housing developments that reflect local needs. Local
planning authorities should support opportunities to bring forward rural exception
sites that will provide affordable housing to meet identified local needs, and
consider whether allowing some market housing on these sites would help to
facilitate this.

For the purposes of paragraphs 73b and 74 a plan adopted between 1 May and 31 October will be
considered ‘recently adopted’ until 31 October of the following year; and a plan adopted between 1
November and 30 April will be considered recently adopted until 31 October in the same year.
40
From November 2018, tThis will be measured against the Housing Delivery Test, where this indicates that
delivery was below 85% of the housing requirement.
39

Page 73

21

78.79. To promote sustainable development in rural areas, housing should be located
where it will enhance or maintain the vitality of rural communities. Planning policies
should identify opportunities for villages to grow and thrive, especially where this
will support local services. Where there are groups of smaller settlements,
development in one village may support services in a village nearby.
79.80. Planning policies and decisions should avoid the development of isolated homes in
the countryside unless one or more of the following circumstances apply:
a) there is an essential need for a rural worker, including those taking majority
control of a farm business, to live permanently at or near their place of work in
the countryside;
b) the development would represent the optimal viable use of a heritage asset or
would be appropriate enabling development to secure the future of heritage
assets;
c) the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its
immediate setting;
d) the development would involve the subdivision of an existing residential
buildingdwelling; or
e) the design is of exceptional quality, in that it:
-

is truly outstanding or innovative, reflecting the highest standards in
architecture, and would help to raise standards of design more generally in
rural areas; and

-

would significantly enhance its immediate setting, and be sensitive to the
defining characteristics of the local area.

Page 74

22

6. Building a strong, competitive economy
80.81. Planning policies and decisions should help create the conditions in which
businesses can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on
the need to support economic growth and productivity, taking into account both
local business needs and wider opportunities for development. The approach taken
should allow each area to build on its strengths, counter any weaknesses and
address the challenges of the future. This is particularly important where Britain can
be a global leader in driving innovation41, and in areas with high levels of
productivity, which should be able to capitalise on their performance and potential.
81.82. Planning policies should:
a) set out a clear economic vision and strategy which positively and proactively
encourages sustainable economic growth, having regard to Local Industrial
Strategies and other local policies for economic development and regeneration;
b) set criteria, or identify strategic sites, for local and inward investment to match
the strategy and to meet anticipated needs over the plan period;
c) seek to address potential barriers to investment, such as inadequate
infrastructure, services or housing, or a poor environment; and
d) be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated in the plan, allow for
new and flexible working practices (such as live-work accommodation), and to
enable a rapid response to changes in economic circumstances.
82.83. Planning policies and decisions should recognise and address the specific
locational requirements of different sectors. This includes making provision for
clusters or networks of knowledge and data-driven, creative or high technology
industries; and for storage and distribution operations at a variety of scales and in
suitably accessible locations.

Supporting a prosperous rural economy
83.84. Planning policies and decisions should enable:
a) the sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas,
both through conversion of existing buildings and well-designed new buildings;
b) the development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural
businesses;

The Government’s Industrial Strategy sets out a vision to drive productivity improvements across the UK,
identifies a number of Grand Challenges facing all nations, and sets out a delivery programme to make the
UK a leader in four of these: artificial intelligence and big data; clean growth; future mobility; and catering for
an ageing society. HM Government (2017) Industrial Strategy: Building a Britain fit for the future.
41

Page 75

23

c) sustainable rural tourism and leisure developments which respect the character
of the countryside; and
d) the retention and development of accessible local services and community
facilities, such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space,
cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship.
84.85. Planning policies and decisions should recognise that sites to meet local business
and community needs in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond
existing settlements, and in locations that are not well served by public transport. In
these circumstances it will be important to ensure that development is sensitive to
its surroundings, does not have an unacceptable impact on local roads and exploits
any opportunities to make a location more sustainable (for example by improving
the scope for access on foot, by cycling or by public transport). The use of
previously developed land, and sites that are physically well-related to existing
settlements, should be encouraged where suitable opportunities exist.

Page 76

24

7. Ensuring the vitality of town centres
85.86. Planning policies and decisions should support the role that town centres play at
the heart of local communities, by taking a positive approach to their growth,
management and adaptation. Planning policies should:
a) define a network and hierarchy of town centres and promote their long-term
vitality and viability – by allowing them to grow and diversify in a way that can
respond to rapid changes in the retail and leisure industries, allows a suitable
mix of uses (including housing) and reflects their distinctive characters;
b) define the extent of town centres and primary shopping areas, and make clear
the range of uses permitted in such locations, as part of a positive strategy for
the future of each centre;
c) retain and enhance existing markets and, where appropriate, re-introduce or
create new ones;
d) allocate a range of suitable sites in town centres to meet the scale and type of
development likely to be needed, looking at least ten years ahead. Meeting
anticipated needs for retail, leisure, office and other main town centre uses over
this period should not be compromised by limited site availability, so town centre
boundaries should be kept under review where necessary;
e) where suitable and viable town centre sites are not available for main town
centre uses, allocate appropriate edge of centre sites that are well connected to
the town centre. If sufficient edge of centre sites cannot be identified, policies
should explain how identified needs can be met in other accessible locations
that are well connected to the town centre; and
f) recognise that residential development often plays an important role in ensuring
the vitality of centres and encourage residential development on appropriate
sites.
86.87. Local planning authorities should apply a sequential test to planning applications for
main town centre uses which are neither in an existing centre nor in accordance
with an up-to-date plan. Main town centre uses should be located in town centres,
then in edge of centre locations; and only if suitable sites are not available (or
expected to become available within a reasonable period) should out of centre sites
be considered.
87.88. When considering edge of centre and out of centre proposals, preference should
be given to accessible sites which are well connected to the town centre.
Applicants and local planning authorities should demonstrate flexibility on issues
such as format and scale, so that opportunities to utilise suitable town centre or
edge of centre sites are fully explored.
88.89. This sequential approach should not be applied to applications for small scale rural
offices or other small scale rural development.

Page 77

25

89.90. When assessing applications for retail and leisure development outside town
centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, local planning
authorities should require an impact assessment if the development is over a
proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold (if there is no locally set threshold,
the default threshold is 2,500m2 of gross floorspace). This should include
assessment of:
a) the impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and
private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the proposal;
and
b) the impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including local
consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail catchment
(as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme).
90.91. Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test or is likely to have
significant adverse impact on one or more of the considerations in paragraph 8990,
it should be refused.

Page 78

26

8. Promoting healthy and safe communities
91.92. Planning policies and decisions should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe
places which:
a) promote social interaction, including opportunities for meetings between people
who might not otherwise come into contact with each other – for example
through mixed-use developments, strong neighbourhood centres, street layouts
that allow for easy pedestrian and cycle connections within and between
neighbourhoods, and active street frontages;
b) are safe and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do
not undermine the quality of life or community cohesion – for example through
the use of attractive, clear and legible pedestrian and cycle routes, and high
quality public space, which encourage the active and continual use of public
areas; and
c) enable and support healthy lifestyles, especially where this would address
identified local health and well-being needs – for example through the provision
of safe and accessible green infrastructure, sports facilities, local shops, access
to healthier food, allotments and layouts that encourage walking and cycling.
92.93. To provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the community
needs, planning policies and decisions should:
a) plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community facilities
(such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, cultural
buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local services to
enhance the sustainability of communities and residential environments;
b) take into account and support the delivery of local strategies to improve health,
social and cultural well-being for all sections of the community;
c) guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly
where this would reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs;
d) ensure that established shops, facilities and services are able to develop and
modernise, and are retained for the benefit of the community; and
e) ensure an integrated approach to considering the location of housing, economic
uses and community facilities and services.
93.94. Planning policies and decisions should consider the social, economic and
environmental benefits of estate regeneration. Local planning authorities should
use their planning powers to help deliver estate regeneration to a high standard.
94.95. It is important that a sufficient choice of school places is available to meet the
needs of existing and new communities. Local planning authorities should take a
proactive, positive and collaborative approach to meeting this requirement, and to
development that will widen choice in education. They should:

Page 79

27

a) give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through the
preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and
b) work with schools promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to identify
and resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted.
95.96. Planning policies and decisions should promote public safety and take into account
wider security and defence requirements by:
a) anticipating and addressing possible malicious threats and natural hazards,
especially in locations where large numbers of people are expected to
congregate42. Policies for relevant areas (such as town centre and regeneration
frameworks), and the layout and design of developments, should be informed
by the most up-to-date information available from the police and other agencies
about the nature of potential threats and their implications. This includes
appropriate and proportionate steps that can be taken to reduce vulnerability,
increase resilience and ensure public safety and security; and
b) recognising and supporting development required for operational defence and
security purposes, and ensuring that operational sites are not affected adversely
by the impact of other development proposed in the area.

Open space and recreation
96.97. Access to a network of high quality open spaces and opportunities for sport and
physical activity is important for the health and well-being of communities, and can
deliver wider benefits for nature and efforts to address climate change. Planning
policies should be based on robust and up-to-date assessments of the need for
open space, sport and recreation facilities (including quantitative or qualitative
deficits or surpluses) and opportunities for new provision. Information gained from
the assessments should be used to determine what open space, sport and
recreational provision is needed, which plans should then seek to accommodate.
97.98. Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, including playing
fields, should not be built on unless:
a) an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open space,
buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or
b) the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by
equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable
location; or
c) the development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the benefits
of which clearly outweigh the loss of the current or former use.

This includes transport hubs, night-time economy venues, cinemas and theatres, sports stadia and
arenas, shopping centres, health and education establishments, places of worship, hotels and restaurants,
visitor attractions and commercial centres.
42

Page 80

28

98.99. Planning policies and decisions should protect and enhance public rights of way
and access, including taking opportunities to provide better facilities for users, for
example by adding links to existing rights of way networks including National Trails.
99.100.
The designation of land as Local Green Space through local and
neighbourhood plans allows communities to identify and protect green areas of
particular importance to them. Designating land as Local Green Space should be
consistent with the local planning of sustainable development and complement
investment in sufficient homes, jobs and other essential services. Local Green
Spaces should only be designated when a plan is prepared or updated, and be
capable of enduring beyond the end of the plan period.
100.101.
The Local Green Space designation should only be used where the green
space is:
a) in reasonably close proximity to the community it serves;
b) demonstrably special to a local community and holds a particular local
significance, for example because of its beauty, historic significance,
recreational value (including as a playing field), tranquillity or richness of its
wildlife; and
c) local in character and is not an extensive tract of land.
101.102.
Policies for managing development within a Local Green Space should be
consistent with those for Green Belts.

Page 81

29

9. Promoting sustainable transport
102.103.
Transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of planmaking and development proposals, so that:
a) the potential impacts of development on transport networks can be addressed;
b) opportunities from existing or proposed transport infrastructure, and changing
transport technology and usage, are realised – for example in relation to the
scale, location or density of development that can be accommodated;
c) opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are identified
and pursued;
d) the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be
identified, assessed and taken into account – including appropriate
opportunities for avoiding and mitigating any adverse effects, and for net
environmental gains; and
e) patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are
integral to the design of schemes, and contribute to making high quality places.
103.104.
The planning system should actively manage patterns of growth in support
of these objectives. Significant development should be focused on locations which
are or can be made sustainable, through limiting the need to travel and offering a
genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce congestion and
emissions, and improve air quality and public health. However, opportunities to
maximise sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas,
and this should be taken into account in both plan-making and decision-making.
104.105.

Planning policies should:

a) support an appropriate mix of uses across an area, and within larger scale sites,
to minimise the number and length of journeys needed for employment,
shopping, leisure, education and other activities;
b) be prepared with the active involvement of local highways authorities, other
transport infrastructure providers and operators and neighbouring councils, so
that strategies and investments for supporting sustainable transport and
development patterns are aligned;
c) identify and protect, where there is robust evidence, sites and routes which
could be critical in developing infrastructure to widen transport choice and
realise opportunities for large scale development;
d) provide for high quality, well-designed walking and cycling networks and with
supporting facilities such as secure cycle parking (drawing on Local Cycling and
Walking Infrastructure Plans);

Page 82

30

e) provide for any large scale transport facilities that need to be located in the
area43, and the infrastructure and wider development required to support their
operation, expansion and contribution to the wider economy. In doing so they
should take into account whether such development is likely to be a nationally
significant infrastructure project and any relevant national policy statements;
and
f) recognise the importance of maintaining a national network of general aviation
airfields, and their need to adapt and change over time – taking into account
their economic value in serving business, leisure, training and emergency
service needs, and the Government’s General Aviation Strategy44.
105.106.
If setting local parking standards for residential and non-residential
development, policies should take into account:
a) the accessibility of the development;
b) the type, mix and use of development;
c) the availability of and opportunities for public transport;
d) local car ownership levels; and
e) the need to ensure an adequate provision of spaces for charging plug-in and
other ultra-low emission vehicles.
106.107.
Maximum parking standards for residential and non-residential development
should only be set where there is a clear and compelling justification that they are
necessary for managing the local road network, or for optimising the density of
development in city and town centres and other locations that are well served by
public transport (in accordance with chapter 11 of this Framework). In town centres,
local authorities should seek to improve the quality of parking so that it is
convenient, safe and secure, alongside measures to promote accessibility for
pedestrians and cyclists.
107.108.
Planning policies and decisions should recognise the importance of
providing adequate overnight lorry parking facilities, taking into account any local
shortages, to reduce the risk of parking in locations that lack proper facilities or
could cause a nuisance. Proposals for new or expanded distribution centres should
make provision for sufficient lorry parking to cater for their anticipated use.

Considering development proposals
108.109.
In assessing sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific
applications for development, it should be ensured that:

Policies for large scale facilities should, where necessary, be developed through collaboration between
strategic policy-making authorities and other relevant bodies. Examples of such facilities include ports,
airports, interchanges for rail freight, public transport projects and roadside services. The primary function of
roadside services should be to support the safety and welfare of the road user (and most such proposals are
unlikely to be nationally significant infrastructure projects).
44
Department for Transport (2015) General Aviation Strategy.
43

Page 83

31

a) appropriate opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be – or
have been – taken up, given the type of development and its location;
b) safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users; and
c) the design of streets, parking areas, other transport elements and the content of
associated standards reflects current national guidance, including the National
Design Guide and the National Model Design Code 45; and
d) any significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms
of capacity and congestion), or on highway safety, can be cost effectively
mitigated to an acceptable degree.
109.110.
Development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if
there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.
110.111.

Within this context, applications for development should:

a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle movements, both within the scheme
and with neighbouring areas; and second – so far as possible – to facilitating
access to high quality public transport, with layouts that maximise the catchment
area for bus or other public transport services, and appropriate facilities that
encourage public transport use;
b) address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to
all modes of transport;
c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the scope
for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary
street clutter, and respond to local character and design standards;
d) allow for the efficient delivery of goods, and access by service and emergency
vehicles; and
e) be designed to enable charging of plug-in and other ultra-low emission vehicles
in safe, accessible and convenient locations.
111.112.
All developments that will generate significant amounts of movement should
be required to provide a travel plan, and the application should be supported by a
transport statement or transport assessment so that the likely impacts of the
proposal can be assessed.

Policies and decisions should not make use of or reflect the former Design Bulletin 32, which was
withdrawn in 2007 and superseded by Manual for Streets.
45

Page 84

32

10. Supporting high quality communications
112.113.
Advanced, high quality and reliable communications infrastructure is
essential for economic growth and social well-being. Planning policies and
decisions should support the expansion of electronic communications networks,
including next generation mobile technology (such as 5G) and full fibre broadband
connections. Policies should set out how high quality digital infrastructure, providing
access to services from a range of providers, is expected to be delivered and
upgraded over time; and should prioritise full fibre connections to existing and new
developments (as these connections will, in almost all cases, provide the optimum
solution).
113.114.
The number of radio and electronic communications masts, and the sites for
such installations, should be kept to a minimum consistent with the needs of
consumers, the efficient operation of the network and providing reasonable
capacity for future expansion. Use of existing masts, buildings and other structures
for new electronic communications capability (including wireless) should be
encouraged. Where new sites are required (such as for new 5G networks, or for
connected transport and smart city applications), equipment should be
sympathetically designed and camouflaged where appropriate.
114.115.
Local planning authorities should not impose a ban on new electronic
communications development in certain areas, impose blanket Article 4 directions
over a wide area or a wide range of electronic communications development, or
insist on minimum distances between new electronic communications development
and existing development. They should ensure that:
a) they have evidence to demonstrate that electronic communications
infrastructure is not expected to cause significant and irremediable interference
with other electrical equipment, air traffic services or instrumentation operated in
the national interest; and
b) they have considered the possibility of the construction of new buildings or other
structures interfering with broadcast and electronic communications services.
115.116.
Applications for electronic communications development (including
applications for prior approval under the General Permitted Development Order)
should be supported by the necessary evidence to justify the proposed
development. This should include:
a) the outcome of consultations with organisations with an interest in the proposed
development, in particular with the relevant body where a mast is to be installed
near a school or college, or within a statutory safeguarding zone surrounding an
aerodrome, technical site or military explosives storage area; and
b) for an addition to an existing mast or base station, a statement that self-certifies
that the cumulative exposure, when operational, will not exceed International
Commission guidelines on non-ionising radiation protection; or

Page 85

33

c) for a new mast or base station, evidence that the applicant has explored the
possibility of erecting antennas on an existing building, mast or other structure
and a statement that self-certifies that, when operational, International
Commission guidelines will be met.
116.117.
Local planning authorities must determine applications on planning grounds
only. They should not seek to prevent competition between different operators,
question the need for an electronic communications system, or set health
safeguards different from the International Commission guidelines for public
exposure.

Page 86

34

11. Making effective use of land
117.118.
Planning policies and decisions should promote an effective use of land in
meeting the need for homes and other uses, while safeguarding and improving the
environment and ensuring safe and healthy living conditions. Strategic policies
should set out a clear strategy for accommodating objectively assessed needs, in a
way that makes as much use as possible of previously-developed or ‘brownfield’
land46.
118.119.

Planning policies and decisions should:

a) encourage multiple benefits from both urban and rural land, including through
mixed use schemes and taking opportunities to achieve net environmental gains
– such as developments that would enable new habitat creation or improve
public access to the countryside;
b) recognise that some undeveloped land can perform many functions, such as for
wildlife, recreation, flood risk mitigation, cooling/shading, carbon storage or food
production;
c) give substantial weight to the value of using suitable brownfield land within
settlements for homes and other identified needs, and support appropriate
opportunities to remediate despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated or
unstable land;
d) promote and support the development of under-utilised land and buildings,
especially if this would help to meet identified needs for housing where land
supply is constrained and available sites could be used more effectively (for
example converting space above shops, and building on or above service
yards, car parks, lock-ups and railway infrastructure)47; and
e) support opportunities to use the airspace above existing residential and
commercial premises for new homes. In particular, they should allow upward
extensions where the development would be consistent with the prevailing
height and form of neighbouring properties and the overall street scene, is welldesigned (including complying with any local design policies and standards),
and can maintain safe access and egress for occupiers.
119.120.
Local planning authorities, and other plan-making bodies, should take a
proactive role in identifying and helping to bring forward land that may be suitable
for meeting development needs, including suitable sites on brownfield registers or
held in public ownership, using the full range of powers available to them. This
should include identifying opportunities to facilitate land assembly, supported where
necessary by compulsory purchase powers, where this can help to bring more land

Except where this would conflict with other policies in this Framework, including causing harm to
designated sites of importance for biodiversity.
47
As part of this approach, plans and decisions should support efforts to identify and bring back into
residential use empty homes and other buildings, supported by the use of compulsory purchase powers
where appropriate.
46

Page 87

35

forward for meeting development needs and/or secure better development
outcomes.
120.121.
Planning policies and decisions need to reflect changes in the demand for
land. They should be informed by regular reviews of both the land allocated for
development in plans, and of land availability. Where the local planning authority
considers there to be no reasonable prospect of an application coming forward for
the use allocated in a plan:
a) they it should, as part of plan updates, reallocate the land for a more deliverable
use that can help to address identified needs (or, if appropriate, deallocate a
site which is undeveloped); and
b) in the interim, prior to updating the plan, applications for alternative uses on the
land should be supported, where the proposed use would contribute to meeting
an unmet need for development in the area.
121.122.
Local planning authorities should also take a positive approach to
applications for alternative uses of land which is currently developed but not
allocated for a specific purpose in plans, where this would help to meet identified
development needs. In particular, they should support proposals to:
a) use retail and employment land for homes in areas of high housing demand,
provided this would not undermine key economic sectors or sites or the vitality
and viability of town centres, and would be compatible with other policies in this
Framework; and
b) make more effective use of sites that provide community services such as
schools and hospitals, provided this maintains or improves the quality of service
provision and access to open space.

Achieving appropriate densities
122.123.
Planning policies and decisions should support development that makes
efficient use of land, taking into account:
a) the identified need for different types of housing and other forms of
development, and the availability of land suitable for accommodating it;
b) local market conditions and viability;
c) the availability and capacity of infrastructure and services – both existing and
proposed – as well as their potential for further improvement and the scope to
promote sustainable travel modes that limit future car use;
d) the desirability of maintaining an area’s prevailing character and setting
(including residential gardens), or of promoting regeneration and change; and
e) the importance of securing well-designed, attractive and healthy places.
123.124.
Area-based character assessments, codes and masterplans can be helpful
tools in helping to ensure that land is used efficiently while also creating beautiful
36

Page 88

and sustainable places. Where there is an existing or anticipated shortage of land
for meeting identified housing needs, it is especially important that planning policies
and decisions avoid homes being built at low densities, and ensure that
developments make optimal use of the potential of each site. In these
circumstances:
a) plans should contain policies to optimise the use of land in their area and meet
as much of the identified need for housing as possible. This will be tested
robustly at examination, and should include the use of minimum density
standards for city and town centres and other locations that are well served by
public transport. These standards should seek a significant uplift in the average
density of residential development within these areas, unless it can be shown
that there are strong reasons why this would be inappropriate;
b) the use of minimum density standards should also be considered for other parts
of the plan area. It may be appropriate to set out a range of densities that reflect
the accessibility and potential of different areas, rather than one broad density
range; and
c) local planning authorities should refuse applications which they consider fail to
make efficient use of land, taking into account the policies in this Framework. In
this context, when considering applications for housing, authorities should take
a flexible approach in applying policies or guidance relating to daylight and
sunlight, where they would otherwise inhibit making efficient use of a site (as
long as the resulting scheme would provide acceptable living standards).

Page 89

37

12. Achieving well-designed places
124.125.
The creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is
fundamental to what the planning and development process should achieve. Good
design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in which
to live and work and helps make development acceptable to communities. Being
clear about design expectations, and how these will be tested, is essential for
achieving this. So too is effective engagement between applicants, communities,
local planning authorities and other interests throughout the process.
125.126.
Plans should, at the most appropriate level, set out a clear design vision and
expectations, so that applicants have as much certainty as possible about what is
likely to be acceptable. Design policies should be developed with local communities
so they reflect local aspirations, and are grounded in an understanding and
evaluation of each area’s defining characteristics. Neighbourhood plans planning
groups can play an important role in identifying the special qualities of each area
and explaining how this should be reflected in development, both through their own
plans and by engaging in the production of design policy, guidance and codes by
local planning authorities.
126.127.
To provide maximum clarity about design expectations at an early stage, all
local planning authorities should prepare design guides or codes consistent with
the principles set out in the National Design Guide and National Model Design
Code and which reflect local character and design preferences. These provide a
local framework for creating beautiful and distinctive places with a consistent and
high quality standard of design. Their level of detail and degree of prescription
should be tailored to the circumstances and scale of change in each place,
and should allow a suitable degree of variety where this would be justified. plans
or supplementary planning documents should use visual tools such as design
guides and codes. These provide a framework for creating distinctive places, with a
consistent and high quality standard of design. However their level of detail and
degree of prescription should be tailored to the circumstances in each place, and
should allow a suitable degree of variety where this would be justified.
128.

Design guides and codes can be prepared at an area-wide or site-specific scale,
and to carry weight in decision-making should be produced either as part of a plan
or as supplementary planning documents (although applicants may also elect to
prepare codes for sites which they propose to develop). All guides and codes
should be based on effective community engagement and reflect local aspirations
for the development of their area, taking into account the guidance contained in the
National Design Guide and the National Model Design Code. These national
documents should also be used to guide decisions on applications in the absence
of locally-produced guides or codes.

127.129. Planning policies and decisions should ensure that developments:
a) will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, not just for the short
term but over the lifetime of the development;

Page 90

38

b) are visually attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate
and effective landscaping;
c) are sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built
environment and landscape setting, while not preventing or discouraging
appropriate innovation or change (such as increased densities);
d) establish or maintain a strong sense of place, using the arrangement of streets,
spaces, building types and materials to create attractive, welcoming and
distinctive places to live, work and visit;
e) optimise the potential of the site to accommodate and sustain an appropriate
amount and mix of development (including green and other public space) and
support local facilities and transport networks; and
f) create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health
and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users48;
and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the
quality of life or community cohesion and resilience.
130.
Trees make an important contribution to the character and quality of urban
environments, and can also help mitigate and adapt to climate change. Planning
policies and decisions should ensure that new streets are tree-lined49, that
opportunities are taken to incorporate trees elsewhere in developments (such as
community orchards), that appropriate measures are in place to secure the longterm maintenance of newly-planted trees, and that existing trees are retained
wherever possible. Applicants and local planning authorities should work with local
highways officers and tree officers to ensure that the right trees are planted in the
right places, and solutions are found that are compatible with highways standards
and the needs of different users.
128.131.
Design quality should be considered throughout the evolution and
assessment of individual proposals. Early discussion between applicants, the local
planning authority and local community about the design and style of emerging
schemes is important for clarifying expectations and reconciling local and
commercial interests. Applicants should work closely with those affected by their
proposals to evolve designs that take account of the views of the community.
Applications that can demonstrate early, proactive and effective engagement with
the community should be looked on more favourably than those that cannot.
129.132.
Local planning authorities should ensure that they have access to, and make
appropriate use of, tools and processes for assessing and improving the design of
development. These include workshops to engage the local community, design
advice and review arrangements, and assessment frameworks such as Building for

Planning policies for housing should make use of the Government’s optional technical standards for
accessible and adaptable housing, where this would address an identified need for such properties. Policies
may also make use of the nationally described space standard, where the need for an internal space
standard can be justified.
49
Unless, in specific cases, there are clear, justifiable and compelling reasons why this would be
inappropriate.
48

Page 91

39

a Healthy Life50. These are of most benefit if used as early as possible in the
evolution of schemes, and are particularly important for significant projects such as
large scale housing and mixed use developments. In assessing applications, local
planning authorities should have regard to the outcome from these processes,
including any recommendations made by design review panels.
133.

Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to
reflect local design policies and government guidance on design51, taking into
account any local design guidance and supplementary planning documents which
use visual tools such as design guides and codes. Conversely, significant weight
should be given to:
a) development which reflects local design policies and government guidance
on design, taking into account any local design guidance and supplementary
planning documents which use visual tools such as design guides and
codes; and/or

131. b) In determining applications, great weight should be given to outstanding or
innovative designs which promote high levels of sustainability,, or help raise
the standard of design more generally in an area, so long as they fit in with
the overall form and layout of their surroundings.
130.

Permission should be refused for development of poor design that fails to take the
opportunities available for improving the character and quality of an area and the
way it functions, taking into account any local design standards or style guides in
plans or supplementary planning documents. Conversely, where the design of a
development accords with clear expectations in plan policies, design should not be
used by the decision-maker as a valid reason to object to development.

130.
131.134.
Local planning authorities should also seek to ensure that the quality of
approved development is not materially diminished between permission and
completion, as a result of changes being made to the permitted scheme (for
example through changes to approved details such as the materials used).
132.135.
The quality and character of places can suffer when advertisements are
poorly sited and designed. A separate consent process within the planning system
controls the display of advertisements, which should be operated in a way which is
simple, efficient and effective. Advertisements should be subject to control only in
the interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of cumulative impacts.

Birkbeck D and Kruczkowski S et al (202015) Building for a Healthy Life 12: The sign of a good place to
live.
51
Contained in the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code and Manual for Streets.
50

Page 92

40

13. Protecting Green Belt land
133.136.
The Government attaches great importance to Green Belts. The
fundamental aim of Green Belt policy is to prevent urban sprawl by keeping land
permanently open; the essential characteristics of Green Belts are their openness
and their permanence.
134.137.

Green Belt serves five purposes:

a) to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built-up areas;
b) to prevent neighbouring towns merging into one another;
c) to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment;
d) to preserve the setting and special character of historic towns; and
e) to assist in urban regeneration, by encouraging the recycling of derelict and
other urban land.
135.138.
The general extent of Green Belts across the country is already established.
New Green Belts should only be established in exceptional circumstances, for
example when planning for larger scale development such as new settlements or
major urban extensions. Any proposals for new Green Belts should be set out in
strategic policies, which should:
a) demonstrate why normal planning and development management policies
would not be adequate;
b) set out whether any major changes in circumstances have made the adoption of
this exceptional measure necessary;
c) show what the consequences of the proposal would be for sustainable
development;
d) demonstrate the necessity for the Green Belt and its consistency with strategic
policies for adjoining areas; and
e) show how the Green Belt would meet the other objectives of the Framework.
136.139.
Once established, Green Belt boundaries should only be altered where
exceptional circumstances are fully evidenced and justified, through the preparation
or updating of plans. Strategic policies should establish the need for any changes
to Green Belt boundaries, having regard to their intended permanence in the long
term, so they can endure beyond the plan period. Where a need for changes to
Green Belt boundaries has been established through strategic policies, detailed
amendments to those boundaries may be made through non-strategic policies,
including neighbourhood plans.

Page 93

41

137.140.
Before concluding that exceptional circumstances exist to justify changes to
Green Belt boundaries, the strategic policy-making authority should be able to
demonstrate that it has examined fully all other reasonable options for meeting its
identified need for development. This will be assessed through the examination of
its strategic policies, which will take into account the preceding paragraph, and
whether the strategy:
a) makes as much use as possible of suitable brownfield sites and underutilised
land;
b) optimises the density of development in line with the policies in chapter 11 of
this Framework, including whether policies promote a significant uplift in
minimum density standards in town and city centres and other locations well
served by public transport; and
c) has been informed by discussions with neighbouring authorities about whether
they could accommodate some of the identified need for development, as
demonstrated through the statement of common ground.
138.141.
When drawing up or reviewing Green Belt boundaries, the need to promote
sustainable patterns of development should be taken into account. Strategic policymaking authorities should consider the consequences for sustainable development
of channelling development towards urban areas inside the Green Belt boundary,
towards towns and villages inset within the Green Belt or towards locations beyond
the outer Green Belt boundary. Where it has been concluded that it is necessary to
release Green Belt land for development, plans should give first consideration to
land which has been previously-developed and/or is well-served by public
transport. They should also set out ways in which the impact of removing land from
the Green Belt can be offset through compensatory improvements to the
environmental quality and accessibility of remaining Green Belt land.
139.142.

When defining Green Belt boundaries, plans should:

a) ensure consistency with the development plan’s strategy for meeting identified
requirements for sustainable development;
b) not include land which it is unnecessary to keep permanently open;
c) where necessary, identify areas of safeguarded land between the urban area
and the Green Belt, in order to meet longer-term development needs stretching
well beyond the plan period;
d) make clear that the safeguarded land is not allocated for development at the
present time. Planning permission for the permanent development of
safeguarded land should only be granted following an update to a plan which
proposes the development;
e) be able to demonstrate that Green Belt boundaries will not need to be altered at
the end of the plan period; and
f) define boundaries clearly, using physical features that are readily recognisable
and likely to be permanent.

Page 94

42

140.143.
If it is necessary to restrict development in a village primarily because of the
important contribution which the open character of the village makes to the
openness of the Green Belt, the village should be included in the Green Belt. If,
however, the character of the village needs to be protected for other reasons, other
means should be used, such as conservation area or normal development
management policies, and the village should be excluded from the Green Belt.
141.144.
Once Green Belts have been defined, local planning authorities should plan
positively to enhance their beneficial use, such as looking for opportunities to
provide access; to provide opportunities for outdoor sport and recreation; to retain
and enhance landscapes, visual amenity and biodiversity; or to improve damaged
and derelict land.
142.145.
The National Forest and Community Forests offer valuable opportunities for
improving the environment around towns and cities, by upgrading the landscape
and providing for recreation and wildlife. The National Forest Strategy and an
approved Community Forest Plan may be a material consideration in preparing
development plans and in deciding planning applications. Any development
proposals within the National Forest and Community Forests in the Green Belt
should be subject to the normal policies for controlling development in Green Belts.

Proposals affecting the Green Belt
143.146.
Inappropriate development is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt and
should not be approved except in very special circumstances.
144.147.
When considering any planning application, local planning authorities should
ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt. ‘Very special
circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason
of inappropriateness, and any other harm resulting from the proposal, is clearly
outweighed by other considerations.
145.148.
A local planning authority should regard the construction of new buildings as
inappropriate in the Green Belt. Exceptions to this are:
a) buildings for agriculture and forestry;
b) the provision of appropriate facilities (in connection with the existing use of land
or a change of use) for outdoor sport, outdoor recreation, cemeteries and burial
grounds and allotments; as long as the facilities preserve the openness of the
Green Belt and do not conflict with the purposes of including land within it;
c) the extension or alteration of a building provided that it does not result in
disproportionate additions over and above the size of the original building;
d) the replacement of a building, provided the new building is in the same use and
not materially larger than the one it replaces;
e) limited infilling in villages;
f) limited affordable housing for local community needs under policies set out in
the development plan (including policies for rural exception sites); and

Page 95

43

g) limited infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed
land, whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings),
which would:
‒ not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development; or
‒ not cause substantial harm to the openness of the Green Belt, where the
development would re-use previously developed land and contribute to
meeting an identified affordable housing need within the area of the local
planning authority.
146.149.
Certain other forms of development are also not inappropriate in the Green
Belt provided they preserve its openness and do not conflict with the purposes of
including land within it. These are:
a) mineral extraction;
b) engineering operations;
c) local transport infrastructure which can demonstrate a requirement for a Green
Belt location;
d) the re-use of buildings provided that the buildings are of permanent and
substantial construction;
e) material changes in the use of land (such as changes of use for outdoor sport or
recreation, or for cemeteries and burial grounds); and
f) development, including buildings, brought forward under a Community Right to
Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order.
147.150.
When located in the Green Belt, elements of many renewable energy
projects will comprise inappropriate development. In such cases developers will
need to demonstrate very special circumstances if projects are to proceed. Such
very special circumstances may include the wider environmental benefits
associated with increased production of energy from renewable sources.

Page 96

44

14. Meeting the challenge of climate change,
flooding and coastal change
148.151.
The planning system should support the transition to a low carbon future in a
changing climate, taking full account of flood risk and coastal change. It should help
to: shape places in ways that contribute to radical reductions in greenhouse gas
emissions, minimise vulnerability and improve resilience; encourage the reuse of
existing resources, including the conversion of existing buildings; and support
renewable and low carbon energy and associated infrastructure.

Planning for climate change
149.152.
Plans should take a proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate
change, taking into account the long-term implications for flood risk, coastal
change, water supply, biodiversity and landscapes, and the risk of overheating from
rising temperatures52. Policies should support appropriate measures to ensure the
future resilience of communities and infrastructure to climate change impacts, such
as providing space for physical protection measures, or making provision for the
possible future relocation of vulnerable development and infrastructure.
150.153.

New development should be planned for in ways that:

a) avoid increased vulnerability to the range of impacts arising from climate
change. When new development is brought forward in areas which are
vulnerable, care should be taken to ensure that risks can be managed through
suitable adaptation measures, including through the planning of green
infrastructure; and
b) can help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, such as through its location,
orientation and design. Any local requirements for the sustainability of buildings
should reflect the Government’s policy for national technical standards.
151.154.
To help increase the use and supply of renewable and low carbon energy
and heat, plans should:
a) provide a positive strategy for energy from these sources, that maximises the
potential for suitable development, while ensuring that adverse impacts are
addressed satisfactorily (including cumulative landscape and visual impacts);
b) consider identifying suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy
sources, and supporting infrastructure, where this would help secure their
development; and

52

In line with the objectives and provisions of the Climate Change Act 2008.

Page 97

45

c) identify opportunities for development to draw its energy supply from
decentralised, renewable or low carbon energy supply systems and for colocating potential heat customers and suppliers.
152.155.
Local planning authorities should support community-led initiatives for
renewable and low carbon energy, including developments outside areas identified
in local plans or other strategic policies that are being taken forward through
neighbourhood planning.
153.156.
In determining planning applications, local planning authorities should expect
new development to:
a) comply with any development plan policies on local requirements for
decentralised energy supply unless it can be demonstrated by the applicant,
having regard to the type of development involved and its design, that this is not
feasible or viable; and
b) take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing and landscaping
to minimise energy consumption.
154.157.
When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon
development, local planning authorities should:
a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low
carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a valuable
contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and
b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable53. Once
suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been identified in
plans, local planning authorities should expect subsequent applications for
commercial scale projects outside these areas to demonstrate that the
proposed location meets the criteria used in identifying suitable areas.

Planning and flood risk
155.158.
Inappropriate development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by
directing development away from areas at highest risk (whether existing or future).
Where development is necessary in such areas, the development should be made
safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere.
156.159.
Strategic policies should be informed by a strategic flood risk assessment,
and should manage flood risk from all sources. They should consider cumulative
impacts in, or affecting, local areas susceptible to flooding, and take account of
advice from the Environment Agency and other relevant flood risk management
authorities, such as lead local flood authorities and internal drainage boards.

Except for applications for the repowering of existing wind turbines, a proposed wind energy development
involving one or more turbines should not be considered acceptable unless it is in an area identified as
suitable for wind energy development in the development plan; and, following consultation, it can be
demonstrated that the planning impacts identified by the affected local community have been fully
addressed and the proposal has their backing.
53

Page 98

46

157.160.
All plans should apply a sequential, risk-based approach to the location of
development – taking into account all sources of flood risk and the current and future
impacts of climate change – so as to avoid, where possible, flood risk to people and
property. They should do this, and manage any residual risk, by:
a) applying the sequential test and then, if necessary, the exception test as set out
below;
b) safeguarding land from development that is required, or likely to be required, for
current or future flood management;
c) using opportunities provided by new development and improvements in green
and other infrastructure to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding, (where
appropriate through the making as much use as possible of natural flood
management techniques as part of an integrated approach to flood risk
management); and
d) where climate change is expected to increase flood risk so that some existing
development may not be sustainable in the long-term, seeking opportunities to
relocate development, including housing, to more sustainable locations.
158.161.
The aim of the sequential test is to steer new development to areas with the
lowest risk of flooding from any source. Development should not be allocated or
permitted if there are reasonably available sites appropriate for the proposed
development in areas with a lower risk of flooding. The strategic flood risk
assessment will provide the basis for applying this test. The sequential approach
should be used in areas known to be at risk now or in the future from any form of
flooding.
159.162.
If it is not possible for development to be located in zones with a lower risk of
flooding (taking into account wider sustainable development objectives), the
exception test may have to be applied. The need for the exception test will depend
on the potential vulnerability of the site and of the development proposed, in line
with the Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification set out in national planning
guidanceAnnex 3.
160.163.
The application of the exception test should be informed by a strategic or
site-specific flood risk assessment, depending on whether it is being applied during
plan production or at the application stage. For To pass the exception test to be
passed it should be demonstrated that:
a) the development would provide wider sustainability benefits to the community
that outweigh the flood risk; and
b) the development will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of
its users, without increasing flood risk elsewhere, and, where possible, will
reduce flood risk overall.
161.164.
Both elements of the exception test should be satisfied for development to
be allocated or permitted.

Page 99

47

162.165.
Where planning applications come forward on sites allocated in the
development plan through the sequential test, applicants need not apply the
sequential test again. However, the exception test may need to be reapplied if
relevant aspects of the proposal had not been considered when the test was
applied at the plan-making stage, or if more recent information about existing or
potential flood risk should be taken into account.
163.166.
When determining any planning applications, local planning authorities
should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. Where appropriate,
applications should be supported by a site-specific flood-risk assessment54.
Development should only be allowed in areas at risk of flooding where, in the light
of this assessment (and the sequential and exception tests, as applicable) it can be
demonstrated that:
a) within the site, the most vulnerable development is located in areas of lowest
flood risk, unless there are overriding reasons to prefer a different location;
b) the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient such that, in the
event of a flood, it could be quickly brought back into use without significant
refurbishment;
c) it incorporates sustainable drainage systems, unless there is clear evidence that
this would be inappropriate;
d) any residual risk can be safely managed; and
e) safe access and escape routes are included where appropriate, as part of an
agreed emergency plan.
164.167.
Applications for some minor development and changes of use55 should not
be subject to the sequential or exception tests but should still meet the
requirements for site-specific flood risk assessments set out in footnote 54.
165.168.
Major developments should incorporate sustainable drainage systems
unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate. The systems used
should:
a) take account of advice from the lead local flood authority;
b) have appropriate proposed minimum operational standards;

A site-specific flood risk assessment should be provided for all development in Flood Zones 2 and 3. In
Flood Zone 1, an assessment should accompany all proposals involving: sites of 1 hectare or more; land
which has been identified by the Environment Agency as having critical drainage problems; land identified in
a strategic flood risk assessment as being at increased flood risk in future; or land that may be subject to
other sources of flooding, where its development would introduce a more vulnerable use.
55
This includes householder development, small non-residential extensions (with a footprint of less than
250m2) and changes of use; except for changes of use to a caravan, camping or chalet site, or to a mobile
home or park home site, where the sequential and exception tests should be applied as appropriate.
54

Page 100

48

c) have maintenance arrangements in place to ensure an acceptable standard of
operation for the lifetime of the development; and
d) where possible, provide multifunctional benefits.

Coastal change
166.169.
In coastal areas, planning policies and decisions should take account of the
UK Marine Policy Statement and marine plans. Integrated Coastal Zone
Management should be pursued across local authority and land/sea boundaries, to
ensure effective alignment of the terrestrial and marine planning regimes.
167.170.
Plans should reduce risk from coastal change by avoiding inappropriate
development in vulnerable areas and not exacerbating the impacts of physical
changes to the coast. They should identify as a Coastal Change Management Area
any area likely to be affected by physical changes to the coast, and:
a) be clear as to what development will be appropriate in such areas and in what
circumstances; and
b) make provision for development and infrastructure that needs to be relocated
away from Coastal Change Management Areas.
168.171.
Development in a Coastal Change Management Area will be appropriate
only where it is demonstrated that:
a) it will be safe over its planned lifetime and not have an unacceptable impact on
coastal change;
b) the character of the coast including designations is not compromised;
c) the development provides wider sustainability benefits; and
d) the development does not hinder the creation and maintenance of a continuous
signed and managed route around the coast56.
169.172.
Local planning authorities should limit the planned lifetime of development in
a Coastal Change Management Area through temporary permission and
restoration conditions, where this is necessary to reduce a potentially unacceptable
level of future risk to people and the development.

56

As required by the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009.

Page 101

49

15. Conserving and enhancing the natural
environment
170.173.
Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural
and local environment by:
a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or geological
value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory status or
identified quality in the development plan);
b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the wider
benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the economic
and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural land, and of trees
and woodland;
c) maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving public
access to it where appropriate;
d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including by
establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and
future pressures;
e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of
soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development should,
wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions such as air
and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin
management plans; and
f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated and
unstable land, where appropriate.
171.174.
Plans should: distinguish between the hierarchy of international, national and
locally designated sites; allocate land with the least environmental or amenity
value, where consistent with other policies in this Framework57; take a strategic
approach to maintaining and enhancing networks of habitats and green
infrastructure; and plan for the enhancement of natural capital at a catchment or
landscape scale across local authority boundaries.
172.175.
Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and
scenic beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural
Beauty, which have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. The
conservation and enhancement of wildlife and cultural heritage are also important
considerations in these areas, and should be given great weight in National Parks

Where significant development of agricultural land is demonstrated to be necessary, areas of poorer
quality land should be preferred to those of a higher quality.
57

Page 102

50

and the Broads58. The scale and extent of development within these designated
areas should be limited, while any development within their settings should be
sensitively located and designed to avoid adverse impacts on the designated
landscapes..
176. When considering applications for development within National Parks, the
Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty, Planning permission should be
refused for major development59 other than in exceptional circumstances, and
where it can be demonstrated that the development is in the public interest.
Consideration of such applications should include an assessment of:
a) the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations,
and the impact of permitting it, or refusing it, upon the local economy;
b) the cost of, and scope for, developing outside the designated area, or meeting
the need for it in some other way; and
c) any detrimental effect on the environment, the landscape and recreational
opportunities, and the extent to which that could be moderated.
173. 177. Within areas defined as Heritage Coast (and that do not already fall within one
of the designated areas mentioned in paragraph 1725), planning policies and
decisions should be consistent with the special character of the area and the
importance of its conservation. Major development within a Heritage Coast is
unlikely to be appropriate, unless it is compatible with its special character.

Habitats and biodiversity
174.178.

To protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity, plans should:

a) Identify, map and safeguard components of local wildlife-rich habitats and wider
ecological networks, including the hierarchy of international, national and locally
designated sites of importance for biodiversity60; wildlife corridors and stepping
stones that connect them; and areas identified by national and local
partnerships for habitat management, enhancement, restoration or creation61;
and
b) promote the conservation, restoration and enhancement of priority habitats,
ecological networks and the protection and recovery of priority species; and
identify and pursue opportunities for securing measurable net gains for
biodiversity.
English National Parks and the Broads: UK Government Vision and Circular 2010 provides further
guidance and information about their statutory purposes, management and other matters.
59
For the purposes of paragraphs 1762 and 1773, whether a proposal is ‘major development’ is a matter for
the decision maker, taking into account its nature, scale and setting, and whether it could have a significant
adverse impact on the purposes for which the area has been designated or defined.
60
Circular 06/2005 provides further guidance in respect of statutory obligations for biodiversity and
geological conservation and their impact within the planning system.
61
Where areas that are part of the Nature Recovery Network are identified in plans, it may be appropriate to
specify the types of development that may be suitable within them.
58

Page 103

51

174.179.
When determining planning applications, local planning authorities should
175.
apply the following principles:
a) if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development cannot be
avoided (through locating on an alternative site with less harmful impacts),
adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort, compensated for, then planning
permission should be refused;
b) development on land within or outside a Site of Special Scientific Interest, and
which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in
combination with other developments), should not normally be permitted. The
only exception is where the benefits of the development in the location
proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on the features of the site that
make it of special scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the national
network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest;
c) development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable habitats (such
as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees) should be refused, unless
there are wholly exceptional reasons62 and a suitable compensation strategy
exists; and
d) development whose primary objective is to conserve or enhance biodiversity
should be supported; while opportunities to incorporate improve biodiversity
improvements in and around other developments should be pursued as an
integral part of their design encouraged, especially where this can secure
measurable net gains for biodiversity and enhance public access to nature.
175.180.
The following should be given the same protection as habitats sites:
176
.
a) potential Special Protection Areas and possible Special Areas of Conservation;
b) listed or proposed Ramsar sites63; and
c) sites identified, or required, as compensatory measures for adverse effects on
habitats sites, potential Special Protection Areas, possible Special Areas of
Conservation, and listed or proposed Ramsar sites.
177
176.181.
The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where
.
the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on a habitats site (either alone
or in combination with other plans or projects), unless an appropriate assessment
has concluded that the plan or project will not adversely affect the integrity of the
habitats site.

For example, infrastructure projects (including nationally significant infrastructure projects, orders under
the Transport and Works Act and hybrid bills), where the public benefit would clearly outweigh the loss or
deterioration of habitat.
63
Potential Special Protection Areas, possible Special Areas of Conservation and proposed Ramsar sites
are sites on which Government has initiated public consultation on the scientific case for designation as a
Special Protection Area, candidate Special Area of Conservation or Ramsar site.
62

Page 104

52

Ground conditions and pollution
177.182.
178.

Planning policies and decisions should ensure that:

a) a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and
any risks arising from land instability and contamination. This includes risks
arising from natural hazards or former activities such as mining, and any
proposals for mitigation including land remediation (as well as potential impacts
on the natural environment arising from that remediation);
b) after remediation, as a minimum, land should not be capable of being
determined as contaminated land under Part IIA of the Environmental Protection
Act 1990; and
c) adequate site investigation information, prepared by a competent person, is
available to inform these assessments.
179.
178.183.
Where a site is affected by contamination or land stability issues,
responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or
landowner.
179.184.
Planning policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is
180.
appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural
environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to
impacts that could arise from the development. In doing so they should:
a) mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts resulting from
noise from new development – and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse
impacts on health and the quality of life64;
b) identify and protect tranquil areas which have remained relatively undisturbed
by noise and are prized for their recreational and amenity value for this reason;
and
c) limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local amenity, intrinsically
dark landscapes and nature conservation.
181.
180.185.
Planning policies and decisions should sustain and contribute towards
compliance with relevant limit values or national objectives for pollutants, taking into
account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones, and
the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. Opportunities to improve
air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel
management, and green infrastructure provision and enhancement. So far as
possible these opportunities should be considered at the plan-making stage, to

See Explanatory Note to the Noise Policy Statement for England (Department for Environment, Food &
Rural Affairs, 2010).
64

Page 105

53

ensure a strategic approach and limit the need for issues to be reconsidered when
determining individual applications. Planning decisions should ensure that any new
development in Air Quality Management Areas and Clean Air Zones is consistent
with the local air quality action plan.
182.
181.186.
Planning policies and decisions should ensure that new development can be
integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (such as
places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing businesses and
facilities should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of
development permitted after they were established. Where the operation of an
existing business or community facility could have a significant adverse effect on
new development (including changes of use) in its vicinity, the applicant (or ‘agent
of change’) should be required to provide suitable mitigation before the
development has been completed.
182.187.
The focus of planning policies and decisions should be on whether proposed
183.
development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of processes or
emissions (where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning
decisions should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. Equally, where
a planning decision has been made on a particular development, the planning
issues should not be revisited through the permitting regimes operated by pollution
control authorities.

Page 106

54

16. Conserving and enhancing the historic
environment
183.188.
Heritage assets range from sites and buildings of local historic value to those
184.
of the highest significance, such as World Heritage Sites which are internationally
recognised to be of Outstanding Universal Value65. These assets are an
irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of
existing and future generations66.
184.189.
Plans should set out a positive strategy for the conservation and enjoyment
185.
of the historic environment, including heritage assets most at risk through neglect,
decay or other threats. This strategy should take into account:
a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets,
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the wider social, cultural, economic and environmental benefits that
conservation of the historic environment can bring;
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness; and
d) opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to
the character of a place.
185.190.
When considering the designation of conservation areas, local planning
186.
authorities should ensure that an area justifies such status because of its special
architectural or historic interest, and that the concept of conservation is not
devalued through the designation of areas that lack special interest.
186.191.
Local planning authorities should maintain or have access to a historic
187.
environment record. This should contain up-to-date evidence about the historic
environment in their area and be used to:
a) assess the significance of heritage assets and the contribution they make to
their environment; and
b) predict the likelihood that currently unidentified heritage assets, particularly sites
of historic and archaeological interest, will be discovered in the future.
Some World Heritage Sites are inscribed by UNESCO to be of natural significance rather than cultural
significance; and in some cases they are inscribed for both their natural and cultural significance.
66
The policies set out in this chapter relate, as applicable, to the heritage-related consent regimes for which
local planning authorities are responsible under the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act
1990, as well as to plan-making and decision-making.
65

Page 107

55

187.192.
Local planning authorities should make information about the historic
188.
environment, gathered as part of policy-making or development management,
publicly accessible.

Proposals affecting heritage assets
188.193.
In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an
189.
applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, including any
contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be proportionate to the
assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to understand the potential impact
of the proposal on their significance. As a minimum the relevant historic
environment record should have been consulted and the heritage assets assessed
using appropriate expertise where necessary. Where a site on which development
is proposed includes, or has the potential to include, heritage assets with
archaeological interest, local planning authorities should require developers to
submit an appropriate desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field
evaluation.
190.
189.194.
Local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular
significance of any heritage asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by
development affecting the setting of a heritage asset) taking account of the
available evidence and any necessary expertise. They should take this into account
when considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise
any conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the
proposal.
190.195.
Where there is evidence of deliberate neglect of, or damage to, a heritage
191.
asset, the deteriorated state of the heritage asset should not be taken into account
in any decision.
191.196.
192.
of:

In determining applications, local planning authorities should take account

a) the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
b) the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to
sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and
c) the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local
character and distinctiveness.
197.

In considering any applications to remove or alter a historic statue, plaque or
memorial (whether listed or not), local planning authorities should have regard to

Page 108

56

the importance of retaining these heritage assets and, where appropriate, of
explaining their historic and social context rather than removal.

Considering potential impacts
193.
192.198.
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance
of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s
conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be).
This is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total
loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.
194.
193.199.
Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from
its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require
clear and convincing justification. Substantial harm to or loss of:
a) grade II listed buildings, or grade II registered parks or gardens, should be
exceptional;
b) assets of the highest significance, notably scheduled monuments, protected
wreck sites, registered battlefields, grade I and II* listed buildings, grade I and
II* registered parks and gardens, and World Heritage Sites, should be wholly
exceptional67.
195.
194.200.
Where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss
of significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should
refuse consent, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total
loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or
loss, or all of the following apply:
a) the nature of the heritage asset prevents all reasonable uses of the site; and
b) no viable use of the heritage asset itself can be found in the medium term
through appropriate marketing that will enable its conservation; and
c) conservation by grant-funding or some form of not for profit, charitable or public
ownership is demonstrably not possible; and
d) the harm or loss is outweighed by the benefit of bringing the site back into use.
196.
195.201.
Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against
the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its
optimum viable use.

Non-designated heritage assets of archaeological interest, which are demonstrably of equivalent
significance to scheduled monuments, should be considered subject to the policies for designated heritage
assets.
67

Page 109

57

196.202.
The effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated heritage
197.
asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing
applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss
and the significance of the heritage asset.
198.
197.203.
Local planning authorities should not permit the loss of the whole or part of a
heritage asset without taking all reasonable steps to ensure the new development
will proceed after the loss has occurred.
198.204.
Local planning authorities should require developers to record and advance
199.
understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part)
in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make this
evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible68. However, the ability
to record evidence of our past should not be a factor in deciding whether such loss
should be permitted.
200.
199.205.
Local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development
within Conservation Areas and World Heritage Sites, and within the setting of
heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their significance. Proposals that
preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive contribution to the asset
(or which better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably.
200.206.
Not all elements of a Conservation Area or World Heritage Site will
201.
necessarily contribute to its significance. Loss of a building (or other element) which
makes a positive contribution to the significance of the Conservation Area or World
Heritage Site should be treated either as substantial harm under paragraph 195
200 or less than substantial harm under paragraph 196201, as appropriate, taking
into account the relative significance of the element affected and its contribution to
the significance of the Conservation Area or World Heritage Site as a whole.
201.207.
Local planning authorities should assess whether the benefits of a proposal
202.
for enabling development, which would otherwise conflict with planning policies but
which would secure the future conservation of a heritage asset, outweigh the
disbenefits of departing from those policies.

Copies of evidence should be deposited with the relevant historic environment record, and any archives
with a local museum or other public depository.
68

Page 110

58

17. Facilitating the sustainable use of
minerals
202.208.
It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the
203.
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since minerals
are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are found, best
use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term conservation.
203.209.
204.

Planning policies should:

a) provide for the extraction of mineral resources of local and national importance,
but not identify new sites or extensions to existing sites for peat extraction;
b) so far as practicable, take account of the contribution that substitute or
secondary and recycled materials and minerals waste would make to the supply
of materials, before considering extraction of primary materials, whilst aiming to
source minerals supplies indigenously;
c) safeguard mineral resources by defining Mineral Safeguarding Areas and
Mineral Consultation Areas; and adopt appropriate policies so that known
locations of specific minerals resources of local and national importance are not
sterilised by non-mineral development where this should be avoided (whilst not
creating a presumption that the resources defined will be worked);
d) set out policies to encourage the prior extraction of minerals, where practical
and environmentally feasible, if it is necessary for non-mineral development to
take place;
e) safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: the bulk transport, handling
and processing of minerals; the manufacture of concrete and concrete products;
and the handling, processing and distribution of substitute, recycled and
secondary aggregate material;
f) set out criteria or requirements to ensure that permitted and proposed
operations do not have unacceptable adverse impacts on the natural and
historic environment or human health, taking into account the cumulative effects
of multiple impacts from individual sites and/or a number of sites in a locality;
g) when developing noise limits, recognise that some noisy short-term activities,
which may otherwise be regarded as unacceptable, are unavoidable to facilitate
minerals extraction; and
h) ensure that worked land is reclaimed at the earliest opportunity, taking account
of aviation safety, and that high quality restoration and aftercare of mineral sites
takes place.

Page 111

59

205.
204.210.
When determining planning applications, great weight should be given to the
benefits of mineral extraction, including to the economy69. In considering proposals
for mineral extraction, minerals planning authorities should:
a) as far as is practical, provide for the maintenance of landbanks of non-energy
minerals from outside National Parks, the Broads, Areas of Outstanding Natural
Beauty and World Heritage Sites, scheduled monuments and conservation
areas;
b) ensure that there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on the natural and
historic environment, human health or aviation safety, and take into account the
cumulative effect of multiple impacts from individual sites and/or from a number
of sites in a locality;
c) ensure that any unavoidable noise, dust and particle emissions and any blasting
vibrations are controlled, mitigated or removed at source70, and establish
appropriate noise limits for extraction in proximity to noise sensitive properties;
d) not grant planning permission for peat extraction from new or extended sites;
e) provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to be carried out
to high environmental standards, through the application of appropriate
conditions. Bonds or other financial guarantees to underpin planning conditions
should only be sought in exceptional circumstances;
f) consider how to meet any demand for thesmall-scale extraction of building
stone at, or close to, relic quarries needed for the repair of heritage assets,
taking account of the need to protect designated sites; and
g) recognise the small-scale nature and impact of building and roofing stone
quarries, and the need for a flexible approach to the duration of planning
permissions reflecting the intermittent or low rate of working at many sites.
206.
205.211.
Local planning authorities should not normally permit other development
proposals in Mineral Safeguarding Areas if it might constrain potential future use for
mineral working.

Maintaining supply
206.212.
Minerals planning authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply
207.
of aggregates by:
a) preparing an annual Local Aggregate Assessment, either individually or jointly,
to forecast future demand, based on a rolling average of 10 years’ sales data
and other relevant local information, and an assessment of all supply options
(including marine dredged, secondary and recycled sources);

69
70

Except in relation to the extraction of coal, where the policy at paragraph 2116 of this Framework applies.
National planning guidance on minerals sets out how these policies should be implemented.

Page 112

60

b) participating in the operation of an Aggregate Working Party and taking the
advice of that party into account when preparing their Local Aggregate
Assessment;
c) making provision for the land-won and other elements of their Local Aggregate
Assessment in their mineral plans, taking account of the advice of the
Aggregate Working Parties and the National Aggregate Co-ordinating Group as
appropriate. Such provision should take the form of specific sites, preferred
areas and/or areas of search and locational criteria as appropriate;
d) taking account of any published National and Sub National Guidelines on future
provision which should be used as a guideline when planning for the future
demand for and supply of aggregates;
e) using landbanks of aggregate minerals reserves principally as an indicator of
the security of aggregate minerals supply, and to indicate the additional
provision that needs to be made for new aggregate extraction and alternative
supplies in mineral plans;
f) maintaining landbanks of at least 7 years for sand and gravel and at least 10
years for crushed rock, whilst ensuring that the capacity of operations to supply
a wide range of materials is not compromised71;
g) ensuring that large landbanks bound up in very few sites do not stifle
competition; and
h) calculating and maintaining separate landbanks for any aggregate materials of a
specific type or quality which have a distinct and separate market.
208.
207.213.
Minerals planning authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply
of industrial minerals by:
a) co-operating with neighbouring and more distant authorities to ensure an
adequate provision of industrial minerals to support their likely use in industrial
and manufacturing processes;
b) encouraging safeguarding or stockpiling so that important minerals remain
available for use;
c) maintaining a stock of permitted reserves to support the level of actual and
proposed investment required for new or existing plant, and the maintenance
and improvement of existing plant and equipment72; and
d) taking account of the need for provision of brick clay from a number of different
sources to enable appropriate blends to be made.

Longer periods may be appropriate to take account of the need to supply a range of types of aggregates,
locations of permitted reserves relative to markets, and productive capacity of permitted sites.
72
These reserves should be at least 10 years for individual silica sand sites; at least 15 years for cement
primary (chalk and limestone) and secondary (clay and shale) materials to maintain an existing plant, and for
silica sand sites where significant new capital is required; and at least 25 years for brick clay, and for cement
primary and secondary materials to support a new kiln.
71

Page 113

61

Oil, gas and coal exploration and extraction
208.214.
209.

Minerals planning authorities should*:

a) when planning for on-shore oil and gas development, clearly distinguish
between, and plan positively for, the three phases of development (exploration,
appraisal and production), whilst ensuring appropriate monitoring and site
restoration is provided for;
b) encourage underground gas and carbon storage and associated infrastructure if
local geological circumstances indicate its feasibility;
c) indicate any areas where coal extraction and the disposal of colliery spoil may
be acceptable;
d) encourage the capture and use of methane from coal mines in active and
abandoned coalfield areas; and
e) provide for coal producers to extract separately, and if necessary stockpile,
fireclay so that it remains available for use.
209.215.
When determining planning applications, minerals planning authorities
210.
should ensure that the integrity and safety of underground storage facilities are
appropriate, taking into account the maintenance of gas pressure, prevention of
leakage of gas and the avoidance of pollution.
211.
210.216.

Planning permission should not be granted for the extraction of coal unless:

a) the proposal is environmentally acceptable, or can be made so by planning
conditions or obligations; or
b) if it is not environmentally acceptable, then it provides national, local or
community benefits which clearly outweigh its likely impacts (taking all relevant
matters into account, including any residual environmental impacts).

*

Paragraph 209a has been removed following the decision in R (on the application of Stephenson) v
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government [2019] EWHC 519 (Admin).

Page 114

62

Annex 1: Implementation
211.217.
The policies in this Framework are material considerations which should be
212.
taken into account in dealing with applications from the day of its publication. Plans
may also need to be revised to reflect policy changes which this replacement
Framework has made. This should be progressed as quickly as possible, either
through a partial revision or by preparing a new plan.
212.218.
However, existing policies should not be considered out-of-date simply
213.
because they were adopted or made prior to the publication of this Framework. Due
weight should be given to them, according to their degree of consistency with this
Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the policies in the Framework, the
greater the weight that may be given).
213.219.
The policies in the previous original National Planning Policy Framework
214.
published in March 2012 will apply for the purpose of examining plans, where those
plans were submitted73 on or before 24 January 2019. Where such plans are
withdrawn or otherwise do not proceed to become part of the development plan, the
policies contained in this Framework will apply to any subsequent plan produced for
the area concerned.
215214.220.
The Housing Delivery Test will apply the day following publication of the
results, at which point they supersede previously published results. Until new
.
Housing Delivery Test results are published the previously published result should
be used. For the purpose of footnote 7 8 in this Framework, delivery of housing
which was substantially below the housing requirement means where the Housing
Delivery Test results published in:
a) November 2018 indicate that delivery was below 25% of housing required over
the previous three years;
b)a) November for years 2016 to 2019 (Housing Delivery Test: 2019
Measurement), published 13 February 2020), indicated that delivery was below
45% of housing required over the previous three years;
c)b) November for years 2017 to 2020 (Housing Delivery Test: 2020
Measurement), published 19 January 2021), and in subsequent years indicate
that delivery was below 75% of housing required over the previous three years.

For spatial development strategies, ‘submission’ in this context means the point at which the Mayor sends
to the Panel copies of all representations made in accordance with regulation 8(1) of the Town and Country
Planning (London Spatial Development Strategy) Regulations 2000, or equivalent. For neighbourhood plans,
‘submission’ in this context means where a qualifying body submits a plan proposal to the local planning
authority in accordance with regulation 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012.
73

Page 115

63

216.

For the purpose of paragraph 14:

a) up to and including 11 December 2018, paragraph 14a also includes
neighbourhood plans that became part of the development plan more than two
years before the date on which the decision is made; and
b) from November 2018 to November 2019, housing delivery should be at least
25% of that required over the previous three years, as measured by the
Housing Delivery Test.
217
.

221. The Government will continue to explore with individual areas the potential
for planning freedoms and flexibilities, for example where this would facilitate
an increase in the amount of housing that can be delivered.

Page 116

64

Annex 2: Glossary
Affordable housing: housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the
market (including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is
for essential local workers); and which complies with one or more of the following
definitions:
a) Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: (a) the rent is set in
accordance with the Government’s rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent, or is
at least 20% below local market rents (including service charges where applicable); (b)
the landlord is a registered provider, except where it is included as part of a Build to
Rent scheme (in which case the landlord need not be a registered provider); and (c) it
includes provisions to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or
for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative affordable housing provision. For Build to
Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected to be the normal form of
affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is known as Affordable Private Rent).
b) Starter homes: is as specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act
2016 and any secondary legislation made under these sections. The definition of a
starter home should reflect the meaning set out in statute and any such secondary
legislation at the time of plan-preparation or decision-making. Where secondary
legislation has the effect of limiting a household’s eligibility to purchase a starter home
to those with a particular maximum level of household income, those restrictions
should be used.
c) Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below
local market value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local
house prices. Provisions should be in place to ensure housing remains at a discount
for future eligible households.
d) Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale that
provides a route to ownership for those who could not achieve home ownership
through the market. It includes shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low cost
homes for sale (at a price equivalent to at least 20% below local market value) and
rent to buy (which includes a period of intermediate rent). Where public grant funding is
provided, there should be provisions for the homes to remain at an affordable price for
future eligible households, or for any receipts to be recycled for alternative affordable
housing provision, or refunded to Government or the relevant authority specified in the
funding agreement.
Air quality management areas: Areas designated by local authorities because they are
not likely to achieve national air quality objectives by the relevant deadlines.
Ancient or veteran tree: A tree which, because of its age, size and condition, is of
exceptional biodiversity, cultural or heritage value. All ancient trees are veteran trees. Not
all veteran trees are old enough to be ancient, but are old relative to other trees of the
same species. Very few trees of any species reach the ancient life-stage.
Ancient woodland: An area that has been wooded continuously since at least 1600 AD.
It includes ancient semi-natural woodland and plantations on ancient woodland sites
(PAWS).
65

Page 117

Annual position statement: A document setting out the 5 year housing land supply
position on 1st April each year, prepared by the local planning authority in consultation
with developers and others who have an impact on delivery.
Archaeological interest: There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if it
holds, or potentially holds, evidence of past human activity worthy of expert investigation
at some point.
Best and most versatile agricultural land: Land in grades 1, 2 and 3a of the Agricultural
Land Classification.
Brownfield land: See pPreviously developed land.
Brownfield land registers: Registers of previously developed land that local planning
authorities consider to be appropriate for residential development, having regard to criteria
in the Town and Country Planning (Brownfield Land Registers) Regulations 2017. Local
planning authorities will be able to trigger a grant of permission in principle for residential
development on suitable sites in their registers where they follow the required procedures.
Build to Rent: Purpose built housing that is typically 100% rented out. It can form part of
a wider multi-tenure development comprising either flats or houses, but should be on the
same site and/or contiguous with the main development. Schemes will usually offer longer
tenancy agreements of three years or more, and will typically be professionally managed
stock in single ownership and management control.
Climate change adaptation: Adjustments made to natural or human systems in response
to the actual or anticipated impacts of climate change, to mitigate harm or exploit
beneficial opportunities.
Climate change mitigation: Action to reduce the impact of human activity on the climate
system, primarily through reducing greenhouse gas emissions.
Coastal change management area: An area identified in plans as likely to be affected by
physical change to the shoreline through erosion, coastal landslip, permanent inundation
or coastal accretion.
Community forest: An area identified through the England Community Forest
Programme to revitalise countryside and green space in and around major conurbations.
Community Right to Build Order: An Order made by the local planning authority (under
the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) that grants planning permission for a sitespecific development proposal or classes of development.
Competent person (to prepare site investigation information): A person with a
recognised relevant qualification, sufficient experience in dealing with the type(s) of
pollution or land instability, and membership of a relevant professional organisation.
Conservation (for heritage policy): The process of maintaining and managing change to
a heritage asset in a way that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance.

Page 118

66

Decentralised energy: Local renewable and local low -carbon energy sources.
Deliverable: To be considered deliverable, sites for housing should be available now,
offer a suitable location for development now, and be achievable with a realistic prospect
that housing will be delivered on the site within five years. In particular:
a) sites which do not involve major development and have planning permission, and all
sites with detailed planning permission, should be considered deliverable until
permission expires, unless there is clear evidence that homes will not be delivered
within five years (for example because they are no longer viable, there is no longer a
demand for the type of units or sites have long term phasing plans).
b) where a site has outline planning permission for major development, has been
allocated in a development plan, has a grant of permission in principle, or is identified
on a brownfield register, it should only be considered deliverable where there is clear
evidence that housing completions will begin on site within five years.
Design code: A set of illustrated design requirements that provide specific, detailed
parameters for the physical development of a site or area. The graphic and written
components of the code should build upon a design vision, such as a masterplan or other
design and development framework for a site or area.
Designated heritage asset: A World Heritage Site, Scheduled Monument, Listed
Building, Protected Wreck Site, Registered Park and Garden, Registered Battlefield or
Conservation Area designated under the relevant legislation.
Designated rural areas: National Parks, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and areas
designated as ‘rural’ under Section 157 of the Housing Act 1985.
Developable: To be considered developable, sites should be in a suitable location for
housing development with a reasonable prospect that they will be available and could be
viably developed at the point envisaged.
Development plan: Is defined in section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004, and includes adopted local plans, neighbourhood plans that have been made
and published spatial development strategies, together with any regional strategy policies
that remain in force. Neighbourhood plans that have been approved at referendum are
also part of the development plan, unless the local planning authority decides that the
neighbourhood plan should not be made.
Edge of centre: For retail purposes, a location that is well connected to, and up to 300
metres from, the primary shopping area. For all other main town centre uses, a location
within 300 metres of a town centre boundary. For office development, this includes
locations outside the town centre but within 500 metres of a public transport interchange.
In determining whether a site falls within the definition of edge of centre, account should
be taken of local circumstances.
Entry-level exception site: A site that provides entry-level homes suitable for first time
buyers (or equivalent, for those looking to rent), in line with paragraph 712 of this
Framework.
Environmental impact assessment: A procedure to be followed for certain types of
project to ensure that decisions are made in full knowledge of any likely significant effects

Page 119

67

on the environment.
Essential local workers: Public sector employees who provide frontline services in areas
including health, education and community safety – such as NHS staff, teachers, police,
firefighters and military personnel, social care and childcare workers.
General aviation airfields: Licenced or unlicenced aerodromes with hard or grass
runways, often with extensive areas of open land related to aviation activity.
Geodiversity: The range of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils and landforms.
Green infrastructure: A network of multi-functional green and blue spaces and other
natural features, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering a wide range of
environmental, economic, health and wellbeing benefits for nature, climate, local and
wider communities and prosperity and quality of life benefits for local communities.
Habitats site: Any site which would be included within the definition at regulation 8 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 for the purpose of those
regulations, including candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Sites of Community
Importance, Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas and any relevant
Marine Sites.
Heritage asset: A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having
a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its
heritage interest. It includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local
planning authority (including local listing).
Heritage coast: Areas of undeveloped coastline which are managed to conserve their
natural beauty and, where appropriate, to improve accessibility for visitors.
Historic environment: All aspects of the environment resulting from the interaction
between people and places through time, including all surviving physical remains of past
human activity, whether visible, buried or submerged, and landscaped and planted or
managed flora.
Historic environment record: Information services that seek to provide access to
comprehensive and dynamic resources relating to the historic environment of a defined
geographic area for public benefit and use.
Housing Delivery Test: Measures net additional dwellingshomes delivered provided in a
local authority area against the homes required, using national statistics and local
authority data. The Secretary of State will publish the Housing Delivery Test results for
each local authority in England every November.
International, national and locally designated sites of importance for biodiversity:
All international sites (Special Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas, and
Ramsar sites), national sites (Sites of Special Scientific Interest) and locally designated
sites including Local Wildlife Sites.
Irreplaceable habitat: Habitats which would be technically very difficult (or take a very
significant time) to restore, recreate or replace once destroyed, taking into account their

Page 120

68

age, uniqueness, species diversity or rarity. They include ancient woodland, ancient and
veteran trees, blanket bog, limestone pavement, sand dunes, salt marsh and lowland fen.
Local Development Order: An Order made by a local planning authority (under the Town
and Country Planning Act 1990) that grants planning permission for a specific
development proposal or classes of development.
Local Enterprise Partnership: A body, designated by the Secretary of State for Housing,
Communities and Local Government, established for the purpose of creating or improving
the conditions for economic growth in an area.
Local housing need: The number of homes identified as being needed through the
application of the standard method set out in national planning guidance (or, in the context
of preparing strategic policies only, this may be calculated using a justified alternative
approach as provided for in paragraph 610 of this Framework).
Local Nature Partnership: A body, designated by the Secretary of State for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, established for the purpose of protecting and
improving the natural environment in an area and the benefits derived from it.
Local planning authority: The public authority whose duty it is to carry out specific
planning functions for a particular area. All references to local planning authority include
the district council, London borough council, county council, Broads Authority, National
Park Authority, the Mayor of London and a development corporation, to the extent
appropriate to their responsibilities.
Local plan: A plan for the future development of a local area, drawn up by the local
planning authority in consultation with the community. In law this is described as the
development plan documents adopted under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004. A local plan can consist of either strategic or non-strategic policies, or a combination
of the two.
Main town centre uses: Retail development (including warehouse clubs and factory
outlet centres); leisure, entertainment and more intensive sport and recreation uses
(including cinemas, restaurants, drive-through restaurants, bars and pubs, nightclubs,
casinos, health and fitness centres, indoor bowling centres and bingo halls); offices; and
arts, culture and tourism development (including theatres, museums, galleries and concert
halls, hotels and conference facilities).
Major development74: For housing, development where 10 or more homes will be
provided, or the site has an area of 0.5 hectares or more. For non-residential development
it means additional floorspace of 1,000m 2 or more, or a site of 1 hectare or more, or as
otherwise provided in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management
Procedure) (England) Order 2015.
Major hazard sites, installations and pipelines: Sites and infrastructure, including
licensed explosive sites and nuclear installations, around which Health and Safety
Executive (and Office for Nuclear Regulation) consultation distances to mitigate the

74

Other than for the specific purposes of paragraphs 1726 and 1737 in this Framework.

Page 121

69

consequences to public safety of major accidents may apply.
Minerals resources of local and national importance: Minerals which are necessary to
meet society’s needs, including aggregates, brickclay (especially Etruria Marl and
fireclay), silica sand (including high grade silica sands), coal derived fly ash in single use
deposits, cement raw materials, gypsum, salt, fluorspar, shallow and deep-mined coal, oil
and gas (including conventional and unconventional hydrocarbons), tungsten, kaolin, ball
clay, potash, polyhalite and local minerals of importance to heritage assets and local
distinctiveness.
Mineral Consultation Area: a geographical area, based on a Mineral Safeguarding Area,
where the district or borough council should consult the Mineral Planning Authority for any
proposals for non-minerals development.
Mineral Safeguarding Area: An area designated by minerals planning authorities which
covers known deposits of minerals which are desired to be kept safeguarded from
unnecessary sterilisation by non-mineral development.
National trails: Long distance routes for walking, cycling and horse riding.
Natural Flood Management: managing flood and coastal erosion risk by protecting,
restoring and emulating the natural ‘regulating’ function of catchments, rivers, floodplains
and coasts.
Nature Recovery Network: An expanding, increasingly connected, network of wildliferich habitats supporting species recovery, alongside wider benefits such as carbon
capture, water quality improvements, natural flood risk management and recreation. It
includes the existing network of protected sites and other wildlife rich habitats as well as
and landscape or catchment scale recovery areas where there is coordinated action for
species and habitats.
Neighbourhood Development Order: An Order made by a local planning authority
(under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) through which parish councils and
neighbourhood forums can grant planning permission for a specific development proposal
or classes of development.
Neighbourhood plan: A plan prepared by a parish council or neighbourhood forum for a
designated neighbourhood area. In law this is described as a neighbourhood development
plan in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
Non-strategic policies: Policies contained in a neighbourhood plan, or those policies in a
local plan that are not strategic policies.
Older people: People over or approaching retirement age, including the active, newlyretired through to the very frail elderly; and whose housing needs can encompass
accessible, adaptable general needs housing through to the full range of retirement and
specialised housing for those with support or care needs.
Open space: All open space of public value, including not just land, but also areas of
water (such as rivers, canals, lakes and reservoirs) which offer important opportunities for
sport and recreation and can act as a visual amenity.

Page 122

70

Original building: A building as it existed on 1 July 1948 or, if constructed after 1 July
1948, as it was built originally.
Out of centre: A location which is not in or on the edge of a centre but not necessarily
outside the urban area.
Out of town: A location out of centre that is outside the existing urban area.
Outstanding universal value: Cultural and/or natural significance which is so exceptional
as to transcend national boundaries and to be of common importance for present and
future generations. An individual Statement of Outstanding Universal Value is agreed and
adopted by the UNESCO World Heritage Committee for each World Heritage Site.
People with disabilities: People have a disability if they have a physical or mental
impairment, and that impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on their
ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. These persons include, but are not limited
to, people with ambulatory difficulties, blindness, learning difficulties, autism and mental
health needs.
Permission in principle: A form of planning consent which establishes that a site is
suitable for a specified amount of housing-led development in principle. Following a grant
of permission in principle, the site must receive a grant of technical details consent before
development can proceed.
Planning condition: A condition imposed on a grant of planning permission (in
accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990) or a condition included in a
Local Development Order or Neighbourhood Development Order.
Planning obligation: A legal agreement entered into under section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 to mitigate the impacts of a development proposal.
Playing field: The whole of a site which encompasses at least one playing pitch as
defined in the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure)
(England) Order 2015.
Previously developed land: Land which is or was occupied by a permanent structure,
including the curtilage of the developed land (although it should not be assumed that the
whole of the curtilage should be developed) and any associated fixed surface
infrastructure. This excludes: land that is or was last occupied by agricultural or forestry
buildings; land that has been developed for minerals extraction or waste disposal by
landfill, where provision for restoration has been made through development management
procedures; land in built-up areas such as residential gardens, parks, recreation grounds
and allotments; and land that was previously developed but where the remains of the
permanent structure or fixed surface structure have blended into the landscape.
Primary shopping area: Defined area where retail development is concentrated.
Priority habitats and species: Species and Habitats of Principal Importance included in
the England Biodiversity List published by the Secretary of State under section 41 of the
Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006.

Page 123

71

Ramsar sites: Wetlands of international importance, designated under the 1971
Ramsar Convention.
Renewable and low carbon energy: Includes energy for heating and cooling as well as
generating electricity. Renewable energy covers those energy flows that occur naturally
and repeatedly in the environment – from the wind, the fall of water, the movement of the
oceans, from the sun and also from biomass and deep geothermal heat. Low carbon
technologies are those that can help reduce emissions (compared to conventional use of
fossil fuels).
Rural exception sites: Small sites used for affordable housing in perpetuity where sites
would not normally be used for housing. Rural exception sites seek to address the needs
of the local community by accommodating households who are either current residents or
have an existing family or employment connection. A proportion of market homes may be
allowed on the site at the local planning authority’s discretion, for example where essential
to enable the delivery of affordable units without grant funding.
Recycled aggregates: aggregates resulting from the processing of inorganic materials
previously used in construction, e.g. construction and demolition waste.
Safeguarding zone: An area defined in Circular 01/03: Safeguarding aerodromes,
technical sites and military explosives storage areas, to which specific safeguarding
provisions apply.
Secondary aggregates: aggregates from industrial wastes such as glass (cullet),
incinerator bottom ash, coal derived fly ash, railway ballast, fine ceramic waste (pitcher),
and scrap tyres; and industrial and minerals by-products, notably waste from china clay,
coal and slate extraction and spent foundry sand. These can also include hydraulically
bound materials.
Self-build and custom-build housing: Housing built by an individual, a group of
individuals, or persons working with or for them, to be occupied by that individual. Such
housing can be either market or affordable housing. A legal definition, for the purpose of
applying the Self-build and Custom Housebuilding Act 2015 (as amended), is contained in
section 1(A1) and (A2) of that Act.
Setting of a heritage asset: The surroundings in which a heritage asset is experienced.
Its extent is not fixed and may change as the asset and its surroundings evolve. Elements
of a setting may make a positive or negative contribution to the significance of an asset,
may affect the ability to appreciate that significance or may be neutral.
Significance (for heritage policy): The value of a heritage asset to this and future
generations because of its heritage interest. The interest may be archaeological,
architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s
physical presence, but also from its setting. For World Heritage Sites, the cultural value
described within each site’s Statement of Outstanding Universal Value forms part of its
significance.
Special Areas of Conservation: Areas defined by regulation 3 of the Conservation of

Page 124

72

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 which have been given special protection as
important conservation sites.
Special Protection Areas: Areas classified under regulation 15 of the Conservation of
Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 which have been identified as being of
international importance for the breeding, feeding, wintering or the migration of rare and
vulnerable species of birds.
Site investigation information: Includes a risk assessment of land potentially affected by
contamination, or ground stability and slope stability reports, as appropriate. All
investigations of land potentially affected by contamination should be carried out in
accordance with established procedures (such as BS10175 Investigation of Potentially
Contaminated Sites – Code of Practice).
Site of Special Scientific Interest: Sites designated by Natural England under the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.
Spatial development strategy: A plan containing strategic policies prepared by a Mayor
or a combined authority. It includes the London Plan (prepared under provisions in the
Greater London Authority Act 1999) and plans prepared by combined authorities that have
been given equivalent plan-making functions by an order made under the Local
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 (as amended).
Stepping stones: Pockets of habitat that, while not necessarily connected, facilitate the
movement of species across otherwise inhospitable landscapes.
Strategic environmental assessment: A procedure (set out in the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004) which requires the formal
environmental assessment of certain plans and programmes which are likely to have
significant effects on the environment.
Strategic policies: Policies and site allocations which address strategic priorities in line
with the requirements of Section 19 (1B-E) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004.
Strategic policy-making authorities: Those authorities responsible for producing
strategic policies (local planning authorities, and elected Mayors or combined authorities,
where this power has been conferred). This definition applies whether the authority is in
the process of producing strategic policies or not.
Supplementary planning documents: Documents which add further detail to the policies
in the development plan. They can be used to provide further guidance for development
on specific sites, or on particular issues, such as design. Supplementary planning
documents are capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions but are not
part of the development plan.
Sustainable transport modes: Any efficient, safe and accessible means of transport with
overall low impact on the environment, including walking and cycling, low and ultra low
emission vehicles, car sharing and public transport.
Town centre: Area defined on the local authority’s policies map, including the primary

Page 125

73

shopping area and areas predominantly occupied by main town centre uses within or
adjacent to the primary shopping area. References to town centres or centres apply to city
centres, town centres, district centres and local centres but exclude small parades of
shops of purely neighbourhood significance. Unless they are identified as centres in the
development plan, existing out-of-centre developments, comprising or including main town
centre uses, do not constitute town centres.
Transport assessment: A comprehensive and systematic process that sets out transport
issues relating to a proposed development. It identifies measures required to improve
accessibility and safety for all modes of travel, particularly for alternatives to the car such
as walking, cycling and public transport, and measures that will be needed deal with the
anticipated transport impacts of the development.
Transport statement: A simplified version of a transport assessment where it is agreed
the transport issues arising from development proposals are limited and a full transport
assessment is not required.
Travel plan: A long-term management strategy for an organisation or site that seeks to
deliver sustainable transport objectives and is regularly reviewed.
Wildlife corridor: Areas of habitat connecting wildlife populations.
Windfall sites: Sites not specifically identified in the development plan.

Page 126

74

Annex 3: Flood risk vulnerability classification
ESSENTIAL INFRASTRUCTURE
•
•

•
•

Essential transport infrastructure (including mass evacuation routes) which has to
cross the area at risk.
Essential utility infrastructure which has to be located in a flood risk area for
operational reasons, including electricity generating power stations, grid and
primary substations; and water treatment works that need to remain operational in
times of flood.
Wind turbines.
Solar farms

HIGHLY VULNERABLE
•
•
•
•
•

Police and ambulance stations; fire stations and command centres;
telecommunications installations required to be operational during flooding.
Emergency dispersal points.
Basement dwellings.
Caravans, mobile homes and park homes intended for permanent residential use.
Installations requiring hazardous substances consent. (Where there is a
demonstrable need to locate such installations for bulk storage of materials with
port or other similar facilities, or such installations with energy infrastructure or
carbon capture and storage installations, that require coastal or water-side
locations, or need to be located in other high flood risk areas, in these instances the
facilities should be classified as ‘Essential Infrastructure’.)

MORE VULNERABLE
•
•
•
•
•
•

Hospitals
Residential institutions such as residential care homes, children’s homes, social
services homes, prisons and hostels.
Buildings used for dwelling houses, student halls of residence, drinking
establishments, nightclubs and hotels.
Non–residential uses for health services, nurseries and educational establishments.
Landfill* and sites used for waste management facilities for hazardous waste.
Sites used for holiday or short-let caravans and camping, subject to a specific
warning and evacuation plan.

LESS VULNERABLE
•

Police, ambulance and fire stations which are not required to be operational during
flooding.

Page 127

75

•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Buildings used for shops; financial, professional and other services; restaurants,
cafes and hot food takeaways; offices; general industry, storage and distribution;
non-residential institutions not included in the ‘more vulnerable’ class; and
assembly and leisure.
Land and buildings used for agriculture and forestry.
Waste treatment (except landfill* and hazardous waste facilities).
Minerals working and processing (except for sand and gravel working).
Water treatment works which do not need to remain operational during times of
flood.
Sewage treatment works, if adequate measures to control pollution and manage
sewage during flooding events are in place.
Car parks.

WATER-COMPATIBLE DEVELOPMENT
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Flood control infrastructure.
Water transmission infrastructure and pumping stations.
Sewage transmission infrastructure and pumping stations.
Sand and gravel working.
Docks, marinas and wharves.
Navigation facilities.
Ministry of Defence installations.
Ship building, repairing and dismantling, dockside fish processing and refrigeration
and compatible activities requiring a waterside location.
Water-based recreation (excluding sleeping accommodation).
Lifeguard and coastguard stations.
Amenity open space, nature conservation and biodiversity, outdoor sports and
recreation and essential facilities such as changing rooms.
Essential ancillary sleeping or residential accommodation for staff required by uses
in this category, subject to a specific warning and evacuation plan.

* Landfill is as defined in Schedule 10 of the Environmental Permitting (England and
Wales) Regulations 2010.

Page 128

76

National Model
Design Code

Page 129

Page 130
© Crown copyright, 2021
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.
You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium,
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit http://www.
nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg
If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at http://
forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
Telephone: 030 3444 0000
For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg
January 2021

Contents
The Coding Process

Guidance Notes (separate document)

Purpose.............................................1
Objectives..........................................2
Application...........................................4
Coding Process...................................5

Code Content
Community Engagement

Page 131

Glossary
References
Credits
* Glossary, references and credits are
included in this document and cover the
content of both the coding process and
guidance notes

The Coding Process

Page 132

Purpose

Page 133

1. The purpose of the
National Model Design
Code is to provide detailed
guidance on the production
of design codes, guides
and policies to promote
successful design. It
expands on the ten
characteristics of good
design set out in the National
Design Guide, which reflects
the government’s priorities
and provides a common
overarching framework for
design.

2. The National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) makes clear that local planning
authorities should ensure that visual tools
such as design codes and guides are used
to inform development proposals to provide
maximum clarity about design expectations
at an early stage and reflect local character
and preferences. They should provide a
framework for creating high-quality places,
with a consistent and high-quality standard of
design to inform development proposals.
3. It also makes clear that the level of detail
and degree of prescription within design
codes and guides should be tailored to the
circumstances and scale of change in each
place and should allow a suitable degree of
variety where this would be justified.
4. Design coding is one tool available to
local planning authorities, communities and
developers to define and deliver design
quality, in addition to design guides, planning
briefs, heritage characterisation studies,
standards and masterplans as set out in the
NPPF and planning practice guidance.

5. A design code is a set of simple, concise,
illustrated design requirements that are visual
and numerical wherever possible to provide
specific, detailed parameters for the physical
development of a site or area. This guide is a
toolkit to guide local planning authorities on
the design parameters and issues that need
to be considered and tailored to their own
context when producing design codes and
guides, as well as methods to capture and
reflect the views of the local community from
the outset, and at each stage in the process.
6. The National Model Design Code forms
part of the government’s planning practice
guidance and should be read as part of the
National Design Guide, and alongside the
planning practice guidance notes referenced
in Part 3 of the National Design Guide,
Manual for Streets, and other forthcoming
guidance relating to the natural and
environmental characteristics of development.
This guidance is not a statement of national
policy, however, the government recommends
that the advice in this guidance on how to
prepare design codes and guides is to be
followed.

1

Objectives

Page 134

7. The National Planning
Policy Framework expects
local planning authorities to
develop local design codes
or guides, taking account
of the National Design
Guide and the National
Model Design Code. This
guidance sets out clear
design parameters to
help local authorities and
communities decide what
good quality design looks
like in their area, based on
local aspirations for how
their area will develop,
following appropriate local
consultation.
2

8. The National Model Design Code sets out
design considerations which local planning
authorities will be expected to take into
account when developing local design codes
and guides and when determining planning
applications.

11. The National Model Design Code sets
a baseline standard of quality and practice
which local planning authorities are expected
to take into account when developing
local design codes and guides and when
determining planning applications, including;

9. Design codes are important because
they provide a framework for creating
healthy, greener, environmentally responsive,
sustainable and distinctive places, with a
consistent and high-quality standard of
design. This can provide greater certainty
for communities about the design of
development and bring conversations about
design to the start of the planning process,
rather than the end. Creating more beautiful
places requires a greener approach, with
more energy efficient buildings, integrating
with the natural environment and contributing
positively to the net zero carbon target by
2050.

•

10. The government understands that quality
design does not look the same across
different areas of the country, for instance,
that by definition, local vernacular differs and
design priorities differ for scale and types of
development.

•
•
•
•

The layout of new development, including
street pattern;
How landscaping should be approached
including the importance of streets being
tree-lined;
The factors to be considered when
determining whether façades of buildings
are of sufficiently high quality;
The environmental performance of place
and buildings ensuring they contribute to
net zero targets;
That developments should clearly take
account of local vernacular and heritage,
architecture and materials.

12. Design codes can provide a more specific
steer on what is acceptable when they are
visual and numerical rather than relying on
detailed policy wording, as well as being
easier to engage with. They can also give

e
c
ur

at

Pu
sp blic
ace
s

N

t
en
em

Enhanced
and
optimised

ov

m

Re

Homes and
buildings

Cli

so

Safe, social
and inclusive

B u il t f o r m

Accessible and
easy to move
around

Mixed and
integrated

er

A coherent
pattern of
development

Functional, healthy
and sustainable

M

re
atu

y
Co
m m u nit

■■

healthy and sustainable.

The ten characteristics of well-designed places

Resources – efficient and resilient.
16. In the absence
of local design guidance,
Lifespan – made to last.
local planning authorities will be expected to
defer to the National Design Guide, National
Model Design Code and Manual for Streets
which can be used as material considerations
in planning decisions. This supports an
aspiration to establish a default for local
design principles and settings as part of
forthcoming planning reforms that lead to well
designed and beautiful places and buildings.
■■

14. When preparing design codes and
guides, communities need to be involved
at each stage of the process in order to
gain measurable community support that is
appropriate for the scale and location of new
development. This will address the ambition
in a new planning system to bring democracy
forward so that communities decide what
good design means locally and that this is
enshrined in design codes and guides.

Attractive and
distinctive

ct

■■

I

Enhances the
surroundings

ity

■■

C

ext

Efficient and
resilient

es

■■

Made to last

Cont

ra

■■

an

nt

■■

es

esp

a

■■

Lif

de

■■

signed p
ell-de
lac
w
e
A

Us

Page 135

13. For larger schemes, design codes can
help to maintain consistency in the delivery
of development over a longer period of time.
Codes also set out a necessary level of
detail in sensitive locations, for example, with
heritage considerations, and they can set
out specific ways to maintain local character.
Design codes and guides can also be helpful
in facilitating custom-build, self-build and the
use of modern methods of construction.

15. Paragraph Introducing
132 of the
the
tenNational
characteristicsPlanning
35
Well-designed
places
have individual
Policy Framework
states that development
characteristics which work together to
its physicalshould
Character. The
that is not well create
designed
betenrefused
characteristics help to nurture and sustain a
permission, especially
where
it work
failsto positively
to
sense of Community.
They
address environmental issues affecting
reflect local design
policies
and
government
Climate. They all contribute towards the
cross-cutting
themes for
goodaccount
design set outany
guidance on design,
taking
into
in the National Planning Policy Framework.
local design guidance
and supplementary
36
The ten characteristics
set out in Part 2
are:
planning documents
which use visual
Context – enhances the surroundings.
tools such as design
codes and guides.
Identity – attractive and distinctive.
Conversely, it states
that
significant
Built form – a coherent
pattern ofweight will
development.
be given to development which reflects local
Movement – accessible and easy to
design policies and
government guidance
move around.
on design, takingNature
into– enhanced
account
any local
and optimised.
Public
spaces
–
safe,
social
and planning
design guidance and supplementary
inclusive.
documents which
use visual tools such as
Uses – mixed and integrated.
design guides and
codes.
Homes
and buildings – functional,

h

developers greater certainty about what
may be acceptable when seeking planning
permission, and can help lead to faster
decisions based on whether a proposal
complies with a code, which can help to
speed up the delivery of development.

■■

10 Characteristics of Well Designed Places
(National Design Guide Extract)
8

3

Application

Page 136

17. This document should
be used as a basis for
the production of design
codes and guides by local
planning authorities. It uses
information that should be
readily available to the local
authority and is intended to
be applied flexibly according
to local circumstances as
not all characteristics and
design parameters may be
relevant.

18. The document provides design guidance
and needs to be used alongside the National
Design Guide to inform local design guides
and decision making as well as to inform
design codes and guides. The area covered
by the design code and the level of detail is to
4

be determined locally. A coding plan will
be needed to show the area covered by
the code or guide. There is an option to
use area types so that the guidance can
be adjusted to reflect local character.
The commentary in Part 2 provides a
checklist of content for design guidance
or policies that local authorities may
consider including in their local plans if a
design code is not appropriate.
19. The National Planning Policy
Framework is clear that design
policies should be developed with
local communities, so they reflect
local aspirations. Local authorities
may collaborate with developers
and landowners on design codes,
particularly in relation to specific sites.
Developers and landowners may also
choose to prepare their own design
code as part of a planning application.
20. Through preparing local plans and
supporting supplementary planning
guidance, local planning authorities
should develop an overarching design
vision and objectives that can inform
design codes, guides and other
tools that inform the design of the
built and natural environment in their
area, whether prepared by them or

other parties. Local planning authorities
should follow the advice in the plan making
Planning Practice Guidance, particularly
when producing design codes or guides
as a supplementary planning document.
Neighbourhood planning groups may choose
to produce their own design codes or guides
as part of the neighbourhood plan process.

1. Local Authority

Some elements of the code may
apply to the entire local authority
area.

2. Area type

Some elements of design codes
can apply to types of area, for
example, all villages, or all inner
suburbs.

3. Development Sites

Parts of the code can relate
specifically to development sites
such as urban extensions, new
settlements and other large sites
where the code may be guided by
masterplans.

4. Plot

Parts of the code can be used to
guide individual building plots, for
example relating to a single house
or block of flats, whether they be
in existing urban areas or new
development.

Coding Process

Page 137

2. Vision

2A – Design Vision: Dividing the area covered by the code into
a set of typical ‘area types’ and deciding on a vision for each of
these area types.     
2B – Coding Plan: Preparing a plan that maps out each of
the area types and also identifies large development sites from
allocations in the local plan.   
2C – Masterplanning: On larger sites working with land
owners and developers to agree a masterplan for each of the
development sites establishing the key parameters and area
types.

3. Code

3A – Area Type Guidance: Developing guidance for each area
type by adjusting a set of design parameters.   
3B – Design Code Wide Guidance: Agree on a set of policies
that will apply equally across all area types.

Analysis

2.

Vision

3.

Code

Consultation

1A - Scoping: Agreeing on the geographical area to be covered
by the code and the policy areas that it will address.          
1B – Baseline: Bringing together the analysis that will underpin
the code and inform its contents.    

1.

A

B

Consultation

1. Analysis

A

B

Consultation

21. The process of preparing a local design code is based on the
following seven steps:

Figure 1. Design Code Process

A

Scoping

Design
Vision

Guidance for
Area types

Baseline

Coding
Plan

C

Masterplanning

B

General
Guidance

5

1.A Scoping
Page 138

22. The first step is to
decide on the scope of the
code, in particular which
parts of the local area it
needs to cover, and which
policy areas it addresses.
Coverage:

23. In terms of geographical coverage
some authorities may wish to create a code
that covers their entire area. Codes may
cover all existing built-up areas, or just new
development sites. The options are therefore
that the code covers:
•
•
•

6

The whole local authority area including
all existing settlements and development
sites.
Selected parts of existing settlements and
development sites.
Just development sites.

24. There are benefits in having a single
design code covering one of the above
options, rather than having separate design
codes for each site.

Content:
25. The guidance notes include all of the
potential issues that might be covered by a
design code. These are organised under the
ten headings of the National Design Guide
and include sub-headings. Codes are not
expected to cover all of these issues, and
the context and scale of development will
determine the appropriate issues that need to
be included.
26. Some design parameters are an essential
component of design codes for their effective
use such as movement pattern, built form,
height, land use, character of buildings and
public spaces, open space and density while
others are discretionary (see Figure 2). The
latter include, for example, housing standards
that are crucial but may be dealt with
elsewhere in local plans.

27. All design codes should include as a
minimum:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Movement strategy where appropriate
Access and street hierarchy where
appropriate
Landscape and open space strategy
Land use and mix
Density
Heights
Number of homes
Identity and character of buildings and
public spaces

28. Some issues will depend on the decision
about the coverage of the code. Codes that
cover large scale development will need to
include guidance on creating a new street
network, public transport routes, planning
and designing green spaces and providing
schools and other facilities. By contrast
in existing built-up areas where the street
network etc. already exists, these elements of
the code will be less relevant (see Figure 2).

SMALL
SITES
SMALLSMALL
SITES
SITES

INFILL SITE

Code
covers...
If
the Design
the Ifdesign
code
the
design
code
If the If
design
code
Code
covers...
covers...
covers...
covers...
U2:2 Type
URBAN EXTN.

INFILL SITE

SMALL SITES
URBAN EXTN.

the Ifdesign
code
the
design
code
If the If
design
code
Code
covers...
covers...
covers...
covers...
Built Form

INFILLINFILL
SITEINFILL
SITESITE
SMALL SITES
URBAN
EXTN.
URBANURBAN
EXTN.
EXTN.
INFILL SITE
SMALL SITES
URBAN EXTN.

the Design
Figure 2. Design IfCode
Coverage

SMALLSMALL
SITES SITES
SMALL SITES
INFILLINFILL
SITE SITE
INFILL SITE
URBANURBAN
EXTN.
EXTN.
SMALL
SITES
URBAN EXTN.
INFILL SITE

If the Design
Code
covers...
If
the Design
URBAN EXTN.

R R ■R

SMALLSMALL
SITES SITES

INFILL SITE

INFILL SITE

SMALL SITES
URBAN EXTN.

URBAN EXTN.

Page 139

the Ifdesign
code
the
design
code
If the If
design
code
Code
covers...
covers...
covers...
covers...
Context
The scoping stage should include the
development of a consultation strategy
C1:1 Character Types R
Context
Context
Context
for the code based on the guidance Context
Site Context
Types
C1:2 Character
C1:1
R
Character
Types
Character
Types
Character
Types
set out in the community engagementC.1.i C.1.i C.1.i C1:2
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
Assessment
Site
Context
C1:3
R
section of the guidance notes.
Site Context
SiteR
Context
Site Context
C.1.ii
C.1.ii C.1.ii
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
Historic
Assessment
C2:1 Site Assessment R
C1:3
Site Assessment
Site Assessment
Site Assessment
C.1.iii
C.1.iii C.1.iii
RR
R RR R
R Assessment
Heritage
Assets
C2:2 RHistoric
C2:1
R
The engagement process will be
Historic
Assessment
Historic
Assessment
Historic
Assessment
C.2.i C.2.i C.2.i Movement
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
C2:2 Heritage Assets
R
heavily dependent on the geographical
Heritage
Assets
Assets
Heritage
Assets Heritage
C.2.ii
C.2.ii C.2.ii
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
Street
Network
M1:1
R
Movement
coverage of the code and the extent to
Movement
Movement
Movement
Public Network
Transport
M1:2 Street
which it applies to existing settlements.
M1:1
R
Street Network
Street
Network
Street M.1.i
Network
M.1.i
M.1.i
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
Street Transport
Hierarchy
This in itself should be the subject of an
M1:3 Public
R
M1:2
Public Transport
Public
Transport
PublicM.1.ii
Transport
R
R
RStreet
R
R
R
R
R
initial consultation exercise that will: M.1.ii M.1.ii
+ Cycling R
M1:3
M2:1 WalkingHierarchy
Street Hierarchy
Street
Hierarchy
Street M.1.iii
Hierarchy
M.1.iii M.1.iii
R
R RR R
RWalking
R
RCycling
+
M2:2 Junction+Crossings
M2:1
R
Walking
+
Cycling
• Provide briefing and training to
+ Cycling
Walking
+ CyclingWalking
M.2.i
M.2.i M.2.i
RR
R RR R
R
R
Inclusive
Streets
Junction+Crossings
M2:3
M2:2
R
community groups involved with M.2.ii M.2.ii
Junction+Crossings
Junction+Crossings
Junction+Crossings
M.2.ii
RR
R
R
R
RInclusive
R
R
Car
Parking
Streets
M3:1
M2:3
R
the built environment about what aM.2.iii M.2.iii
Inclusive
Streets
Streets
Inclusive
Streets Inclusive
M.2.iii
RR R RR R
RCar
R
Cycle
Parking
Parking
M3:2
M3:1
R
code is and how it is developed.
Car Parking
CarR
Parking
Car Parking
M.3.i
M.3.i M.3.i
RR
R RR4R
R
Services
+
Utilities
M2:3 Cycle Parking
• Consult with groups about whether
M3:2
R
Cycle Parking
4R
Cycle
Parking
Cycle M.3.ii
Parking
M.3.ii M.3.ii
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
they wish their area to be included
NatureServices + Utilities R
M2:3
Services
+ Utilities
+ Utilities
Services
+ UtilitiesServices
M.3.iii
M.3.iii M.3.iii
RR R RR4R
R R
within a code.
N1:1 Network of Spaces R
Nature
• Discuss with the groups who wish NatureNatureNatureN1:1
OS Provision
of Spaces R
N1:2 Network
Network
of Spaces
Network
of Spaces
Network
of Spaces
N.1.i
N.1.i N.1.i
RR R RR R
R R
to be involved, what the code
Design
Provision
N1:3 OS
N1:2
R
OS Provision
OS R
Provision
OS Provision
N.1.ii
should cover.
N.1.ii N.1.ii
R RR R RR R
Working with Water R
N2:1 Design
N1:3
Design
Design
DesignN.1.iii
N.1.iii N.1.iii
R R RR R RR R
SUDS with Water R
Working
N2:2
N2:1
The results of this initial engagement N.2.i N.2.i
Working
withRWater
Working
withR
Water
Working
with Water
N.2.i
R
R R RR4R
Flood Risk
SUDS
N2:3
N2:2
will feed into a consultation strategy N.2.ii N.2.ii
R
SUDS
SUDSN.2.ii SUDS
R R RR R RR4R
Net
Gain
Flood
Risk
that will include the stages at which
N3:1
R
FloodN2:3
Risk
Flood
Flood N.2.iii
Risk
N.2.iii N.2.iii
RRisk
R RR R RR4R
consultation will take place, what
Biodiversity
Net
Gain
N3:2
N3:1
R
Net Gain
NetR
GainR RR R RR R
Net Gain
N.3.i
N.3.i N.3.i
techniques will be used and how the
Street
Trees
Biodiversity
N3:3
N3:2
R
Biodiversity
Biodiversity
Biodiversity
N.3.ii
N.3.ii N.3.ii
R R RR R RR4R
community will be engaged.
Street
Trees
StreetN3:3
Trees
4R
Street Trees R R ■R
Street N.3.iii
Trees
N.3.iii N.3.iii

INFILLINFILL
SITESMALL
SITESITES

URBANURBAN
EXTN.
EXTN.
INFILL
SITE
SMALL SITES
URBAN EXTN.

Consultation

If the Design
Code
covers...
If
the Design

; ; ;

Density
Schools
B1:1 Form
U2:1 Type
R R R
R ; ;
Built
U2:2
;
R R
Type
Type ; Facilities
Type
Built
Form
U.2.ii
Form
U.2.ii
Built Form BuiltB1:1
U.2.ii
;
;
; ;;
; ;
;
;
4
Party
Wall
Community
Density
Schools
B1:2
U3:2
U2:1
R R R
R
R R
Density
Schools
4
Density
Schools
Density
Schools
B.1.i B.1.iB1:3 Party
U.3.i
U.3.i U.3.i
R
R ;;
R Wall
R
R Facilities
; 4;
R R RR
; R ;;R
andR
Forms
Local Services
4
U2:3 Community
B1:2 Types
U3:2
RB.1.i
R
RRRRR
4U.3.ii 4U.3.ii
Community
Facilities
4
4 ;; 4
Facilities
Party B.1.ii
WallParty WallParty
FacilitiesCommunity
B.1.ii
U.3.ii
R ;;R
R
R
RWallR
R R RR
R
;
4 Community
Blocks
andR
Forms
B2:1 Types
HomesLocal
andServices
Buildings
B1:3
U2:3
RB.1.ii
R
RRRRR
; ;
and
Forms
Local Services
4R R4U.3.iii 4U.3.iii
4 ;; 4
Types
and
Forms
LocalR
Services
TypesB.1.iii
andTypes
Forms
LocalU.3.iii
Services
B.1.iii B.1.iii
R
R
R
;
R
R
R
R
R
;
R
R
;
4
Building
Line
Space
Standards
B2:2 Blocks
H1:1 and Buildings ; ; ;
B2:1
Homes
R R
R R R
Blocks Blocks
4Homes
4R R4Homes
BlocksB.2.i
and
Buildings
Homes
and
Buildings
B.2.i B.2.i
and
Buildings
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
R
Height
Accessibility
4
Space
Standards
B2:3 Building Line
H1:2
B2:2
H1:1
R R
R R R
; ; ;
4
Building
Line
Space
Standards
4
4
Building
Line
Space
Standards
Building
Line
Space
Standards
H.1.i
H.1.i
B.2.ii B.2.ii B.2.iiIdentity
H.1.i
R
R
R
;
;
R
R
R
R
; ;;
; ;
R
R
R
;
;
;
Light,
aspect,
priv.
H2:1 Accessibility
B2:3 Height
H1:2
R R
R R R
;
Height
Accessibility
Height
Accessibility
Height
Accessibility
H.1.ii H.1.ii
B.2.iii B.2.iii B.2.iii
RR R RR
;;;; ;;
R R
; ;priv.
Character
Security
aspect,
I1:1 Local
H2:2 Light,
RRRRH.1.ii
R
Identity
H2:1
; ; ;
R R
Light,
Aspect,
Priv.
4 ;; 4
Light,
Aspect,
Priv.
Light,
Aspect,
Priv.
Identity
H.2.i
Identity Local
H.2.i
Identity
H.2.i
;
;
;
;
;
;
R
Gardens+Balconies ;
Character
I1:2 Legibility
H2:3 Security
R R
R R R
; ;
I1:1
H2:2
Local Character
Security Security
4 ;; 4
Local
Character
LocalI.1.i
Character
Security
H.2.ii
I.1.i I.1.i
H.2.ii H.2.ii
R
R
R
;
;
R
R
R
;
R
R
R
;
;
;
R
Gardens+Balconies ; ; ;
Masterplanning
I1:2
H2:3
I1:3 Legibility
Resources
R R
R R R
LegibilityLegibility
Gardens+Balconies
4 ;; 4
Gardens+Balconies
Legibility
Gardens+Balconies
I.1.ii
H.2.iii
RR R RR R RH.2.iii H.2.iii
R
R
; ; ;;;;
RI.1.ii I.1.ii
Design of buildings R R R
I2:1 Masterplanning
R1:1 Energy Hierarchy
; ; ;
I1:3
Resources
R R
Masterplanning
Masterplanning
Masterplanning
Resources
I.1.iii
Resources
R R RR R RR R RResources
RI.1.iii I.1.iii
Effciency
Public Design
Spaceof buildings
R1:2 Energy Hierarchy
I2:1
R1:1
R R
R
R
R
; ; ;
Design
of
buildings
Energy Hierarchy
ofR
buildings
Energy
Hierarchy
of buildingsDesign
Hierarchy
R.1.iEnergy
I.2.i
R.1.i
R.1.i
R
R
R
;
;
R
R
R
; ;;
R
R
;
;
;
RI.2.i I.2.iDesign
4
Primary
N’hood
Energy
P1:1 Space
R1:3 Energy Effciency
R R R
Public
R1:2
R R
;
; ;
Energy
Effciency
4 ;; 4
Effciency
Energy
Effciency Energy
Space Space
R.1.ii
Space Public
R.1.ii R.1.ii
;;;;
;
;
RPublic Public
4
Local+Secondary
Embodied
Energy
P1:2 Primary
R2:1 N’hood Energy
P1:1
R1:3
R R Primary Primary
R R R
;4 ; 4;
N’hood Energy
Primary
N’hood
Energy
N’hood
Energy
P.1.i
R.1.iii
RR R RR R RR.1.iii R.1.iii
;;;;
R4P.1.i 4P.1.i
R
R
;
;
;;
4
Tertiary
Construction
P1:3 Local+Secondary R R R
R2:2 Embodied Energy ; ; ;
P1:2
R2:1
R4 R 4 Local+Secondary
Local+Secondary
Energy Energy
Local+Secondary
EnergyEmbodied
R.2.iEmbodied
RR R RR R RR.2.i R.2.iEmbodied
; ;; ;;
RP.1.ii P.1.ii4 P.1.ii
R RPlaces
Meeting
MMC ; ; ; ;
P2:1 Tertiary
R2:3 Construction
P1:3
R2:2
R4 R 4P.1.iii
R
R
R
; ;
Tertiary
Construction
Construction
Construction
R.2.ii
RP.1.iii TertiaryP.1.iii Tertiary
R R RR R RR R RR.2.ii R.2.ii
; ; ;;;; ;;
Multi-functional
Water
P2:2 Meeting Places
R2:4 MMC
P2:1
R2:3
R R P.2.i
R R R
; ;
Meeting Meeting
Places
MMC MMC; ; ;;;;
Places
Meeting
Places
MMCR.2.iii
P.2.i
P.2.i
RR R RR R RR.2.iii R.2.iii
;;
;
R
R
Home Zones
Water
P2:3 Multi-functional
Lifespan
R R Multi-functional
P2:2
R2:4
R R R
; ;
Multi-functional
Water Water; ; ;;;;
Multi-functional
Water
P.2.ii
R.2.iv
; ;;
R R RR R RR R RR.2.iv R.2.iv
RP.2.ii P.2.ii
4
Secured
by Design R R R
Home
Zones
P2:1Zones
L1:1 Management Plan ; ; ;
P2:3
Lifespan
R R HomeP.2.iii
Home
Home
Zones
Lifespan
Lifespan
R Zones
R RR R RR R RLifespan
RP.2.iii P.2.iii
4
Counter Terrorism
Participation Plan ; ; ;
4
by Design R R R
P3:2 bySecured
L1:2 Management
R R Secured
L1:1
Secured
Design
Plan ; Plan
Secured
by Design
byP2:1
Design
PlanManagement
P.3.i
L.1.iManagement
RR R RR4R R4L.1.i 4L.1.iManagement
;;;; ;;
R
R
;
RP.3.i P.3.i
Community
4
Counter
Terrorism
Participation
Uses
L1:3
R4P.3.ii
; ; ;
P3:2
L1:2
R
R
R
R
Counter
Terrorism
Participation
4
Participation
Counter
TerrorismCounter
Participation
P.3.ii
P.3.ii
L.1.ii
R Terrorism
R RR R RR R RL.1.ii L.1.ii
; ; ;;;; ;;
R
Community
U1:1 Effcient Land Use ; ; ;
L1:3
R R 4Uses4 UsesUses
Community
Community
Community
L.1.iii
L.1.iii L.1.iii
; ;;
; ;
; ; ;;;;
R4Uses
Mix
4
Effcient
Land
Use
U1:2
R ;
R
U1:1
R4U.1.i
R 4U.1.i
;
Effcient
Land
Land;;
Use; ;;
Effcient
Land
UseEffcient
U.1.i
R
; ;; Issues that you would expect to be
;Use;
4
Active
Frontage
Mix
U1:3
R
RU.1.ii
R U.1.ii
RRR;;
MixU1:2 MixR R R; R R;
Mix U.1.ii
R
Housing
for
All
4
Active
Frontage
U2:1
■R
R 4U.1.iii
;RR
;RR
; covered in a code
U1:3Frontage
R4U.1.iii
R
Active
Active
ActiveU.1.iii
Frontage
R
R Frontage
R RR R RR
4
All
■R 4U.2.i
;;;;; Issues that may be covered elsewhere
Housing
forHousing
All ;
forfor
All
Housing
forU2:1
All Housing
U.2.i
;; ; ;;
R R ■R
R4U.2.i
;

and so not included in the code

7

1.B Baseline
Page 140

29. Design codes need to
be based on an analysis
of the area covered. The
purpose of the analysis is
to understand the area and
inform a vision that will, in
turn, form the basis for the
code.

30. Local planning authorities will need to
have an understanding of their area informed
by recent evidence such as characterisation
studies or site analysis, with input from the
community, to support design coding. Local
planning authorities may already hold this
information, so it is possible that they will
not need to carry out further analysis for the
purpose of producing a design code. The
analysis could include:
Topographical, ecology, river and
waterways, flood risk
Open space and green infrastructure
Local character
8

Heritage assets, including
conservation areas

Figure 3.
Figure Ground Plan: A set of analysis plans can help
understand the local area and inform area types described on the following pages.

Land use, economic uses
Built form, density, massing
Community infrastructure and schools
Public transport accessibility
Road/street hierarchy

31. This analysis will feed into the
identification of the ‘area types’ described
in the next two steps as well as providing a
baseline on issues such as street hierarchy,
open space provision, public transport and
community facilities that will inform elements
of the code.

Page 141

Figure 4.
Street
Hierarchy: Parts of the
design code relate to the
character of different street
types. This would be facilitated
by classifying all of the streets
of the local area on the basis
of a street hierarchy. This can
be done by identifying primary
streets and secondary streets,
the remainder being local
streets.

Figure 5.
Transport
Accessibility: Parts of
the design code may allow
an increase in densities or
building heights in areas
of high public transport
accessibility. If this is the case,
it will be important to have a
plan showing public transport
accessibility such as a public
transport accessibility level
plan or equivalent.

Figure 6.
Open
Space Provision: The
Nature section of the design
code relates to open space
provision, ecology, green
and blue environments and
their resilience. There may be
value in having an authoritywide plan showing each type
of open space and natural
designations and their relevant
proximity zones.

Figure 7.
Land Use
Pattern: The use section of
the design code relates to land
use pattern, including cultural
spaces, schools and other
community facilities and again
it may be useful to have an
authority-wide plan showing
the location of existing
facilities.

9

2.A Design
Vision

Page 142

32. Design codes need to be
based on a vision for how a
place will develop in the future,
as set out in the local plan. This
vision needs to be developed
with the local community and
is likely to be an important part
of the community engagement
process.
33. Local planning authorities may wish
to create a vision statement which sets
out the specific aims for the design code.
These visions need to be aspirational
and set the context for the subsequent
development of the code covering:
An appreciation of the existing area or
site, its natural, topographical, historical
and heritage features.
10

Identifying Area types
34. When preparing a design code for the
whole local planning authority area, one
approach is to divide the existing built-up area
to be covered by the code into area types.
These are areas of character that will be used
to set common parameters in the code. If the
code is covering a small area, then this stage
may not be necessary. However, many places
will include a number of different area types
which will need to be analysed and mapped.
35. Area types can be identified through
characterisation studies, GIS analysis or a
combination of these and the experience of
planning officials and local communities.
36. Area types are based both on the existing
character of the place and how the local
authority and community expect the area to
develop in the future. In Step 2B we describe
ten possible area types as a starting point.
Its character and appearance.
The mix of uses and facilities.
The amount and character of green
space.
The way in which it deals with
traffic, parking, walking and cycling.
Sustainability including energy
efficiency.

Few urban areas will include all of these
types.
37. The area types should be analysed
using a standard worksheet (See Fig 8). This
is something that can be done as part of
consultation events with local communities.
This analysis will feed into a vision for what
that area type should become in the future.

Consultation
The design visioning process will be an
important focus for consultation. This
could be undertaken through a series
of workshops across the local area that
involve communities and stakeholders
in the analysis of existing character and
visioning of how this character may
change.
Wider surveys may also be necessary
to ensure widespread local input
beyond workshop attendees. This
can include ‘walking workshops’,
photographic surveys and visual
preference surveys to understand the
aspects of local character that people
value and those that they would like to
change.

Page 143
Figure 8. Extracts
of Example Area
type Worksheet See
guidance notes appendix
for template

11

2.B Coding

Figure 9. Coding Plan: This plan

Plan

shows the area to be covered by the code
and divides this up into a series of area types
as described opposite. Most places will not
include all of these area types, and some
may include types that fall outside all of these
examples.

38. The analysis will feed into
a plan similar to Figure 9, that
shows the areas of the authority
to which the code will apply
along with the distribution of
the area types. The plan also
shows major development sites
based on local plan allocations
that will be subject to the
masterplanning exercise in Step
2c.

High Rise City (not shown)
Town/City Centre

Page 144

Urban Neighbourhood

39. The existing built-up area to be covered
by the code needs to be identified as an
area type or a mixture of area types as
illustrated in Figure 10.
40. Some places will include only a few area
types, and some may include examples of
all ten types. A limited number of area types
12

Inner Suburb
Industrial Area
Business Park (not shown)
Local Centres and High Streets
Outer Suburb
should be identified to avoid the design code being too
complex.
41. Area types can include other uses, such as a
small factory or school within a suburban area type.
The principle being that, if that site came up for
development, then it would be appropriate to be guided
by the identified area type.

Urban Green Space
Rural
Village
Locally Designated
Development Areas (see Step 2c)

Figure 10. Example Area Types

Town/City centre
A typical dense city typology with
over 120 dwellings per hectare
(dph) and a strong mix of uses.

Industrial areas
Industrial areas of single
storey manufacturing and
storage units.

Business, science
or retail parks: Areas of
retail, offce development,
science and technology parks.

Local centres
This relates to district and
neighbourhood centres and
high streets, typically 3-5 storey
blocks with other uses at ground
foor.

Urban neighbourhood
Urban neighbourhoods with net
housing densities of 60-120 dph
and a mix of uses.

Suburbs
Neighbourhoods with net
residential densities of 40-60
dph. A mix of short terraces and
semi-detached units.

Outer suburbs
Lower density suburbs with net
densities of 20-40 dph, few
apartments and less of a mix of
uses.

Villages
Villages have their own distinctive
character often with 2 and 3
storey buildings in an informal
layout.

Rural settlements
Rural areas may include rural
building and settlement types.

Page 145

High rise city
This could apply to parts of large
city centres where there would
be no or limited restrictions on
height.

13

2.C Master

planning

Page 146

42. If a design code is
being prepared for larger
sites, it may be necessary
to produce a masterplan as
part of the design coding
exercise. This masterplan
will establish a new street
network, decide which area
types apply, along with
various other parameters.

43. These development sites will usually
have been allocated in the local plan and will
generally be larger sites. Smaller sites can be
dealt with within the area type framework.

14

Who is responsible?
44. The coding framework for development
sites can be produced, by the landowner/
developer on their own, in partnership with
a local planning authority, or by the local
planning authority on its own. This would
be done when the site is allocated for
development in the local plan and included in
a design code.
What the masterplan includes:
45. Figure 11 shows a notional masterplan
for one of the development sites identified on
the coding plan in step 2b. The level of detail
will vary depending on whether the authority
or developer is preparing the masterplan
and the complexity of the site. It will also
depend on where the site is in the planning
process – local plan preparation, pre-

Consultation
The masterplanning exercise for
development sites needs to be subject
to a separate community engagement
exercise. This will need to be coordinated with the consultation on
the local plan allocation as well as
consultation being undertaken by the
owner/developer.

application, community consultation, outline
or detailed application stages. Landscape
can be a major driver in a design process
at masterplanning scale. The exercise may
include an illustrative masterplan that shows
what the area could be like in the future for
the purposes of consultation, but the detailed
plan would be illustrative.

Figure 11. Development Site
Masterplan: The aim of the masterplan is to
provide a framework for the application of the design
code to the site. This is likely to include:
The landscape strategy, taking account of existing
natural features and new structural elements.
The amount and position of open space provision.
The number of homes and other uses (from the local
plan allocation).
The points of access and connection to the wider
street network.
The broad position of the primary and secondary
streets but not local streets.
The position of the local centre if relevant.
The area types that will apply to different parts of
the site (which will in turn reference rules on density,
height, street building line etc.)

Page 147

Illustrative plan

Local centre

Area types

Points of access

Primary and secondary streets

Open space

15

3.A Guidance for Area types

Page 148

46. This section describes
the area type policies that
authorities should consider
when creating design codes
or guides. These issues will
need to be addressed for
each area type. If the code
is not using an area type
approach, these issues will
need to be considered for
the whole code area.

48. This section should be read in conjunction
with the guidance notes and the relevant
sections are indicated for each issue.

Built Form: This is the main issue that
varies by area type including density,
grain, building line and height.

49. The issues covered are:

Identity: The design of buildings will vary
by area type and may vary to a lesser
degree within area types.

Movement: The guidance relating to
the network of streets, active travel, and
public transport relates to all area types.
The key variables being the street types
and parking arrangements.
Nature: Most of the guidance on
nature also applies to all area types, the
potentially being open space standards,
sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) and
urban greening.

Use: The opportunities for intensification,
mix of uses and housing types mix of
uses, and active frontage will all vary by
area type.
Homes and Buildings: Guidance of
privacy distances and garden/balcony
sizes may vary by area type.

Figure 12. Illustrative Area types

47. We have used the town centre, urban
neighbourhood and suburban area types as
examples in this section. These are purely
illustrative, and the suggested settings are
illustrative and should not be taken as a policy
suggestion.
Town centre

16

Public Space: The character of each
type of street will vary by area type.

Urban
neighbourhood

Suburbs

Movement
50. Well-designed places should be accessible and easy to move around. This can be achieved
through a connected network of streets, good public transport, the promotion of walking and
cycling and well-considered parking and servicing. Detailed information is provided in Guidance
Note Code Content: Movement. The following might require area type-specific guidance:
i New streets: All new streets should be safe and
ii
overlooked and correspond to their role in the street
hierarchy and area type - e.g. a primary street in an
urban centre will have a different character to one in a
iii
village See M.1.iii - Street Hierarchy

Page 149

Figure 13. Parking Arrangements

New junctions: Guides might specify traffc signalled
junctions on high streets and less formal, unmarked junctions
on local streets. See M.2.ii - Junctions and Crossings

Figure 14. Residential Parking Options:

Car barns or decked
parking structures

Within an integral
garage in a town
house
In the rear garden

Car parking: Standards for all uses will be set in the local
plan, but the ways in which they are accommodated will vary.
See Fig 13 and 14 and M.3.i - Car Parking

iv Cycle parking: Standards will be set in the local plan and
specifed in codes according to context. e.g. public cycle
parking on a high street or private cycle storage in a dwelling.
See M.3.ii - Cycle Parking

On-street in
defned bays
Parking courts
within blocks,
normally gated
Town centre: New provision should
be at basement, semi-basement or
decked. New surface parking might be
prohibited where there is a clear and
compelling justifcation.

Urban neighbourhood: Likely to
be on-street (for visitors), within the
building (townhouse), or to the rear in
gardens or parking courts.

Suburbs: Likely to be in-curtilage, at the
front (with suitable landscaping) or to the side
of the property, so cars don’t dominate the
street. Visitor parking is likely to be on-street.

UNALLOCATED

At the front of
the property
At the side of the
property often with a
garage
ALLOCATED

17

Nature
51. Nature and green spaces should be woven into the fabric
of our villages, towns and cities. This provides benefits in
terms of health and wellbeing, biodiversity, climate and flood
mitigation. Detailed information is provided in Guidance Note
Code Content: Nature. Most of the guidance on nature will
be general. The following might require area type-specific
guidance:

Surveillance:
overlooked
and safe

Activity: space for
different uses

Ecology: nature rich areas
Accessible to all

ii Sustainable drainage systems (SuDS): In urban areas, these
may be integrated into the built environment, while suburbs could
make use of natural/landscape features. See Fig 16 and N.2.ii
Sustainable Drainage
iii Green infrastructure: Urban area types might include
requirements for green roofs and walls, lower density areas for
more natural green spaces and habitats. See N.3.ii Planning for
Biodiversity

Entrances on desire lines

Maintenance and
management

Page 150

i Open spaces: Open space standards may vary, with less open
space in smaller, accessible pockets required in town centres and
more generous provision in suburbs. Key principles for integrating
green space can be adapted for different contexts. See Fig 15
and N.1.iii Open Space Design

Boundary treatment

Lighting

Rain capture (water butts)
Soakaways and flter drains

Permeable surfacing

Green roofs

Figure 15. Open Space Design (top): Key principles of

how green space can be integrated to improve the environment and
liveability, and which can be tailored to different contexts.

Figure 16. SuDS Toolkit (bottom): A variety of tools

that can boost sustainable drainage in different contexts.

18

Street trees
Basins and ponds

Swales
Retention tanks
Rain gardens

Reedbeds and wetlands

Built Form
52. Built form refers to the three-dimensional arrangement of buildings,
blocks, streets and spaces. This will form the core of the design code and
the settings for each element of built form will vary considerably by area type.
Detailed information is provided in Guidance Note Code Content: Built
Form.
i Density: Codes should defne density ranges,
which are likely to be higher for town and local
centres and lower in suburbs (example below)
Mixed use schemes can be calculated on a
pro-rata basis. See B.1.i Density

Page 151

Town Centres: >200d/ha
Urban Neighbourhoods: 60-120d/ha
Suburbs: 30-50 d/ha

ii Floor area ratio: Calculated by dividing
the gross foor area of the building by
the area of the plot, FAR can be used to
regulate the density of non-residential uses
(example below) See B.1.i Density
Town Centres: >2
Urban Neighbourhoods: >1
Suburbs: <0.5

iv Grain: The pattern of plots
in an urban block/area. New
development should, where
possible, be sympathetic to the
existing grain. The grain is likely
to be fner (smaller plot size) in

town/local centres and coarser (larger
plot sizes) in suburbs. See B.1.iii
Building Types and Forms
v Public/private: New development
should create a clear separation
between the public fronts of buildings
and the private rears within the centre
of development blocks. This is normally
achieved using blocks. Likely variation
by area type is shown in Fig 18. See
B.2.i Blocks

Figure 18. Block Types

Figure 17. Party Wall Conditions

Town centres:
Buildings should be
allowed to join on
either side and to the
rear.

iii Party wall: How buildings
adjoin or relate to their
neighbours. Likely variation in
guidance by area type is shown
in Fig 17. See B.1.ii Party
Wall Condition

Suburbs: Buildings are
either detached or only
join on one side.
Urban neighbourhoods:
Buildings should be allowed/
required to join on either side.

Town centre
courtyard blocks

Urban neighbourhood
perimeter blocks

Suburban informal
blocks
19

Built Form
vi Building line: The building line
is created by the primary front face
of buildings along a street and is a
key element of design codes. New
development should follow the
established building line where it exists.
Where there is no building line (for
example on the periphery of a town
centre or a development site), codes
should set one. Coding for building
lines can include:

Figure 19. Examples of
Typical Area Type Built Form
Settings

Page 152

Variation: The extent to which
buildings can be set forward or back
from the line.
Projections: Allowance for elements
such as balconies.

Town centre:
Density: 		
FAR: 		
Party Wall:
Block Type:
Building Line:
Set Back:
Eaves Height:

20

>200d/ha
>2
Side and rear
Courtyard
Continuous
0-1m
18m

Urban
neighbourhood:
Density: 		
>60-120d/ha
FAR: 		
>1
Party Wall:
Both sides
Block Type:
Perimeter
Building Line:
75%
Set Back:
1-3m
Eaves Height: 12m

Suburb:
Density: 		
FAR: 		
Party Wall:
Block Type:
Building Line:
Set Back:
Eaves Height:

30-50 d/ha
>0.5
One side
Informal
50%
3-6m
9m

Compliance: The percentage of the
building line that should be occupied
by development.
Set-Back: The distance that buildings
are set back from the pavement.
Figure 20 shows how building line
guidance might change by area type.
See B.2.ii Building Line

Figure 20. Building Line: In urban areas, the building line will be

continuous and the set-back limited. In suburban and rural areas the set-back
will be greater and there will be much more variation.
Compliance

vii Heights: The height of buildings will
be a key element of design codes. This
is regulated through eaves heights,
total heights and exceptions. Figure 21
shows how heights might vary by area
type. See B.2.iii Height

viii Tall buildings: In many areas codes
will need to make provision for taller
buildings. Some city area types may
include no limit on height. However,
in most area types codes can either
indicate zones where taller buildings
can be considered or indicate the
circumstances where exceptions to
the height coding might be considered
See B.2.iii Height Para 118 -119

Figure 21. Heights

Page 153
Urban building line

Suburban building line

Town centre heights: An example
showing an eaves height of 18m and
a maximum height of 23m, allowing
5 storeys of housing or 4 storeys of
offces over active ground foor uses.

Urban neighbourhood and suburban
heights: An example showing an eaves
height of 12m and 9m with maximum height
of 3m above this, allowing for 4 or 3 storeys
of housing.
21

Identity
53. The identity of an area comes not just from its built form and
public spaces but from the design of its buildings. This is not about
architectural style, but about key principles of building design. All new
buildings should relate to the architectural character and materials
of the surrounding area. In local design codes guidance on identity
will vary considerably by area type, informed by the worksheet at the
appendix of the guidance notes, and may include guidance on the
following components. Detailed information is provided in Guidance
Note Code Content: Identity, in particular Section I.2.i Building
Design Principles
i

Page 154

The base of the building:
The ground foor may be treated
differently to the upper foors to
create a relationship with the street.
It may use different materials and
include active uses, especially in the
context of a town/local centre.

ii

Thresholds: Entrances should be
emphasised in the architectural treatment
of façades. This can include porches,
recessed doors and other entrance
features.

iii Boundaries: The treatment of
boundaries has a signifcant role to
play in creating character. Figure 23
shows how guidance on boundaries
might change according to area type

iv Roofscape: Variation in eaves
height and roof forms will vary
based on the character of the local
area. Historic town centres, villages
and suburbs tend to have a variety
of roof types whereas a Georgian
inner neighbourhood, for example is
typically uniform.

Town centre: May
have small set-backs
that are part of the
public realm.
Urban
neighbourhood:
May have a small
front garden with
boundary treatment.
Suburb: May have
a larger front garden
with landscaped
boundary treatment.

Figure 22. Base/Ground Floor
22

Figure 23. Boundaries

Figure 24. Roofscape

v

Windows: Guidance may be
provided on the design of windows
based on the character of the area.
The proportion of glazing may
vary with city centres allowing fully
glazed façades but elsewhere the
glazing ratio might be limited to
35%. Guidance can also direct the
orientation of the windows and the
depth of reveals.

vi Variation in frontages:
Guidance may be provided on
the level of articulation such as
set-backs, porches, balconies and
bays, especially if the character
of such features are particular to
the existing area. Fig 26 shows
how frontage variation can create
different characters.

vii Detailing: Guidance may be
provided on the use of colour,
quality of materials and detailing,
drawn from the surrounding
context, e.g. an area might be
characterised by the use of a
particular type of brick. A degree
of complexity will ensure that
buildings are attractive from a
distance and close-up. Fig 27
shows how depth and interest can
be created with window details.

Tall building design principles: Tall buildings may
be permitted in certain area types which will require
guidance on their design. Key principles are set out
below. See I.2.i Para 49 for more detail
Top: Consider the impact on the skyline. Services
need to be concealed, and both the street views
and the long views need to be considered.
Form: Should be well-proportioned in terms of
slenderness when viewed from all frontages.
Materials: The use of materials to be consistent
and simple.

Page 155

Base: Consider following the building line at street
level, which may require a base to the building that
is scaled to the surrounding buildings.
Public realm: Public spaces around the base to
be generous, well designed and contribute positively
to the local context.
Entrance: The entrance needs to clearly marked.
Micro-climate: Needs to be considered in terms
of overshadowing and wind. It may be necessary
to protect the surrounding public realm from down
draughts.
Active frontage: If required by the design code
the ground foor of the tall building needs to include
active frontages.

Figure 25. Windows

Figure 26. Frontage Variation

Figure 27. Detailing
23

Public Space
Town centres
Primary streets:
Designed to take through traffc
and public transport See P.1.i
Primary Streets

Urban neighbourhoods

Enclosure Ratio: 1:2
Active Frontage: 30%

Enclosure Ratio: 1:2
Active Frontage: 10%

25-35m

Page 156

High streets:
The focus for local shopping
centres, often with traffc but
sometimes traffc-free See P.1.i
Primary Streets

Secondary streets:
Taking local traffc into
neighbourhoods and often the
location of shopping parades and
local services such as shops See
P.1.ii Local and Secondary
Streets
Local streets:
Providing vehicle access only to
the properties on the street but
with through pedestrian and cycle
traffc See P.1.ii Local and
Secondary Streets

24

Enclosure Ratio: 1:5
Active Frontage: 10%

28-35m

25-30m

15-20m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:1
Active
Frontage:
80%.

13-16m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:1
Active
Frontage: 50%

10-14m

Suburbs

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:1
Active
Frontage: 30%

17-23m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:1.5
Active
Frontage:
70%.

13-16m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:1
Active
Frontage: 30%

11-14m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:1
Active
Frontage: 0%

17-22m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:3
Active
Frontage:
60%

17-22m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:3
Active
Frontage:
20%

14-18m

Enclosure
Ratio: 1:2.5
Active
Frontage:
0%

54. The quality of public space is partly
about the way it is designed and partly about
the way it is enclosed by well-proportioned
buildings. Detailed information is provided
in Guidance Note Code Content: Public
Space. Streets are a component of public
space which will vary considerably by area
type. Section P.1 details different types of
street, showing how urban form can be
coordinated with the guidance in Manual for
Streets.
i

Figure 29. Street Types: The guidance notes contain a range of

examples of the design of street types from major cities to market towns and
villages. The excerpt below shows how the identity of a primary street can
vary considerably depending on context; from an urban primary street with
tall buildings and a public transport hub to a market town high street with
mid-density buildings and a market square.

Page 157

Streets: New development should contribute to the
character of the street on which it is located. This
character will be different depending where the street
sits in the street hierarchy and the context in which it
is located. Figure 28 illustrates how the characteristics
of a street might vary by area type and position on the
street hierarchy. A similar diagram could form part of
design code guidance at local level. See P.1 Streets

Figure 28. (Opposite) Street Matrix: An

illustrative example showing how street character and form
might change by area type and by position on the street
hierarchy.

Urban primary street

Market town high street
25

Use
55. Sustainable places include a mix of uses that support everyday activities
including space to live work and play. Detailed information is provided in Guidance
Note Code Content: Use. The following components are likely to vary by area type.

Figure 30. (Right) Active Frontage: An

example of uses that can create activity at the
level of the street, e.g. community facilities, cafes
and restaurants, shops and offces.

ii Mix: A mix of uses will likely be a requirement in
centres, will be encouraged in urban neighbourhoods
and may be permitted but not required in suburbs See
U.1.ii Mix

the suburban (left) and urban (right) schools complete
the block and address the existing building line, but
differ in height and density according to their context.

Page 158

i Intensifcation: Making more effcient use of land.
In urban areas this might mean infll development or
development of airspace. In suburban areas it might
mean garden development. See U.1.i Efficient use
of land.

Figure 31. (Below) School Design: Both

iii Active frontage: Ground foor uses that create
interest and activity. Requirements for such uses will
likely be higher in town/local centres than suburbs
and will also vary by street type. See U.1.iii Active
Frontage
iv Housing: The mix of housing tenures and types
will vary with apartments being the norm in town
centres and a greater mix being required in urban
neighbourhoods and suburbs See U.2. Housing Mix
v Schools: Guidance on schools will likely be based on
similar principles of integrating with the existing built
form, but urban areas are likely to require more dense
solutions. See U.3.i Schools
Suburban school
26

Urban school

Homes and Buildings
56. Well-designed homes and buildings are functional, accessible and
sustainable. Detailed information is provided in Guidance Note Code Content:
Homes and Buildings. The majority of issues are unlikely to vary by area type,
the elements that may vary are detailed here.
i Lighting, aspect and privacy: In more urban
areas there may be a need for more lighting and
shorter privacy distances might be acceptable, while
in suburban areas lighting might be more minimal and
privacy distance might be greater. See H.2.i Lighting
Aspect and Privacy

Page 159

ii Gardens and balconies: Codes might specify
minimum sizes for gardens and balconies to improve
well-being and amenity. In more urban areas this might
be smaller, while in suburban areas larger garden
spaces might be specifed See H.2.iii Gardens and
Balconies

Figure 32. Privacy
Distances:
These are the distances between
dwellings to ensure private amenity,
in particular the distance between
the windows of habitable rooms.
The illustration shows how minimum
distances might be specifed.

Figure 33. Gardens: Illustration
showing how private gardens, shared
gardens and parking might be
specifed in a courtyard layout.

27

3.B Code Wide Guidance
Page 160

59. In addition to the
guidance in step 3a the
following guidance relates to
all development within the
area covered by the design
code or guide regardless of
area type. All of this must be
referenced back to a policy
within the local plan.

Context
57. An understanding of the context history
and character of an area must influence the
siting and design of new development as
set out in Guidance Notes Code Content:
Context. This should be informed by:
i Character studies: All schemes should consider their
context and schemes over a specifed size should be
accompanied by a context study See C.1 Character
Studies
ii Historic assets: Schemes should respect the historic
assets of the site and its surroundings, making use of
existing structures where possible See C.2 Cultural
Heritage

Figure 34. Context Study Extract See C.1.ii
for example of context study content
28

Movement
58. A connected network of streets, good
public transport and the promotion of walking
and cycling are key principles, as set out in
Guidance Notes Code Content: Movement
and summarised below:
i Connected places: All schemes should contribute to
the creation of an integrated, walkable and safe street
network:

ii Active travel: New development should contribute to
the creation of well-lit, direct and overlooked pedestrian
and cycle routes. See M.2 Active Travel
Low traffc neighbourhoods may be appropriate but
only where supported by the local community.
All streets should be accessible to all members of
the community.

Page 161

New streets should link at either end to other streets
where possible. See M.1.i The Street Network

All new streets other than local and tertiary streets
should include separate cycle lanes.

Cul-de-sacs are acceptable only as tertiary streets.

Junctions should be designed in accordance with
Manual for Streets to be safe, convenient and
attractive for all users. See M.2.ii Junctions and
Crossings

All new streets should be allocated to a level of the
street hierarchy and follow the appropriate guidance.
See M.1.iii Street Hierarchy

iii Car parking: The arrangements for car parking can
have a major impact on the quality of place. They should
aim to minimise the impact of the car and solutions will
vary depending on context, as set out in Section 3A
P17. See M.3.i Car Parking
iv Cycle parking: Provision of the storage of cycles for
residents, workers and visitors needs to be integrated
into all development. See M.3.ii Cycle Parking
v Servicing: New development should integrate the
requirements of utility providers, refuse collection and
emergency access without compromising the quality of
place by obstruction of movement or visual intrusion.
See M.3.iii Services and Utilities

All development should be within easy reach of
public transport. See M.1.ii Public Transport

Figure 35. A Hierarchy of Streets Extract
See M.1.iii for example street hierarchy diagram

Figure 36. Junction Options Extract See

M.2.ii for examples of junction types

Figure 37. Refuse Collection Options
Extract See M.3.iii for types of refuse provision
29

Nature
60. All development should enhance the
natural as well as the built environment as
set out in Guidance Notes Code Content:
Nature. Most of the guidance will apply to all
area types and is summarised below:
i Green infrastructure: New development should
contribute towards the creation of a network of green
spaces. Summary below. See N.1.i Network of
Spaces

Page 162

The requirement for new green space should
be based on the government’s open space and
recreation guidance.
All housing schemes over 15 dwellings should
include a Local Area of Play (LAP).

Figure 38. Biodiversity Design
Principles Extract. See N.3.ii for a
range of biodiversity design principles
30

All schemes over 200 dwellings should include a
Local Equipped Area of Play (LEAP) within 400m.
All schemes over 500 dwellings should include a
Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play (NEAP) within
1,000m.
ii Water and drainage: Schemes should make the
most of waterside locations and address sustainable
drainage and fooding:
Schemes should make the most of their waterside
location, facing onto the water and retaining public
access to the water’s edge. See N.2.i Working
with Water

All schemes should integrate sustainable drainage
systems into the early stages of design to achieve
greenfeld run-off rates. See N.2.ii Sustainable
Drainage
All schemes should take account of food risk and
the need for active food resilience measures. See
N.2.iii Flood Risk
iii Biodiversity: All schemes will be expected to
follow national policy by achieving a 10% net gain in
biodiversity.
Schemes should incorporate biodiversity design
principles, e.g. creating and enhancing habitats. See
N.3 Biodiversity
All new streets should include street trees. See
N.3.iii Street Trees

Figure 39. Street
Trees Extract See
N.3.iii for street tree
design principles

Built Form

Identity

Public Space

61. Most of this guidance will change based
on context and area type as set out in
Guidance Notes Code Content: Built Form.
The following will apply to all development:

62. All schemes should be designed to
respect and enhance the existing character of
the surrounding area. The principles set out in
Guidance Notes Code Content: Identity will
apply to most development (summary below)

63. Details about how guidance might
change by context and area type is set out
in Guidance Notes Code Content: Public
Space. The key principles below will apply
more broadly:

i Sense of place: All schemes should be designed to
enhance local character and legibility by:

i Streets: The design of streets should be based on
their place in the street hierarchy and their context. See
P.1 Streets

i Public and private: There should be a clear
separation between public and private space, which
will generally be achieved through development blocks.
New development should repair the existing block
structure, where possible. See B.2.i Blocks

Making use of local materials and detailing.
Incorporating legibility and wayfnding strategies
Being guided by a strong masterplan.

Page 163

See I.1 A Sense of Place
ii The identity of buildings: All buildings should take
account of the principles set out in I.2 The Identity of
Buildings

Figure 40. Blocks Extract: See B.2.i for more

Figure 41. Creating Identity Extract: See I.1.iii

detail on Blocks

for masterplanning principles to create a sense of place

ii Social interaction: Public spaces should encourage
activity and social interaction. See P.2.i Meeting
Places
iii Multi-functional streets: Streets should aim to
accommodate a range of travel modes. See P.2.ii
Multi-functional Streets
iv Secured by design: All schemes should aim to
create a safe and secure environment See P.3.i
Secured by Design

Figure 42. Street Design Extract: See P.1 for
examples of street design in different contexts

31

Use

Homes and Buildings

64. Much of the guidance on use will vary by
context or area type as set out in Guidance
Notes Code Content: Use. The following
guidance could apply more generally:

65. Standards relating to the design of homes and
buildings are important and can be included in design
policies with the detailed design of inter-related
requirements resolved at project level. The following
may be included (See Guidance Notes Code
Content: Homes and Buildings for more information):

i Intensifcation: Making more effcient use of land is
encouraged taking into account context and constraints.
See U.1.i Efficient Use of Land

i Space standards: Nationally described space standards may be
included in codes. See H.1.i. Space Standards

ii Variety of activity: A mix of different uses is
encouraged, to create variety and activity. See U.1.ii
Mix

ii Accessibility: Codes can identify accessibility standards as set out
in Part M of the Building Regulations. See H.1.ii Accessibility

Page 164

iii Lighting, aspect and privacy: All habitable rooms should
receive adequate levels of daylight. Single aspect north-facing
dwellings should be avoided. See H.2.i Lighting, Aspect and
Privacy

iii Housing mix: All schemes should include a mix
of tenures and house-types including live/work and
custom-build units where possible. See U.2 Housing
Mix

iv Secured by design relating to the home: Codes may
incorporate guidance on the security of the home in accordance
with Part Q of the Building Regulations. See H.2.ii Security

iv Schools: Should be designed as part of the
neighbourhood, integrating into the existing building line
and block pattern. See U.3.i Schools
v Community facilities: Larger schemes should
make provision for new community facilities. See U.3.ii
Community Facilities
vi Local services: All new housing should be within
walking distance of a range of local services including
shops and health facilities. See U.3.iii Local
Services

Figure 43. Facilities Extract: See
U.3.ii for suggested facilities that should be
accessible in all neighbourhoods

32

Figure 44. Security and the Home Extract

See H.2.ii for more guidance on security and the home

Resources

Lifespan

66. Standards relating to sustainability are important and can be incorporated into codes or
covered in other policy, and the detail design of inter-related requirements resolved at project
level. They might include the following (See Guidance Notes Code Content: Resources):

67. Lifespan relates to way schemes are
managed and the way that residents are
involved in design and management. These
issues can be included in design codes and
may include the following (See Guidance
Notes Code Content: Lifespan for more
information):

i Energy effciency standards: Local authorities
can set policies for higher energy effciency standards
for their area or specifc development sites. See R.1.ii
Energy Efficiency
ii Passive energy design: Development should be
designed to optimise passive solar gain without risking
overheating. Orientation should be optimised in as far as
it does not contradict other policies in this guide. See
R.1.ii Energy Efficiency

iii Local low energy networks: May be encouraged
by codes. See R.1.iii Neighbourhood Energy
Issues
iv Environmental standards: Codes may set
standards for new development to meet relating to:

Page 165

•

Embodied energy

•

BREEAM Ratings

•

Modern Methods of Construction

•

Water usage

See R.2 Sustainable Construction

Figure 45. Low Energy
Networks Extract See R.1.iii for
examples of low energy network tools

i Management plans: These set out the approach
to adoption and management, including the potential
for community management. They may be a
requirement for schemes over a certain size. See L.1.i
Management Plan
ii Community participation: Codes may require
that consultation take place on all schemes prior to
the submission of a planning application. See L.1.ii
Participation in Design

Figure 46. Management Plan Extract See
L.1.i for example management plan

33

Glossary

Page 166

Glossary

Area type

Area type work sheet

Parts of the local area that share common
features and characteristics.

A set of prompts and sections to be
completed, detailing the key elements and
features that should be considered when
undertaking a character study. This is not an
exhaustive list and should be adapted locally.

For example, a suburban area type might
bring together a number of different housing
estates with common densities, heights,
building line, party wall condition etc.)under
the umbrella term “outer suburbs”.

Page 167

Common rules and parameters can then be
applied to the “outer suburbs” area type in
the design code.
Example area types are provided in the
National Model Design Code, but in practice
area types should be defined locally.

Area type matrix
A table detailing the elements of the design
code that are likely to differ between area
types.

Character study
A process of analysis at area type level to
determine the elements and features that
contribute to the unique character of a place.
This process can be used to determine
existing area types, using the area type work
sheet.

Coding plan
A plan at local authority level showing the
local areas to which a code will apply. The
coding plan can show:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Existing built-up areas
Landscape designated areas
Heritage areas
Protected open space
Special policy areas
Development areas

Context study

Development area

Site study

A mapping exercise detailing spatial
information about the area surrounding a site.
A suggested list of information that could
be included is provided within the context
section of Guidance Note: Code Content.

Parts of the local area where radical, rather
than incremental change is planned. These
might include regeneration areas where
significant change is expected to the existing
urban form, urban extensions and new
settlements.

A mapping or diagrammatic exercise,
detailing spatial information about a site and
its immediate surroundings. A suggested
list of information that could be included
is provided within the context section of
Guidance Note: Code Content.

Design code

Page 168

A set of illustrated design requirements that
provide specific, detailed parameters for the
physical development of a site or area.
Explanations of the above are provided in
Step 2B on page 12.

Design vision
A clear articulation of what an area should
be like in the future, developed with the local
community. Local planning authorities may
wish to create a vision statement setting out
specific aims of the design code.

Framework plans
A set of plans at local area or settlement level
that detail spatial information, for example,
street hierarchy, transport accessibility, open
space, land use and patterns of built form.

Historic study
A mapping and research exercise detailing
historical information about the area
surrounding a site. Suggestions about
information that could be included is provided
within the context section of Guidance Note:
Code Content.

References

Page 169

References to
Further Guidance

There are many other guides to urban design
and placemaking that provide more detailed
guidance on the themes set out within this
document to inform local design codes.
The following is a list of key references that
provide further information to the guidance
set out within the National Model Design
Code.

Key references
Page 170

Manual for Streets, Department for
Transport and Department for Communities
and Local Government, 2007, www.gov.uk/
government/publications/manualfor-streets
Manual for Streets 2, Department of
Transport, 2010, www.gov.uk/government/
publications/manual-forstreets-2
National Planning Policy Framework,
Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local
Government, 2019, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/national-planningpolicy-framework--2
Planning Practice Guidance, Ministry
of Housing, Communities and Local
Government, 2016, www.gov.uk/government/
collections/planning-practiceguidance

Context
Understanding Place, Historic Area
Assessments, Historic England, 2017,
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/
publications/understanding-place-historicarea-assessments/

Movement
Cycle infrastructure design (Local
Transport Note 1/20), Department for
Transport, 2020, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/cycle-infrastructuredesign-ltn-120
Highway Tree Management Operations
Note 51, Forestry Commission, 2019 https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
highway-tree-management-operationsnote-51
Inclusive Mobility, Making transport
accessible for passengers and
pedestrians, Department for Transport,
2005, https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/inclusive-mobility

Traffic Signs Manual, Chapter 6 Traffic
Control, Department for Transport, 2019,
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/
traffic-signs-manual

Flood risk assessments: climate change
allowances, Environment Agency, 2020,
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-riskassessments-climate-change-allowances

Traffic Signs Regulations and General
Directions, an Overview, Department
for Transport, 2016, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/traffic-signsregulations-and-general-directions-2016-anoverview

Guidance for Outdoor Sport and Play
Beyond the Six Acre Standard, England,
Fields in Trust, 2015, http://www.fieldsintrust.
org/guidance

Nature
Page 171

Environment Bill 2020, Department for
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs, https://
www.gov.uk/government/publications/
environment-bill-2020 (forthcoming)
National Framework of Green
Infrastructure Standards (forthcoming
guidance to be announced)
A Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to
Improve the Environment, Department for
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 2018,
www.gov.uk/government/publications/25year-environment-plan

Improving access to greenspace A new
review for 2020, Public Health England,
2020, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.
uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/
attachment_data/file/904439/Improving_
access_to_greenspace_2020_review.pdf
Flood risk emergency plans for new
development, Environment Agency and
ADEPT, 2019, https://www.adeptnet.org.uk/
floodriskemergencyplan
National Area Type Profiles, Natural
England, 2014, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/national-characterarea-profiles-data-for-local-decision-making/
national-character-area-profile

Nature Nearby - Accessible Natural
Greenspace Guidance (NE265), Natural
England, 2010, https://webarchive.
nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140605145320/
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/
publication/40004?category=47004
Open space, sports and recreation
facilities, public rights of way and
local green space, Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government, 2014,
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/open-spacesports-and-recreation-facilities-public-rightsof-way-and-local-green-space
Sustainable drainage systems: nonstatutory technical standards, Department
for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs,
2015, https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/sustainable-drainage-systemsnon-statutory-technical-standards
The Biodiversity Metric 2.0
(JP029), Natural England, http://
publications.naturalengland.org.uk/
publication/5850908674228224
The Mosaic Approach: Managing
Habitats for Species (B2020009), Natural England, 2013, http://
publications.naturalengland.org.uk/
publication/6415972705501184

The Right Tree in the Right Place for a
Resilient Future – Urban Tree Manual,
Forestry Commission and Forest Research,
https://www.forestresearch.gov.uk/tools-andresources/urban-tree-manual/

Public Space

The SuDS Manual (C753), CIRIA, 2015,
https://www.susdrain.org/resources/SuDS_
Manual.html

Influence of bollards on pedestrian
evacuation flow (TAL 01/16), Department
for Transport, 2017, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/influence-ofbollards-on-pedestrian-evacuation-flowtal-0116

Use

Integrated Security, A Public Realm
Design Guide for Hostile Vehicle
Mitigation - Second Edition, Centre for
the Protection of National Infrastructure,
2014, https://www.cpni.gov.uk/system/
files/documents/40/20/Integrated%20
Security%20Guide.pdf

School design and construction,
Department of Education, 2020, https://
www.gov.uk/government/collections/schooldesign-and-construction

Built Form
Page 172

Increasing Residential Density in Historic
Environments, Historic England, 2018,
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/
publications/increasing-residential-density-inhistoric-environments/

Identity
Streets for All, Advice for Highway
and Public Realm Works in Historic
Places, Historic England, 2018, https://
historicengland.org.uk/images-books/
publications/streets-for-all/

Hostile Vehicle Mitigation, Centre for the
Protection of National Infrastructure, https://
www.cpni.gov.uk/hostile-vehicle-mitigation-0

Secured By Design, Police Crime
Prevention Initiatives Limited, 2020, www.
securedbydesign.com
Using bollards to reduce threats from
vehicles (TAL 02/13), Department for
Transport, 2017, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/tal-213-bollardsand-pedestrian-movement

Vehicle security barriers within the
streetscape (TAL 01/11), Department
for Transport, 2011, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/vehicle-securitybarriers-within-the-streetscape

DH health building notes, Department
of Health and Social Care, 2017. https://
www.gov.uk/government/collections/healthbuilding-notes-core-elements

Homes and Buildings
Technical housing standards – nationally
described space standard, Ministry
of Housing, Communities and Local
Government, 2015, https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/technical-housingstandards-nationally-described-spacestandard

Resources
BREEAM Technical Standards, BRE, www.
breeam.com
Future Homes Standards changes to Part
L and Part F of the Building Regulations
for new dwellings, Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government, https://
www.gov.uk/government/consultations/
the-future-homes-standard-changes-to-partl-and-part-f-of-the-building-regulations-fornew-dwellings

Page 173

Lifespan
Community engagement: guidance for
local authorities, Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government, 2019,
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/communityengagement-and-eu-exit-guidance-for-localauthorities

Credits

Page 174

Credits
Unless otherwise stated the illustrations, diagrams and maps were produced by URBED for MHCLG

Section

Page

Information

Image Credit

Front Cover - Background

N/A

Masterplan for The Avenue, Saffron
Walden, Pollard Thomas Edwards

Pollard Thomas Edwards

Front Cover - Images

N/A

Portobello Square, London, PRP
Architects LLP

PRP Architects LLP

Front Cover - Images

N/A

Carrowbreck Meadow, Norwich,
Hamson Barron Smith

Jefferson Smith (Photographer)

Front Cover - Images

N/A

The Avenue, Saffron Walden, Thomas
Pollard Edwards

Tim Crocker Architectural Photography

Front Cover - Images

N/A

Nansledan, Newquay, Cornwall, ADAM
Architecture

ADAM Architecture

The Coding Process

Section Break

Gas holders, Kings Cross, Wilkinson
Eyre Architects

James O Davies, Historic England

Glossary

Section Break

Brandon Yard, Bristol. AWW Architects

James O Davies, Historic England

References

Section Break

Beaulieu, Chelmsford, Gardner Stewart
Architects

The Land Trust/Countryside Properties

Credits

Section Break

Brandon Yard, Bristol. AWW Architects

James O Davies, Historic England

Main Document

Page 175

Section

Page

Information

Image Credit

Guidance Notes
As Main Document

Code Content

Section Break

Brandon Yard, Bristol. AWW Architects

James O Davies, Historic England.

Context

P2

Nansledan, Newquay, Cornwall, ADAM
Architecture

ADAM Architecture

Movement

P7

Kensington High Street, London

Public Domain, HTUK at English
Wikipedia

Movement

P9

PTAL Plan, Croydon, London

Interactive PTAL mapwww.tfl.gov.uk

Movement

P11

Orford Road, Waltham Forest, London,
before and after images

paul.gasson@gmail.com

Movement

P15

Public Cycle Parking Example

Public Domain, Cyclestreets.net

Movement

P15

Apartment Cycle Parking Example

David Hawgood, licensed for reuse
under Creative Commons Licence

Movement

P15

Residential Street Cycle Parking Example David Hawgood, licensed for reuse
under Creative Commons Licence

Movement

P15

Workplace Cycle Parking Example,
Central St Giles, Google HQ

Cycle Works

Nature

P18

Freiburg, Germany

URBED

Nature

P19

Stanage Edge, The Peak District

URBED

Nature

P19

Victoria Mill Park, Manchester

URBED

Nature

P19

Heaton Park, Manchester

URBED

Nature

P19

The University of Manchester, Burlington
Street Campus

URBED

Page 176

Front Cover

Page

Information

Nature

P19

Central Park, Chelmsford

Jane Houghton, Natural England

Nature

P20

Grove Terrace Gardens, Highgate Road,
London

Forestry Commission

Nature

P20

Communal Gardens, Accordia,
Cambridge

URBED

Nature

P20

Food Growing, Levenshulme,
Manchester

URBED

Nature

P20

Private Gardens, The Malings, Newcastle URBED

Nature

P20

Balconies, Timekeepers Square, Salford

URBED

Nature

P20

Deansgate Castlefield Metrolink Stop
Design by SimpsonHaugh.

Jan Chlebik (Photographer)

Nature

P23

Central Park, Chelmsford

Jane Houghton, Natural England

Nature

P25

RIBA Home for All Seasons, JTP
Architects

JTP Architects/TEDS

Nature

P26

Bee Brick

Green and Blue

Nature

P26

Hedgehog Street

Peoples Trust for Endangered Species

Built Form

P29

Timekeepers Square, Salford, Buttress
Architects

Buttress Architects

Built Form

P35

The Roof Gardens, Salford, Ollier
Smurthwaite Architects

URBED

Built Form

P35

Lenton Green, Nottingham, JTP

URBED

Built Form

P35

Marmalade Lane, Cambridge, Mole
Architects

TOWN.

Page 177

Section

Image Credit

Page

Information

Built Form

P35

Accordia Sky Villas, Cambridge, Alison
Brooks Architects

URBED

Built Form

P35

Donnybrook Quarter, Tower Hamlets,
Peter Barber Architects

Morley von Sternberg (Photographer)

Identity

P42

Tibby’s Triangle, Southwold , Ash Sakula Peter Cook (Photographer)
Architects

Identity

P43

Chelmsford Wayfinding Project, IS Group IS Group

Identity

P43

Timekeepers Square, Salford, Buttress
Architects

Buttress Architects

Identity

P49

121 Upper Richmond Rd, London,
Allford Hall Monaghan Morris

Rob Parrish (Photographer)

Identity

P49

Blackfriars Circus, London, Maccreanor
Lavington

Tim Crocker Architectural Photography

Identity

P49

67 Southwark Street, London by Allies
and Morrison

Nick Guttridge (Photographer)

Identity

P49

Mapleton Crescent, London,
Metropolitan Workshop

Simon Kennedy (Photographer)

Public Space

P50

Goldsmith Street, Norwich, Mikhail
Riches

Tim Crocker Architectural Photography

Public Space

P61

Abode at Great Kneighton, Proctor and
Matthews Architects

Tim Crocker Architectural Photography

Use

P64

Wapping Wharf, Bristol, Alec French
Architects

Alec French Architects

Homes and Buildings

P73

Derwenthorpe, York, Joseph Rowntree
Foundation

Joseph Rowntree Foundation

Page 178

Section

Image Credit

Section

Page

Information

Image Credit

Resources

P78

Officers Field,Weymouth, HTA Design

Richard Downer (Photographer)

Resources

P80

Micro-climate Modelling

Dr Brian Miller of Wilde Analysis, part of
the Wilde Group of Companies

Lifespan

P83

The Malings, Newcastle, Ash Sakula

Jill Tate (Photographer)

Community Engagement

Section Break

Masterplanning Workshop

URBED

Community Engagement

P88

Gleadless Valley Consultation 2018

URBED

Community Engagement

P91

Old Trafford Consultation 2008

URBED

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Guidance
Notes for
Design Codes
Page 181

Page 182
© Crown copyright, 2021
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.
You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium,
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit http://www.
nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg
If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at http://
forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at:
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF
Telephone: 030 3444 0000
For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg
January 2021

Contents
Appendix

Introduction.........................................1
Context...............................................2
Movement...........................................7
Nature...............................................18
Built Form.........................................29
Identity..............................................42
Public Space.....................................50
Use...................................................64
Homes and Buildings........................73
Resources.........................................78
Lifespan............................................83

Area Type Worksheet

Page 183

Code Content

Community Engagement...87

Code Content

Page 184

Introduction

Page 185

1. The following guidance
note sets out possible
contents for a design
code, modelled on the
ten characteristics of welldesigned places set out in
the National Design Guide.

2. It is based on the key characteristics
of context, movement, nature, built form,
identity, public space, and use. Other
sections dealing with homes and buildings,
resources and lifespan provide important
considerations in achieving design quality and
should be used to inform the content of local
plans, design codes or guides depending
on local circumstances. These themes are
interconnected, and users of this coding
process should be mindful about the ways
that they interrelate.
3. When following this process of selecting
and setting parameters, it is essential
that decisions are being made directly

1. Structure
in response to the analysis and visioning
exercises outlined in the main document. This
guidance note sets out the potential content
of a design code that can be developed
into clear and, where possible, measurable
guidance, subject to the context and type of
development. The content outlined provides
both a framework and some sample content
from which design codes can be developed
and adapted, to address the particular
context to which the code will be applied.
4. Each theme is divided into subsections,
and in each case, we describe the parameter/
issue, why it is important and how it might be
used in a design code. In some cases these
parameters / issues will vary by area type,
while others will be applied equally across
the local area. Not all parameters are relevant
to every circumstance. Flexibility in local
design codes can be introduced by setting
an acceptable range for a parameter or not
coding for it at all. Effective design codes are:

Context

Movement

Nature

Built Form

Identity

Public Space

Use

Homes and Buildings

Resources

Lifespan

Simple, concise and specific and;
Rely on visual and numerical information
rather than detailed policy wording.

1

Context

Page 186
2

Introduction
5. The National Design Guide states that
an understanding of the context, history
and character of an area must influence
the siting and design of new development.
This context includes the immediate
surroundings of the site, the neighbourhood
in which it sits and the wider setting. This
includes:

C.1: An understanding of how the
scheme relates to the site and its local
and wider context.
C.2: The value of the environment,
heritage, history and culture.

2.Example of an Area Type Matrix: These are the elements of the Code that may differ by Area Type.

High rise city

Town/City centre Urban
neighbourhood

Suburbs

Outer suburbs

Industrial areas

Business, science
or retail parks

Local centres

Villages

Rural settlements

M.1.iii - Street Hierarchy
M.2.ii - Junctions and Crossings
M.3.i - Car Parking
M.3.ii - Cycle Parking
N.1.ii - Open Space Provision
N.1.iii - Open Space Design

Page 187

B.1.i - Density
B.1.ii - Party Wall
B.1.iii - Types and Forms
B.2.i - Blocks
B.2.ii - Building Line
B.2.iii - Height
I.1.i - Local Character
I.2.i - Building Design

P.1.i - Primary Streets
P.1.ii - Local and Secondary Streets
P.1.iii - Tertiary Streets
P.2.i - Meeting Places
P.2.ii - Multi-functional Streets
U.1.i - Effcient Land Use
U.1.ii - Mix
U.1.iii - Active Frontage
U.2.i - Tenure Mix
U.2.ii - Housing Mix
U.3.i - Schools
U.3.iii - Local Services
H.2.iii - Gardens and Balconies

3

C.1 Character Studies
6. Character includes all of the elements that go to make a place, how it looks and feels,
its geography and landscape, its noises and smells, activity, people and businesses. This
character should be understood as a starting point for all development. Character can be
understood at three levels; The area type in which the site sits, its surroundings and the
features of the site.

C.1.i Defining Area Types

Page 188

7. The Design Code applies to a set of area
types as described in Section 1. These are
areas of similar character that allow elements
of the design code to be set out depending
upon which area type a development is
within. This is illustrated in Figure 3, and the
settings would be determined locally.
8. The settings for each of the area types
need to be based on a) an analysis of the
existing character of these areas and b) a
visioning exercise. The aim of the design code
is to work towards a future enhanced vision of
what each area type needs to be. The starting
point will, however be to undertake a series
of area type studies through a combination
of site visits, historical analysis and work with
maps. A standard work sheet (See Fig 3 and
Appendix) can be used for each area type to
systematise data collection.

4

3.Area Type Work Sheet Example see Appendix A for template

C.1.ii Site Context

C.1.iii Site Assessments

9. It is necessary to undertake a context
study of the area surrounding the site and
the wider area for a full understanding of the
place in order to respond positively to its
distinctive features. Well-designed buildings
need to respect and enhance their built and
natural environment surroundings whilst
addressing local constraints, the vision for its
area type and responding positively to new
issues such as innovation and environmental
sustainability.

10. Developments need to respond to the
site and the opportunities that are there to
develop local character and distinctiveness,
as shown in Figure 5.

Page 189

4.Context Study: A study of the surrounding area looking at the following:
The network and hierarchy of surrounding streets.
Public transport.
Walking and cycling routes.
Notable local buildings.
The characteristics of the local community.
Local shops and facilities.
Views, vistas and landmarks, such as places of worship.
The grain of the area; variation in built form, street scene and roofscape.
Landscape and natural features such as hedges, green spaces, trees and
woodland.
Boundary features such as walls, fences and hedges.
Water features including rivers, lakes, canals, food risk and other water
features.
Topography.
The local building vernacular, architecture, proportion, façade pattern and
proportion.
Architectural details and materials such as the use of brick, stone or
render for walls, slate or tile for roofs etc.
Colours, textures, shapes and patterns.

N

E

W

S
5.Site Study:
Access points: How these relate to local movement
patterns, rights of way and routes to shops and schools.
Orientation: The sun path and how it affects the site.
Topography: Changing site levels.
Drainage: Run-off and opportunities for water features
and SuDS.
Existing structures: Existing buildings and walls with
opportunities for retention.
Ground conditions: Contamination and fll.
Noise and Air Quality: Traffc noise and fumes and
disruptive uses.
Ecology: Natural features and habitats such as trees,
hedgerows, and other mature vegetation contributes
to a sense of place and needs to be retained and
enhanced.
Water: Ponds, lakes and watercourses that can be
incorporated as natural features including to possibly
open-up and naturalise watercourses.
5

C.2 Cultural Heritage

C.2.ii Heritage Assets

11. Well-designed development adds a
new layer to the history of a site while
enhancing and respecting its past, with
the expectation that new development will
be valued for its heritage in the future as
heritage assets are today.

13. Development should always take account
of heritage assets within or close to the site
as defined in the NPPF.

C.2.i Historic Assessment

Page 190

12. A study of the sites’ history can be done
by in-depth analysis of the place, including
historic maps, as set out in Historic England’s
Understanding Place guidance. These
include details such as former uses, cultural
features, urban form, street patterns and
place names. They can help explain features
of the site and can be used as inspiration for
new development, such as reinstating historic
streets.

Local design codes should consider:
C.1 Character Studies

14. The character and distinctiveness of
a place is created by the richness of the
buildings that have been built up over
time. Not just the individual buildings or
monuments, but how they relate to each
other and how they have contributed to the
evolution of the place has a whole.

•

Creating an area type matrix
showing how the contents of the
code relate to each area type.

•

The preparation of context studies
to inform the design of individual
sites.

15. The presence of such historic character,
either directly on the site, or nearby, should
always be seen as an opportunity to add
value to any development by helping to
provide inspiration.

C.2 Cultural Heritage

6.Historic map assessment: A historic assessment with plans from the 1800s, 1900s and the present day.
6

Check List: Context

•

Historical assessments that can
be used as a foundation for new
development.

•

Heritage assets and conservation
area details that may influence
the form of development and the
relationship of these issues to the
design code.

Movement

Introduction
16. The National Design Guide says that a
well-designed place is accessible and easy
to move around (p22-25). For movement,
this means:

M.1: A connected network for all
modes of transport;
M.2: Active travel and
M.3: Well-considered parking,
servicing, and utilities infrastructure for
all modes and users.
A series of model design parameters may
be coded for each of these, as identified on
the following pages.

Page 191
7

M.1 - A Connected Network
17. A connected network and hierarchy
of routes for all modes of transport form
the circulatory system of any settlement
and its design will determine how easy
and safe it is to get around for all and how
it links destinations to public transport.
These issues are particularly important
when coding for large sites but may also
influence local design codes for smaller
infill sites and their physical connectivity.

Page 192

M.1.i The Street Network

18. The street network is important because
it sets a long-lasting framework for moving
around. In most cases, it will outlive the
buildings it originally served.
19. A connected street network is one that
provides a variety and choice of streets for
moving around a place. It is direct, allowing
people to make efficient journeys. Direct
routes make walking and cycling more
attractive and increase activity, making
the streets feel safer and more attractive.
Connected street networks form the basis of
most of our beautiful and well-used places.
They are robust, flexible and have been
shown to stand the test of time.

8

20. In a well-connected network, each street
has more than one connection to another
street. This applies both within a development
or local area and in relation to streets outside
it. Culs-de-sac are only found at the tertiary
level of street type (see P1:3) for accessing
development rather than for wider movement.
21. Permeability for different users, such as
cars or delivery vehicles, can be controlled
by measures within the street space, for
instance, to prevent through movement or
limit access to certain times of the day.

7. Connected Street Networks: A connected
network of streets reduces walking distances.
22. Consideration needs to be given to safety
and security issues in respect of street layouts
and footways principally through passive
surveillance of the street. Good lighting and
high levels of street activity are desirable to
deter criminal behaviour and to ensure people
feel safe and secure using the street at all
times.
23. Connected street networks may be linked
to coding for street hierarchy, street types and
public spaces (see P1).

M.1:ii Public Transport
24. Access to public transport is key to providing people with choice
for everyday journeys beyond the immediate neighbourhood, such
as to town centres, schools and employment locations. Good
access to public transport helps reduce reliance on the private car.
25. A site or location has good public transport accessibility when
dwellings have a public transport stop within walking distance.
26. The distances that people are prepared to walk from their
dwelling to reach public transport are determined by the nature and
quality of the public transport service, how attractive and safe the
walk feels, and the total length of their journey. Generally, people are
prepared to walk further to a railway station or tram stop (10 minutes)
than to a bus stop (5 minutes).

Page 193

27. Accessibility to public transport may be linked to other coding on
mix of uses, local amenities, housing types, densities, and parking
arrangements.

8. (above) Walking Isochrone Around Public Transport Stops: Walking
distances can be assessed approximately by drawing circles to show the
potential catchment area of new or existing public transport. It is important to take
account of the actual walking distance (walking isochrone) which will be smaller,
particularly where there are barriers to movement – for instance lack of adequate
lighting and wayfnding, absence of green spaces, lack of good-quality and
accessible footways, high-traffc routes such as busy road or a railway line.
9. (left) PTAL Plan: An example of a public transport accessibility level plan for
Croydon.
9

M.1.iii Street Hierarchy
28. The design of the street network plays an
important role in determining how it is used. Different
streets play different roles in a place depending on
the movement upon them, the built form and uses
around them and the design of the street space itself,
including any natural features, landscaping, lighting
and wayfinding.

Page 194

29. A design code may categorise the streets in a
network as different street types. Each street type
has a distinct function in terms of both movement
and place that will vary according to the area type.
Movement includes all modes, walking, cycling, public
transport and motor vehicles.
30. Manual for Streets editions 1& 2 define common
street types and functions, which this code seeks to
align with. These street types include multifunctional
streets and spaces; arterial routes and high streets;
relief road/ring road; boulevards; high streets and
residential streets. All have different place and
movement functions. The street hierarchy below
includes these street types together with other street
types that may form part of a design code.
31. Coding may also define the range of street types
that are appropriate for a local area or large site. Some
common street types associated with this street
hierarchy are set out in the Public Space section. All
street types should enable safe and secure movement
for everyone, including mobility impaired people,
visually impaired people, and people with non-visible
disabilities.
10

10. Street Hierarchy: A typical neighbourhood
street hierarchy. All of these streets would include
frontage access.
Primary street: Arterial, ring road or relief road with
dedicated lanes for cycles and public transport, where
possible.
High Street: Primary or Secondary street that acts
as a focus for retail and other services.
Secondary Street: Mainly carry local traffc and
provide access into neighbourhoods; they are often
the location of schools and community facilities and
may also be residential streets in themselves.
Local Street: Residential streets with managed traffc
fows to prioritise active travel. They provide access to
homes and support active travel, social interaction and
health and wellbeing.
Tertiary street: With no through traffc, these are
used for servicing or for access to small groups or
clusters of homes. They can be lanes, mews courts,
alleyways or cul-de-sacs.
Multi-functional streets and other spaces:
High Streets and secondary streets are at the centre
of public life and support a wide range of activity. They
can prioritise pedestrian and cycle movement while
making it easy to get to their edges and beyond by
public transport.

M.2 Active Travel
32. ‘Active travel’ refers to non-motorised and sustainable forms of transport, primarily
walking and cycling. Prioritising active travel is about making walking and cycling easy,
comfortable and attractive for all users, so they are seen as genuine choices for travel
on local journeys. Coding for active travel is based on the user hierarchy from Manual
for Streets. This sets out that in designing streets, the needs of pedestrians and cyclists
should be considered first, then public transport, service and emergency vehicles and
only then motor vehicles.

12. Cycle Routes: Cycles should be
separated from vehicles.

M.2.i Walking and Cycling Routes

Page 195

33. Coding should reflect the aim that walking
and cycling should be the first choice for short
local journeys, particularly those 5km or less.
34. For local journeys, this means creating
continuous, clear, relatively direct and
attractive walking and cycling routes both
within a large site and into the surroundings.
Following desire lines can help make routes
clearer. Good sightlines aid wayfinding.
They need to be well-lit, well-surfaced and
maintained, and overlooked by buildings, as
11. Low Traffc Neighbourhoods On existing streets,
Low Traffc Neighbourhoods preserve a connected
street network for walking and cycling but prevent
rat-running through traffc. This promotes walking and
cycling and reduced car use. However, care is needed
to ensure that displaced traffc doesn’t cause problems
on neighbouring streets beyond the neighbourhood.

people feel safer on streets and in spaces
where there are other people around.
35. Streets should be designed to be
inclusive and cater to the needs of all
road users as far as possible, in particular,
considering the needs that may relate to
disability, age, gender and maternity.
36. This is relevant to all street types.
Designing a street so that everyone can use
it benefits the whole community. Accessibility
needs to be designed in from the start,
as a ‘golden thread’ running through the
scheme. This includes considerations such as
minimum footway widths, placement of street
furniture, frequency and type of crossing
points, and so on, forming a basic part of the
design process. Walking and cycling routes
are also linked to coding for street types,
parking and public spaces and through green
infrastructure routes.
11

M.2.ii Junctions and Crossings
37. The way that streets join to each other
and the way that people are able to cross
streets and access points all have an
important influence on walking and cycling.
38. The choice of junctions also influences
where built form may be positioned and so
the quality of the street as a public space.
39. All junctions and crossings need to be
safe, convenient and attractive for all users.

Page 196

40. Formal crossing facilities may be used
on all street types, but may be particularly
appropriate on primary streets and high
streets. Siting a crossing on the pedestrian
or cycle desire line will help to promote active
travel and reduce accident risks by enabling
a direct route, where people are more likely to
use designated crossings. Manual for Streets
sets out further detail on different types of
crossing that can be appropriate.
41. Design codes may define appropriate
junction types to manage vehicular priority
and permeability on a connected street
network and to promote active travel.

13. Junction Types: A range of
different junction types can be used
dependent on the type of street and
the level of traffc.
Roundabouts: Maintain traffc fows and
speeds but do not provide well for cyclists
and pedestrians and require more land than
other junction types.
Mini Roundabouts: Manage traffc
priority on junctions between primary,
secondary and high streets in the built-up
area.
Traffc signals: These will be dependent
on the vehicle and pedestrian fow. They
allow direct crossing routes for pedestrians
and should incorporate pedestrian and
cycle facilities wherever possible.
Simple junctions: Give way priority
or unmarked junctions are appropriate
between local streets and all other types of
street.

12

14. Residential Parking Options:
UNALLOCATED PARKING

Car barns: Decked parking structures.
These may be free-standing multi-level
parking structures or could include groundlevel parking with a decked communal
amenity space above.

M.3 Parking and Servicing
ALLOCATED SPACES
Within an integral garage: Certain housing types
such as three-storey townhouses may include an integral
garage. This normally means there is limited living
accommodation at ground foor level. The ground foor
may also be dominated by garage doors.
In the rear garden: In some
circumstances rear parking courts
may be appropriate providing they are
secure, well-lit and overlooked and not
detrimental to quality of life.

Page 197

On-street: On-street parking can
be in defned bays with limited runs
interspersed with pavement buildouts, planting and street trees. It may
include chevron parking depending
on the width of the street.
Parking courts: Parking courts within
development blocks. These may be open
or gated.

At the front of the property: This
means that houses need to be set back at
least 6m from the pavement. For terraced
housing, most of the front garden may be
taken up with parking but its impact may
be screened by low evergreen hedges.
At the side of the property: For detached and semidetached homes, the car may be accommodated to the
side of the property, with one or more spaces and/or a
garage tucked between buildings with overlooking for
natural surveillance.

M.3.i Car Parking
42. Car parking affects the quality of a place,
both visually and in terms of how it is used,
particularly by pedestrians.
43. Parking standards are set out in the local
plan. Maximum parking standards can be
considered in circumstances where there is
a clear and compelling justification. Design
codes are concerned with the design of
parking and its impact on the quality of place.
They may identify appropriate parking options
for area types, street types and building types
and detailed design requirements associated
with them.
44. Well-considered parking is convenient,
safe and attractive to use. It is also wellintegrated into streets, blocks and plots and
does not dominate the local environment.
45. The arrangement of parking may vary
between different area types. It may also
be influenced by the design of surrounding
streets as set out in Section M1 above and
public transport accessibility.
Unallocated parking:
46. Unallocated spaces are an efficient way
to provide parking. A scheme provides for
the average rather than the maximum level
13

of car ownership. Its flexibility of use enables
it to accommodate residents and visitors
throughout the day.
47. In some local areas, it may be possible
to accommodate all parking requirements
in this way. In high demand areas, it may be
necessary to manage unallocated on-street
parking through controlled parking zones and
resident parking permits.

15. Urban Parking Options: Parking options to
accommodate cars in higher density areas.

Page 198

Allocated Parking:
48. Allocated parking is normally
accommodated on plot or on site. It may
also be provided on private land such as in
parking courts or car barns.
49. Non-residential parking may be
integrated into the built form, either below
ground in basements or semi-basements, or
above ground using decks or multi-storey car
parks.
50. Where large areas of surface-level parking
are necessary, it may be located towards
the rear of the plot or block, away from the
main street frontage. Planting, including a
grid of trees between bays, can reduce the
visual impact. Short-term visitor parking may
be positioned on-street or close to building
frontages.

14

In mixed use blocks, semi-basement parking can be
positioned under courtyards.

Offce parking may take place
at basement level

Supermarkets can be built over their car park

Multi-storey parking can be ‘skinned’ by other uses and
include active ground foor uses.

M.3.ii Cycle Parking
51. A design code may also define the appropriate locations and forms for cycle parking, both
for building occupants and for visitors.
52. Cycle parking for occupants must be secure if people are to use it. It also needs to be
under cover to avoid problems with bad weather.

16. Cycle Parking Options:

Page 199

Public cycle parking: Visitor parking
may be provided via cycle racks in the
public realm that are prominently located
and well supervised, provided that they do
not obstruct pavements or desire lines.

Housing: In lower density suburban housing
bike parking can usually be provided within a
garage or a separate structure within the garden.
For terraced housing, provision for cycles needs
to be made within the property, in the front
garden or to the rear with access from a parking
court. It is also possible to provide communal
bike pods accommodating up to 10 cycles using
a single parking bay.

Apartments: In apartment blocks cycle
parking can be provided in apartments,
provided the space is in addition to the
Nationally Described Space Standards. It
requires level access and an adequately
sized lift. Communal bike stores may be
provided externally, in basement car parks
or in freestanding structures. These should
be as near as possible to the entrance for
convenience, and both the store and the
individual bike stands should be lockable.

Workspaces: In workspaces cycle parking may
be provided via dedicated facilities within the
building, possibly as part of a basement car park.
This may be linked to showers and lockers or
even a bike repair hub.

15

M.3.iii Services and Utilities
53. New development needs to take into
account a range of practical requirements
for streets and public spaces which, if not
considered, can undermine the quality of
space:
54. Design codes may include coding for
servicing and utilities arrangements.

Page 200

Emergency services:
55. All developments need to be
accessible to emergency vehicles. Sites with
limited vehicle access points need to ensure
that ambulances and fire tenders can gain
access if one of the roads is blocked. This
can be a particular problem with unregulated
on-street parking.
Refuse collection:
56. The road network needs to take account
of access for refuse collection and emergency
vehicles. The size of refuse collection
vehicles varies between local authorities and
depending on the waste collection system
care needs to be taken to ensure that their
turning requirements do not compromise
the layout. Local authorities should also be
mindful of the existing context to ensure
local character and quality of place is
not compromised by overestimating this
requirement.
16

17. Refuse Collection Options
In-curtilage Provision: This can be provided to the side or rear of the property in detached
housing. For terraced housing, collection needs to either be from the rear or a bin store needs
to be provided at the front.
Communal Provision: An alternative for terraced housing as well as for apartments is
communal provision. Reference should be given to guidance on carry distances and distances
to collection points.
Bring Points: An alternative is to use underground waste storage bins, although this requires a
specialist collection vehicle.

Check List Movement
Local design codes should consider:
M.1 Connected Places
•

The way in which new development
contributes to the creation of an
overlooked and well lit permeable street
network.
The provision of public transport and the
distance of all dwellings from a stop.

•

A framework plan indicating the street
hierarchy for the district.

Page 201

•

M.2 Active Travel
•

Encouraging walking and cycling and
the design of cycle routes.

•

Balancing the needs of cyclists,
pedestrians with those of vehicles.

•

A toolkit of street junctions, layouts in
accordance with Manual for Streets.

•

Guidance on multi-functional streets
including the situations in which they
can be used and their design principles.

M.3 Parking and Servicing
•

How to accommodate the local plan’s
parking requirements including:
Acceptable locations and design of
unallocated parking.
Accommodation of bays for
disabled spaces, electric charging
and car share.
Position of on-plot parking.
Guidance on the design of parking
for other uses.

•

The design and location of cycle
parking.

•

The design of bins and refuse collection
services.

17

Nature

Page 202
18

Introduction
57. Development should enhance the
natural as well as the built environment.
Nature is good for health and wellbeing,
for biodiversity, shading and cooling, noise
mitigation, air quality and mitigating flood
risk as well as contributing to tackling the
climate emergency. Nature is also central to
the creation of beautiful places.
58. Design codes need to ensure that
nature and the historic landscape is woven
into the design of places. This may include
the amount and type of open space, the
response to flood risk and the promotion of
biodiversity.

59. The design coding guidance will be
updated to reflect policy changes that
are anticipated to drive improvements to
our natural environment. Government is
committed in the 25 Year Environment
Plan to embed a ‘net environmental
gain’ principle for development to deliver
environmental improvements locally and
nationally and to green our towns and
cities by creating and improving green
infrastructure. Local Nature Recovery
Statements will have a role in identifying
land that should be safeguarded for
nature and a National Framework of Green
Infrastructure Standards for blue and green
infrastructure in development.

18. Hierarchy of Green Spaces

N.1 Green Infrastructure
60. Green infrastructure is a network of
multi-functional urban and rural green
space that delivers a wide range of
environmental and quality of life benefits.
It covers everything from country parks
to green roofs and street trees. In terms
of new development, the design code
may specify levels of green infrastructure
provision and guidance on design.
The National Framework of Green
Infrastructure Standards will provide
further detail on principles to guide
design.

Page 203

N.1.i Network of Spaces

61. There is a hierarchy of green spaces
which play a distinctive role in terms of nature,
leisure and quality of life. Consideration needs
to be given to the way that these spaces are
linked to provide a network of multi-functional
green space and natural features.

Rural areas: Around 90% of England
lies outside urban areas including
pasture and arable land, forests, moors,
wetland, natural spaces and National
Parks.
Natural spaces: Within built-up
areas these include land that has
never been developed as well as
formerly developed sites that have
been reclaimed by nature. They include
canals, rivers, former railway lines,
roadside verges and other transitionary
land that form important green
corridors.
Parks and formal green spaces:
Most settlements have a legacy of
parks and other public green spaces
like sports pitches, recreation grounds,
and cemeteries.
Semi-public spaces: Many
institutions like schools and churches
are custodians of green spaces.
Squares, village greens and
pocket parks: At the neighbourhood
level there are smaller areas of green
space that are used for local recreation
and play.

19

Streets: Can include street trees,
verges and planting areas that bring
the benefts of green infrastructure to
the heart of the built environment.
Communal gardens: Residential
areas can include communal gardens
within the block or at roof level.

Page 204

Allotments and food growing:
This can include community gardens,
orchards, and urban farms.
Private gardens: Within built-up
areas a large part of the land is private
gardens that contribute signifcantly to
biodiversity.
Balconies: External spaces in
apartments can be important for
wellbeing and nature.
Green walls and roofs: There
are opportunities for greenery and
biodiversity through green walls and
roofs.

20

N.1.ii Open Space Provision
62. Local open space provision is used for
sport and play, informal recreation as well as
being important for nature. Government is
updating open space and recreation guidance
on Accessibility to Natural Greenspace
(ANGSt) to ensure there is sufficient highquality open space in the right locations, that
is attractive to users and is well managed and
maintained.

Population-based Standards
64. The most common of these is the FIT
standard (what is still often known as the
National Playing Field Association 6 Acre
Standard). This is widely used to define
sports provision and informal outdoor space
requirements.

Public Park

Page 205

63. The design code can consider the
provision of new and enhanced green space
as part of new development building in
existing open space strategies and standards
in the local plan. Approaches to setting open
space standards include:

Natural Green Space
2ha natural green space
LEAP
LAP

Amenity Green Space

Forthcoming National Framework
of Green Infrastructure Standards

0
70

FIT Standard

NEAP
Neighbourhood
Equipped Area for
Play
MUGA
Multi Use Games
Area
LEAP
Local Equipped
Area for Play
LAP
Local Area for Play
(See next page for
more information)

MUGA or skatepark

20ha natural green space
Playing Pitches
NEAP

Regional Park

100ha natural green space
500ha natural green space

K
10

M

65. It can be difficult to achieve at higher
densities, and the design code may provide
guidance on how this is to be interpreted.
This could include an assessment of existing
open space provision set against ward
population data to assess the extent to which
the standard is being met. New schemes may
then be asked to contribute towards meeting
any shortfall.
Accessible Greenspace Standards
66. An alternative is to look at the distance
to different types of open space. Thus higher
residential densities would not increase the
amount of open space required, subject to
its quality. The code would map each type
of open space and show walking distance
around them as circles and isochrones. This
will highlight poorly served areas where new
development may address the shortfall.

M

19. Open Space Accessibility Standards: The forthcoming National Framework of Green
Infrastructure Standards by Natural England will provide new standards for green infrastructure
(ANGSt standards) suggesting that all people should have access to a natural green space
close to home. Benchmarks in the green infrastructure standards will include guidance on size/
distance criteria; and will be accompanied by a national map which will show where these
criteria are not currently met, to help guide provision of green spaces to the places that need it
most.
Communal areas, such as playgrounds, play areas, seating facilities need to be overlooked by
nearby buildings, have safe and accessible routes for users and clear defnition of boundaries to
ensure they are secure.
Fields in Trust suggests that all homes should be within recommended distances to parks,
playing pitches, NEAPs, MUGAs, LEAPs and LAPs.

21

N.1.iii Open Space Design
67. The way in which spaces are designed is crucial to their
success. The design considerations vary with the type of space, a
formal park being very different to a large natural open space. The
situation where the design code is likely to be most relevant is in
the design of new smaller open space within new development. In
this case, the following principles are important:

3
6
8
2

20. Types of Play Space: Policy for play areas is based on three levels of provision
and could include other bespoke approaches such as adventure play, play for older
children and the concept of doorstep play in higher density housing. These relate to
the size and level of equipment provided but also the age of the children for which it
is designed. The three levels are:

4
1

Page 206

21. Open space design
1. Boundary: Consideration needs to be
given to whether the space is fenced and gated
without interrupting wildlife networks.
2. Entrances: Access points and paths need to be conveniently located on
desire lines for walking and cycling.
Local Areas of Play (LAP),
with a few fxed items of play
near to the home.

Local Equipped Areas of Play
(LEAP ) With at least fve pieces of
equipment for slightly older children.

Neighbourhood Equipped
Area of Play (NEAP) With at
least eight pieces of equipment
along with a Multi-use games
area (MUGA) and/or a skate
park/bike track.
22

3. Surveillance: Open spaces need to be overseen from surrounding buildings,
streets and public spaces.
4. Activity: Suffcient space needs to be provided for sports pitches and play
areas to avoid confict with other uses.
5. Maintenance: The design of the space needs to take account of maintenance
and adoption requirements.
6. Ecology: Green spaces need to include areas that are nature-rich.
7. Access: Public open space needs to be accessible and welcoming to everyone.
8. Lighting: Needs to be considered for well-used footpaths and games areas
but should avoid light spillage that causes nuisance and harms wildlife.

N.2 Water and Drainage

N.2.i Working with Water

68. Managing water is an important element of a site’s response to nature. It can
reduce flood risk and improve water quality while providing habitats and recreational
activities and dealing with flooding when it happens.

69. Many sites will include water in some
form, and the National Design Guide can
provide guidance on maximising the benefits.
70. Development adjacent to existing water
features, including rivers, lakes, canals, docks
and wetlands has an important role to play
in enhancing the value of the water as public
realm, habitat, ecological corridor and natural
capital asset.

Page 207

71. Buildings may face the water and
leave a sufficient buffer zone to allow for
watercourses and banks to be maintained
and for current and potential future flood
defences. Opportunities to create walking and
cycling routes along watercourses need to be
encouraged.
72. Opening up culverts, reinstating
meanders and restoring and naturalising
river beds and banks can benefit wildlife and
improve public access and flood attenuation.

22. Development next to water
23

N.2.ii Sustainable Drainage
73. Sustainable drainage systems or SuDS are
designed to reduce the rate of rainwater run-off
from new development, mitigating the risk of
flooding elsewhere whilst delivering benefits for
biodiversity, water quality and amenity. Ideally
water needs to be captured for use on site for
irrigation and non-potable uses. Where this
is not possible schemes need to follow the
hierarchy set out in guidance, by which water
is:

5

23. Sustainable
Drainage Systems

7

4
2
1
9
3

8

Allowed to infiltrate into the ground.

Page 208

Attenuated for gradual release to a water
body.
Released into a water sewer, highway
drain, or another drainage system.
Released into a combined sewer.

74. The approach to each site will depend
on its density, the position of watercourses,
the ground conditions including permeability,
contamination and the sensitivity of
groundwater receptors.
75. SuDS need to be considered early in the
design process to ensure efficient integration
with other aspects of design such as public
open space, biodiversity provision, and
highways so as to minimise the land needed.
Multi-functional SuDS need to be prioritised
allowing for attenuation features which can also
be used for biodiversity and recreation.
24

6

10

1. Green roofs: Provide capacity to hold and attenuate
water run-off as well as ecological and leisure benefts..

6. Retention tanks: In high density schemes water can be
attenuated in underground structures.

2. Permeable surfacing: Surfaces that allow water to
percolate into the ground including, natural surfaces, gravel
and low traffc volume engineered road surfaces and hardstandings in front gardens.

7. Street tree planting: SuDS designed into highway
provision can provide dual use benefts when integrated with
street tree provision.

3. Swales: Shallow channels that provide attenuation while
also channelling water to other features such as ponds.
4. Rain capture: Water butts and other rainwater
harvesting systems collect rainwater for use in gardens or
for non-potable uses reducing water consumption.
5. Soakaways and flter drains: Ditches and trenches
flled with gravel or stones that collect uncontaminated
water and allow it to percolate into the ground.

8. Rain gardens: Containers and ditches with native wetland
plants release water gradually and flter-out pollutants.
9. Basins and ponds: Attenuation ponds that are normally
dry but fll during a rain event and then gradually discharge
water to the system.
10. Reedbeds and wetlands: Topography can be used
to create wetlands that provide attenuation capacity as well as
fltering out pollutants and providing habitat for wildlife.

N.2.iii Flood Risk
76. Flood risk needs to be considered
early in the design process based on an
understanding of all sources of current and
future flood risk and alongside other design
factors.
77. The sequential test should be
used to steer development away from
flood risk areas. Where flood risk areas
are unavoidable, development should be
designed to ensure it will be safe from
flooding throughout its lifetime, without
increasing flood risk elsewhere.

Page 209

78. Vulnerable uses need to be laid
out and designed using flood avoidance
measures such as:

•
•
•

Locating buildings on the lowest risk parts
of the site
Raising finished floor levels above
predicted flood levels
Using upper storeys for habitable areas
of housing, with ground floors used for
less vulnerable or non-habitable uses (e.g.
garages).

79. Lower vulnerability uses should also
be located and designed to avoid flooding.
However, if flood risk is unavoidable, low
vulnerability uses should incorporate resilience
measures in accordance with the Property
Flood Resilience Code of Practice to resist
flood water and ensure they can recover
quickly in the event of flooding.

80. Where the safety of development relies
on emergency planning measures it should
include safe, signposted access and escape
routes in accordance with the ADEPT/EA
guidance on flood risk emergency plans for
new development. Wherever possible these
routes need to remain dry, but as a minimum,
they should be designed to ensure people will
not be exposed to hazardous flooding. It may
also be necessary to include a place of refuge
above predicted flood levels.
81. All developments should seek to
reduce flood risk. This could be through
making more space for water, increasing
infiltration, providing new or improved
flood defences or through natural flood
management techniques.

24. Flood Resilience Principles
Steer development away from food
risk areas
Use food avoidance measures
Use food resistance and recovery
techniques
Provide safe means of access,
escape and refuge
Seek to reduce food risk

25

N.3 Biodiversity
82. All new development needs to use, retain and improve existing habitats or create new habitats
to achieve measurable gains for biodiversity. This includes landscaping and tree planting.
25. Integrating Habitats:
Biodiversity can be enhanced
through facilitating habitats and
routes for wildlife, for example,
incorporating trees, wildfowers,
ponds, bat boxes, bee bricks
and hedgehog highways.

N.3.i Biodiversity Net Gain

Page 210

83. Local Nature Recovery Strategies
(LNRS) to map and identify opportunities
to create and enhance local biodiversity will
be included in the Environment Bill. These
strategies are intended to assist developers in
achieving biodiversity net gain and need to be
referenced in the design code.

84. Design codes will be expected to
reflect the minimum 10% net increase in
biodiversity compared to the situation prior
to development. The broader environmental
net gain approach includes wider beneficial
environmental outcomes that can be
delivered such as flood protection, recreation
and improved water and air quality.
85. Natural assets such as ancient
woodlands, designated sites, mature trees,
and protected species must be protected
and enhanced (where possible) in the design
of the schemes. Priority habitats and priority
species should also be considered within the
design process.

Fig 34: Biodiversity Net Gain:
Development will be expected to produce a
+10% increase in biodiversity
26

86. A baseline assessment needs to be
undertaken prior to development using the

Natural England Biodiversity Metric 3.0 to
measure the existing value of the site (this will
become mandatory under the Environment
Bill). The proposed post-development design
will similarly be assessed to show a minimum
10% improvement (including any offsite
provision where necessary)

N.3.ii Planning for Biodiversity
87. The design code should be based on a
hierarchy that first seeks to avoid damaging
habitats, then to mitigate that damage and
then, if this is not possible, to consider
replacement habitats.
88. Measures using green/infiltration SuDS
that improve water quality and create habitats
should be included where possible.

26. Biodiversity Design Principles:
Planting: To provide nectar,
nuts, seeds, native vegetation
and berries along with trees and
shrubs, logs and stones. Native
plant species are generally, but not
always, better for wildlife.

N.3.iii Street Trees
Existing features: Natural
assets such as trees, woodlands,
hedges, wetland areas and other
natural features need to be
retained and enhanced where
possible.

Creating habitats: Strategies
need to be considered for
creating natural habitats, for
example, through use of trees,
wildfowers and ponds as well as
bird boxes, bee bricks
and hedgehog highways.

Trees and hedgerows: These should
be incorporated into public realm and
other open spaces as well as private
development where
appropriate.

Page 211

SuDS and rain
gardens: These
can be designed
to provide benefts
to nature by
including planting
and habitat niches.

Enhancing
Habitats:
Management of
native planting,
foraging grounds
for bats, feeding
grounds and
wetlands for birds
and forest foor
habitats.
Ecological niches: Can create a
range of ecological conditions from
woodland transition zones to wetland
areas and open grassland.

Mosaics: A range of elements and structures as small
patches of bare ground, tall fower-rich vegetation, or
scattered trees and scrub to support a range of species
and their life-cycles.

Ecological network:
Masterplans should create
an interconnected ecological
network that encompasses
everything from doorstep
spaces and private gardens to
the surrounding countryside.

Rivers: Restoration
techniques create habitat
and reduce food risk.

Green roofs & walls: Green facades provide
nesting opportunities and food for bees. Habitats can
also be created on roofs and are especially benefcial
for birds and insects.

Street trees provide habitat, shading,
cooling, air quality improvements
and carbon sequestration, as well as
being a vital component of attractive
places. It is the government’s
intention that all new streets include
trees and the Urban Tree Challenge
Fund is planting 130,000 urban
trees across England. Guidance is
available in the Urban Tree Manual,
and considerations include:

27. Street Tree Design Principles:
Species: Codes may include a list of species
as a palette for use by developers including
non-native species which can provide valuable
habitat. These help to establish different area
types and need to take account of local climate,
shape, size, fruit and pollen. A variety of trees
provides biodiversity and biosecurity resilience.
Position: Careful positioning to allow space
for the mature tree without interfering with
property, infrastructure, street lighting or junction
sightlines. This can be on median strips, verges
or interspersed with parking bays but only on
pavements where the mature tree will not block
access.
27

Check List: Nature

Local design codes should consider:

Page 212

Services: Coordinating tree planting with
utilities providers and service ducts early in the
lifetime of a scheme can ensure that trees do
not interfere with underground services.
Specifcation: Care is needed in heavily
traffcked areas to avoid the compaction of the
soil around the tree. Guidance on tree planting,
pits, guards and other technical specifcations
are widely available and have a signifcant impact
on the tree’s survival prospects.

28

N.1 Green Infrastructure

N.2 Water and Drainage

•

•

Guidance on the design of development
next to water.

•

Performance standard and the design of
sustainable drainage systems.

•

Guidance on development within flood
risk areas based on Environment Agency
guidance including flood mitigation and
resilience.

•

The creation of a network of green
spaces and other green infrastructure
such as green corridors and street trees,
which provide multiple benefits for
biodiversity, nature, recreation, climate
change resilience and support health
and wellbeing.
The provision of open space based
on the government’s Open Space and
Recreation Guidance and an open space
framework plan.

N.3 Biodiversity

•

The provision of children’s play in
accordance with national guidance
including its location, size and design.

•

Implementation of the government’s
Biodiversity Net Gain Policy and the
Local Nature Recovery Strategies.

•

Guidance on the design of green
spaces.

•

The retention of natural features such as
trees, woodlands and hedgerows and
other ecological features.

•

Guidance on design for biodiversity.

•

The provision of street trees relating
to types of streets plus the design,
placement and species to be used.

28

Built Form

Introduction
89. The National Design Guide defines
the ‘built form’ of an area as the ‘threedimensional pattern or arrangement of
development blocks, streets, buildings and
open spaces’ that make up any built-up
area or development. It says that a well-

designed place has a coherent form of
development. For built form this means:
A compact form of development;
Appropriate building types and forms

Page 213
29

B.1 Compact Form of Development
90. A compact form of development is more likely to accommodate
enough people to support shops, local facilities and viable public
transport, maximise social interaction in a local area, and make it feel a
safe, lively and attractive place. In this way, it may help to promote active
travel to local facilities and services, so reducing dependence on the
private car.

28. Measuring density: A local variation in density
creates a variety of built form character in Cambourne.
Area A has 94 homes on 2.6 ha – a net density
or 36 dph. Area B has 32 homes on 1.8ha, so is
around 20 dph. Note the area measure runs to the
back of each plot and the centre line of the roads.

91. What is meant by compact will vary according to area type
and context. A design code may define an appropriate measure of
compactness for new development in relation to an area type.

Page 214

B.1.i Density

92. Density is one indicator for how compact
a development or place will be and how
intensively it will be developed. However, in
itself it is not a measure of how appropriate a
particular development may be within an area
type. For this it needs to be combined with
coding for other design parameters, including
those set out below.
Residential density
93. A design code may set out local
densities or ranges of density, particularly on
large sites with an average overall density,
where local variations in density may be
desirable in order to create a variety of identity
without harming local character as set out in
Historic England guidance.

30

B
A

Floor Area Ratio

Page 215

Plot Ratio

29. Plot Ratio and Floor Area Ratio: The former is
the proportion of the site area occupied by buildings
while the latter is the ratio between site area and the
total building foor area. These two measures can
be combined to control development. For instance,
a Plot Ratio of 0.5 means that only half of the site
area can be developed. A foor area ratio of 2
means that the foor area can be twice the site area.

94. For housing development, density can
be measured using plot ratio, dwellings per
hectare, or bed spaces per hectare. Density
in dwellings per hectare may be measured
using gross or net density. Design codes may
consider the appropriate measure of density
for a given situation.

B.1.ii Party Wall Condition
Density for other uses
95. For non-residential or mixed-use
development density can be measured by
plot ratio, or floor area ratio. The former
indicates how much of the site the building is
able to occupy while the latter is the ratio of
site area to the area of development.
96. A design code may set out local
densities or ranges of density for nonresidential or mixed-use development.

97. When buildings share a party wall or join
onto one another, the form of development
is more compact than when they do not.
Free-standing buildings generally occupy
wider plots, which affects both density and
compactness.
98. Design codes may include coding that
enables or prevents party walls, depending
upon the area type. Alternatively, coding
for building lines (see B2.2) may be used to
achieve a similar outcome.
31

B.1.iii Building Types and Forms
30. Party Wall Condition

Both sides:
Party walls on
both sides leads to
terraced housing.

Page 216

One side: A
party wall on one side
leads to semi-detached
housing.

No party walls:
A prohibition on party walls
leads to detached housing.
A code may also specify
the distance, say 1m, to
plot boundaries.

32

99. The character of an area is also influenced by the variety of building forms. This relates to
the size and uniformity if the buildings. Large buildings may occupy an entire block, whereas the
same area could be developed with a variety of smaller buildings. In many places it is the rhythm
and variety of these smaller buildings that is intrinsic to the character of the area. While large
buildings will be appropriate in places an area made up entirely of large buildings can be dull.
100. This is referred to as urban grain and it derives from the size and configuration of plots.
Masterplans needs to indicate this plot structure, which together with the party wall settings
will determine the character of the development. Plot based masterplans can also be used
to accommodate custom-build and self-build development (see section U2:3) with the Code
parameters summarised in a plot passport.
31. Urban Grain: Blocks can be developed with buildings of different sizes, based
on the arrangements of plots. A larger number of smaller buildings can create
greater variety and visual interest.

B.2 Built Form
101. A design code may define a three-dimensional envelope for new buildings. The size and
shape of this will vary depending on the nature of the area type and the blocks within it. This
envelope consists of three separate measures: the development blocks established by the
street network, the alignment of the front face of the building, and the height of the building.

B.2.i Blocks

32. Blocks

102. A connected network of streets defines a series of blocks
for development.
103. Built development blocks define the edge, and the threedimensional enclosure of street spaces and their uses help to
animate them.

Page 217

104. Where development takes place around the edges of
blocks, they are known as perimeter blocks. Provided that
buildings face outwards onto the surrounding streets,
perimeter blocks also create a clear distinction
between the public fronts of buildings and the
private backs. This has important benefits in
terms of safety and security.
105. Area types will have an
established network of streets and blocks.
Coding can help ensure that the built form of
new development in these areas relates well to the
existing pattern of development.
106. On large sites a design code together with a masterplan
may establish a new street network and structure of
development blocks.

33

33. Examples from different places show how many of them are based on different types of perimeter block.

Page 218

Leeds City Centre

City of London
34

City of York

Ludlow

Letchworth Garden City

Bishop’s Castle, Shropshire

34. Types of Block: There are a wide variety of
perimeter block forms that can accommodate housing
and other uses:

Page 219

1. Perimeter block: A strip of
development around a private
courtyard/gardens. The private
interior is not accessible to people
from outside the scheme. It
includes private and communal
gardens and car parking.

2. Informal block: Blocks
like this can be found in many
modern housing schemes. The
housing faces outwards onto the
surrounding streets with front and
back gardens. The extra width
allows a parking court to be
included alongside houses and
garage blocks within the courtyard.

3. Terrace: The most common
form is the typical English terrace
which may include a rear alleyway.
Codes for area types that include
existing terraced housing need
to consider reductions in backto-back distances, compared to
common practice so that new
development relates to the context.

4. Mews block: Mews streets
run through blocks, originally
accommodating stable blocks to
the rear of large houses. Now they
have generally been converted to
separate homes and workspaces.
Modern versions of mews blocks
include smaller single aspect
homes above garages within the
block.

5. Courtyard block: Sometimes
buildings join to each other (party
wall) not just on either side but also
to the rear. This is a characteristic
form of many historic cities (like
York on the opposite page). There
are also modern versions of this
type of block with deep housing
types with an internal courtyard.

35

B.2.ii Building Line

35. Repairing Urban Blocks:
Infll sites can be an opportunity
to repair the block structure
and street grid of an area. This
example shows an infll site that
has been brought forward for
housing development.

Page 220
36

107. Attractive streets and other public spaces are generally defined by
the frontages of buildings around their edges.
108. A building line represents the alignment of the front face of the
buildings in relation to a street or other public space. The nature of this
line and its position in relation to the street contribute to the character
and identity of a place. It may be straight or irregular, continuous or
broken. A consistent approach to building line in an area type or street
type helps to give it a coherent identity.
36. Different area types are likely
to have different building
lines: A high street is likely to have
a continuous building line set close
to the street. In a suburban area the
building line may be set further back
from the street, with gaps in it.

37. Building Line Character: The shape of the building line will contribute to the
character of the area. Orthogonal arrangements are more likely to be found in urban
areas while curved streets are more suburban with detached building forms. The third
option with irregular geometry that can be seen in some historic urban areas, from cities
to villages.

Coding for the Building Line
109. Design codes may identify building
lines and their characteristics for each area
type to guide new development, including
circumstances that allow for exceptions, e.g.
where a mature tree interrupts the existing
building line or creates a public space or
forecourt.
110. They may also identify the proposed
building lines for a large site based on the
agreed masterplan, taking into account the
hierarchy of streets, as well as the proposed
area types.

Page 221

38. Building line plan: An example of a town centre
building line plan. The solid lines show existing
building lines and the dotted lines the places in which
the building line is to be repaired or recreated.
39. Set-back: The building line can also be established
by a set-back provision. This is the distance from
the back of pavement to the building. The size of
set-back will vary with the nature of the street. The
code may include rules for what can be built within a
set-back zone such as low walls, fences and bin and
bike stores.
Existing building line
Building line to reinstated
Development areas where a
new building line has been set
37

Building Line Characteristics
111. A design code may set parameters that
relate to the building line:
Variance: The code may specify how far
buildings are able to depart from the building
line. This will depend on the importance of
the frontage. In certain areas no variance will
be permitted. Elsewhere buildings or parts
of buildings might be allowed to set back
or project forward of the building line by a
prescribed distance.

Activity: The building line is the interface
between the interior of each building and
the public life of the street. A design code
may consider how the building line enables
interaction with the street (see Section U1.3).
Access: Design codes may specify how
buildings relate to the street in terms of
access. It may be appropriate for vehicle

Page 222

Compliance: The proportion of the building
line occupied by buildings may be specified.
In a centre, the building line is likely to be
continuous. In a suburb, there are likely to be
gaps between buildings.

40. Exceptions: Some
buildings can be set
back from the building
line.
41. Building Line
Compliance: Design
codes could specify
the percentage of the
building line to be flled
with buildings.

38

access, servicing and secondary pedestrian
access to be from the rear while the public or
main entrance and ‘address’ is through the
building line.
Eyes on the Street: Successful streets are
characterised by active edges and natural
surveillance, so that the street space is
overlooked from homes and businesses.

B.2.iii Height
112. Building heights influence the quality of a place in terms of its identity and the environment
for occupiers and users. Consistent building heights, or variation within a relatively narrow range,
can help to make an area type feel coherent. Large variations in height can make an area feel
dynamic.
113. The identity of an area type may be influenced by building heights, including in terms of its
overall scale, its skyline, key views and vistas and the relative prominence of landmark buildings.
Building height may also have an impact on local environmental conditions in neighbouring
properties, amenity spaces and public spaces in terms of daylight, sunlight, overshadowing,
wind and micro-climate. The placing of tall buildings needs to take account of their impact on
orientation and overshadowing of public and private spaces.

Page 223

114. The number of storeys is a common way to estimate the height of residential development
in suburban and rural area types. In urban area types and for mixed-use development, a more
precise measure is appropriate.

42. Heights: A design code may regulate
one or more of the following: eaves
or parapet height, roof height and
total height. Many building types have
projections that rise above the general
height of a roof. A code may either
allow for projections above a roof height
or defne a total height including for
projections. In both cases the area of any
projections may need to be defned in the
code.

m

m
22
m
19
5m

1

m
12
9m
6m
3m

30

43. The Street Section: The
eaves height will contribute to
the apparent height of buildings
and therefore the character of
the street.

m

26

m

22

m

18

m

14

m

10

6m

39

Eaves or parapet heights: In simple terms
multiplying the storey height by the number
of storeys will generate the eaves or parapet
height. This is the height of the building’s
walls excluding the roof. The eaves or parapet
height will usually be the apparent height of
the building from the street and so determine
the cross-section of the street. A code may
set out a maximum and possibly a minimum
eaves or parapet height for each area type
and type of street.

116. A tall building for the purpose of the
code would be any structure that exceeded
the general height guidance for a particular
area type. Tools that can assist with this
include:

•
•

Accessibility measures such as distances
and travel times to key facilities, including
public transport stops or hubs;
Characterisation studies and design
strategies, dealing with issues such as
urban form, historic character, building
typologies, prevailing sunlight and daylight
levels, green infrastructure and amenity
space.

117. The policy on the location of tall buildings
is likely to be part of the local plan and would
take into account the factors in Figure 53.

Page 224

Measuring height: It is also important
to specify how building height is to be
measured. Typically this will be the height
above pavement level. An alternative
approach is to use AOD (Above Ordnance
Datum) measurements. These are likely to be
more appropriate in area types with slopes, or
where ground levels may be reconfigured.

Tall Buildings
115. Tall buildings can be considered in
design codes. It may be appropriate to
include criteria for the locations of tall
buildings in some area types.

Variances: There may be situations or
locations where it is appropriate for a building
to be taller than those in its immediate
context, to create a local landmark or,
in certain area types, a tall building (see
overleaf). A design code may define criteria
to allow exceptions to height parameters in
specified circumstances.

40

44. Tall Building
Principles:
Topography,
characterisation studies
heritage assets, local
historic character and
conservation areas,
transport accessibility,
identifed long views and
skylines to be protected,
sensitive local
views, vistas
and gateways.

Check List: Built Form
Local design codes should consider:

B.2 Built Form

•

The maximum and minimum residential
densities relating to each area type.

•

•

Floor area ratio for commercial
development relating to each area type.

The separation of public and private
space and the use of blocks, including
cul-de-sacs and gated communities.

•

The design and types of block.

•

The party wall requirements relating to
each area type.

•

The use of infill sites to repair block
structures.

•

Establishing and repairing building lines.

•

The setback, variance, and compliance
with the building line for each area type.

•

The height of buildings for each area
type.

•

The location and height of tall buildings.

Page 225

B.1 Compact Development

41

41

Identity

Page 226
42

Introduction
118. The identity of a place comes not
just from the form and appearance of the
buildings and spaces but also from the way
that it is planned, its natural environment
and the use of its buildings. This includes
the way that it responds to the character of
the local area and the design of its buildings
and public spaces.

119. Identity may come out of respecting
and enhancing the existing character of the
area and also from adapting and shaping
to develop new character. The architectural
approach needs to be influenced by its
surrounding architectural character.

I.1 A Sense of Place
120. A sense of place is the quality that makes a place special and lodges it in the memory
so that people want to stay or return. It results from the combination of many factors.
Design codes may include guidance on how to draw inspiration from the existing context,
to create or enhance a sense of place through new development, and to follow some
simple principles of scale and proportion in the design of new buildings.

I.1.ii Legibility

121. The Context section sets out how a
design code starts from an analysis of its area
type, in order to understand the place. This
analysis informs the elements of a design
code and has particular importance when
addressing local identity.

123. The legibility of a place relates to how
easy it is for people to find their way around.
Certain characteristics of urban areas may
help make them easier to navigate. This is
particularly important to meet the needs of
specific people including those with dementia,
and other visual and mental disabilities. These
include: (See next page)

Page 227

I.1.i Local Character

122. The analysis will include local building
types, architectural styles, materials, detailing
and colour. While there are many beautiful
neighbourhoods, towns and historic villages,
there are also places whose existing
character is not particularly attractive. Existing
character is therefore something that must
be understood as a starting point for the
design of layouts and buildings so that they
fit into and also enhance the character of the
local area. Historic England guidance sets
out approaches to assessing the character of
places.

43

Paths: A clear and walkable network
of streets and other routes that doesn’t
involve diversions for pedestrians because
of the way that highways are designed.
(see Section M2).
Street hierarchy: A clear hierarchy of
streets whereby movement is related to
land uses and street character, for instance
so that shops and public uses are on a
high street.

Page 228

Neighbourhoods: Places with names and
a distinctive identity
Nodes: Meeting places and intersections
that are perceived as the centre of a
neighbourhood.

I.1.iii Masterplanning
124. On larger sites the first step in enhancing and creating local identity is to create a distinctive
masterplan for the site. Masterplans can take many forms and will need to be influenced by the
character of the surrounding area. In some cases, a formal masterplan with a grid of streets
will be appropriate, whereas elsewhere a more organic plan will fit better with the surrounding
context. However, there are a number of ways in which all masterplans can create a sense of
identity and character.
45. Creating Identity: Masterplans can be used to create a strong sense of place

Well-proportioned
streets: The width of the
street and the height of the
buildings relate to its place in
the street hierarchy.

Unique businesses:
Encouraging space for local
businesses which are distinctive to
the area.

Intensity: The idea that the density and
height of development rises towards nodes
including town centres and high streets.
Landmarks: Memorable built form
including landmarks (see B2.3)
Wayfinding: Clear and logical signage,
maps and local information.

Vista ends: Using taller buildings and
architectural expression on buildings that
close vistas along a street or square.
Neighbourhood character:
Using colour, materials or specifc
details to create a distinctive
character for different
neighbourhoods.

Marking
corners: Using
architectural features for
emphasis on corners.
Planting: Use of different street tree species
to create distinct identities for different
streets.

44

Public art: Encouraging the use of
public art in the design of buildings and
spaces as well as free-standing pieces.

Street design: Creating
a unifed pallet of materials and
street furniture to be used in
different area types.

I.2 The Identity of Buildings
125. The design of buildings includes their size and
shape and configuration, their relationship to their
surroundings as well as their internal layout. All of
this is dealt with elsewhere in this code. It is also
important to consider the way that the building
is designed, its elevations, the arrangements of
windows, the way it relates to the street, the design
of its roof, the details of its construction and the
materials that it uses.

Page 229

126. This relates to all buildings, although
exceptions may be agreed for high-profile new
buildings commissioned by public bodies through
competitions. The role of design codes is to
influence the design of the majority of buildings, the
housing, shops and workspaces that make up the
fabric of places.

Meeting the ground: It is important to consider
how buildings are grounded and relate to the street.
The following elements need to be considered:
Entrances, thresholds and
devices such as porches and
recesses to mark
entrances.

Meeting the sky: Townscape can be
enriched by using varied roof heights and forms.
Alternatively, a more formal character can be
created with a consistent roofine. This relates to
both the roofine and the eaves line.

A consistent parapet
line with an internal
gutter and concealed
roof

It also relates
to the design of
the ground foor,
which may use
different materials
or be treated
as a plinth.

I.2.i Building Design Principles
127. It is important that these buildings respond to the
parameters of height and building line set out in the
Built Form section. Their design also needs to consider
the principles set out on the following pages which deal
with houses, mid-rise apartment or office buildings and
tall buildings. These principles are independent of style,
and for each type we show examples of how they can
be applied to different types of building.
46. Façade Design: Regardless of architectural
style, there are a number of architectural
principles that all buildings need to consider in
their design.

Repetition of
consistent roof forms
The set back from the
street is also important, and
the boundary treatment
that can be a wall, fence
or railing depending on the
local vernacular.
45

Composition: The façade needs to
relate to both the external context and
the arrangement of internal spaces.
Windows need to be composed to
refect the daylight needs and hierarchy
of these spaces.

Windows: Elevations work best with
a wall to window ratio of 15-35%. The
proportion and design of windows can
shape the facade based on whether
they are horizontal or vertical, and the
depth of the reveals.

Page 230
This elevation shows a
30% glazing to wall ratio.

46

Articulation: Façades can beneft
from depth and articulation. This may
be achieved with architectural features
such as setbacks, balconies, porches
and bays. These set forward or back
from the main facade that relates to the
building line.

Materials and detail: The details
of design combine to enhance the
building. The choice of symmetry
or conscious asymmetry, the use of
colour, quality materials and detailing –
preferably drawn from the surrounding
context. A degree of complexity will
ensure that buildings are attractive from
a distance and close-up.

47. Housing Design Principles: The principles set out in Figure
46 can be applied to the design of housing regardless of style.
These three examples show housing of very different styles, but
they all follow the guidelines:

Materials: Local materials and
detailing.

Varied roofine: A variety of heights and roof
confgurations

Varied but consistent roofine: the eaves
height is consistent with regular dormers.

Page 231
Layering: Set-backs and bays provide
articulation for the façades

Portrait: Vertical window
confguration

Setbacks from the street with
walls and railings as boundary
features
Entrances: Porches and setbacks mark
entrances

47

48. Mid Rise Design Principles: Similar principles
can be applied to the design of mid-rise buildings,
including both apartments and offces.

Layering: Set backs and bays provide
articulation for the façades

Page 232

Varied roof line: A
variety of heights and
roof confgurations

Plinth: Where the
building meets the
ground

Portrait: Vertical window
confguration

48

Setbacks from the street with
privacy strip

Entrances: Porches mark entrances

49. Tall Buildings Design Principles: Tall buildings are,
by their nature, one-offs and need to be designed
to the highest architectural quality because of their
prominence. They can be designed in a variety of
architectural styles, but the following principles apply
to all tall buildings:

Check List: Identity

Local design codes should consider:
I.1 A Sense of Place

Top: The top of the building and its impact on the
skyline needs to be carefully considered. Services
needs to be concealed and both the street views and
the long views need to be considered.
Form: The form and silhouette of the building needs to
be considered. The long and short elevations need to
be well-proportioned in terms of their slenderness.

Composition, active frontage, top

Guidance on local character, materials
and detailing to be used locally.

•

Wayfinding and legibility strategies.

•

Masterplanning to create distinctive new
development.

I.2 The Identity of Buildings

Page 233

Materials: The use of materials need to be consistent
and simple.
Base: The tall building needs to follow the building
line at street level. To do this it may rise from a base or
plinth that is scaled to the surrounding buildings.
Public realm: Public spaces around the base of
tall buildings need to be generous, well designed and
contribute positively to the local context.

•

•

Design guidance for the design of
buildings based on local character
assessments.

•

Tall building design guidance.

Public realm

Entrance: The entrance to the tall building needs to
clearly marked.
Micro-climate: The tall building needs to be
considered in terms of overshadowing and wind. It may
be necessary to protect the surrounding public realm
from down draughts.
Active Frontage: If required by the design code the
ground foor of the tall building needs to include active
frontages.

Entrance

49

Public Space

Page 234
50

Introduction
128. The quality of public spaces is
partly about the way they are enclosed
by buildings and partly the way that they
are designed. In this section we set out
guidance for different types of street and
public space relating to the hierarchy
described in the Movement section. We
cover the scale and proportion of the space,
the way it deals with movement and traffic
and the design elements that contribute
to its success. These guidelines should
be adjusted to local conditions in design
codes.

129. Streets and roads make up threequarters of all public space. How they are
designed therefore has a significant impact
on people’s lives. Manual for Streets defines
common street types and functions, which
this code seeks to align with. These street
types include multifunctional streets and
spaces, each with different place and
movement functions. Further detail on how
each of these can be designed for, as part
of a code are set out below, and how these
can be coded for with additional street
types that could also be considered as part
of a design code. A forthcoming update of
Manual for Streets will seek to align with
this guidance.

High Rise City
Town/City Centre

Page 235

Urban Neighbourhood
Inner Suburb
Industrial Area
High Streets
Outer Suburb
Urban Green Space
Rural
Village

Alleyways/Back Streets

Arcades

Mews/Burgage Courts

Lanes

Home Zones

Local Streets

Secondary Streets

High Streets without Traffic

High Streets with Traffic

Primary Streets

50. Streets and Character Types:
The street types described in this
section should be adjusted in
response to local character and to
the area type in which the street
sits.

P.1 Streets
130. Section M2 described a hierarchy
of streets that characterise most places
and developments, based on the street
types and functions defined in Manual
for Streets and Manual for Streets 2,
together with other street types that may
be considered. All of these streets need to
balance the dual functions of movement
and place. Their design will vary both by
their position in the street hierarchy and
the area type that they pass through.
Other parts of the design code including
built form, movement, nature and use will
need to be considered in the design of
streets. Each type of street also needs
to take account of emerging trends: the
changing nature of transport, for increased
levels of active travel, with space being
reallocated from private motor traffic to
cycling and public transport; and climate
change, with space being allocated
from vehicle parking spaces to provide
sustainable drainage and incorporate
street trees.
131. A code may set out parameters for
these different street types as set out
below:

51

P.1.i Primary Streets

51. Primary Streets - Ring Roads/ Relief Roads: These streets can often be designed
to emphasise the sense of place, for example as avenues.

132. Primary streets are the main routes
carrying through traffic within settlements.

Page 236

133. Many relief roads and ring roads have
been designed to prioritise the flow of motor
traffic with grade-separated pedestrian
crossings and no frontage access. In many
cases, there is potential to convert them into
pedestrian-friendly streets. However, many
arterial routes and high streets do already
successfully accommodate pedestrians,
cyclists and frontage access.

52

Parkways: Streets with a wide
central grass reservation with
trees, along with carriageways and
pavements. These are sometimes
known as ‘parkways’ and are
suitable for suburban locations.

Boulevards: Streets with a central
carriageway for through traffc with
secondary one-way carriageways
for local traffc and parking with
trees along the median strip.

Avenues: Streets with a central
carriageway and wide tree-lined
verges, also known as an ‘Avenue’

Primary Streets, Arterial and High Streets: The following illustrations show examples of
different types of primary street. These vary according to the following factors:

Enclosure: The proportion of width to
building height will change by area type. In
city centres, local centres and on high streets,
the space will feel comfortable with building
heights equal to or greater than the width
of the space between them. In other area
types, the space will feel comfortable with
building heights at half the width of the space
between them.

Page 237

Frontage: Buildings need to front onto
and take their main access from the street.
If frontage access is diffcult secondary
carriageways may be used.
Active frontage and supervision:
Depends upon the area type: For city and
local centres and on high streets, there will
be active frontages including shops and other
services. For other area types, there will be
building frontages with eyes on the street.
Setbacks: The setback of buildings will
vary by area type: For city and local centres
and on high streets, there may be little or no
setback, and this would normally be a zone
for outdoor seating or displays. For other
area types, the setback may be substantial.
Where buildings do not provide enclosure,
street trees can create a sense of enclosure,
subject to local character.

Footways: The street should have
pavements of at least 2m unobstructed width
for pedestrians with crossings as necessary.
Street furniture may be provided such as
seating, appropriate to projected users, space
and where clear access can be maintained.
Further information on designing footways
can be found in Manual for Streets.
Service Roads: In some circumstances
one-way service roads can run on either side
of a main carriageway to provide servicing
and frontage access.
On street parking: May be provided.
Verges and median strips: Can be
considered where space is available.
Green infrastructure: Street trees,
planting and swales can be provided.
Bus/tram lanes: Where possible
dedicated lanes should be provided for
buses or trams. Care will be needed to
ensure that stops are accessible and safe for
pedestrians.

52. An example of an urban
primary street

Cycle facilities: Dedicated cycle routes in
both directions wherever possible.
Carriageways: One or two lanes for
through traffc in one or each direction.
53

T

LO

54

P

T

LO

P

Page 238

53. An example of a
suburban primary
street

54. An example of a
retail high street
with traffc

Page 239
55. An example of a low
traffc / traffc free
high street.

56. An example of a
market town high
street

55

P.1.ii Local and Secondary Streets
134. Secondary streets perform an important
function within settlements. They normally
link to high streets and provide access
into neighbourhoods. Without them more
traffic would be forced to use the local
street network. Secondary streets can
accommodate shops and retail space.
They can also be good locations for cafés
and restaurants as well as community
facilities such as schools, health service and
community centres.

Page 240

135. These streets need to be designed to
meet their movement functions, including
traffic, cycling and walking and also to create
a pleasant environment for their users.
136. Most of the streets in a settlement are
local streets. These have a number of roles:
First and foremost, as an attractive
community focus for the people who live
and work there.
As safe and convenient routes for walking
and cycling.
Providing for emergency access and
servicing, including access for emergency
services, accommodating refuse storage
and collection and allowing deliveries.
Accommodating low levels of traffic at low
speeds.
56

57. Secondary street and local high streets:
These are important streets that sit between primary
streets and local streets. This is an example of a
potential layout.

Local Streets:
58. (top) An example of a 14m wide urban street with three-storey buildings creating an
enclosure ratio of 1:1.5
59. (bottom) An example of a 24m wide suburban street with two-storey buildings
creating an enclosure ratio of 1:4.
Enclosure: Will vary by area type: In urban
neighbourhoods, streets feel comfortable
where the width of the space is only a little
wider than the height of the buildings. In
suburban neighbourhoods the width of the
street is likely to be at least twice that of the
building height.

Page 241

Frontage: Buildings can front onto the street
and take their main access from it. In urban
neighbourhoods, many of the buildings will be
terraced. In suburban neighbourhoods, many
of the buildings may be semi-detached or
detached and they may have crossovers or
drives.
Active frontage and supervision: In
urban neighbourhoods and inner suburbs,
active frontages will be permitted but not
required. There will be eyes on the street. In
suburban neighbourhoods, active frontages
may be permitted or not permitted. Eyes on
the street may not be a requirement for an
area type with strongly planted plot boundaries.
Setbacks: Will vary by area type. In urban
neighbourhoods, housing may be set back
by between 0.5 and 3m to provide a

privacy strip or small front garden. This may
also accommodate a bin store and a low
boundary wall, railing or fence. In suburban
neighbourhoods, setbacks may be larger than
this to provide larger front gardens.
Footways: The street should have pavements
of at least 2m unobstructed width for
pedestrians with crossings as necessary. Street
furniture may be provided such as seating,
appropriate to projected users, space and
where clear access can be maintained. Further
information on designing for footways can be
found in Manual for Streets.
Servicing: Deliveries and refuse collection will
take place from the front of the property. There
may be a separate access to the back garden.
On-street parking: May be provided in
designated bays where space is available.
Green infrastructure: Street trees may
be provided on at least one side of the street
within the parking zone. Verges/ swales/ rain
gardens may be provided.
Cycle facilities: As traffc levels are low,
segregated facilities are less likely to be
necessary

57

P.1.iii Tertiary Streets
137. In some area types there will be other existing or proposed street types that perform
different functions and have different design parameters. It may be appropriate for design codes
to be specific about these depending on local conditions.
60. Types of Tertiary Street: There are a wide variety of other street types that characterise existing
development and may be used to inform new schemes.

Page 242

Rural/village lanes:
These have a distinctive
character. They may not have
separate footpath or street lighting
and may have constrained vehicular access,
depending on local character. Design codes
may seek to extend this character, particularly
where lanes are to be incorporated into new
development.

Mews streets:
Traditional mews
streets provided access to
the rear of large houses. They can
be accessed through an archway from
the main street and have no pavements.
58

Alleyways: Many
historic towns and cities
include a network of alleyways. They
can provide established and well-used
pedestrian routes that need to be preserved in
new development. 19th century housing areas
can include rear alleyways that provide access
to back yards.

Back streets: A
network of back streets
provides access to the rear of
properties for servicing. These are
often narrow without pavements.

Burgage courts:
Historic towns and
villages can have burgage
courts. These provide access into
deep burgage plots and can be fronted by
cottages. They provide access off the high
street, often through an archway and may
allow vehicle access.

Closes and
cul-de-sacs: Short
residential streets to open
up sites where through streets are
not possible.

P.2 Social Interaction

P.2.i Meeting Places

138. Streets and other public spaces such as public squares have an important
social function to bring people together and to act as a focus for community life.
Parks and other green spaces described in section N1 also contribute towards
social interaction. Special consideration needs to be given to safety, multifunctional and generational spaces and reducing the risk of crime.

139. Many neighbourhoods include public spaces as
focal points at the heart of the community. They may
include city and town squares, market places and
village greens. Squares can be green spaces enclosed
by railings, or paved surfaces for use as markets and
public events. All of these spaces provide informal
settings for activities such as meeting, resting, playing,
holding events and parking.

61. Types of Public Square

Page 243
Village green: One of the oldest forms of public space.
It is normally grassed with roads around its edge and also
possibly a pub or local shop.

Town square: An example of a town square, with hard
standing, roads on three sides, and opportunities for
markets and other public events. This type of square would
often be the setting for a public building and sculpture.

Garden square: An example of a garden square typically
found in London but also common in new development.
Roads on four sides enclose a green space bounded by
railings.

59

62. Principles of Public Space Design.

Scale: Public spaces need to be
appropriately sized and proportioned. In
new development, it is good practice to
identify suitable precedents to inform their
dimensions.
Enclosure: The size of a square is informed
by the scale of surrounding buildings.
Typically, the enclosure ratio of the short
dimension of a square is at least twice the
height of the buildings.

Page 244

Public uses: Squares may act as a focus
for public uses such as educational buildings,
churches, pubs, restaurants and cafes. They
are also gathering space for uses that draw
large numbers of people.
Events: Facilities can be provided for various
types of event, ranging from outdoor stages
and tiered seating to market stalls, or power
supply and lighting.
Traffc: Squares can accommodate some
local traffc around their edge, ideally not on
all four sides.
Frontage: Buildings can frame a square,
take their main access from it and provide a
continuous building line around it.
Active frontage: Active frontages need
to be provided around a public square,
preferably at least two sides of it.
60

Setbacks: Buildings will normally
be positioned at the back of pavement
around the square.
Servicing: Deliveries may be from the rear
of properties or from the square itself with
provision being made for deliveries.
On-street parking: On-street parking may
be accommodated either permanently or
when not being used for other activities.
Green infrastructure: Trees may be
provided within squares. The type of trees
and their position will depend on the function
of the square, so as not to compromise the
fexibility of the space.

P.2.ii Multi-functional Streets

Surfacing: Home zones often include shared
surfacing but can also include low kerbs and
separately marked pavements.
Street furniture: Can create sitting areas and act
as barriers for cars.

Planting: The street can accommodate planters and trees.
Cars: Speeds are reduced to walking pace with parking
potentially accommodated in chevron spaces.
Signs: Should clearly mark the entrance to the zone.

Play: Small play areas create community space.

Page 245

140. Many high streets have been pedestrianised,
and where this is done well, it can help boost
trade and create a more welcoming environment.
Pedestrianisation can be done in various ways
– either full time, during shopping hours only
or at weekends only. Alternatively, where full
pedestrianisation is not appropriate, access for
vehicles may be retained but the street design
rebalanced to give more road space to walking
and cycling. There are often concerns that
reallocating road space will have a negative
impact on business. However, evidence shows
that people who walk and cycle take more trips
to the high street over the course of a month
than people who drive. Making access to high
streets easier by walking and cycling has a
proven economic benefit.

63. Home Zones

P.2.iii Home Zones

141. Home zone principles can be applied on
local streets. They are defined in guidance as
residential streets where ‘people and vehicles
share the whole of the street space safely
and on equal terms, where quality of life takes
precedence over ease of traffic movement’.
Vehicle speeds are reduced to walking pace.
They can form part of the street hierarchy in new
development or be retrofitted into existing streets.
Many homes zones use one-way streets and
chevron parking to slow traffic and create space
for planting and local play space.
61

P.3 Security and Public Space
142. Reducing crime has a significant impact on building strong communities and
ensuring the long-term sustainability of a development. The increasing threat of terrorism
also needs to be considered in the design of public spaces.

P.3.i Secured by Design

Page 246

143. Neighbourhoods need to be designed
to make people feel safe and to reduce the
incidence of crime in accordance with the
recommendations of Secured by Design
which includes guidance for housing,
commercial space, schools, hospitals and
sheltered accommodation. Support and
advice is available from the police through
a network of Designing Out Crime Officers
(DOCOs) across the UK. Secured by Design
advice incorporates proven crime prevention
techniques and measures into the layout and
design of places and spaces.
144. Insecure places can disproportionately
affect some of the groups with protected
characteristics. Local authorities will need
to take this into account when devising and
implementing design principles, having regard
to the Public Sector Equality Duty, under the
Equality Act 2010, which includes the need to
have due regard to eliminate discrimination,
harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by the Act.

62

64. Secured by
Design Principles
Access and movement: Places with well-defned
routes, spaces and entrances that provide for convenient
movement without compromising security.
Safe routes: Creating safe routes that are as straight
as possible, wide, well lit, without hiding places and wellmaintained and overlooked.
Structure: Places that are structured so that different uses
do not cause confict.

Surveillance: Places where
all publicly accessible spaces are
overlooked.
Ownership: Places that promote a sense of
ownership, respect, territorial responsibility and community.
Physical protection: Places that include necessary, welldesigned security features.

Lighting: Ensuring appropriate lighting levels are achieved.

Activity: Places where the level of human activity is
appropriate to the location reduces the risk of crime and
creates a sense of safety at all times.

Private space: Creating a clear separation between
public and private spaces, avoiding public routes next to
back gardens.

Management and maintenance: Places that are
designed with management and maintenance in mind, to
discourage crime in the present and the future.

P.3.ii Counter Terrorism
145. The design of town centres and other
public spaces needs to take account of
potential terrorist attacks. The main impact
is on the prevention of hostile vehicles
gaining access to areas where there are large
numbers of people, such as public squares
or shopping streets. These measures can
be incorporated discreetly into the design of
landscaping and street furniture within the
public realm to provide proportionate security
measures without impinging on the needs of
local businesses or functionality of the public
space. Street furniture can play an important
role.

Check List: Public Space
Local design codes should consider:
P.1 Streets
•

A framework plan showing the existing
street hierarchy for the authority area.

•

Guidance on the design of new - and the
upgrade of existing - streets related to
the area type that they run through and
relating to Manual for Streets.

P.2 Social Interaction

Page 247

•

Guidance on the design of public spaces
and squares.

•

Multi-functional streets and Home Zones
including where they can be used and
how they should be designed.

63

Use

Introduction
146. Sustainable places include a mix
of uses that support everyday activities,
including to live, work and play. Welldesigned places have:
a mix of uses including local services
and facilities to support daily life;

Page 248
64

an integrated mix of housing tenures
and types to suit people at all stages
of life; and
well-integrated housing and other
facilities that are designed to be tenure
neutral and socially inclusive.
147. Design codes could seek to facilitate
a mix of uses that reflect local needs and
support community life.

U.1 Variety and Activity

U.1.i Efficient Use of Land

148. Successful places generally contain a mixed community and mix of uses creating
variety and activity. The degree will vary within different area types, but opportunities need
to be sought in all circumstances to make efficient use of land, promote a mix of uses that
meet local needs and create vitality through activity in compact development.

149. Using land efficiently means getting the
maximum possible benefit from a site or area,
taking into account relevant constraints.

65. Urban Intensifcation Options:

Backyard development
Infll development on
vacant site

Development of airspace
over retail units

150. This can help to achieve desirable social
and environmental outcomes, facilitate the
efficient use of resources and infrastructure
and reduce pressure on greenfield sites.
151. Efficient land use could involve:
Co-locating higher density housing with
shops, services and public transport
nodes

Page 249

Coding for the intensification of lower
density areas that use land inefficiently.

Garden development accessed
from the side of property

Providing substantial, accessible, useable
green/public spaces rather than multiple
small strips and verges.

Upward extension
within height guidelines

Infll unit on corner
slot site designed to avoid
overlooking

Consolidating surface parking
infrastructure into multi-storey car parks
or car barns.
Building over surface car parks.

U.1.ii Mix
Redevelopment of existing
units at higher density for
apartments

66. Suburban Intensifcation Options:

152. A mix of uses involves the co-location of
different types of development within a single
walkable area.
65

153. The correct balance of uses will help
increase the amount of activity in an area
throughout the day, reduce overall travel,
encourage sustainable travel and support
shops and services with a critical mass of
people. This will contribute to the creation of
sustainable and successful places.
154. Design codes could help to facilitate a
mix of uses by:
Coding for specific uses (if a desired mix
is known).

Page 250

Coding for flexible building typologies in
new development that would allow for
changing uses over time.
Flexibility of established use classes.
Enabling the conversion of existing
buildings for different uses.

U.1.iii Active Frontage
155. An active frontage means that buildings
have ground (and sometimes upper) floors
with windows and doors facing onto the
street, creating interest and activity. Related
uses might include shops, cafés, commercial
premises or services but can also include
residential uses.
156. Active frontages can provide informal
surveillance opportunities improving the safety
66

of an area and creating vitality through the
presence and interaction of people.
157. Active frontages are associated with
uses that generate many visits, particularly on
foot, over the course of the day. In a primarily
residential area, active frontages might be
achieved through doors and windows facing
onto the street. In a local centre, this might be
achieved by coding for active uses at ground
floor.
158. Design codes could help facilitate active
frontages by:
Specifying a proportion of building
frontage that should be active for each
street.
Specifying a proportion of active
uses for a particular area.
Specifying ground floor ceiling heights
to allow flexibility of uses in town
centres and high streets.
Requiring new buildings to have
main entrances and windows facing
onto the street.
Encouraging the inclusion of
balconies and larger windows
for higher density residential.
Requiring commercial
developments to use glazing
at ground floor.

67. Active Ground Floor Uses: There are a variety
of activities that can create an active ground foor in
addition to shops, cafes, restaurants and bars.
Co-housing and student housing schemes can
include communal facilities for residents. Offce
foyers have large windows and can even include
cafes and other activities. Studios and workshops for
crafts people and small businesses can be located
on the ground foor. Community uses can also be
included on ground foors and ground foor residential
accommodation can also be designed to relate well to
the street.

U.2 Housing Mix
159. Successful neighbourhoods contain a rich mix of
people, including families and the elderly, young people
and students, people with physical disabilities and those
with mental health needs. This, in turn, requires a variety of
housing in terms of tenure, type and construction.

SOCIAL HOUSING:
Housing provided
at controlled
rents for people in
housing need by
registered social
housing providers
and local councils.

U.2.i Housing for All
160. There are a wide variety of housing tenures that could form
part of new development and achieving the right mix will help to
create diverse, equitable and resilient communities where people
are able to access the homes they want or need.

Page 251

161. The correct mix of tenures will depend on the socioeconomic context of the local and wider area. Local plans and
other local policies will include guidance around housing need and
the provision of different tenures.
162. The design code could help facilitate an appropriate mix of
tenures and fair approaches to provision by:
Providing additional guidance about where the tenures
required by local policy should be located.
Illustrating the mix of tenures in an area. This could include a
combination of the tenures set out opposite.
Specifying tenure blind development (i.e. where there is
no distinction between the visual appearance and general
location of different tenures).
Requiring the same shared entrances and facilities are
available for all tenants within a building.

HOUSING FOR
OLDER PEOPLE:
independent living,
sheltered housing,
extra care housing,
care homes
and retirement
communities and
other specialist
housing;

SHARED EQUITY:
Housing that is
partly sold and
partly rented

68. Toolkit of housing
tenures

AFFORDABLE
HOUSING: Social
rented, afordable
rented and
intermediate
housing, provided
to eligible
households whose
needs are not met
by the market

HOUSING FOR
YOUNGER PEOPLE:
Specialist housing
for younger
people, student
housing, co-living
accommodation.

HOUSING FOR
SALE: Housing
built by private
housebuilders
for sale including
various forms of
discounted sale
such as frst-time
buyer schemes
and rent to buy
initiatives

PRIVATE RENTED:
Housing available
at market
rents, including
institutional
investors, are
creating bespoke
rental blocks in
the Private Rented
Sector (PRS) often
with communal
facilities.

SUPPORTED
HOUSING: Specialist
housing to meet
the needs of
vulnerable people;

CO-HOUSING: That
allows people
to buy a stake in
the development
rather than an
individual home.
This is increasingly
popular with
community
housing schemes.

67

U.2.ii Type
163. Housing type refers to the size, purpose
and arrangement of housing.
164. There are a wide variety of housing
types and achieving the right mix is another
component (along with tenure) of helping
to create diverse, equitable and resilient
communities where people are able to access
the homes they want or need.

Page 252

165. The correct mix of tenures will depend
on the socio-economic context of the local
and wider area. Local plans and other local
policies will include guidance around housing
need and the provision of different types.

Houses: Self-contained units with ground
level access. They can be terraced, semidetached or detached, with narrow, medium
or wide frontages normally with a garden to
the front and rear. Special house types may
be appropriate for higher density schemes.
These can include courtyard units, mews
blocks, corner blocks and house types that
sit below or above other accommodation
while maintaining a ground floor access.

Apartments: Self-contained dwellings
accessed from communal space. The most
common form is the single aspect apartment
which can cause environmental issues in
terms of light and ventilation. Gallery access
and limited apartments per core can facilitate
dual aspect apartments that address such
issues.

69. Toolkit of Housetypes:
Terraced

Semi-detached

Detached

Wide frontage

Mews houses

Specials

166. The design code could help facilitate an
appropriate mix of housing types by:

Providing additional guidance about
where the types required by local policy
should be located.
Requiring a particular mix of types in
a particular area. This could include a
combination of the types set out below.
Allowing/encouraging the conversion of
existing housing into a different type.

68

Town Houses

Courtyard houses

Corner houses

U.3 Community

Live work units: All homes should preferably
be designed with the flexibility to be used for
homeworking. Live/work units go further by
providing workspace on the ground floor, a
flexible first floor and living accommodation
above.
Shared housing: Including multigenerational homes and private rented
schemes for single adults to share.
Elderly person housing: Housing for older
people and those with other needs. Including
retirement villages, independent living, extra
care, sheltered housing, care homes and high
dependency units.

Page 253

Co-housing: Schemes can be made up of
a combination of the units described above
with shared meeting, dining and leisure
facilities.
Self-build and Custom-build: Design
codes can facilitate the growth of the sector
by encouraging self and custom-build
both on infill sites and on larger schemes
where plot-based masterplans that enable
individuals to build their own homes.

70. A live/work unit: With ground foor workspace, top
foor housing and a fexible middle foor that can be
used for either.
71. Custom-build homes: Allow residents to customise
their home based on a ‘plot passport’ and a standard
‘kit of parts’.

167. Local community is fostered by a mix
of housing and public spaces and the type
of activities permitted within them. It is
also nurtured by community involvement
in design and management (see Lifespan
section). It is important to provide a mix
of community facilities integrated into the
scheme, including schools, healthcare,
other local facilities and community
spaces.

U.3.i Schools
168. Schools and nurseries comprise an
important part of the community facilities
serving an area. They can provide a focus
for community life and incorporate important
facilities beyond educational uses. They
can also create activity that supports local
shops and other services. Guidance on the
provision, land requirements and design of
schools is provided by the Department for
Education.
169. Schools need to be located to be as
accessible as possible to the communities
which they serve and to provide maximum
support to local shops and services. There
needs to be sufficient provision to serve local
need where appropriate.

69

170. Design codes could support the positive
delivery and integration of schools into the urban
fabric by the following measures. Guidance on
design codes for schools to be provided by the
Department for Education.

72. Urban School: In urban areas
schools can be built on a number
of storeys within a
block structure.

Suggesting locations for schools that
maximise usability for the community and
supports local shops and services, where
appropriate.

Page 254

Providing guidance on factors that need to
be considered when integrating a school
into a neighbourhood (e.g. noise, traffic
congestion, overlooking).
Providing guidance on the design of
schools, taking into account the following
components:

73. Suburban School: In lower
density areas schools occupy
larger sites but still need to create
a clear separation between public
and private realm.

Built form: Schools can have a key role in being nodes/markers and
as public buildings could have a different character/scale/form from the
main fabric of a settlement.
Building line: New school buildings could face onto streets and
squares and could relate to the identifed building line. Set-backs may be
appropriate to create a setting for the building.
Height: Heights of school buildings will be determined by DfE guidance
and could be appropriate to the area types in which they sit.
Access: There may be separate entrances for children and visitors, and
the former will need to take account of school drop-off and collection
while encouraging active travel with car use and parking reduced where
possible. Entrances need to be from the street or public places.
Public and private space: A key issue is the management of
public and private space. Ideally the setting of the school building and
associated safeguarding measures would consider the transition from the
street into the managed space of the school.

70

U.3.ii Community Facilities
171. Community spaces are those that
can be used by the wider public or specific
resident groups for a range of activities.
They play a vital role in the social life of
communities, acting as a self-organising
public service and supporting community
cohesion. They can also create activity that
supports local shops and other services.

Page 255

172. Such spaces need to be located to be
as accessible as possible to the communities
which they serve and to provide maximum
support to local shops and services. There
needs to be sufficient provision to serve local
need.
173. Design codes could support the positive
delivery and integration of community spaces
into the urban fabric by:
Requiring the provision of community
spaces within new development
dependent on scheme size and mix.
Providing guidance about the location and
design of community spaces to maximise
accessibility to the community, minimise
disruption and ensure security/safety.
Allowing/encouraging the conversion of
existing buildings to community uses.

1.Cultural and community facilities:
village halls, community hubs and other
cultural facilities.

74. Local facilities that should be accessible in all
neighbourhoods:

2. Local shops: The design code needs
to provide guidance for the design of and
access to local shopping facilities.
3. Pubs/cafés: Local shops can include
cafés and other food and beverage uses
where people can meet and, increasingly,
work.
4. Medical facilities: All areas need
medical facilities, including doctor’s surgeries,
district nurses, dentists and chemists. GP’s
mostly work in group practices in health
centres, so only the largest schemes will be
required to include them. Health facilities
need to be in accessible locations at the heart
of a community and planned in co-operation
with relevant health and care organisations.
5. Places of worship: New buildings for
religious worship are an important community
function as places of congregation and
community and need to be integrated into
new development.

2

4

4

1

1

School

5

6. Homeworking hubs: Homeworking
employees can support local facilities and
there may also be scope to provide facilities
to support home workers. Hubs include
meeting spaces, shared resources such as
printers, and even a delivery address.
71

U.3.iii Local Services
174. There are a number of other services
that provide a vital function in supporting
community life and reducing the need for
travel (U15).
175. Ideally people need to be able to meet
most of their day to day needs within a
walkable radius of their home.
176. Design codes could support the positive
delivery and integration of local services into
the urban fabric by:

Page 256

Requiring the provision of local services
within new development dependent on
scheme size and mix.
Providing guidance about the location
and design of local services to maximise
accessibility to the community and
support for existing shops and services.
Allowing/encouraging the conversion of
existing buildings to local services.

72

Check List: Use

Local design codes should consider:

U.1 Variety and Activity

U.3 Community

•

•

The design and location of urban and
suburban schools.

•

The design and location of community
centres.

•

Accessibility, mix and design of local
services.

The intensification of existing areas
including in which area types it is
appropriate and including guidance on
how it should be done.

•

The provision of a mix of uses in each
area type and on how this should be
measured.

•

The provision and design of active
frontages for each area type.

U.2 Housing Mix
•

The mix and integration of housing
tenures and achieving tenure-blind
development.

•

The mix of house types and tenures.

•

Live-work units, how they are defined
and where they can be located.

72

Homes and
Buildings

Introduction
177. Well-designed homes and buildings
are functional, accessible and sustainable.
They provide attractive environments that
support the health and wellbeing of their
users. They meet a diverse range of needs,
are adequate in size, fit for purpose and
adaptable. They relate positively to the
spaces around them and allow for easy
operation and servicing.

178. Design policies can support the
development of well-designed homes and
buildings by addressing space standards,
accessibility, lighting, privacy, security and
the delineation of public and private spaces.
179. The requirements in this section need
to be balanced against other design code
considerations and the detail design of
inter-related requirements resolved at
project level.

Page 257
73

H.1 Housing Quality
H.1.i Space Standards
180. Space standards are minimum
requirements for internal space within new
dwellings and include Gross Internal (floor)
Area, and dimensions for key parts of the
home including bedrooms, storage and floor
to ceiling height. They help to ensure that
new homes contribute to the health, family
function and wellbeing of residents.

Page 258

75. Nationally
Described Space
Standards

Number of
bedrooms

1b
2b
3b
4b
5b
6b

74

181. Space standards are set at a national
level by the Nationally Described Space
Standards 2015 and are optional for local
planning authorities to adopt, subject to local
plan viability testing and approval by the
Planning Inspectorate.
182. Design codes can support the delivery
of housing quality by including Nationally
Described Space Standards. These need to
be included in local plan policy and can be
referenced in the code.

Number of 1 Storey
bed spaces dwellings
(persons)
1p
2p
3p
4p
4p
5p
6p
5p
6p
7p
8p
6p
7p
8p
7p
8p

39(37)*
50
61
70
74
86
95
90
99
108
117
103
112
121
116
125

2 Storey
dwellings

58
70
79
84
93
102
97
106
115
124
110
119
128
123
132

3 Storey
dwellings

Built-in
storage
1.0
1.5
2.0

90
99
108
103
112
121
130
116
125
134
129
138

2.5

3.0

3.5

4.0

H.1.ii Accessibility
183. Accessible homes can be easily
reached, entered and used by everyone,
regardless of age and physical ability.
Providing accessible housing is important in
ensuring that the needs of older and disabled
people are met, as well creating the flexibility
for homes to meet the changing needs of
individuals and families at different stages of
life. Doing so allows people to remain within
the community, contributing to their individual
wellbeing and the social cohesion of the area.
184. At a national level building regulations
set out three categories of accessibility and
local planning authorities are expected to
set requirements for accessibility that reflect
local needs. Design codes can support the
delivery of accessible housing by requiring a
percentage of development, or development
delivered in certain areas, to meet the
standards for the higher categories (2 and 3).
These need to be included in local plan policy
and can be referenced in the code.

Internal layouts that maximise
access to natural daylight

77. Dual Aspect
Apartments:

185. A considerable amount of time is
spent daily in the home environment.
Internal home quality and its immediate
surroundings are key determinants of the
health status of the general population
and those from vulnerable and protected
characteristics groups.

Appropriate levels of glazing to
ensure adequate internal lighting
without problems of overheating
(see Section R1:3)

1. Single aspect fats should
not face north.

186. The built environment has a
significant impact on people’s health
and wellbeing. This relates across the
design code with regard to walkable
neighbourhoods, access to greenery and
recreation, attractive buildings and public
spaces, space standards, and strong
communities. There are also specific
elements relating to the impact of the
design of homes and buildings that affect
wellbeing including daylight, aspect and
privacy, security and access to private
outdoor space.

Application of privacy distances
and their effect on layout

Page 259

H.2 Health and Wellbeing

Dual aspect apartments
particularly on north facing blocks.

1

2. Apartments accessed from
a balcony have two aspects.

2

3. Walk-up apartments can
also be designed so that every
apartment has two aspects

Front gardens and privacy strips

3
76. Privacy Distance:
Privacy distances are important but can have
an impact on the density of development.
There would not normally be a privacy
distance at the front of the property.

H.2.i Lighting Aspect and Privacy
187. Good quality housing creates a pleasant
indoor environment with adequate levels
of natural lighting, and sunlight, without
problems of overheating, good quality
ventilation and privacy from overlooking. In
preparing design codes, consideration needs
to be given to:
75

H.2.ii Security

H.2.iii Gardens and Balconies

188. People’s feeling of security within their home is influenced by the design of the home
and the way that it relates to its neighbours. This also relates to gardens and the security
of parked cars and bikes.

192. Access to external private space is important
for people’s wellbeing. Design guides may include
minimum standards for the provision of private
open space.

189. The layout of dwellings should ensure that homes and places are easy to move
around and safe and secure as set out in Secured by Design guidance. Layouts need
to ensure natural surveillance from buildings to public spaces, encourage community
interaction, engagement and participation and environmental control.
190. Housing plots need to include fences to the rear and defensible space/front gardens
at the front with a boundary treatment or planting to keep people away from windows.

Page 260

191. In suburban area types cars parked on plot will be more secure. Where rear parking
courts are necessary, consideration needs to be given to security, through natural
surveillance or gating. Bike parking should also be secure and where possible in the
curtilage of the dwelling.

76

78. Security and the Home

193. This may include the size of back gardens
related to the size or expected occupancy of the
home. It may also include a requirement for a
setback of the home from the street (see Section
B2:ii) and provide guidance for how this is treated
including the boundary treatment, such as a wall,
hedge or fence.
194. Guidance may also be provided about the
provision and size of balconies on apartments.
79. The Provision of Private
Gardens

Communal Gardens
195. Communal, semi-private space can be
provided for residents within urban blocks
which is not accessible to the general public
and is generally situated with perimeter
blocks accessible either by communal
entrances or direct from properties.
Scale: The size of the space will be
determined by the scale of the block and
the amenity it is required to provide.

80. Principles of Courtyard Design.

Check List:

Local design codes should consider:

Page 261

Parking: Parking of vehicles and cycles
within communal gardens needs to be
separate from amenity uses. Communal
gardens can be created over basement or
semi-basement parking and the design of
the garden can incorporate ventilation for the
parking.
Private gardens: Communal
gardens can be accessed directly
from the surrounding property
or from communal areas.
Consideration needs to be given
to privacy space around the
perimeter of communal gardens.

H.1 Housing Quality
•

Whether the Nationally Described Space
Standards are to be applied locally. This
is subject to tests on need and viability
and should be referenced to the local
plan.

•

Whether local policy will include a
requirement for Category 2 or 3 levels
of accessibility in accordance with Part
M4(1-3)

H.2 Health and wellbeing
•

Privacy distances
Internal daylight and sunlight
Dual aspect homes

Access: External access to
communal gardens would
normally be gated.
Enclosure: The degree of enclosure
will be determined by the height of the
surrounding buildings, sunlight and daylight
criteria and environmental factors.

Measures to promote the health and
wellbeing of residents, including:

Uses: Communal gardens can
include a range of communal
uses leisure, health and wellbeing
activities and social uses and
meeting rooms.

•

The application of Secured by
Design principles to the home and its
surroundings.

•

The provision of private open space
including gardens and balconies.

•

The provision and design of communal
open spaces.

77

Resources

Page 262
78

Introduction
199. Well-designed places and buildings
conserve natural resources including
buildings, land, water, energy and materials.
Their design responds to the impacts of
climate change by being energy efficient
and minimising carbon emissions to meet
net zero targets by 2050. It identifies
measures to achieve: mitigation, primarily
by reducing greenhouse gas emissions
and minimising embodied energy; and
adaptation to anticipated events, such as
rising temperatures and the increasing risk
of flooding.

200. A compact and walkable
neighbourhood with a mix of uses and
facilities reduces demand for energy and
supports health and wellbeing. It uses land
efficiently so helps adaptation by increasing
the ability for CO2 absorption, sustaining
natural ecosystems, minimising flood risk
and the potential impact of flooding, and
reducing overheating and air pollution.
201. Forthcoming changes to environmental
performance standards set out in the Future
Homes Standard will be included in the
Building Regulations and applied nationally
in order to meet zero- carbon targets. The
following elements can be addressed locally,
and these can be included in design codes.

R.1 Energy
R.1.i Energy Hierarchy

R.1.ii Energy Efficiency

202. The Energy Hierarchy is a classification
of energy options, prioritised to assist
progress towards a more sustainable energy
system. Design codes can include a local
energy hierarchy based on energy efficiency
standards, renewable energy sources and
renewable energy networks.

203. Local authorities can set policies for
energy efficiency higher standards for their
area or in relation to specific development
sites or areas. The materials, construction
and orientation of buildings dictate their
energy efficiency. There are multiple ways
of reducing energy waste. In developing

Page 263

81. Passive Design
and Orientation

policies, consideration should be given to
improving energy efficiency, which may
address the selection of materials for thermal
and solar performance, retrofitting existing
buildings, design and orientation construction
techniques and assessing whole life costs.
These requirements need to be balanced
against other design code considerations and
the detail design of inter-related requirements
resolved at project level.

Passive design: The layout and orientation of new buildings contributes
to reducing their energy needs by avoiding overshadowing, maximising
passive solar gain, internal daylight levels and ventilation.
Solar energy generation: The layout and orientation of roofscapes
need to maximise opportunities for solar PV generation with south-facing
roof space and the use of refective surfaces.
Other technologies: consider adequate space in masterplanning and
plots for homes for new and emerging technologies such as ground and
air source heat pumps for example.
Orientation: Ensuring good levels of natural lighting to habitable rooms
whilst minimising the risk of overheating, provides benefts for both health
and energy effciency. Careful modulation of heights and roofscape can
maximise the sunlight to each unit. South facing single aspect homes
that lead to overheating and north-facing single aspect fats needs to be
avoided.
79

82. Form Factor: Is the proportion of foor area to
external wall area and can have a signifcant impact
on energy effciency. Urban building forms such as
terraces and apartments minimise heat loss with a low
form factor.

84. Low Energy Networks:

Page 264

83. Micro-climate: Schemes needs to consider micro-climate, particularly wind
impact on exposed sites or where taller buildings are proposed. This affects
the usability of the public realm and the energy demands of buildings.

Low renewable energy:
Delivered through air, water and
ground source heat pumps.
Retroftting: Upgrading
the energy performance of
existing houses.

Solar PV panels:
Using south-facing roofs.
Waste recycling: Communal
bins with underground storage.
80

Energy centre: Local battery
storage linked to the grid.

Electric vehicles:
Charging points as
part of on-street
bays.
Local energy networks:
Linking renewable energy sources
to local heat and power networks.

R.2 Sustainable Construction
206. Sustainable construction is the practice of creating buildings using processes
that are environmentally responsible and resource efficient. Design codes can include
guidance on sustainable construction including embodied energy, approach to
construction and use of water.

Page 265

204. The design of windows needs to
consider orientation to balance heat loss
and beneficial solar gain, daylight and
sunlight. Southern-facing glazing can be
beneficial in contributing to overall energy
demand in winter. It can lead to overheating
in summer and excessive heat loss on cold
cloudy days in winter. Glazing needs to be
sized appropriately for context and passive
measures such as external shading devices
or provision for future installation of shading
devices needs to be considered to reduce
reliance on mechanical ventilation.

R.1.iii Neighbourhood Energy Issues
205. Some energy issues are most
appropriately dealt with at the level of the
neighbourhood rather than at building level.
Design codes can address neighbourhood
level issues that contribute to meeting
energy efficiency targets, support supply
and demand at the local level and reduce
transmission losses. See Figure 84.

R.2.i Embodied Energy:

R.2.ii Sustainable Construction

207. Embodied energy is the energy
consumed by all the processes associated
with the production of a building.

209. All demolition and construction
processes and materials production and
application have environmental impacts. In
addition to embodied energy, issues relate to
the impacts of extraction, pollution, ozone,
water extraction, and waste disposal. Design
codes can include standards and guidance
that address these issues.

208. Reducing embodied energy can be
achieved by remodel and reuse of buildings
where possible rather than rebuild, using
low energy materials, designing to use
materials efficiently, reducing the energy used
in construction, the re-use of materials and
design for disassembly and adaptability so
that the carbon locked in the building can
be retained or reused in future. This can be
achieved by:
Reuse and refurbishment in preference to
new construction.
Energy used in construction.
Reuse of materials.
Design for disassembly.
Foundations that accommodate trees.

R.2.iii Modern Methods of
Construction:
210. ‘Modern methods of construction’
is a term that embraces a range of offsite manufacturing and on-site techniques
that provide alternatives to traditional
housebuilding. Such techniques can
contribute to the efficient use of resources.
Design codes could encourage innovative
methods of off-site construction and
modular production to improve building
performance, productivity, waste reduction

81

and design for the circular economy. Design codes
can include guidance that supports modern methods
of construction by setting regular plot widths and
encouraging the replication and repetition of plan
types and layout elements. They can be used to limit
requirements that make these methods more difficult
to apply, such as excessive variety of form where this
does not contradict the rhythm, building form and
variety of the local context.

R.2.iv Water Saving

Page 266

211. The design of buildings and places can contribute
to the efficient use of water. Climate change and
associated weather events mean that water supply
is becoming less predictable and areas of the UK are
subject to water stress. Design codes can provide
guidance and regulation around water saving which
may address rainwater harvesting, dual potable and
grey water recycling systems and requirements for
“water neutrality” for new development and include
reference to Optional Technical Standards for water
efficiency standards.

82

Check List: Resources

Local design codes should consider in the context of relevant local
plan policies:

R.1 Energy
•

Energy efficiency standards and whether
/how they apply to all or part of the area,
if exceeding building regulations.

•

Neighbourhood energy design including
passive design, orientation and form
factor.

•

Local low energy networks.

R.2 Sustainable Construction
•

Embodied Energy targets.

•

BREEAM targets as appropriate.

•

Water saving measures and how they
can be achieved.

82

Lifespan

Introduction
196. Well-designed places sustain their
beauty over the long term. They add to the
quality of life of their users, and as a result,
people are more likely to care for them over
their lifespan. They have an emphasis on
quality and simplicity.

197. Places designed for long-term
stewardship are robust and easy to look
after, enable their users to establish a sense
of ownership, adapt to changing needs and
are well maintained.
198. Design codes can address a number of
factors that influence the lifespan of places.

Page 267

L.1 Stewardship

L.1.ii Participation in Design

L.1.i Management Plan

201. A process for community participation
in the production of codes is set out in Part
1.3. It is also important that participation is
integrated into the process of developing
masterplans for individual schemes.

Long term management plans for new
development which might include
individual residents and businesses
managing private space, adoption by a
public authority, the use of management
companies or management by the
community.

200. In preparing design codes consideration
needs to be given to:

Areas for adoption with information on
layout, materials, construction details and
landscaping.

Page 268

199. Management and maintenance of places
incorporate the processes associated with
preserving their quality or condition. Good
management and maintenance contribute to
the resilience and attractiveness of a place
and allows communities to have pride in their
area.

Management of public spaces, including
streets and open spaces that will be
adopted by local authorities and highways
authorities, and shared spaces where
these may be jointly or privately managed.

81.

Management Plan:
Land to be adopted by the highway
authority.
Land to adopted by the council
landscape maintenance arm.
Land managed by a management
company.
Land managed by householders.

84

202. Processes of participation, consultation
and co-design improve transparency, help to
build trust, allow for valuable local knowledge
to be gained, increase a sense of ownership
over the completed development and help to
build community cohesion.
203. Design codes can support meaningful
participation by requiring and providing
guidance on participatory processes for new
development.

L1.iii Community Management
204. Community management is the
management of a common resource by the
people who use it through the collective
action of volunteers and stakeholders. The
community management of neighbourhoods
is a valuable way of engendering a sense
of ownership and responsibility as well as
building social cohesion.
205. In preparing design codes, consideration
can be given to how community management
can be facilitated for:

Check List: Lifespan
Local design codes should consider including:
L.1 Stewardship
•

Stewardship plan and when it will be required.

•

Guidance on adoption of public areas.

•

Levels of community engagement expected prior to
a planning application.

•

Guidance on facilitating community management.

Page 269

Informal community management groups
Neighbourhood Planning Groups
Community management of public
spaces
Community management of buildings and
facilities
Community management of local energy
networks
Community Land Trusts
Community housing such as cooperatives
and co-housing

85

Page 270

Community Engagement

Page 271
87

Introduction

Page 272

206. When preparing design codes,
communities need to be involved at each
stage of the process. The advice set out
below needs to be considered in order to
gain measurable community support for
design codes. It needs to be proportionate
to the scale and location of the development,
recognising that some aspects of the
development process are complex, some
community groups are harder to reach, and
that the occupants of new development are
hard to identify. The form and approach for
community engagement needs to be decided
locally and co-designed with community
groups. Local planning authorities should
refer to planning practice guidance on
plan-making, including the Statement of
Community Involvement.
207. The community involves all people
living and working in and around the area for
which the code is being produced together
with local interest groups, stakeholders and
elected representatives.

88

208. The consultation process will involve:
identification of the areas where
the code will apply
definition and mapping of area
types
masterplanning of development
areas.
content of the design code
application of the design code
and how it influences individual
schemes
209. The process should be transparent
and collaborative and precede each stage
of the design code production. Engagement
activities should be appropriate to the scale
of the relevant area, with some elements
of engagement taking place across the
authority, and some at the settlement and
neighbourhood level, to match stakeholder
interests. At each stage, it should be easy
for participants to engage with the process
and see how their inputs have been used to
develop the next iteration.

Tools and Techniques

Page 273

210. The guidance set out in Planning
Practice Guidance, Design: Process and
Tools, provides advice on how methods
of engagement should be appropriate for
access by all people. There are a range of
in-person and digital engagement tools that
can be used. Each have advantages and
disadvantages for reaching different sections
of the community. Using a combination of
different techniques should be considered
to reach the maximum number and range of
people.
211. New digital technologies and
applications are being developed and the
process for engagement and measuring
support will evolve over time. Local planning
authorities will need to apply a balance of face
to face and digital techniques appropriate to
their circumstances and the type and scale of
development.

82. Engagement Tools
Visual preference surveys: to understand
buildings, places, and streets that local people prefer,
dislike or would like to improve.
Place assessment tools: such as tools like
Placecheck and Spaceshaper.
Structured workshops and charrettes:
hands-on events to explore the challenges and
opportunities of a site or area, analyse options or
develop design proposals at various stages in the
process.
Community panels or forums: to ensure the
voice of the community is considered through
formal and informal structures.
Drop in events and exhibitions: to provide
the opportunity to discuss the proposals with the
consultation team and provide feedback in-person
or via a questionnaire.
Design review panels: for peer group review
at key stages to test the content and application
of design codes. These could include community
representation and professionals that are
knowledgeable about the area for coding.

Digital engagement tools: The use of digital
techniques can help to engage with hard to reach groups
in the community, such as younger people, and can
be used in addition to in person techniques referred to
above.
Social media platforms, apps, email
campaigns and websites: can be used to
promote in person events but could also be used
to share information, allow online participation in
consultation processes and get feedback.
Digital models of design codes and their
context, area or sites: to help to visualise
concepts and the wider effects of development.
These might include the use of gaming platforms to
engage younger audiences in exploring spatial design.
Other visualisation techniques for three
dimensional models: to provide the community
with a visual appreciation of the proposals.
Community level data gathering: to gauge
levels of support for particular ideas along with
accessible, transparent representation so the
community can see the views of the whole
community refected statistically.

89

Who is Responsible?

Initial Engagement

212. This will depend on the scale at
which the code is being considered. The
engagement process for the design code
at the authority level may be set up and
managed by the local planning authority, while
for specific development sites, the developer
may be expected to manage the process.

215. Those leading the engagement will need
to build the knowledge of the community
about the purpose, application and
development of design codes. It is important
to provide participants with the right tools and
information to engage fully. This could involve
training at the outset to raise awareness and
build skills. There may be a need for a period
of networking, research and conversations to
build a map of key interests and stakeholders.
Initial engagement may include the actions
set out in the box opposite.

Page 274

213. The team responsible for producing
a code will need to be an inter-disciplinary
team of built environment professionals and
may include architects, landscape architects,
urban designers and local planning authority
officers.
214. Independent facilitators may be
appointed to offer design capacity-building
to support community engagement and help
build a shared understanding through the
design process. Specialists in community
engagement processes such as community
planners could act as an interface with the
local planning authority or the developer.

Meeting with community representatives,
stakeholders, councillors, neighbourhood
planning groups, and external consultees to
explain the process and the role of a design
code.
Surveying local hopes, preferences and fears
as widely as possible
Set up community panels or forums to
represent the views of local communities in the
development of the design code.
Get early buy-in from developers and
landowners linked to proposed development
sites and to agree roles and responsibilities.
Publicise the process widely, with an emphasis
on groups whose views may have been underrepresented in the past.

Analysing

90

83. Initial Engagement

Visioning

Community Events and Facilities

Measuring Community Support

216. Engagement may need to take place
through a combination of workshops and
interactive events as well as drop-ins and
exhibitions. Community events need to cover
geographical areas that the community can
relate to. This could be the wider local planning
authority area, although it is likely that separate
workshops will be needed for different places.
Workshops would be necessary for each stage
of the process.

218. Community engagement techniques
that involve the maximum number of local
people from all sections of the community
and demographic profiles will need to be
used to develop design codes, in order to
structure engagement and demonstrate
community support. Processes will need to
be used that are appropriate for their context
and circumstances, and those leading
engagement will need to consider how they
can demonstrate measurable community
representation and support.

Page 275

217. Engagement processes can have social
benefits that extend beyond the task being
undertaken, such as strengthening community
cohesion and making connections between
people who might not otherwise have met
or interacted. Community engagement
enablers may work closely with established
organisations and groups within the community
to organise events.

219. Activities that achieve this will need to
be determined locally. Established techniques
such as Enquiry by Design, BIMBY (Beauty
in My Back Yard), Planning for Real and
new emerging community engagement
techniques, can be employed to deliver
provably popular places that have measurable
community support. The use of digital
technology and social media platforms can
support this.

Coding

91

Area Type
Worksheet
Movement
How would you characterise
the street network:
•

Page 276

Fully connected, most
streets link at either end to
other streets

•

Most local streets are culde-sacs

•

A mix of the two

How much of the area is
within a five minute walk of
bus stops?
•

All

•

The majority

•

Very little

Nature

Built Form

How much of the area is
within a five minute walk of
a local park?

What is the average density
of housing development?

What is the character of the
building line:

What is the average plot
ratio?

•

Straight/curved/informal

•

Variation

•

Compliance

•

All

•

The majority

•

Very little

What proportion of the
streets have street trees?

How would you characterise
the block structure:
•

Regular perimeter blocks

•

Informal perimeter blocks

What is the predominant
building height:

•

Row blocks

•

•

Courtyard blocks

Eaves height and level of
variation

•

Mews blocks

•

Maximum height and level
of variation

•

Cul-de-sacs

•

•

Mixed

Are there tall buildings
present?

What is the average setback of buildings from the
back of the pavement?

Identity

Public Space

Use

Homes + Buildings

What is the palette of local
materials: walls/roofs/
windows/?

For each of the following
streets describe the
character and measure the
average width, building
height, enclosure ratio and
active frontage:

Are there signs of
intensification having taken
place?

What type of gardens do
most houses have and do
apartments generally have
balconies ?

•

Primary streets

•

Mostly housing

•

High streets

•

•

Secondary streets

Housing with occasional
other uses

•

Local streets

•

Mostly employment

•

Tertiary streets

•

Mixed

Local building features:
window shapes, porches,
bays, entrance features,
balconies
Is the roof form varied or
regular?

Page 277

Boundary treatment to front
gardens: wall/fence/railings/
hedge
How would you describe the
predominant architectural
style, is this regarded locally
as positive or negative?

How would you describe the
mix of uses:

How would you describe the
mix of housing?

What is the typical privacy
distance?

This page is intentionally left blank

Draft response to the National Planning Policy Framework and National Model Design Code
consultation.
Proposed changes to Chapter 2: Achieving sustainable development
The revised text reflects the Government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission, and makes a small number of other minor changes:
The wording in paragraph 7 has been amended to incorporate the 17 Global Goals for Sustainable
Development which are a widely-recognised statement of sustainable development objectives, to
which the UK has subscribed.

Paragraph 8(b) has been amended in response to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission
recommendations to emphasise the importance of well-designed, beautiful and safe places in
achieving social objectives of sustainable development.
The wording in paragraph 8(c) has been strengthened to emphasise the role of planning in protecting
and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment.
The wording of the presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11(a)) has been
amended to broaden the high-level objective for plans to make express reference to the importance
of both infrastructure and climate change.
The final sentence in footnote 8 (referred to in paragraph 11(d)) has been removed as the transitional
arrangements for the Housing Delivery Test no longer apply.
1. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 2?
Yes.
The changes for Chapter 2 are generally supported.
In particular, the amendments to paragraph 11a in relation to plan making are welcomed. The new
references to climate change, the environment and the need to align infrastructure and
development requirements more accurately reflect all three strands of sustainable development
that all plans should strive for and be measured against at examination.
However, the inclusion of the need for “beautiful” places is likely to provide a continual point of
contention through the plan making and development management processes. As set out in this
Council’s response to the previous consultation held in 2020, the definition of “beauty” is highly
subjective. It is a matter of judgment and opinion and therefore adds little in terms of national
policy.
Proposed changes to Chapter 3: Plan-making
The revised text reflects the Government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission, and recent legal cases:
In response to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission recommendations, paragraph 20
has been amended to require strategic policies to set out an overall strategy for the pattern, scale
and design quality of places.

Page 279

Paragraph 22 has also been amended in response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission recommendations to clarify that councils who wish to plan for new settlements and
major urban extensions will need to look over a longer time frame, of at least 30 years, to take into
account the likely timescale for delivery.

Paragraph 35(d) has been amended to highlight that local plans and spatial development strategies
are ‘sound’ if they are consistent with national policy – enabling the delivery of sustainable
development in accordance with the policies in the Framework, and other statements of national
planning policy where relevant. This ensures that the most up to date national policies (for example,
Written Ministerial Statements) can be taken into account.

2. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 3?
Yes.
The new reference to design in the requirements for strategic policies is supported as it provides a
clear statement of intent that good design should be at the heart of development plans.
The new text at paragraph 22 regarding the need for a longer term frame (30 years) for plans with
“larger scale development such as new settlements” would benefit from further clarification. In
particular, what is the definition of “larger scale development” in areas where new settlements are
not being proposed? Such definitions are often contextual. Developments which may be deemed
modest in scale in larger towns and cities may viewed as “large scale” is rural / semi-rural areas.

Proposed changes to Chapter 4: Decision making
The revised text aims to clarify the policy intention for Article 4 directions:

In order to ensure Article 4 directions can only be used to remove national permitted development
rights allowing changes of use to residential where they are targeted and fully justified, we propose
amending Paragraph 53, and ask for views on two different options.

We also propose clarifying our policy that Article 4 directions should be restricted to the smallest
geographical area possible. Together these amendments would encourage the appropriate and
proportionate use of Article 4 directions.

3. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 4?
No.
Article 4 Directions can provide local authorities with invaluable method of carefully managing
development in areas that are particularly sensitive. The expansion of permitted development rights
has already eroded the ability of local authorities to do this and further limitations placed on the use
of Article 4 Directions will only exacerbate the situation.

Page 280

Of the two options presented, the 1st is preferred as it would still allow for considerations which are
local in nature to be taken into account.
Proposed changes to Chapter 5: Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes
The revised text aims to clarify the existing policy and reflects the Government’s response to the
Building Better Building Beautiful Commission and recent legal cases:
New paragraph 65 has been amended to clarify that, where major development involving the
provision of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should expect at least 10% of the
total number of homes to be available for affordable home ownership. This is to address confusion as
to whether the 10% requirement applies to all units or the affordable housing contribution.

New paragraph 70 has been amended to remove any suggestion that neighbourhood plans can only
allocate small or medium sites. This was not the policy intention, so the wording has therefore been
amended to clarify that neighbourhood planning groups should also give particular consideration to
the opportunities for allocating small and medium-sized sites (of a size consistent with new
paragraph 69a) suitable for housing in their area.

New paragraph 73 has been amended to reflect Chapter 9: “Promoting sustainable transport” in
ensuring that larger scale developments are supported by the necessary infrastructure and facilities
including a genuine choice of transport modes. New paragraph 73(c) has also been amended in
response to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s recommendations to clarify that
when planning for larger scale development, strategic policy making authorities should set clear
expectations for the quality of the places to be created and how this can be maintained (such as by
following Garden City principles) and ensure that masterplans and codes are used to secure a variety
of well-designed and beautiful homes to meet the needs of different groups in the community.

Footnote 40 (referred to in new paragraph 74(c)) has been updated to reflect that the Housing
Delivery Test has now come into effect.

New paragraph 80(d) has been amended in response to legal cases in order to clarify that the
curtilage does not fall within the scope of this policy.

New paragraph 80 (e) has been amended in response to the Building Better, Building Beautiful
Commission’s policy proposition 1 e) that it opens a loophole for designs that are not outstanding,
but that are in some way innovative, and that the words ‘or innovative’ should be removed. This
change is not proposed to rule out innovative homes, rather that it will ensure that outstanding
quality can always be demanded, even if an innovative approach is taken.

4. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 5?
Yes.

Page 281

The changes provide useful clarification not least in terms of affordable housing provision and
neighbourhood planning.
Chapter 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities
The revised text seeks to clarify existing policy:

New paragraph 92 (b) includes minor changes to help to clarify Government’s expectations for
attractive pedestrian and cycle routes. This supports the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission’s recommendations on supporting walkable neighbourhoods.

New paragraph 97 has been amended to emphasise that access to a network of high quality open
spaces and opportunities for sport and physical activity is important for the health and well-being of
communities, and can deliver wider benefits for nature and efforts to address climate change.
Q5. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 8?
Yes.
The additional references to the role attractive routes, including for cycling, play in promoting
healthy and safe communities is welcome as is the recognition that open space and recreation
features can contribute towards tackling climate change.

Chapter 9: Promoting sustainable transport
The revised text reflects the government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission:
New paragraph 105 (d) has been amended to support the Building Better, Building Beautiful
Commission’s recommendations on encouraging walking and cycling.
New paragraph 109 (c) and supporting footnote 45 has been amended to prevent continuing reliance
by some authorities on outdated highways guidance. Our amended wording states that in assessing
sites that may be allocated for development in plans, or specific applications for development, it
should be ensured that the design of schemes and standards applied reflects current national
guidance, including the National Design Guide and National Model Design Code.
Q6. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 9?
Yes.
Stronger requirements for well design cycling infrastructure, including secure cycle parking is a
positive change which will support sustainable development by enabling and encouraging modal
shift.
The new requirement for the design of streets, parking and other transport elements of scheme to
reflect the National Design Guide and Model design Code is especially welcome. Such provision is
often dominated led by highways engineering requirements which do not always provide the best
solutions in terms of wider design considerations.

Page 282

Chapter 11: Making effective use of land
The revised text reflects the government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission:

New paragraph 124 has been amended to include an emphasis on the role that area-based character
assessments, codes and masterplans can play in helping to ensure that land is used efficiently while
also creating beautiful and sustainable places.

Q7. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 11?
Yes.
This change is a sensible addition to reflect wider changes in the Framework.
Chapter 12: Achieving well-designed places
The revised text reflects the government’s response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission:

New paragraphs 125 and 127 have been amended to include the term “beautiful” in response to the
Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s findings. This supports the Building Better Building
Beautiful Commission’s recommendation for an overt focus on beauty in planning policy to ensure
the planning system can both encourage beautiful buildings and places and help to prevent ugliness
when preparing local plans and taking decisions on planning applications

Paragraph 126 has been amended to clarify the role that neighbourhood planning groups can have in
relation to design policies.

Paragraph 127 has been amended to emphasise that all local planning authorities should prepare
design guides or codes consistent with the principles set out in the National Design Guide and
National Model Design Code and which reflect local character and design preferences.

A new paragraph 128 has been added in response to the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission’s recommendations and our manifesto commitment to give communities greater say in
the design standards set for their area. This reflects the Government’s proposals for a National Model
Design Code, which will include a model community engagement process, and will create a
framework for local authorities and communities to develop a more consistent approach which
reflects the character of each place and local design preferences. It also clarifies that the National
Design Guide and the National Model Design Code should also be used to guide decisions on planning
applications in the absence of locally produced guides or codes.

Page 283

A new paragraph 130 has been added to reflect the findings of the Building Better Building Beautiful
Commission and the Government’s ambition to ensure that all new streets are tree-lined, and that
existing trees are retained wherever possible.

New paragraph 132 and footnote 50 have been updated to refer to Building for a Healthy Life.

New paragraph 133 responds to the Building Better Building Beautiful Commission’s
recommendations to make clear that development that is not well designed should be refused,
especially where it fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design. In
addition, it clarifies that significant weight should be given to development which reflects local
design policies and government guidance on design.

Q8. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 12?
No.
Stronger emphasis on the importance of good design is a welcome change. However, as highlighted
in our response to question 1, the terms “beauty” and “beautiful” are too ambiguous to be applied
in a planning context. It is notable that the expanded Glossary of the draft Framework makes no
attempt to define beauty. This is likely to lead to the term “beauty” being subject to debate at
planning inquiries and ultimately the courts.
Furthermore, the requirement for local planning authorities to prepare additional design guidance or
codes must be supported by additional resources for the necessary training both within local
government and across the planning and development industry. This will be essential to ensure that
there are sufficient people with the necessary skills to roll out the initiative effectively.
The recognition of the important role that trees can play in contributing towards the character of an
area as well as supporting the environment and tackling climate change is supported along with the
requirements as set out in paragraph 130. However, footnote 49 should be revised to acknowledge
that trees are not always in keeping with the character of an area.

Chapter 13: Protecting the Green Belt
The revised text seeks to clarify existing policy:
New paragraph 149(f) has been amended slightly to set out that development, including buildings,
brought forward under a Community Right to Build Order or Neighbourhood Development Order, is
not inappropriate in the Green Belt provided it preserves its openness and does not conflict with the
purposes of including land within it.
Q9. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 13?
Yes.
This minor amended to aid the interpretation of the paragraph is supported.
Chapter 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

Page 284

The revised text seeks to strengthen environmental policies, including clarifying some aspects of
policy concerning planning and flood risk:
The changes proposed are in part, an initial response to the emergent findings of our joint review
with the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) of planning policy for flood risk.
The government’s Policy Statement on flood and coastal erosion risk management sets out a number
of actions to maintain and enhance the existing safeguards concerning flood risk in the planning
system. Informed by this, we will consider what further measures may be required in the longer term
to strengthen planning policy and guidance for proposed development in areas at risk of flooding
from all sources when our review concludes.
On planning and flood risk, new paragraphs 160 and 161 have been amended to clarify that the
policy applies to all sources of flood risk.
New paragraph 160(c) has been amended to clarify that plans should manage any residual flood risk
by using opportunities provided by new development and improvements in green and other
infrastructure to reduce the causes and impacts of flooding (making as much use as possible of
natural flood management techniques as part of an integrated approach to flood risk management).
The Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification has been moved from planning guidance into national
planning policy (set out in Annex 3 and referred to in paragraph 162). It is considered that this
classification is a key tool and should be contained in national policy.
New paragraph 163 has been amended to clarify the criteria that need to be demonstrated to pass
the exception test.
New paragraph 166(b) has been expanded to define what is meant by “resilient”.

Q10. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 14?
Yes.
The strengthening of policy regarding flood risk is supported. In particular, the recognition of the
role that green infrastructure can play in reducing the cause and impact of flooding is encouraging.
The inclusion of the Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification into Annex 3 of the Framework will also
help to provide greater prominence to this.

Chapter 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
The revised text seeks to clarify existing policy and reflects the government’s response to the Building
Better Building Beautiful Commission:
New paragraph 175 has been amended in response to the Glover Review of protected landscapes, to
clarify that the scale and extent of development within the settings of National Parks and Areas of
Outstanding Natural Beauty should be sensitively located and designed so as to avoid adverse
impacts on the designated landscapes.

New paragraph 176 has been separated from the preceding paragraph to clarify that this policy
applies at the development management stage only.

Page 285

New paragraph 179(d) has been amended to clarify that development whose primary objective is to
conserve or enhance biodiversity should be supported; while opportunities to improve biodiversity in
and around other developments should be pursued as an integral part of their design, especially
where this can secure measurable net gains for biodiversity and enhance public access to nature.

Q11. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 15?
Yes.
The Council supports the clarifications given in this Chapter and the revised paragraph 175 which
now recognises the need to sensitively consider the design and location of development within the
setting of protected landscapes.
The majority of High Peak falls within the Peak District National Park but most of its population of
the Borough resides within the relatively narrow strip of land of the western periphery of the
Borough which lies outside of the National Park. Because of this, and due to local topography, there
is often a high degree of intervisibility between the National Park and the larger towns and villages in
High Peak where more development takes place. Developments can therefore have an impact on
the setting of the Peak District National Park if not carefully managed. This fact was considered
during the preparation of the adopted High Peak Local Plan.
It is reassuring to see that the issue is now to be recognised in national policy which has previously
failed to acknowledge the importance and sensitivity of the wider setting of protected landscapes.
Whilst this is positive step, it is considered that the Framework, or the National Planning Practice
Guidance, should go further to elaborate on how this policy requirement should be implemented at
both the plan making and development management stage.

Chapter 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
The revised text seeks to reflect a change made to national planning policy by a Written Ministerial
Statement on protecting our nation’s heritage dated 18 January 2021:
New paragraph 197 has been added to clarify that authorities should have regard to the need to
retain historic statues, plaques or memorials, with a focus on explaining their historic and social
context rather than removal, where appropriate.
Q12. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 16?
Yes.
Chapter 17: Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals
Minor changes have been made to clarify existing policy:
New paragraph 209(c) has been amended to refer to Mineral Consultation Areas in order to clarify
that this is an important mechanism to safeguard minerals particularly in two tier areas, and to
reflect better in policy what is already defined in Planning Practice Guidance.

Page 286

New paragraph 210(f) has been amended to reflect that some stone extraction sites will be large and
serve distant markets.
Q13. Do you agree with the changes proposed in Chapter 17?
Yes.
The updated paragraph 209(c) is a sensible update which reflects existing guidance.
Annex 2: Glossary
The definition of “green infrastructure” has been updated to better reflect practice, as already set out
in Planning Practice Guidance, published evidence reviews and the new national framework of green
infrastructure standards.

The definition of the “Housing Delivery Test” has been amended to reflect the rulebook. This clarifies
that the test measures homes delivered in a local authority area against the homes required, using
national statistics and local authority data.

The definition of “minerals resources of local and national importance” has been amended to include
coal derived fly ash in single use deposits.

Definitions of “mineral consultation area”, “recycled aggregates” and “secondary aggregates” have
been added to reflect the changes in chapter 17.

Q14. Do you have any comments on the changes to the glossary?
Given the prevalence of the terms “beauty” and “beautiful” in the revised Framework, the Glossary
should seek to clarify how they may be defined in the planning context. This may come by way of
explaining how the national design guide and model design code and their local equivalents could be
used to try and interpret and define the terms having regard to local context. As it stands, the terms
are ambiguous and this is likely to lead disagreement, debate and delays.

National Model Design Code
Q15. We would be grateful for your views on the National Model Design Code, in terms of

a) the content of the guidance
b) the application and use of the guidance
c) the approach to community engagement
The National Model Design Code provides a thorough and structured framework for local authorities
and communities to apply in establishing local codes .

Page 287

However, It is questionable whether local communities will be more willing to engage with the
Design Code process than the current planning system. Indeed, it is considered that it is likely to be
difficult to obtain input into the design process unless the principle of the development itself is
supported.
The preparation of Local Design Codes will require significant resources to ensure that there is a
sufficient number planners and urban designers to develop Local Design Codes and to engagement
with communities effectively. Planning Officers and Councillors will also require additional training
to ensure that the codes are applied effectively during the development management process.

Page 288

Agenda Item 7
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
1 April 2021

TITLE:

Household Duty of Care

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for
Climate Change, Environment and
Community Safety

CONTACT OFFICER:

David Smith – Principal Officer Communities
& Partnerships

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

Appendices Attached – None
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To help to prevent unlawful depositing of waste within the Borough by
agreeing the level of fixed penalty notices that can be issued to those
individuals that do not take reasonable measures to ensure proper disposal of
their household waste.

2.

Recommendation

2.1

That the Executive sets the fixed penalty amount for failure to comply with the
household duty of care up to a maximum of £400.

2.2

That the Executive agrees a reduced amount if the fixed penalty notice is paid
in full within 10 days.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

Occupiers of domestic properties in England have a duty to take reasonable
care of the waste that they produced (the ‘household duty of care’).

3.2

Anyone who fails to comply with the household duty is liable on conviction to
an unlimited fine. As an alternative to prosecution, local authorities have the
power to issue a fixed penalty notice.

3.3

Currently, the fixed penalty amount is set by statute at £200 with no reduction
for early payment.
How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.

Page 289

4.1

Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate
emergency.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

The Council could keep the fixed penalty amount at the statutory level (£200)
with no reduction for prompt payment.

6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
The proposal would assist the Council to address environmental
crime

6.2

Workforce
Responsibility for enforcement will rest with the current
Enforcement Officer.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
The fixed penalty amount will apply equally to all.

6.4

Financial Considerations
The Council will need to revise the fixed penalty notice booklets to
reflect any changes.

6.5

Legal
The power to prosecute for failure to comply with the duty of care in
respect of household waste, or to offer a fixed penalty notice, as an
alternative is found within s34 (2A) Environmental Protection Act
(EPA) 1990 and the Environmental Protection (Miscellaneous
Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations 2018/1227 Pt 2
reg.3(2).

6.6

Climate Change
None

6.7

Consultation
N/A

6.8

Risk Assessment
N/A

Page 290

Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer
Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details
David Smith
Principal Officer Communities &
Partnerships
david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk

7.

Detail

7.1

Occupiers of domestic properties in England have a duty to take reasonable
measures to ensure that any household waste is only transferred to (i) an
authorised person or (ii) a person for authorised transport purposes. This is
commonly referred to as the ‘household duty of care’.1. Authorised persons
includes waste collection authorities and registered carriers of controlled
waste.

7.2

Anyone who fails to comply with the household duty is liable on conviction to
an unlimited fine. As an alternative to prosecution, local authorities have the
power to issue a fixed penalty notice.2 Councils can set the fixed penalty
amount between £150 and £400 (inclusive). By default, the amount is set at
£200 by statute. Councils can also introduce a reduced amount of no less than
£120 if payment is made within 10 days to encourage prompt resolution of
matters.

7.3

To successfully prosecute someone for fly-tipping, the Authority must show
that they deposited controlled waste (or knowingly caused or knowingly
permitted it to be deposited) on land without authorisation. This can be difficult
to prove beyond reasonable doubt when waste containing identifiable material
is found on land within the Borough without any witnesses to the deposit of the
waste.

7.4

It is generally easier to prove that the owner of the illegally deposited waste
did not comply with their duty of care and failed to transfer their household
waste to an authorised person. Increased use of this power would hopefully
increase enforcement levels, discourage people from depositing waste
themselves or from passing it onto unlicensed waste collection services.

7.4

The Council’s Constitution delegates the authority to enforce the provisions of
Part II of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, which includes the household
duty of care, to the Chief Executive and Executive Director. However, the
Council has not set levels for the associated fixed penalty amounts and thus
the statutory default of £200 with no reduction for prompt payment.

s34 (2A) Environmental Protection Act (EPA) 1990
Environmental Protection (Miscellaneous Amendments) (England and Wales) Regulations
2018/1227 Pt 2 reg.3(2)

1
2

Page 291

7.5

In general, the Council will seek to issue a fixed penalty notice in response to
someone’s failure to comply with their household duty of care but this will be
decided by the authorised officer on a case-by-case basis taking into account
all relevant facts. There are a number of situations when the Council would
consider that the issuing of a fixed penalty notice may not be appropriate and
instead would seek to prosecute under the relevant legislation in accordance
with the Council’s Policy on the Enforcement of Environmental Crimes . These
include:
•
•
•

Large-scale depositing of waste items.
When the offence is committed by someone that has previously received
a fixed penalty notice for the same offence; and
Where the offender is aggressive to an Enforcement Officer (or other
staff member) and/or refuses to provide their name and address.

Page 292

Agenda Item 9
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
1 April 2021

TITLE:

Working with the Voluntary, Community and
Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Anthony McKeown – Leader of
the Council

CONTACT OFFICER:

David Smith – Principal Officer Communities
and Partnerships

WARDS INVOLVED:

All

Appendices Attached:
Appendix A: Services Provided by Funded Organisations
Appendix B: VCSE contributions to the Corporate Plan
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To provide an update on High Peak’s VCSE Sector and use of the Council’s
Community Support Grant funding, and to set out the Council’s future approach
to collaborative working with the Sector.

2.

Recommendations
The following recommendations are made to the Executive:

2.1

The Council should formalise its working arrangements with the VCSE sector
through a compact agreement or a collaborative working protocol.

2.2

The Council should work with High Peak CVS to jointly deliver an annual
awards event for the community and voluntary sector.

2.3

The Council should produce a plan setting out how it intends to collaborate with
and support the VCSE sector as a means of delivering the Corporate Plan and
achieving further efficiencies.

2.4

The Council should adopt the principles set out in the report as a means of
achieving a more strategic approach to funding the VCSE Sector.

2.5

The funding contribution to New Mills Volunteer Centre should be increased in
2021/22 to the same level as Connex and The Bureau (from £2,500 to £5,000)

Page 293

to support the organisation to improve their levels of support in areas such as
Chapel-en-le-Frith and Whaley Bridge.
2.6

Levels of core Community Support Grant Funding for other organisations
should remain the same for 2021/22.

2.7

The Council should provide additional funding where necessary for those VCSE
Sector organisations (The Bureau and Glossopdale Furniture Project) that are
experiencing short-term financial difficulties.

2.8

Councillors should be provided with regular updates on work with the VCSE
Sector and key partnerships with an emphasis on how this has helped to
achieve the Council’s corporate objective.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan highlights the importance of working with the
community and partner organisations.

3.2

High Peak Borough Council provides grant funding for several VCSE sector
organisations within the High Peak. The services provided by each of these
organisations are listed at Appendix A.

3.3

Most of the funded organisations predict that they will face cost increases,
additional training needs and will experience an increase in demand for their
services. All the organisations, except for the CAB, expect to face medium to
long term financial difficulties.

3.4

The Borough Council maintains links with local foodbanks and pantries but does
not at this time provide ongoing grant funding. The Borough Council also has
links to and/or provides operational support to organisations such as Friends of
Pavilion Gardens, Whaley Memorial Park, Manor Park and Howard Park, Bee
Wild (Glossop), Residents of Fairfield Association (ROFA), G52 (Gamesley)
and Buxton Town Team.

3.5

The report presents an approach for further strengthening its relationship with
the VCSE Sector, suggesting that:




4.

An independent and diverse VCSE Sector plays an important role in
improving the social, economic and environmental well-being of the High
Peak.
HPBC’s engagement with the VCSE Sector should be primarily focussed
on delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan and opportunities to contribute
to the Council’s Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme; and
Councillors play important roles in championing the VCSE Sector as
community leaders and scrutinising how the Council works with the sector.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

Page 294

4.1

Collaborative working with the VCSE Sector provides a mechanism for
delivering the Council’s corporate priorities. Aim 1 includes a specific objective
of working with partners and the community to address health inequality, food
and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness. Increased level of community
support is a key Council priority.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

None identified. The council needs to work with our partners and the community
to address issues such as health inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health
and loneliness.

6.

Implications

6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
The proposals can assist to improve community safety and
environmental crime

6.2

Workforce
The services provided by the Communities Team will be re-aligned
to deliver the approach outlined within this report.

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
Collaboration with the VCSE Sector could support the delivery of the
Council’s public sector equality duty.

6.4

Financial Considerations
The report describes a strategic approach to deciding future funding
for the VCSE Sector.
An increase in in funding for New Mills Volunteer Centre from £2,500
to £5,000 is recommended for 2021/22, whilst it is proposed that
levels of core Community Support Grant Funding for other
organisations should remain the same.
It is also recommended that the Council should consider providing
additional funding for those organisations that are experiencing
short-term financial difficulties.

6.5

Legal

Page 295

Service Level Agreements will be agreed with all recipients of
Community Support Grant funding.
6.6

Climate Change
Some VCSE Sector organisations can potentially assist in tackling
climate change.

6.7

Consultation
Each of the organisations that received grant funding in 2020/21
were asked to complete a questionnaire that asked question about
service delivery, impact of COVID-19 and any future issues they
faced.

6.8

Risk Assessment
A reduction in service provided by the voluntary sector may affect
the Council’s ability to deliver its Corporate Plan.
MARK TRILLO
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details
David Smithr
Principal Officer Communities and
Partnerships
david.smith@highpeak.gov.ukk

7.

Introduction and Background

7.1

The Council’s Corporate Plan highlights the importance of working with the
community and partner organisations:

7.2

Aim 1:

Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer,
cleaner High Peak.

Key objective:

Work with our partners and the community to address
health inequality, food and fuel poverty, mental health and
loneliness.

Key priority:

Increased level of community support.

This report is one of a series of three and focusses on the relationship between
the Borough Council and the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise
(VCSE) Sector with a focus on delivering the aspirations set out in the corporate
plan. The importance of this relationship has been particularly emphasised
during the response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Page 296

7.3

Separate reports will consider how the Council works in partnership to deliver
its corporate objectives and how the Council supports Arts projects, groups,
and activities.

8

The VCSE Sector

8.1

The VCSE sector, also known as the Third Sector or Voluntary Sector, includes
any non-governmental, non-profit organisation (incorporated or not) working for
social or environmental purposes rather than financial gain. This ranges from
small community-based groups/schemes through to larger registered Charities
that operate locally, regionally, or nationally.

8.2

The operating model of VCSE sector organisations varies and can include one
or more of the following:

Direct service provision;

Infrastructure support (development and practical support for other groups
within the sector and representation of the sector at a strategic level);

Campaigning (to increase awareness of issues and encourage change in
behaviour, opinion, etc); or

Grant distribution (eg Comic Relief).

8.3

The value of the VCSE Sector is difficult to estimate. In addition to economic
outputs (eg levels of employment and contribution to Gross Domestic Product)
they also produce a range of broader benefits1 including:

Value of the service delivered;

Value to volunteers;

Benefits to donors;

Additional benefits to VCSE employees (beyond their salary); and

Contributions to fostering economic and social cohesion at the community
level.

8.4

Evidence2 suggests that VCSE sector organisations can deliver value for
money through:

economy of input, eg through the utilisation of volunteers and low
management and overhead costs relative to larger providers.

efficiency of output, eg by supporting larger numbers of clients within the
resources available, or by providing preventative services that reduce the
burden on expensive public services in the short, medium and long term.

effectiveness of outcome, eg by delivering services that lead to immediate,
sustained and extended improvements in well-being for people (often from
vulnerable groups).

9

The VCSE Sector in the High Peak

1

Charity Commission for England and Wales 2019, The Value of the Charity Sector.
Centre for Regional Economic and Social Research 2011, Demonstrating the Value for Money of
Third Sector Activity in Rotherham.
2

Page 297

Council Funding for the VCSE Sector
9.1

High Peak Borough Council provides grant funding for several VCSE sector
organisations within the High Peak as shown in the Table 1. The services
provided by each of these organisations are listed at Appendix A.

9.2

The VCSE organisations are all locally rooted and have a wealth of local
knowledge and connections that makes them well-placed to identify local needs
and gaps in provision. They possess the ability to flex, innovate and adapt to
local needs and can harness the commitment and passion of local communities.

9.3

High Peak Community and Voluntary Support (HPCVS) is a borough-wide
infrastructure organisation that also provides a direct delivery social prescribing
service3. The Bureau (Glossop), New Mills Volunteer Service and Connex
(Buxton) are multi-purpose ‘anchor organisations’ that provide a mix of direct
delivery and support for local community groups. All receive funding from the
Borough Council.

9.4

HPCVS organise a monthly ‘Alliance’ meeting which brings together
representatives from HPCVS, Connex, New Mills Volunteer Centre, and the
Bureau. They also organise a monthly Community Forum bringing together
community groups across the Borough.

9.5

The Borough Council is represented on each of the VCSE Sector ‘Alliance’
organisations as follows:

9.6

Organisation

Representation

Role

High Peak CVS

Councillor Jean Todd

Board Member

The Bureau

Councillor Rob Baker

Board Member

New Mills Volunteer
Centre

Councillor Tony Ashton

Vice-Chair, Board of Trustees

Connex Community
Support

Councillor Keith Savage

Board Member

The Borough Council provides financial support to local branches of two
national charity organisations (The Samaritans and Citizens Advice). The
Council contributes to the Glossopdale Furniture Project, which provides a
Borough-wide service, and encourages householders with unwanted usable
furniture to contact the project as an alternative to utilising the Council’s bulky
waste collection service. Funding is also provided to the Jericho Café, which
provides a community café and meeting place for the community of Gamesley.

Table 1

Community Support Grants

3

Social prescribing enables GPs, nurses and other primary care professionals to refer people to ‘link
workers’ who focus on ‘what matters to me’ and take a holistic approach to people’s health and
wellbeing. The Social Prescribers connect people to local, non-clinical practical and emotional support
provided by community groups and statutory services.

Page 298

Organisation

Area covered

Citizens Advice
Bureau (CAB)

Borough-wide

Annual
HPBC
grant
£50,000

Aims
Citizens Advice Derbyshire Districts is an
independent charity providing free, confidential,
and impartial advice to the residents of the High
Peak.
CAB aim to be accessible to everyone and offer
an extensive face to face and phone advice
service in addition to our outreach advice
projects.

High Peak CVS

Borough-wide

£10,000

Connex
Community
Support

Some borough- £5,000
wide services
(eg Home from
Hospital, Handy
Van, Care &
Support).

CAB offer advice covering a variety of issues
including benefits, debt and financial capability,
employment, housing, consumer, energy and
homelessness prevention.
To promote community and voluntary
sustainability to the High Peak. We provide
support to Community and Voluntary groups
across the whole of the High Peak through
advice, practical services, information, training
and identifying funding.
To enable voluntary activity that supports strong,
thriving communities and to deliver lifeline
services that help people in need to live safer and
more fulfilled lives.
Connex Community Support benefits the High
Peak community by:
• Offering services which support people’s
mental and physical well-being

Other services
focus on Buxton
and surrounding
area

• Enabling better integration of marginalised and
vulnerable people into the community
•

The Bureau
(Glossop
Volunteer
Centre)

Glossopdale

£5,000

New Mills
New Mills, Birch £2,500
Volunteer Centre Vale, Hayfield,
Chapel-en-leFrith, Chinley,
Whaley Bridge,
Furness Vale

Working with community partners to support
thriving local communities.
To create solutions and opportunities that enable
people and communities to create positive social
change for community benefit. This is through
providing infrastructure to voluntary action and
providing quality support projects that respond to
local need.
To identify gaps in community care, to respond to
the needs of the elderly, disabled and isolated
people in the New Mills District; meeting those
identified gaps, which can be met appropriately
by volunteer activity.
To provide preventative support to empower
individuals and support them holistically.
To recruit, support and train volunteers and offer
opportunities for integration, therefore enhancing
the quality of life for both client and volunteer.

Page 299

Organisation

Area covered

The Buxton &
High Peak
Samaritans
Glossopdale
Furniture Project

Borough-wide

Annual
HPBC
grant
£2,500

Borough-wide

£1,000

Jericho Café

Gamesley

£1,000

TOTAL

Aims
To support people in distress or despair, in
confidence and without judgment.
Support individuals and families referred to the
Project who are disadvantaged, any who are on
low income with the supply of affordable or free
furniture and household packs providing the basic
requirements.
The cafe continues to be a meeting place for the
community of Gamesley and beyond. It has an
open-door policy for people of all ages. We
support various initiatives to enhance the quality
of life in the neighbourhood and work in
conjunction with other agencies.

£77,000.00

9.7

The use of the funding by HPCVS is governed by an SLA but this requires
updating. No other SLAs are currently in place.

9.8

The Borough Council also has links to and/or provides operational support to
organisations such as Friends of Pavilion Gardens, Whaley Memorial Park,
Manor Park and Howard Park, Bee Wild (Glossop), Residents of Fairfield
Association (ROFA), G52 (Gamesley) and Buxton Town Team.
State of the Sector

9.9

Each of the organisations were asked to indicate whether they would be
affected by a range of issues (see Table 2). They key points raised by the
survey were:

The Bureau and Glossopdale Furniture Project both report that they are
facing short-term financial difficulties. All the organisations, except for the
CAB, suggest that they are expecting to face medium-long term financial
difficulties. Only the Jericho Café and The Samaritans said that they would
not be facing cost increases.

All organisations except The Samaritans predict that they will experience
increase demand for their services.

All organisations, apart from Connex Community Support and The
Samaritans, report that they will face additional training needs.

High Peak CVS, The Bureau, New Mills Volunteer Centre and
Glossopdale Furniture Project face issues in terms of staff capacity.

9.10

HPCVS highlighted uncertainties around their funding because of planned
reviews of funding arrangements by Derbyshire County Council (DCC) and
Tameside and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) in 2021.

9.11

The Bureau argued that it would be helpful for the Council along with DCC,
Tameside & Glossop CCG, Primary Care Network (PCN), Tameside & Glossop
Integrated Care Foundation Trust (ICFT) and the VCSE Sector organisations

Page 300

to develop a clear shared plan and set of priorities to better align diminishing
resources.
9.12

All of the organisations rated themselves as very or fairly successful when
asked whether they had been successful in meeting their objectives over the
last 12 months. All organisations said that they had developed or changed their
normal service provision in response to the pandemic.

Page 301

Organisation

Page 302
High Peak CVS

New Mills Volunteer Centre

Glossopdale Furniture Project

Jericho Café

Citizens Advice

yes
yes
yes

Connex Community Support
yes
yes
yes

The Bureau
yes
yes
yes
yes
yes

yes
yes
yes

yes

yes

yes
yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes
yes

Samaritans

yes
yes
yes

yes
yes
yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

yes

yes
yes

yes

yes
yes

yes
yes

Technical ICT/software
limitations

Long term impact on
clients

Immediate/short term
impact on clients

Additional advice and
guidance needs

Staff capacity

Volunteer capacity

Short term financial
difficulties

Med-long term financial
difficulties

Additional training needs

Cash flow problems

Increase in demand

Accommodation
difficulties

Cost increases

Access to equipment and
supplies

Table 2
Issues Facing VCSE Organisations

yes
yes

yes

yes

9.13

HPCVS, Samaritans, Glossopdale Furniture Project, Connex Community
Support and New Mills Volunteer Centre reported that the demand for their
services had increased over the last 12-months. The Bureau reported a mixed
picture with demand for services such as their befriending scheme greatly
increasing whilst demand for some other services (eg their car scheme)
decreased. The demand for Citizens Advice services remained the same
(although the method of accessing the services changed from face-to-face to
telephone advice) whilst the demand at Jericho café decreased as a result of
only being able to provide a takeaway service.

9.14

The organisations all predict that service demand will continue to be high over
the next 12-months (particularly the provision of befriending service, food
deliveries, and prescription collections). The CAB emphasised increased
support needs from people who lost their job or suffered financial detriment as
a result of the pandemic. The CAB has particularly seen an increase in the
numbers of younger people accessing services in the last 12-months.
Council performance

9.15

The Local Government Association (LGA)’s procurement strategy recognises
the ‘critical and integral role’ of VCSE organisations in achieving community
benefits as service providers, advocates and through representing the voice of
service users.4 The LGA guidance provides the following guide to assessing
maturity in this area.

High level
principle/
specific
behaviour

9.16

Minimum
Organisation
does not see
any benefits to
be gained from
VCSE
engagement

Developing
VCSE
organisations
are engaged in
a few key
contracts only

Mature
Taking a
proactive
approach to
integrating VCSE
organisations
into procurement
and
commissioning

Leader
VCSE
engagement
is embedded
into
corporate
strategy

Innovator
VCSE
engagement is
a core
operational
way of doing
business,
integrated into
all
directorates/
departments
and activities
with regular
reporting
against
targets.

It is suggested that the Borough Council is currently at the ‘developing’ level.
The steps outlined in Section 10 are intended to move the Council through the
maturity profile to demonstrate clear innovation in this area of activity.

4

National Procurement Strategy for Local Government in England 2018
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/11.122%20%20National%20Procurement%20Strategy%202018_main%20report_V7.pdf (focusses largely on the
involvement in health and social care)

Page 303

Foodbanks and Pantries
9.17

The Borough Council maintain links with local foodbanks and pantries but does
not provide grant funding. The foodbanks have played a vital role during the
pandemic and it anticipated that they will continue to do so.

9.18

Foodbanks typically operate on a referral basis with appropriate individuals
being referred by frontline professionals to access emergency food supplies.
Individuals can exchange a food bank voucher for a food parcel, which is
normally intended to last a minimum of three days. There are five foodbanks in
High Peak:
 High Peak Foodbank.



Glossopdale Foodbank.

 Chapel Good Neighbour Food



Helping Hands Foodbank, New

Distribution Network.

Mills.

 Whaley Bridge Foodbank.
9.19

Grace Kitchen, Whitfield also distribute food bags to the local community on a
‘first-come, first-served’ basis.

9.20

Pantry schemes provide subsidised groceries to struggling low-income
households. Members make regular (weekly) payments into the scheme. There
are five such schemes in the High Peak.
 Hadfield Pantry – Bellies not

 Gamesley Pantry – G52.

Bins.
 Fairfield Endowed Pantry.

 Residents of Fairfield
Association (ROFA) Pantry.

 Whitfield Food Club.
9.21

The Council has commissioned HPCVS to carry out a scoping exercise to look
at the provision of food banks, pantry schemes and other food projects across
the High Peak. This includes investigating the possibility of establishing a
specific forum for exchanging ideas, good practice, and practical support. This
work is due to be completed by April 2021.

9.22

Additional work will follow this scoping exercise to consider how best to support
the work of these organisations, including reviewing financial and operational
support.

Page 304

10

The Next Steps

10.1

The recommendations presented in this section to further develop collaborative
working with the VCSE Sector are underpinned by the following propositions:

An independent and diverse VCSE Sector plays an important role in
improving the social, economic and environmental well-being of the High
Peak.

HPBC’s engagement with the VCSE Sector should be primarily focussed
on delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan and opportunities to contribute
to the Council’s Efficiency & Rationalisation Programme.

Councillors play important roles in championing the VCSE Sector as
community leaders and scrutinising how the Council works with the sector.
Statement of Future Relationships

10.2

The Council will look to formalise its working arrangements with the VCSE
sector through a compact agreement or a collaborative working protocol. This
would provide an opportunity for the Council to publicly declare its support for
the VCSE Sector and to establish and document:

A shared vision and values;

Borough Council commitments to the VCSE Sector (eg obtaining VCSE
views on policy development as appropriate, maintaining good lines of
communication, actively seeking opportunities for collaborative working);
and

VCSE Sector commitments (eg maintain high standards of governance,
demonstrating value for money, promoting equality and inclusion).

10.3

HPCVS have asked the Borough Council to provide support for their annual
awards for the community and voluntary sector. An annual awards event could
provide an opportunity for the Council to recognise the vital role that VCSE
organisations have played in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic and to
launch the agreed compact/protocol.
VCSE Collaborative Working plan

10.4

The Council’s Heads of Service will be asked to consider ways in which they
can collaborate with and support the VCSE sector as a means of delivering the
corporate plan and achieving further efficiencies. This may include exploring
opportunities for delivery by or in conjunction with the VCSE sector, information
exchange, provision of in-kind support, assistance in skilling-up the sector, and
opportunities for co-location or transfer of community assets, employee
volunteering scheme.

10.5

Examples of collaborative working could include assistance with the Council’s
access to services strategy and promoting greater use of green spaces. The
Government Green Paper on transforming public procurement, which includes
the priority of ensuring that social, economic and environmental benefits are
delivered through procurement, may present further opportunities for
collaborating with the VCSE Sector.

Page 305

10.6

Appendix B shows the ways in which the funded VCSE Sector organisations
consider that they currently assist with delivery of the objectives within the
Council’s corporate plan.

10.7

The Heads of Service will be asked to populate a VCSE Collaborative Working
Plan (CWP). Delivery of the plan will be overseen by the Alliance Leadership
Team with an annual report to Councillors to allow them to scrutinise
performance. This will help to ensure that working with the VCSE Sector is a
central consideration when planning service delivery and is not just a marginal
“nice to have”.

10.8

A Workshop involving Heads of Service and VCSE has been organised to assist
with this process and to further improve communication channels between the
Council and VCSE Sector organisation.

10.9

The structured approach will assist the Council to meet its corporate objectives
and to ensure that its work with the VCSE is focussed on those objectives as
much as possible.
Funding the VCSE Sector

10.10 The funding arrangements for the VCSE Sector, as outlined in Table 1, have
developed over time in response to demands and priorities.
10.11 A more strategic approach could be adopted to ensure that funding:

Supports the delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan.

Meets an identified need within agreed timescales.

Achieves value for money.

Encourages high standards of governance.

Contributes to the sustainability of the VCSE Sector.

Supports both infrastructure and delivery organisations.

Promotes active citizenship and voluntary activity in local communities.

Benefits all areas of the Borough and all groups across the whole funding
portfolio.

Supports the delivery of the Council’s public sector equality duty.
10.12 Future funding arrangements should consist of core funding to key organisation
and project-specific funding to deliver projects identified through the CWP.
Smaller grants to organisations that benefit their local community. for the
purchase of specific items, to undertake specific pieces of work or to support
the development of the organisation can continue to be provided through the
Councillors Initiative Fund (CIF).
10.13 It is recommended that the levels of Community Support grants should largely
remain the same for 2021/22 to allow time for the CWP and new arrangements
to be implemented. Service Level Agreements (SLAs) should be put in place
with each organisation to provide transparency and oversight of the use of
public money. The SLAs will also set out monitoring and reporting
arrangements that will assist the Council to make informed funding decisions

Page 306

going forward. New funding arrangements for 2022/23 onwards will be
presented to Councillors as part of the annual budgeting process.
10.14 This does not preclude the Council from funding VCSE Sector organisations to
deliver specific projects during this period where they assist in delivering the
corporate objectives and can be shown to provide value for money.
10.15 The Council may also wish to consider additional support for those
organisations that are experiencing financial difficulties. The Bureau and
Glossopdale Furniture Project have both indicated that they are experiencing
difficulties in the short-term and any impact on their service delivery would have
knock-on impact for local communities and the ability for the Council to deliver
the Corporate Plan. It is therefore recommended that an earmarked reserve is
created during the current financial year specifically set aside to support
organisations that have been impacted financially by the pandamic. Criteria for
allocations from this reserve will be developed and shared with organisations
prior to the consideration of requests.
10.16 It is suggested that the funding contribution to New Mills Volunteer Centre
should be increased in 21/22 to the same level as Connex and The Bureau
(from £2,500 to £5,000) to support the organisation to improve their levels of
support in areas such as Chapel-en-le-Frith and Whaley Bridge.
Councillor involvement
10.17 Councillors have a key role in both supporting and scrutinising work with the
community/voluntary sector and partnership activity. As noted previously, the
Council is well represented on the boards of the local VSCE Sector ‘Alliance’
organisations. Councillors also actively support a variety of local groups and
provide funding for community activities and projects through their Councillors
Initiative Fund.
10.18 The following actions are proposed to formalise and further develop the
involvement of Councillors with VCSE Sector organisations:

The Leader of the Council will be given explicit responsibility for promoting
working with the VCSE.

The Community Select Panel should play a key role in guiding and
shaping work with the VCSE and partnership activity.

Councillors should be provided with regular updates on work with the
voluntary sector with an emphasis on how this has helped to achieve the
Council’s corporate objective.

Officers should assist Councillors to provide support for local groups and
to make effective use of the Councillors Initiative Fund.
10.19 The Community Select Committee has a key role in scrutinising the work with
the key partnerships and use of the funding provided to the VCSE Sector,
including receiving annual:

Updates on performance of the VCSE Compact/Protocol and delivery of
the Council’s Collaborative Working plan and use of the community
grants.

Page 307






Reports/presentations from each organisation in receipt of HPBC
community support grant funding.
Reports from key partnerships: Health and Well-Being Partnership,
Community Safety Partnership, Place Alliance.
Update on Councillor Initiative Fund; and
Thematic reports on progress towards addressing the priorities set out in
the corporate plan: Health inequality, Food and fuel poverty, Mental
health, and Loneliness.

Page 308

Appendix A

Services Provided by Funded Organisations

Citizens Advice
 General advice (face-to-face, phone and
webchat).
 Specialist energy team focussing on
helping consumers reduce their energy
costs.
 Pension Wise. 6

 Money advice and associated debt case
work.
 Building Better opportunities (Money
Sorted)5.

 Personal budgeting support.
 Help to claim advice for Universal Credit
claimants.

 Homelessness prevention.

High Peak Community and Voluntary Support (HPCVS)

Page 309

 Group development support.
 Local management of the Community
Derbyshire Database (database of all
local groups and services).
 ‘Social Connectedness’ project
(supporting the lonely and isolated).
 Funding workshops.

 Bereavement and loss support groups.
 Provision of strategic input to local, district
and county wide agendas and
partnerships
 Governance training.

Samaritans of Buxton and High Peak
 Listening and support to people and
communities in times of need

 Suicide prevention

Support for people whose financial circumstances are spiralling or causing stress.
A government service that helps people understand the pension options available to them.
7 Bids of over £1,000 are administered directly by the OPCC.
5
6

 Children and Young Person Network.
 Local administration of the Police and
Crime Commissioner’s Vulnerability Fund
for bids up to £1,0007.
 Social Prescribing across the High Peak
(excluding Glossopdale).

The Bureau
 Providing volunteering opportunities.
 Call Companions (telephone befriending
service for socially isolated or sight
impaired people).
 Life Skills (group work and volunteer
mentor support).

 Sight loss support.
 Building Better Opportunities (Towards
Work) (tailored pre-employment support).

 Community Navigation (NHS funded
workers supporting people to meet goals
and link into activities, support and
services).

 Move More (encouraging people across
Glossopdale to get involved, start moving
more and share ways to fit activity into
everyday life).

 Peer support group for anyone caring for
those living with dementia.

Page 310

 Befriending and mentoring sessions.
 Car scheme (volunteer drivers taking
people unable to use public transport or
taxis to medical appointments).
 Social groups (informal check in and chat
groups facilitated by the Community
Navigation team).
 Community Development (supporting
community groups and organisations
through providing advice, guidance and
funding through grants and place-based
partnerships schemes).

New Mills Volunteer Centre
 Transport to medical appointments (car
scheme involving volunteer drivers
transporting those unable to use public
transport).
 Chair-based exercise classes.
 Friday lunch club.

 IT support (eg enabling people to access
Zoom and similar platforms).

 Minibus transport –usually used for in
house groups, shopping trips , market
town shopping and day trips etc



 Befriending service (currently rebranded
as ‘check in and chat’).

 Prescription delivery service.
 Shopping service.
 Help with garden maintenance, small
 Signposting service on information about
gardening jobs, general tidy ups.
VCS services.
 Volunteer brokerage on behalf of local and  DIY - home safety and security support to  Group Support - provision of dementia
national voluntary organisations.
friendly, stroke support, handicraft social
older and vulnerable people – key safe
install / handrails, changing lightbulbs –
groups.
small handyman jobs.
Allotment which provides food for the
centre’s lunch club

Café Jericho Ltd (t/a Gamesley Community Café)
 Breakfast club for Primary and
Comprehensive school children.

 Safe place for people with mental health
issues to meet and get support

 Help and support to those with drug,
alcohol or gambling addiction through
links with rehab centres and the local GP
surgery.

 Social Group activities (coffee clubs, ‘Meet
& Eat’ group, art group etc for older and
vulnerable people).

 Befriending (one-to-one social visits and
or telephone contact to help reduce
loneliness and isolation).

 Hearing Aid battery distribution (collection
point for hearing aid batteries for patients
registered at the audiology clinic at
Chesterfield Royal Hospital).
 Home Maintenance and Hoarding
Clearance service. This is a charged for
service, providing practical home
maintenance support. The service also
provides a specialist property clearance
for people identified as having a hoarding
disorder.

 Management support of Buxton ‘Street by
Street’ (a mutual aid group that emerged
in direct response to Covid to provide
practical help on a neighbourhood
 Handy Van service (delivery of the DCC
Handy Van service across the High Peak
(and the whole of north Derbyshire). The
service provides free home safety and
security support to older and vulnerable
people, and installs telecare equipment to
enable people to continue to live safely
and independently).
 Care & Support services – domiciliary
personal care for vulnerable children and
adults of all ages, to enable them to live
safe and more fulfilled independent lives.
This is a CQC registered service, working
with local authorities for care provision, as

Connex Community Support

Page 311

 Volunteer brokerage (promotion of
volunteering within the community,
recruitment of volunteers for local,
regional and national organisations).
 Free short-term (6 weeks) loan of
wheelchairs. basis for those that are
isolating, shielding and are vulnerable).
 Home from Hospital service (practical help
and social contact to support people
following discharge from hospital, and
support to help avoid
admission/readmission to hospital. Help
includes prescription collection, shopping
support, and liaison with hospital
discharge and social care teams).
 Transport (volunteer transport service,
taking people to medical and hospital
appointments across the High Peak. Lead
organisation for the delivery of the
Derbyshire Connect Active Travel High
Peak and North Derbyshire Dales service

 ‘Alive & Kickin’ project (social activities
that support and encourage physical
activity and communal activities amongst
older and vulnerable, and that help to
involve residents of care homes in their
local community. Activities include ‘New

contract8 across the High Peak (in
partnership with New Mills VC, The
Bureau, and Bakewell & Eyam Community
Transport)).

Age Kurling’, ‘Little Weeds Gardening’
project and a furniture upcycling project).

well as working directly with clients for
private care packages.

 Prevent waste by restoring and upcycling
furniture or making new items of furniture
from recycled wood.

 Offer training to volunteers to help and
support them into paid employment.

Glossopdale Furniture Project


Page 312

Offer a service to the public by collecting
donated, unwanted items of furniture for
re-use, resale or recycling.
 Look at ways of increasing our sales to
further support the project’s charitable
ethos and become more financially
sustainable.

8

Services to healthcare appointments for people unable to use conventional buses because of age, disability or because they live in areas where public
transport is limited. Services are door-to-door to hospital, GP surgeries, health centres, clinics, dentists, opticians, chemists, physiotherapists and any other
medical appointments. Passenger assistants are available, on request, for anyone needing extra help.

APPENDIX B

VCSE contributions to the Corporate Plan

The organisations were asked to identify how they helped to meet the priorities within HPBC’s Corporate Plan. Their responses are
provided below.
Health
inequality

Food and Fuel
Poverty

Citizens Advice
Bureau (CAB)

Advice helps to
address the
social
determinants of
health.

Specialist energy Advice can help
team focusses clients feel more
on helping
supported and
consumers
empowered to
reduce their
help deal with
energy costs.
any issues that
may be having a
negative effect
CAB work closely
on mental health
with foodbanks to
help clients
needing
specialist benefit
checks and
dealing with any
debt issues.

Page 313

Organisation

High Peak CVS

Connex

Mental Health

Provide access
to accurate
advice, debt
management and
income
maximisation.
Social
Linking in with
Social
Prescribing and local groups and Prescribing,
access to
organisations
support for
groups
such as CAB.
mental health
Social
groups and
Prescribing offers services.
support to those
most vulnerable
Enable access
to medical
support,
signposting to

Shopping
support, food
parcel delivery,
signposting

Loneliness

Community
Safety

Specialist older
peoples champion
project based in
the High Peak.
CAB receive
referrals from local
dementia charities
and groups and
offer a home
visiting service to
assist with benefit
checks and
general advice
queries.

Supporting
Access to
Services

Supporting
Local
Businesses

Protecting the
Environment

Use of
Parks/Open
Spaces

Access to
Physical and
Leisure
Activities

HPCVS
encourage
members to
utilise parks and
open spaces for
their activities.

Support for the
Move More
initiative and
Health &
Wellbeing
Partnership’s
Physical Activity
priority.

‘Park Pootle’ embryonic
walking group
(curtailed by
Covid) but due

Care & Support
– assists people
with disabilities
to take part in

CAB has trained
advisors who
specialise in
supporting clients
who are digitally
excluded. They
can assist with
making online
claims and provide
basic training and
assistance in
digital upskilling.

CAB are hoping to
resume service
delivery from
outreach
locations.

Social
HPCVS
Connectedness - administer the
working with
PCC
Public Health
Vulnerability
focusing on Young Fund for the
People, Digital
High Peak
Exclusion and
Community
Engagement
Befriending and Befriending and Handy Van –
social contact
social group
installation of
activities
home security
and fire safety
equipment.

Social
Connectedness
project

Transport
provision, Home
from Hospital
support,
Befriending,

Corporate
Partnership
Scheme –
encouraging
businesses to
work with
HPCVS to
support the
community.
Volunteer
recruitment to
help support
community
initiatives.

Volunteer
recruitment to
help support
conservation
initiatives.

Organisation

Page 314

The Bureau
(Glossop
Volunteer
Centre)

Health
inequality

Food and Fuel
Poverty

other support
services

support to
access

Support people
in relation to the
wider
determinants of
health.

Provide
signposting and
support to
access local
foodbanks,
Citizens Advice
or manage their
Target services
finances.
and community
development
efforts in
deprived areas.
Building Better
Opportunities
(BBO) Towards
Work project, life
skills, social
prescribing and
volunteer car
scheme support

Mental Health

Loneliness

Community
Safety

Supporting
Access to
Services
simple IT support
to help people
stay connected
with wider family
and friends.

Support local
Most of our
We liaise with
We are working
people’s
services aim to
local PCSOs and with local tech
wellbeing
reduce loneliness Police Officers to charity PC Refurb
through a range and the impact of highlight where on their Digital
of our services, loneliness on the our clients may Literacy project,
with the aim to local community. be feeling unsafe which aims to
prevent people Through
in their
provide local
requiring mental befriending, social communities,
people with the
health services, groups, mentoring where there may training and
to give them the and even the car be high levels of equipment they
tools to manage scheme, we aim to antisocial activity need to access
good mental
provide positive and we can also online services.
health, through interactions and discuss these
We are actively
social connection facilitate
issues with local recruiting
and meaningful friendships
councillors. We volunteers for
activity. Provide between clients
are developing them, referring
signposting and and volunteers.
pathways and
clients for their
support to local
referral routes
services and
mental health
from local
acting as a
services such as
PCSO’s and
collection point for
MIND or Minds
probation
the IT equipment.
Matter.
services into our
offer to help
While we are
rehabilitate
offering online
offenders and
services, we ask
create a sense of
clients and
community
volunteers if they
cohesiveness.
need any support
to access these
services and
ensure that

Supporting
Local
Businesses

Protecting the
Environment

Use of
Parks/Open
Spaces

Access to
Physical and
Leisure
Activities
to restart in early physical
2021. Easy walk activities.
and talk group
around Buxton
Pavilion
Gardens for
those ‘new to
exercise’ and
looking to build
social
confidence
again.
Throughout
We have our own One of our
See the above
lockdown, we Environmental
newer projects, two boxes. We
collected and Sustainability
Move More,
partner with
shared
policy where we aims to
move more and
information
pledge to reduce encourage
our local leisure
regarding local waste. We
people across provider to
business who recycle all
Glossopdale to develop joint
were providing recyclable items fit activity into
initiatives to
delivery or click using the brown everyday life.
encourage
and collect
bin that we pay One of the ways people to
services, and for ourselves, and we are
access leisure
we will
we have vastly
attempting this is activities.
continue to do reduced the
through a range Examples of
this as we
amount of printing of local walks
this have been
believe it is
we do which
and activities – the
vital to support means less
Milestone walks development of
these
electricity used are a collection a dementia
businesses,
and less paper
of mapped walks swim and gym
not just for our wasted.
in the local area and swim
community but We are starting to with painted
buddies to
for our clients develop social
stones along the motivate people
who rely on
activities within route and online new to exercise
these delivery green spaces
maps, which are to engage
services so
because of the
shared online. positively with
much.
positive impact We also have
it.
We also
this has on
the story walks,
developed the wellbeing and
which are a
‘Glossop
hope to foster
range of
Loves’ brand wellbeing
mapped walks in
which we
outcomes with
Manor park,
aimed to offer individuals as well Howard park
to local
as a sense of
and Whitfield,

Organisation

Health
inequality

Food and Fuel
Poverty

Page 315

New Mills
Volunteer
Centre

Transport to
medical appts

Lunch Club
Delivery
(donations
requested)

Samaritans

Respond to calls Listening and
from people in referral to
poor health,
specialised
often related to services if
drug or alcohol appropriate
issues.

Glossopdale
Furniture
Project

Supporting with
the supply of
furniture and
household
items.

Mental Health

Check in and
chat service

Loneliness

Check in and chat
service

Samaritans
Many callers are
estimate that
desperately lonely
around 60% of and/or isolated for
callers have
a variety of
mental health
reasons. Many
issues. Call
contact
takers provide
Samaritans
support and may regularly.
also refer them to
specialist
services.

Community
Safety

Supporting
Access to
Services

Supporting
Local
Businesses

Protecting the
Environment

Use of
Parks/Open
Spaces

nobody feels
excluded.

businesses,
this is still an
option to be
developed.

pride and
ownership for our
local
environment.
Examples of this
are Glossop's big
pick (using
volunteers to tidy
up the local area)
and walk and talk
group (social
groups walking in
the great
outdoors).

which have a
story for children
to follow along
the route and
bright leaflets
with bright
illustrations to
keep them
engaged. Also
see above.

IT support. Zoom
training over the
telephone.

Access to
Physical and
Leisure
Activities

We are working Online chairwith HPBC and based exercise
other orgs to see class
how we can
develop such a
plan.

Encourage callers
to contact local
services.

Use local
suppliers as
much as
possible for
operational
uses

Divert over 100
tonnes of
furniture and
household items
which would
otherwise go to
landfill by reusing,
renovating,
repairing and
relocating putting
recycled produce
to good use.

Organisation

Health
inequality

Food and Fuel
Poverty

Mental Health

Jericho Café

Provide
Conversations
Stakeholders
with local GP & affordable food, with cafe
health visitors bags of food from manager and
food banks and volunteers who
where needed
can listen and
free offers of
refer where
food
needed

Loneliness

Provide a space to
meet others and
chat. Especially
the elder and
bereaved

Community
Safety

Supporting
Access to
Services
Signpost people to
relevant agencies
if cannot help
personally

Supporting
Local
Businesses

Protecting the
Environment

Use of
Parks/Open
Spaces

Access to
Physical and
Leisure
Activities

Page 316

Agenda Item 10
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Executive
1 April 2021

TITLE:

Request for match funding from the Outdoor
Sports and Recreation Capital Fund to
Support Cemetery Road Football and
Community Project

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR:

Councillor Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy
Leader & Executive Councillor for
Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure

CONTACT OFFICER:

Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and
Recreation)

WARDS INVOLVED:

Glossop

Appendices Attached;
Appendix A - Aerial Site Plan
Appendix B – Proposed Internal Floorplan
1.

Reason for the Report

1.1

To seek approval to allocate capital funding towards the development of a new
football and community hub facility at Cemetery Road in Glossop.

2.

Recommendation
That the Executive:


Approves the allocation of £200,000 capital funding towards the
development of a new football and community hub facility at Cemetery
Road in Glossop.



Approves the allocation of £50,000 from the Outdoor Sports and
Recreation Capital Fund towards development of the same project, on
the basis that the remaining project costs are secured by the Club.

3.

Executive Summary

3.1

High Peak currently has 2 full size 3G artificial pitches located within the
Borough and it is recommended in the High Peak Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS)
and Local Football Facilities Plan (LFFP) that there is sufficient demand for two
additional facilities of this size. It is recommended that one of these should be

Page 317

located in Glossop due to the large quantity of teams in this area of the Borough
and that the other is recommended to be located in the central area.
3.2

Established in 1990, Glossop North End Community Club has worked tirelessly
to develop themselves into one of Derbyshire’s largest and most well respected
community football clubs. They provide opportunities for more than 530 children,
across 38 teams including a girls wildcats centre, futsal teams, and a weekend
soccer school. The club operates using more than 65 volunteer coaches and in
recognition of this outstanding work, the club has won countless local and
national awards.

3.3

The club is based at Cemetery Road in Glossop which they lease from
Derbyshire County Council (DCC). As the club has grown, they now find it
extremely challenging to secure sufficient playing and training time locally to
cater for all their teams. In addition, the facilities at the site are in extremely poor
condition and require a significant upgrade. Their small pavilion building does
not meet current standards, access to the site is deemed to be dangerous, car
parking provision is limited and the grass pitches are susceptible to significant
waterlogging which results in many matches being postponed on a regular
basis, especially during the winter period.

3.4

Following years of initial development work by the club, a partnership board was
formed approximately two years ago to help accelerate progress and bring
forward a feasible project. The club, supported by High Peak Borough Council,
Derbyshire County Football Association, and the Football Foundation
progressed the project sufficiently which led to consultants LK2 being
commissioned to provide specialist support, including developing site and
building designs, cost analysis, and appropriate business plans. LK2 were also
responsible for the submission of a planning application for the project
(HPK/2019/0273) which was approved on 5th November 2019. A revision to this
application is currently being considered (HPK/2020/0531)

3.5

Plans for the proposed new facility will transform the club and significantly
enhance the facilities which will be available for the wider community and are
summarised in the attached plans (Appendix A and B) and include:






3.6

A state of the art, full size 3G all weather playing pitch with floodlighting
which will be open for community use throughout the week and at
weekends.
Two refurbished natural grass pitches with enhanced drainage and
maintenance programmes.
A rebuilt community building to modern, Football Association standards
to include, changing facilities, kitchen, social space, disabled facilities
and access.
Additional and improved car parking facilities.
Relocated and safer site access.

A full tender exercise has recently been completed using a framework provided
via the Football Foundation. Build costs have been confirmed at £1.7M
excluding VAT. At a DCC Cabinet meeting on 11th March 2021, approval was
given to support the project as joint applicants and as a result, it is anticipated

Page 318

that a significant proportion of VAT on the project will be recovered through this
mechanism. Any funds awarded by HPBC would be paid directly to DCC who
would be responsible for placing orders and paying contractors.
3.7

It is anticipated that the overall funding target of £1.7m will be met from a range
of sources. An application to the Football Foundation has been be prepared and
submitted for the value of £1.1m. Confirmation of award is expected to be
formally provided in early April, meaning it is now critical for the remaining
shortfall to be secured to enable the project to progress. Failure to secure the
shortfall may mean the opportunity to deliver this project is lost.

3.8

In light of this situation, it is proposed that the Council considers supporting the
project with a capital contribution of £200,000. Providing this financial support
would result in on-going revenue costs to the Council estimated to be in the
region of £8,100 pa.

3.9

Aditionally, the Council has assigned £100,000 of capital funds for the provision
of outdoor sports facilities in the latest capital programme and it is proposed that
an additional £50,000 contribution for this project be made from this budget
which would take the total amount awarded via approval of this report to
£250,000.

3.10

Approval has recently been given to allocate £30,000 to the project via an
Independent Executive Decision (IED) report relating to planning
HPK/2001/0019 (land off Simmondley Lane, Glossop). This was in addition to a
previously agreed amount of £10,000 from the same pot, which has already
been paid to the club in January 2021. Should approval be given to support the
recommendations contained within this report, the total amount contributed from
HPBC towards this project will be £290,000.

3.11

This project has taken some years to reach this point, and the club supported
by partners have overcome a significant number of hurdles which now see this
proposal being brought forward. Successful completion of this project forms an
integral part of delivering the Council’s Physical Activity and Sport Strategy,
Playing Pitch Strategy and Local Football Facilities Plan, alongside regeneration
plans for Glossop. If successful, the new facility will contribute significantly
towards maintaining and growing participation in sport and community activity
for the residents of Glossop and the surrounding areas for years to come.

4.

How this report links to Corporate Priorities

4.1

This report relates to Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier,
safer, cleaner High Peak through the provision of a community facility on an
open space which will increase physical activity and participation leading to
healthier lifestyles. It clearly integrates communities and sports clubs into the
delivery of the existing Physical Activity and Sport Strategy objectives, and will
continue to do so as the strategy is reviewed.

5.

Alternative Options

5.1

There are in reality three options available to the council:

Page 319

1. To provide £200,000 capital funding along with a £50,000 contribution from
the Outdoor Sports and Recreation Capital Fund in support of this key
project. (Recommended)
2. To provide a £50,000 capital contribution towards the project from the
£100,000 budget assigned for outdoor sports facilities and choose not to
allocate the further amount of £200,000. This decision would jeopardise the
future of this project and create an unexpected funding shortfall. (Not
Recommended)
3. To do nothing – This will place the project in jeopardy of not progressing and
will leave a large and possibly unachievable funding shortfall for the Club to
secure from other sources. (Not Recommended)
6.

Implications
6.1

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998)
The provision of this football and community hub facility will greatly
increase the quality and use of this key community asset within
Glossop, thus helping to create a safe and welcoming environment.
The project will provide a range of enagement opportunities for
young people, including evening football leagues which will help
deter anti-social behaviour as a diversionary activity.

6.2

Workforce
None

6.3

Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment
The new facility will be accessible to all users and will include
disabled toilet and changing facilities. The building will also provide
a valuable meeting space, to be used by a variety of local clubs,
organisations and individuals.

6.4

Financial Considerations
As detailed within section 8 of the report. If the recommendation to
provide the additional £200,000 contribution to the project is
approved then the Capital Programme will be updated accordingly.
It has not been possible to update the Capital Programme prior to
this point as the Council has been awaiting formal confirmation that
the project is supported by all partners and will progress.

6.5

Legal
The Council has wide powers under Section 19 of the Local
Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1976 to provide
recreational facilities, and to contribute by way of grant or loan,

Page 320

towards the expenses incurred by voluntary bodies in providing such
facilities and activities.
6.6

Climate Change
None

6.7

Consultation
Extensive consultation has been conducted with the local
community and there is a clear need identified for such a facility to
support the local football club and a range of other groups and
organisations who would benefit from new and improved facilities.

6.8

Risk Assessment
The club will have responsibility for any new building under a lease
agreement with Derbyshire County Council who are the land
owners. There is still a shortfall for this project which the club needs
to secure to allow delivery. The contribution requested from the
Council is only part of this shortfall, and is conditional on the club
securing the full project costs.
Mark Trillo
Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer

Web Links and
Background Papers

Contact details

High Peak Playing Pitch Strategy Assessment Report
High Peak Local Football Facilities Plan
Glossop North End Crowdfunder Initiative Video

Robert Wilks
Principal Officer (Leisure and Recreation)
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk

7.

Detail

7.1

High Peak currently has 2 full size 3G artificial pitches located within the
Borough and it is identified in the High Peak Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) and
Local Football Facilities Plan (LFFP) that there is sufficient demand for two
additional facilities of this size to be developed in the future. It is recommended
that one of these should be located in Glossop due to the large quantity of teams
in this area of the Borough and that the other is recommended to be located in
the central area.

7.2

Glossop North End Community Club (the club) are a not for profit community
club and provide children and young people from across Glossop and the
surrounding areas the opportunity to play and enjoy football. These young
people also develop the associated physical, social and mental health benefits
that being active brings.

7.3

Established in 1990, the club has worked tirelessly to develop themselves into
one of Derbyshire largest and most well respected community football clubs.

Page 321

They provide opportunities for more than 530 children, across 38 teams,
involving over 65 volunteer coaches and have won countless local and national
awards recognising their ongoing development and contribution to the local
community.
7.4

The club is based at Cemetery Road in Glossop which they lease from
Derbyshire County Council (DCC). As the club has grown, they now find it
extremely challenging to secure sufficient playing and training time locally to
cater for all of their teams. This results in some teams being required to travel
outside of the High Peak to access suitable facilities, which incurs significant
costs, travel time and presents a risk that teams will become unviable and
potentially fold, thus affecting participation levels.

7.5

In addition, the facilities at the site are in extremely poor condition and require
a significant upgrade. Their small pavilion building does not meet current
standards, access to the site is deemed to be dangerous, car parking provision
is limited and the grass pitches are susceptible to significant waterlogging which
results in many matches being postponed on a regular basis, especially during
the winter period.

7.6

Following years of initial development work by the club, a partnership board was
formed approximately two years ago to help accelerate progress and bring
forwards a feasible project. The club, supported by High Peak Borough Council,
Derbyshire County Football Association, and the Football Foundation
progressed the project sufficiently which led to sports architects LK2 being
commissioned to provide specialist support, including developing site and
building designs, cost analysis, business planning. LK2 were also responsible
for the submission of a planning application for the project (HPK/2019/0273)
which was approved on 5th November 2019. A revision to this application is
currently being considered (HPK/2020/0531).

7.7

To reach the current position, the club has aready invested a significant amount
of their own funds to pay for consultants’ fees and feasibility studies. It has also
involved a tireless and ongoing fundraising effort by volunteers from all levels
within the club, the latest of which is a crowfunder initiative, designed to raise
the final proportion of match funding for the project.

7.8

The proposed new facility will transform the site and club’s future by significantly
enhancing the facilities which will also be available for wider community. The
details of the approved plans are summarised in Appendix A and B of this report,
a summary of which is listed below;





A state of the art, full size 3G all weather playing pitch with floodlighting
which will be open for community use throughout the week and at
weekends.
Two refurbished natural grass pitches with enhanced drainage and
maintenance programmes.
Rebuilt community building to modern, Football Association standards,
including changing facilities, kitchen, social space, disabled facilities and
access.
Additional car parking facilities

Page 322



Relocated and safer site access

7.9

A full tender exercise has recently been completed using a framework provided
via the Football Foundation. Build costs have been confirmed at £1.7M
excluding VAT. At a DCC Cabinet meeting on 11th March 2021, approval was
given to support the project as joint applicants and as a result, it is anticipated
that a significant proportion of VAT on the project will be recovered through this
mechanism. Any funds awarded by HPBC would be paid directly to DCC who
would be responsible for placing orders and paying contractors.

7.10

It is anticipated that the overall funding target of £1.7m will be met from a range
of sources. An application to the Football Foundation has been been prepared
and submitted for the value of £1.1m. Confirmation of award is expected to be
formally provided by end of March 2021 meaning it is now critical for the
remaining shortfall to be secured in order to enable the project to progress.
Failure to secure the shortfall may mean the opportunity to deliver this project
is lost.

8.

Financial implications

8.1

In light of this overall position and the importance of the project in supporting
delivery of the Council’s physical activity and sport strategy, it is proposed that
the Council considers supporting the project with a capital contribution of
£200,000. In approving this funding award it is estimated that on-going revenue
costs to the Council would be be in the region of £8,100 pa.

8.2

In addition to this request, the Council has assigned £100,000 of capital funds
for the provision of outdoor sports facilities, as detailed in the Executive report
dated 13th February 2020. It is proposed that a contribution of £50,000 be made
towards this project from this budget.

8.3

Approval has recently been given to allocate £30,000 to the project via a
Independent Executive Decision (IED) report relating to planning
HPK/2001/0019 (land off Simmondley Lane, Glossop). This is in addition to a
previously agreed amount of £10,000 from the same pot, which has already
been paid to the club in January 2021.

8.4

Should approval be given to support the recommendations contained within this
report, the total amount contributed from HPBC towards this project will be
£290,000.

8.5

Should the decision be made to approve funding towards this project as detailed
in the recommendations of this report, and if the other funding sources are
secured, the project will move forward with a construction programme
commencing in the summer 2021. The club will oversee operation of the
facilities once construction is complete, in line with an agreed business plan
which will be approved by the Football Foundation as part of the grant
assessment process.

8.6

Should the application to the Football Foundation not be approved, the project
would be deemed undeliverable and therefore a condition of any approval by

Page 323

HPBC should be that the club secure the total funds required to deliver the
project before our funds are released.
9.

Links to our strategic objectives

9.1

'Towards an Active High Peak’ is the physical activity & sport strategy for the
High Peak and sets out how the Council and partners aim to improve the levels
of physical activity amongst the population.

9.2

Within the strategy, a number of groups and geographical places are identified
as priorities and this project contributes positively towards all areas.






9.3

Women and girls
People with a limiting illness or disability
Over 55's
Those people in lower socio-economic groups
Children and young people aged 5 to 18

This project has taken years to reach this point and has overcome a significant
number of hurdles which now sees this proposal being brought forward. The
project forms an integral aspect to the successful delivery of the Council’s
Physical Activity and Sport Strategy, Playing Pitch Strategy and Local Football
Facilities Plan and if successful, will contribute hugely towards maintaining and
growing participation levels for the residents of Glossop and the surrounding
area for years to come.

Page 324

Page 325

This page is intentionally left blank

NOTES

Main Entrance Door to
have a level approach
from the parking area and
a level threshold with a
min. clear opening width of
1000mm. Provide min.
1500 x 1500mm clear level
landing in front of door

1. No dimensions are to be scaled from this drawing.
2. All dimensions are to be checked on site prior to
construction

RWP
RWP

W01

W07

D001

W06

RWP

Gas inlet

N

D002
SP
SP

G

G

G

G

G
Plant Room

Showers

Store

Changing Room 2
Female WC
Male WC
D007

SP

SP

W02

Officials Changing 2
SP

SP

D013

D010
SVP

Disabled WC
Cleaners St.

D018

Lobby
D024

D022

D020

D012

D006

D011

D009

D017

Corridor

D008
Ceiling hatch above
D025

D023

Ceiling hatch above

D021

D003

Club Room
Store

D015

D019

Lobby

Spur shelving
to store

Kitchen Store

SP
D014

SP
SP

WC

Internal roller shutter
electrically operated

W03
Officials Room 1

Changing Room 1

Page 327

SP

Kitchen
D026

D016
CW01
Showers

Store

G
G

G

G

SP

SP

Internal roller shutter
electrically operated
Window cill to enable a
serving counter 900mm
high internally
D027

D004

D005
RWP

W04

W05

Main Entrance Door to
have a level approach
from the parking area and
a level threshold with a
min. clear opening width of
1000mm. Provide min.
1500 x 1500mm clear level
landing in front of door

RWP

CW01

Main Entrance Door to
have a level approach
from the parking area and
a level threshold with a
min. clear opening width of
1000mm. Provide min.
1500 x 1500mm clear level
landing in front of door

FIXTURES AND FITTINGS:
Kitchen Units:
Howdens Greenwich range or similar with associated laminated
worktop, all fitted and fixed to manufacturers recommendations.
Kitchen Sinks:
Stainless steel inset 950 x 508 sink
Hand Washing Sink to kitchen (required to meet food hygiene
standards) - Vogue Mini stainless steel wash basin with plug, chain,
apron support and waste, with non-hand operable taps stainless steel
taps. Supplied by Nisbets catering equipment or similar.
Benches:
Timber slat cantilevered premier bench seats, fixed to block work with
appropriate fixing/ brackets. Provided to changing rooms and officials
rooms as indicated on the GA Plan
Coat Hooks:
Continental Sports steel wall batten with hooks fixed to batten with
tamper resistant screws at 300mm centres, timber fixing batten to
blockwork to perimeter. Provided to changing rooms and officials
changing rooms as indicated on the GA Plan - 16No. per changing
room. 2No. per officials room
WCs:
Armitage Shanks - Alto wall mounted WC Pan - Provide seat and
brackets
Urinals:
Armitage Shanks - Fully concealed urinals - Provide waste and
brackets

Shower pipework:
All shower pipe work from individual shower units to be run vertically
through the plasterboard ceiling and pre-blended above ceiling level.
To be installed to specialist manufacturers recommendations.
Disabled Shower:
Provide a disabled shower (Doc m shower pack) including - seat,
adjustable shower head and all associated fittings within the Changing
room 1 shower area.
Disabled WC:
Blue Doc M WC Packs with all associated fixtures and fittings to be
installed in the disabled WC.

A01
A00

11.09.20 Window and door references added
25.08.20 Issued for Tender

Status

Date Issued Description

Issued by

TENDER

Ambulant Disabled WC:
Provide Doc M Ambulant Back to Wall Pack to cubicle in Female WC.

Studio 2, Deepdale Enterprise Park,
Deepdale Lane,
Nettleham, Lincoln
LN2 2LL

Splashbacks:
Provide 2No. tile high x 3No. tile wide ceramic tile splash back to all
wash basins in the changing areas - 8No total

T
E
W

Other Sundry Items:
Mirrors:
Mirrors to be provided above all WHB in WCs.
To be 500mm w x 700mm high in 6mm glass with polished edges and
fixed with concealed fixing or chrome capped fittings

01522 750777
info@lk2.co.uk
www.lk2.co.uk

Registered in Egland 08206944 - Reg. Office: Studio 2, Deepdale Enterprise Park, Deepdale Lane, Nettleham Lincoln, LN2 2LL

Client Logo

White Boards/ Tactic Boards:
One 1200 w x 600 h board fixed to wall in each changing room - (8no in
total).

Client

Glossop North End Juniors

Wash hand basins:
Armitage Shanks – Portman 21 Washbasins 50cm - with waste and
brackets

Toilet Roll Holders: Provide 1No. per WC
Provide 1No. soap dispenser per WHB - total of 16No.

Project

Wash hand basin taps:
Armitage Shanks - Avon 21 Push button self closing pillar taps - Water
saving and anti vandal nozzle.

Provide 7No. towel dispensers

Home Ground Redevelopment
Cemetery Road, Glossop

WC partition systems:
Bushboard Tough Stuff toilet cubicle range. - Square head detail and all
fittings to be stainless steel Grade 316.
Shower Heads/Controls:
Horne, Duso Shower Column with Grey trim REF: DS-A60G Integrated
shower assembly featuring hydraulically actuated timed-flow control,
anodised aluminium column, chromium plated shower head, adjustable
spray-plate and flow regulation (8 L/min). Grey coloured actuator paddle
and spray plate manufactured in robust and durable injection moulded
polymers. To be used with a pre-blended water supply only and to be
installed and commissioned according to the manufacturers
instructions. See Horne specification

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey map with the permission
of Her Majesty's Stationery Office. Crown Copyright

Drawing Title

GA Plan

LK2 Architects Ltd, Studio 2, Deepdale Enterprise Park,
Deepdale Lane, Nettleham, Lincoln.
Licence No. LIG0435

Scale @A1

1 : 50
0

0.5

1

Scale 1:50

2

3

4.5m

Date

Drawn by

Checked by

10/24/19

TB

GS

Drawing No.

Current Revision

A-20-0001

A01

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 329

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 331

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 361

Agenda Item 14

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 373

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 387

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 389

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 393

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 397

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 401

Agenda Item 16

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 413

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 423

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 433

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 435

This page is intentionally left blank

